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ADVERTISEMENT.

Tre Compiler of the following pages has only attempted to give a con-
densed translation of a complex and voluminous history, with the hope that
it might prove of more utility in its present form than in the original works.
Those portions which are not calculated to interest or instruct the general
reader, and afford no illustrations of the subject, have been passed over.
Those trials have been selected which serve as examples of the various laws
of the Inquisition, and of its state at different epochs, and which include the
persecutions of the most eminent men.

The curious will be amply gratified by the perusal of the history of the
secret tribunal; the man of leisure cannot fail in finding occupation and
amusement in the pages of Llorente; and the philosopher will discover in
them ample scope for reflection on the aberrations of human reason, and on
the capability of our nature, when under the influence of fanaticism, to
inflict, with systematic indifference, death, torture, misery, anxiety, and in-
famy, on the guilty and the innocent.

All the records of the fantastic cruelties of the heathen world do not
afford so appalling a picture of human weakness and depravity as the au-
thentic and genuine documents of the laws and proceedings of this Holy
Office, which professed to .act under the influence of the doctrines of the
Redeemer of the world !

. I offer, with humility, this abridgement of the work to the public, and
while I hope that it will be kindly and favourably received, I believe that
it may prove interesting and useful to every class of readers.

- June, 1826.



"PREFACE.

AvrTioven a tribunal has existed for more
than three hundred years in Spain, invested
with the power of prosecuting heretics, no
correct history of its origin, establishment,
and progress has been written.

riters of many countries have spoken of
Inquisitions established in different parts of
the world, where the Roman Catholic faith is
the religion of the state, and yet not one is
worthy of confidence. The work of M. La-
vallée, entitled the “History of the Inquisi-
tions of Italy, 8pain, and Portugal,” and pub-
lished in 1809, has only added to the historical
errors of the authors who preceded him. The
8panish and Portuguese writers on the same
subject deserve no higher credit; and have
not detailed, with accuracy, the circumstances
which led to the establishment of this dread-
ful tribunal. These writcrs even differ in their
statements of its origin, and place it between
the ﬁyears 1477 and 1484. One affirms, with
confidence, that the latter date is the true one,
because in. that year the regulations of the
tribunal were enacted; another decides that
it originated in 1483, because in that year
Thomas Torquemada was appointed inquisi-
tor-general by the Pope.

he Inquisition of Spain was not a new
tribunal created by Ferdinand V. and Isabella,
the queen of Castile, but only a reform and
extension of the ancient tribunal, which had
existed from the thirteenth century.

No one could write a complete and anthen-
tic history of the Inquisition, who was not
either an inquisitor or a secretary of the holy
office. Persons holding only these situations
could be permitted to make memoranda of
papal bulls, the ordinances of sovereigns, the
decisions of the councils of the “ Supréme,” of
the originals of the preliminary processes for
suspicion of heresy, or extracts of those which
had been deposited in the archives. Peing
myself the secretary of the Inquisition at Madrid
during the years 1789, 1790, and 1791, I have
the firmest confidence in my being able to
give to the world a true code of the secret laws
by which the interior of the Inguisition was go-
mnd,c{thmlamwlzichwmon‘kd by mystery
from all mankind, excepting those men to
whom the knowledge of their political import
was exclusively reserved. A firm convic-
tion, from knowing the deep objects of this
tribunal, that it was vicious in principle, in
its constitation, and in its laws, notwithstand-
ing all that has been said in its support, in-
duced me to avail myself of the advantage
my tim:tion afforded me, and to collect every

document I could procure relative to its his-
tory. My perseverance has been crowned
with success far beyond my hopes, for, in
addition to an abundance of materials, ob-
tained with labour and expense, consisting of
unpublished manuscripts and papers, men-
tioned in the inventories of deceased inquisi-
tors, and other officers of the institution, in
1809, 1810, and 1811, when the Inquisition in
Spain was suppressed, all the archives were
placed at my disposal; and from 1809 to 1813
I collected every thing that appeared to me
to be of consequence in the registers of the
council of the Inquisition, and in the provin-
cial tribunals, for the purpose of compiling
this history.

Never has a prisoner of the Inquisition seen
either the accusation against himself, or any
other. No one was ever permitted to know
more of his own cause than he could learn
of it by the interrogations and accusations to
which he was obliged to reply, and by the
extracts from the declarations of the wit-
nesses, which were communicated to him,
while not only their names were carefully
concealed, and every circumstance relating
to time, place, and person, by which he might
obtain a clue to discover his denouncers, but
even if the depositions contained any thing
favourable to the defence of the prisoner. The
maxim on which this was founded is, that the
accused ought not to occupy himself but in
replying to the chief points of his accusation,
and that it was the province of the judge
afterwards to compare the answers that he
had made with those which had been given
favourable to his acquittal. Philip Limborch,
and many more of veracity, have erred in
their histories, from their ignorance of the
method of conducting an inquisitorial trial.
Those authors relied wholly on the accounts
of the prisoners, who knew nothing of the
groundwork of their own case; and the de-
tails in Eymerick, Paramo, Pegna, Carena,
and some other inquisitors, are too limited to
yield the necessary information. '

These facts make me hope that I shall not
transgress the bounds of propriety when Lsay,
that I only can give a true history of the In-
quisition, as I only possess the materials ne-
cessary for the undertaking.

T have read the most celebrated trials of the
modern Inquisition, and the details given by
me differ essentially from those of other his-
torians, not excepting those of Limborch, who
is the most exact of them. The trials of Don
Carlos of Austria, Prince of the Asturias, of
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Don Bartholomew Carranza, archbishop of
Toledo, and of Auntony Peres, the first minis-
ter and secretary of Philip IL, have been

greatly illustrated in many important parti-
culars.

I have established the truth of that which
concerns the Emperor Charles V.; Jeanne of
Albret, Queen of Navarre; Henry IV,, King
. of France, her son; and of Margaret of Bour-
bon, the sovereign Dachess of Bar, her daugh-
ter; of Don James of Navarre, son of Don
Carlos, Prince of Biana, surnamed the Infant
of Tudela; of John Pic de Mirandola; of Don
John of Austria, son of Philip IV.; of Alexan-
der Farnése, Duke of Parma, and grandson
of Charles V.; Don Philip of Arragon, son of
the Emperor of Morocco; of Cesar Borgia,
son of Pope Alexander VI, and relation of the
King of Navarre; of Jean Albret, Duke of
Valentinois, peer of France; of Don Peter
Louis Borgia, last grand-master of the mili-
tary order of Montessa, and of many other
princes against whom the Inquisition exer-
cised its power. The lover of history will
find the details of the trials of seven arch-
bishops, twenty bishops, and a great number
of learned men, among whom are many of the
members of the Council of Trent, who were
unfortunately suspected of entertaining or fa-
vouring the Lutheran doctrines. To this list
I have added the suits instituted by the holy
office against many saints and other personages
held in reverence by the Church of Spain, and
also of many literati persecuted by this tribu-
nal. These, for the sake of &en icuity, I have
divided into two classes: the first class com-
prises those learned theologians who were ac-
cused of Lutheranism, for having, in their
zeal, corrected the text of Bibles already pub-
lished, or Latin.translations from the Greek
-and Hebrew editions. The second class con-
sists of those learned men, designated by the
holy office under the title of False Philoso-
phers, and who were persecated for having
manifested a wish to destroy, in Spain, super-
stition and fanaticism.

This history will make known numberless
attempts perpetrated by the inquisitors against
magistrates who defended the rights of sove-
reign authority, in opposition to the enter-
prises of the holy office and the court of Rome;
and which enables me to state the trials of
many celebrated men and ministers who de-
fended the prerogatives of the crown, and
whose ounly crimes were having published
works on the right of the crown, according
with the true principles of jurisprudence.
These trials will display the counsellors of
the Inquisition carrying their aundacity to such
a height as to deny that their temporal juris-
diction was derived from the concession of
their sovereign, and actually Bmeculing all
the members of the coancil of Castile, as rash
men, suspected of heresy, for having made
known and denounced to the king this system
of usurpation. In addition to these intolerable
acts, will be found accounts of their assamp-
tion of superiority over viceroys, and other
great officers of state. I have also shown,
that these ministers of persecution have been
the chief causes of thel decline of literature,

L]
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and almost the annihilators of nearly all that
could enlighten the people, by their ignorance,

their blind submission to the monks who were
qualifiers, and by persecuting the magistrates
and the learned who were anxious to dissemi-
nate information. These monks were despi-
cable scholastic theologians, too ignorant and
prejudiced to be able to ascertain the trath
between the doctrines of Luther and 'those of
Roman Catholicism, and so condemned, as
Lutheran, propositions incontestably true.

The horrid conduct of this holy office weak-
ened the power and diminished the population
of Spain, by arresting the progress of arts,
sciences, indusiry, and commerce, and by
compelling maultitudes of families to abandon
the kingdom; by instigating the expulsion of
the Jews and the Moors; and by immolating
on its flaming piles more than three Awndred
thousand victims /! 8o replete with duplicity
was the system of the inquisitors-general and
the council of this Aoly office, that if & papal
bull was likely to circumscribe their power
or check their vengeance, they refused to
obey, on the pretext of its being opposed to
the laws of the kingdom and the orders of the
Spanish government. By a similar proceed-
ing they evaded the ordinances of the king, by
alleging that papal bulls prevented them from
obeying, under pain of excommunication.

8ecrecy, the foe of truth and justice, was
the soul of the tribunal of the Inquisition; it
gave (o it new life and vigour, sustained and
strengthened its arbitrary power, and so em-
boldened it, that it had the mrdihood to arrest
the highest and noblest in the ]and, and ena-
bled it to deceive, by concealing facts, popes,
kings, viceroys, and all invested with autho-
rity by their sovereign. This Aoly office, veiled
by secrecy, unhesitatingly kept back, falsified,
concealed, or forged the reports of trials, when
compelled to open their archives to popes or
kings. The inquisitors constantly succeeded,
by this detestable knavery, in concealing the
truth, and facilitated their object by being
careful not to number the reports. This was
practised to a great extent in the trials of the
archbishop of Toledo, of the Prothonotary, and
others.

Facts prove, beyond a doubt, that the extir-
pation of Judaism was not the real cause, but
the mere pretext, for the establishment of the
Inquisition by Ferdinand V. The trae motive
was to carry on a vigorous system of confis-
cation against the Jews, and so bring their
riches into the hands of the government.
Sixtus IV sanctioned the measure, to gain the
point dearest to the court of Rome, an extent
of domination. Charles V. protected it from
motives of policy, being convinced it was the
only means of preventing the heresy of Luther
from penetrating into Spain. Philip IL. was
actuated by superstition and tyranny to up-
hold it; and even extended its jurisdiction to
the excise, and made the exporters of horses
into France liable 1o seizure by the officers
of the tribunal, as persons suspected of heresy !
Philip IIL, Philip IV., and Charles II,, pursued
the same course, stimulated by similar fanati-
cism and imbecility, when the re-anion of Por-
tagal to Spain led to the discovery of many



6 PREFACE.

Jews. Philip V. maintained the Inquisition
from considerations of mistaken policy, in-
herited from Louis XIV., who made him be-
lieve that such rigour would ensure the tran-
quillity of the kingdom, which was always in
danger when many religions were tolerated.
Ferdinand VI. and Charles IIL befriended tHis
holy office, becaunse they would not deviate from
the course that their father had traced, and be-
cause the latter hated the freemasons. Lastly,
Charles IV. supported the tribunal, because
the French Revolution seemed to justify a
system of surveillance, and he found a firm
support in the zeal of the inquisitors-general,
always attentive to the preservation and ex-
tension of their power, as if the sovereign an-
thority could find-no surer megns of strength~
ening the throne, than the terror inspired by
an Inquisition. o

During the time I remained in London, I heard
some Catholies affirm that the Inqusition was use-
Sul in Spain, to preserve the Catholic faith, and
that a similar establishment ld have been use-
JSul in France.

These persons were deceived, by believing
that it was sufficient for people to be good
Catholics not to have any fear of the holy office.
They knew not that nine-tenths of the prison-
ers were deemed guilty, though true to their
faith, because the ignorance or malice of the
denouncers prosecuted them for points of doc-
trine which were not susceptible of heretical
interpretation but in the judgment of an illite-
rate monk, who is considered erudite by the
world because he is said to have studied the
theology of the schools. The Inquisition en-

couraged hypocrisy, and punished those who
either did not know how, or would not, assume
the mask. This tribunal wrought no conver-
sion. The Jews and Morescoes, who were
baptized withont being truly converted, mere-
ly that they might remain in Spain, are exam-
g!;s which prove the truth of this assertion.

e former perished on the pyres of the In-
quisition ; the latter crossed over into Africa
with the Moors, as mach Mahometans as their
ancestors were before they were baptized.

I conclude with declaring that the contents
of this history are original; and that I have
drawn my facts with fidelity, from the most
authentic sources, and might have greatly
extended them.*

* The following fact shows that the inqulisitors of onr
own days do not fall below the standard of those who
followed the fanatic Torquemada. * ¢ ¢ % wag pre-
sent when the lnmmulon was thrown open, in 18%0,
by the-orders of the Cortes of Madrid. Twenty-one
prisoners were found in it, not one of whom knew the
name of the city in which be was; some had been con-
fined three years, some a longer period, and not one
knew perfectly the nature of the crime of which he was
accused.

One of these pri had been d,and was
to have suffered on the following day. His punishment
was 1o be death by the penduium. The method of thus
destroying the victim is as follows :—The condemned
is fastened ina 1roove. upon a table, on his back; sus-
pended above him is a pcndulum, the edge of which is
sharp,and it is so constructed as to become longer with
every movement. The wretch sees this implement of
destruction swinging to and fro above him, and every
moment the keen edge approaching nearer and nearer;
at length it cuts the skin of his nose, and gradually cuts
on, until life is extinct. It may be doubted if the holy
office in its mercy ever invented a more humane and
rapid method of exterminating heresy, or ensuring con-
fiscation. This, let it be remembered, was a punish-
ment of this Secret Tribunal, A. D, 1820!!¢

.
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HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

CHAPTER 1.
First Epoch of the Church 1ill the conversion of the Emperor Constantine.

Tne Christian religion was scarcely estab-
lished before heresies arose among its disci-
ples. The Apostle St. Paul instructs Titus,
the Bishop of Crete, in his daty towards
heretics, saying, that a man who persists in
his heresy, after the first and second admoni-
tion, shall be rejected : but St. Paul does not
say that the life of the heretic shall be taken;
and our Saviour, addressing St. Peter, com-
mands that a sinner shall be forgiven, not
only seven times, but seventy times seven,
which infers that he ought never to he
punished with death by a judgment of the
church. Such was the doctrine of the ehurch
during the three first centuries, until the peace
of Constantine. Heretics were never excom-
municated until exhortation had been employ-
ed in vain, As this system was adopted, it
was natural that some persons should write
against heresy to prevent its increase. This
was done by St. Ignatius, Castor Agripgs,
8t Irenzus, St. Clement of Alexandria, St
Justin, St. Denis of Corinth, Tertullian,
Origen, and many others.

ese faithful imitators of the benevolence
of their Divine Master were averse to oppres-
sive measures. Although the evil produced
by the religion of the impious Manés wae so0
g{mt. that Archelaiis, Bishop of Caschara, in
esopotamia, judged it necessary to imprison
him, {et he renounced that design when
Marcellus (to whom Manés had written)
Pro another conference with him. Ar-
chelails sucoeeded in converting the heretic,
and not only gave up his intention of detainins
him, but saved his life when the people woul
have stoned him to death,

It is possible that the charclt was in a cer-
tain degree compelled to act in this manner,
from the impoesibility of employing the co-
ercive measures of temporal power against he-
retics during the reigns of the heathen princes;
but this was not the only motive for her tole-
rance, since it is certain that when no edicts
of persecution existed against the Christians,
the emperors received the appeals of the
bishops in the same manner as those of their
other subjects : this is proved by the history
of the heretic Paul of Samosata, Bishop of
Antioch.

The council of that town, assembled in 272,
perceiving that Paul had relapsed into heresy,

' 2

after the abjuration which he had made before
the council of 266, deposed him, and elected
Domuus in his place. The episcopal house
being still occupied by the deposed bishop, he
was ordered 10 quit it, that his successor
might take possession. Paul having refused
to obey, the bishops applied to the Emperor
Auvrelian, who had not then begun to perse-
cute the Christians : he received their com-
plaint, and replied, that as he did not know
which of the two ties was right, they
maust conform to the deeision of the Bishop of
Rome and his church. The holy see was
then occupied by Felix I., who confirmed the
decision of the council, and the Emperor
Aurelian caused it to be executed.

As toleration was universal in the Christian
church, it is not to be supposed that the church
of Spain followed different principles. Basi-
lides and Marcial, Bishops of Astorga and
Merida, apostatized ; they were reconciled to
the church without any punishment but de-
gradation, to which they submitted before the
y;ar 253, when they appealed to Pope Ste-

0.

P The Council of Elvira in 303 decreed, that
if an heretic demanded to be re-admitted into
the bosom of the church, he should be recon-
ciled, without suffering any punishment but a
canonical penance of ten years, which was
the more remarkable, as this council estab-
lished more severe punishments for many
crimes which appear less heinous. This
seems to prove that the Spanish bishops who
composed this council, among whom were the
t Osius of Cordova, Sabinus of Seville,
alerius of Saragossa, and Melantius of
Toledo, were J:orluaded, like Origen, that
leniency was the means to convert heretics,
in order to prevent them from falling into
obstinacy and impenitence.

Szconp Erocr.—From the Fourth to the Eighth
Century.

If the primitive system of the church to-
wards heretics had been faithfully pursued, as
it ought to have been, after the peace of Con-
stantine, the tribunal of the Inquisition would
never have existed, and, perhaps, the numbei
and duration of heresies would have been léss ;
but the popes and bishops of the fourth cen-

9
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tury, profiting by the circumstance of the
emperor’s having embraced Christianity, be-
gan toimitate, in a certain degree, the conduct
which they had reprehended in the heathen
priests.

‘These pontiffs, though respectable for the
holiness of their lives, sometimes carried their
zeal for the triumph of the Catholic faith, and
the extirpation of heresy, to too ta height;
and to ensure success, enga Constantine
and his successors to establish civil laws
against all heretice.

‘This first step, which the popes and bisho
bad taken contrary to the doctrine of St.
Paul, was the principle and origin of the
Inquisition; for when the custom of punish-
ing a heretic by corporeal pain, although he
was a good subject, was once established, it
became necessary to vary the punishments, to
augment their number, to render them more
or less severe, according to the character of
each sovereign, and to regulate the manner of
prosecuting ecnlﬂlit.

The Emperor eodosius published, in
383, an edict against the Manicheans, de-
creeing that they shonld be punished with
death, and their property confiscated for the
use of the state, and commissioning the prefect
(Préfet du Prétoire) to appoint inquisitors and
spies to discover those who should conceal

emselves. Co

It is here that inquisition and accusation
are first mentioned in relation to heresy, for
until that time only those great crimes which
attacked the safety of the empire were permit-
ted to be publicly denounced. The succes-
sors of Theodosius modified these edicts,
some of which menaced heretics with the
prosecutions of the impartial judges, if they
did not voluntarily abjure their errors. No-
tices were given to known heretics who did
not abjure after the publication of the edicts,
that if they were converted in a certain time,
they would be admitted to a roeconciliation,
and would only suffer a canonical penance.

When these conciliatory measures were
unavailing, various punishments were adopt-
ed. Those doctors, who, in contempt of the
Jaws, promulgated their false opinions, were
suhjected to considerable fines, banishment
from oities, and even transportation. Incertain
cases, their property was confiscated; in
others they were obliged .to pay a fine of ten

ounds of gold, or they were scou with
eathern thongs, and sent to islands from
whence they could not escape. Besides these
punishments, they were forbidden to hold as-
semblies, and the offenders were liable to pro-
scription, banishment, transportation, and
even death in some cases. The execution of
these decrees was intrusted to the governors
of provinces, magistrates charged with the ad-
ministration of justice, commanders of towns
and their principal officers, who were all
liable to various punishments in case of neg-

- ligence.

e establishment of most of these laws
had been solicited by popes and bishops of
known sanctity, and it must be allowed that
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it was not their intention to carry those which
decreed the punishment of death into_execu-
tion; they only desired to intimidate innova-
tors by their publication.

The church of Spain continued faithful to
the general discipline, under the authority of
the Roman emperors: the Arian heresy was

‘afterwards established among them under the

Goths; but since their princes have embraced
the Catholic faith, the laws and councils of
Spain inform us of their treatment of heretics.

The fourth Council of Toledo, assembled in
633, at which St. Isidore, Archbishop of
Seville, assisted, was occupied with the
Judaic heresy : it was decreed, with the con-
sent of Kinf Sisinand, that they shounld be at
the disposal of the bishops, to be punished,
and compelled by fear to return to Christianity
a second time: they were to be deprived of
their children, and their slaves set at liberty.

In 655, the ninth Council of Toledn de-
creed, that baptized Jews should be obliged to
celebrate the Christian festivals with their
bishops, and that those who should refuse to
conform to this discipline should be condemn-
ed either to the punishment of scourging, or
abstinence,according to the age of the offender.

We find that greater severity was shown
towards those who returned from Christianity
toidolatry. King Récarede ). proposed to the
third Council of Toledo, in 589, that the
priests and civil judges should be commis-
sioned to extirpate that species of heresy, by
punishing the culprits in a degree proportioried
to the crime, yet without employing capital
punishment.

These rigorous measures did not appear
sufficient, and the twelfth Council of Toledo,
in 681, at which King Erbigius assisted, de-
cided that, if the offender was noble, he should
be subject to excommunication and exile; if
he was a slave, he should be scourged and
delivered to his master loaded with chains,
and if the proprietor could not answer for him, -
that he should be placed at the disposal of
the king. . :

In 693, the sixteenth Council of Toledo
assembled in the presence of King Egica,
added, to the measures already established, a
law, by which all who opposed the efforts of
the bishops and judges to destroy idolatry
were condemned, if noble, to be excommuni- -
cated and pay a fine of three pounds of gold;
and if of a low condition, to receive a hundred
strokes of a whip, and have half his property
confiscated.

Recesuinte, who reigned from 663 to 672,
established a particular law. a;rim heretica :
it deprived them indiscriminitely of the wealth
and dignities they might possess, if they
were priests, and added to these punishments,
perpetual banishment for laymen, if they
persisted in heresy. :

Taip Erocs.—From the Eighth Century to the
Pontificats of Gregory VII.

In the fourth, fifth, sixth, and seventh cen-
taries, the ecclesiastics obtained many privi-
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! from the kings and emperors, and the
j:xi:ial power became, in some cases, a right
of the episcopacy. These acquisitions, and
the universal ignorance which followed the
irruption of the barbarians, were the causes of
the influence which the pontiffs of Rome
acquired over the Christian people, who were
persuaded that the anthority of the pope
should be without bounds, and that he had
sopreme power both in ecclesiastical and
temporal power.

. lnd'ms, ghe{n ge Ro&mno de, trl;i‘;
ast duke, Basil, Po regory 11. usu

the civil govemmomp.;:f Rome, and had re-
course to the protection of Charles Martel,
mayor of the palace, against the King of
Lombardy, who aspired to the command in
that capital. His soccessor, Gregory III.,
offered the dignity of patrician to Charles
Martel, as if he had the right of disposing of
it. Zachary, who was elected pog:, in 741,
acted as the temporal sovereign of Rome, and
permitted Pepin, son of Charles Martel, to
take the title of King of France, after having
deposed Childeric 111., who was the legitimate
sovereign. Pepin was crowned in France by
Stephen I1., who became pope in 752,

At last, Leo III. crowned Charlemagne
emperor of the West, on Christmas day, in the
year 800. In this ceremony, which took
place at Rome, Charlemagne was proclaimed
the first emperor of the restoration.

The popes employed the great influence
they had gained over general opiniok, to ex-
tend and preserve their dominion. Pepin and
Charlemagne did not foresee how fatal their
example would prove to their successors,
when they solicited Stephen II. to release the
French from their oath of fidelity to Childeric
HI. When the doctrine, that a pope possessed
the power of releasing subjects from their
oath of fidelity, was once established, it

me necessary that kings should endea-

- vour to conciliate the popes. Succeeding

events show that this doctrine was favourable
to the rise of the Inquisition.

The idea that excommunication produced
all the effects attached to imfamy, not only to
the Christian on whom it fell, but to all who
held any communion with him, was another
cause of the great influence of the popes, and
the progress of the Inquisition. e barha-
rians had preserved the doctrine of the Druids,
which forbade a Gaul to assist one whom the
priestehad declared impious and abhorred of the
gods, on pain of beinﬁ deemed guilty towards
the gods, and unworthy of the society of men.
The priests, finding this opinion established,
did not combat it, use it added force to
the anathemas of the church, Fortunately
the popes of the middle ages had not yet
thought of commissioning men to ascertain if
Christians were orthodox, and the ancient
discipline of the church was still pursued
towatds heretics.

Felix, Bishop of Urgel, in Spain, had em-

raced the erroneous opinion that Jesus Christ
was the Son of God only by adoption. He
returned to the faith of the church, but relapsed
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some time after into the same error, althou,

he had abjured, before the Council of Ratis-
bonne, in 798, and before Pope Adrian at
Rome. The conduct of Felix was very re-
prehensible, yet Leo 11I. would not excomma-
nicate him in a simple manner, but only
pronounced the anathema against "him, in
case he refused to abjure a second time.
Felix afterwards abjured, and suffered no
punishment but deprivation of his dignity.

The Emperor Michel, in 811, renewed all
the laws which condemned the Manichean
heretics to death. The patriarch Nicephorus
represented to him that it was better to con-
vert them by gentle means: but the spirit of
the church at that time was so far from mode-
ration, that the Abbot Theophanes, celebrated
for his plety, does not hesitate to speak of
Nicephorus and the other counsellors of the
prince, as ignorant and ill advised ; and adds,
that the maxims of Holy Writ warrant the
custom of burning heretics, because they can
never be brought to repent.

Theodore Critinus, chief of the Iconoclastes,
was called before the seventh council general,
assembled at Constantinople in 869. He
was convicted of entertaining opinions con-
trary to the doctrines of the church: he ab-
jured his heresy, with several of his sect,
and was reconciled without being subjected
to any penance. The Emperor Basil, who
assisted at the council, honoured him with a
kiss of peace. We may conclude from this,
that if the conduct of the church had always
been equally lenient, heresy would not have
been so frequent among the Christians.

In 1028, certain heretics, who appeared to
profess the doctrines of the Minicheans, were
discovered in Orleans, and several othertowns;
among them was Stephen, confessor to Queen
Constance, wife of Robert. That prince as-
sembled a council at Orleans: Stephen was
summoned to appear before it, and attempts
were made, but in vain, to bring him back to
the true faith. The bishops resolved to pun-
ish these heretics, and those who were eccle-
siastics were degraded and excommunicated
with the others. The king immedi:teg after-
wards condemned them to be burnt. Several,
when they felt the flames, exclaimed that
they were willing to submit to the church;
but it was too late, all hearts were closed
against them. These examples show the
difference which was made between the Ma-
nichean and other heresies.

It is necessary to mention several maxims
which had been introdaced into the ecclesias-
tical government, and which passed at that
time for incontestable truths. The first of
these opinions was, that it was necessary not
only to punish obstinate heretics with excom-
munication, but to employ it against every
species of crime, which abuse was carried to
such a height, that Caidinal St. Peter Damian
reproached Pope Alexander with it. ‘Accord-
ing to the second maxim, if an excommauni-
cated Christian persisted for more than a year
in refusing to submit and demand absolution,

after having been subjected to a canonical
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penance, he was considered as an heretic. The
third maxim held that it was a meritorious act
to prosecute heretics, and apostolical indul-
gences were granted as a recompense for this
servioe to the cause of religion.

These maxims, and several others which
prevailed during the fourth epoch, rrepared
the minds of the people for the establishment
of the Inquisition, which was destined to per-
secute heretics and apostates.

Fourtn Erocu.

The celebrated Hildebrand ascended the
pontifical throne in 1073, under the name of
Gregory VII., soon after his predecessor,
Alexander II., had summoned the emperor
Henrﬁ‘lll. to Rome, to be judged by a coun-
cil. 'This prince had been denounced by the
Saxons, who revolted against him, as an here-
tic. As he did not appear, the pope excom-
municated him, released his subjects from
their oath of fidelity, and caused them to elect,
in his stead, Rodolph, Duke of Suabia.

The authority which this pope acquired
over the Christian princes greatly surpassed
that of his predecessors, and_sithough it was
directly contrary to the spirit of the New
Testament, his successors employed every
means to preserve it.

The famous French monk Gerbert bein
elected pope in 999, under the name of Syl-
vester I1., addressed a letter to all Christians,
in which he supposes the Church of Jerusa-
lem speaking from its ruins, and calling upon
them to take up arms and fight bolﬁl .to
deliver it from oppression. Gregory zfll.
aiso undertook, in 1074, to form a crusade
against the Turks, in favour of Michael,
emperor of the East ; but as he died- before he
could put his plan into execution, his succes-
sor, Usban II., caused it to be proclaimed in
the Council of Clermont, in the year 1095,
The efforts of the pope had an incredible
success ; a namerous army left Europe soon
after, which first took the city of Antioch,
and afterwards Jerusalem in 1099. The in-
justice of this war, and the other expeditions
of the same kind which succeeded it, would

have disgusted all Earope, if the people had
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not been prepossessed with the absurd idea,
that it was meritorions to make war for the
exaltation and glory of Christianity: the
consequences of 8 system so fatal to temporal

wer were felt in France at the time of the

atarians, Catharians, and other sects of
Maneés. Alexander III., having sent Peter,
Bishop of Meaux, to Count Raymond V. of
Toulouse, that legate made him and all his
nobles take an oath that they would not favour
the heretics who had taken up arms in defence
of their party ; and in the Council of Lateran,
the followinq year, the fathers declared that
though the Church did not grove of sangui-
nary measures, yet she would not refuse the
assistance offered by Christian princes: in
consequence, Alexander not only excommuni-
cated the heretics and their adherents, but
promised all those who should die in the war
against them absolution and salvation, and
for the present granted indulgences for two
years to all who should take up arms.

In 1181, Cardinal Henry, Bishop of Alva,
was sent into France to pursue the war against
the Albiﬁenses; but this expedition did not
entirely destroy that party, and a new council
was held, in whose decrees Cardinal Fleury
supposes he has discovered the origin of the
Inquisition. He was not mistaken in this
opinion, but it was not at that time actually
instituted, since the bishops alone, as they
had always been, were commissioned ta pre-
serve the faith. The council recommended
that the bishops, or their archdeacons, shonld
visit the dioceses once or twice a year, and that
thtx should cause the inhabitants to take an
oath that they would denounce all heretics, or
persons who held meetings. to the bishop or
archdeacon. The council also decreed that
counts, barons, and other nobles should take -
an oath to discover heretics and Iunish them,
on pain of excommunication and deprivation
of their estates and employments.

In 1194, Cardinal Gregory St. Angelo in-
stigated Alphonso II., King of Aragon, to
publish an edict banishing heretics of all sects
indiscriminately from his states; and Peter
II., son of Alphonso, published another in
1197, with nearly the same injunctions, which
proves that the former edict had little effect.

CHAPTER 1II.
Establishment of a general Inquisition against heretics in the thirteenth century.

- In 1203, Pope Innocent JII. commissioned
Peter de Castelnan and Ralph, two monks of
the order of Cistercians, in the monastery of
Fontfroide, in Narbonnese Gaul, to preach
against the Albigenses. Their exhortations
were not in vain, and the success of their
mission was a favourable introduction to a
plan which Pope Innocent had formed of in-
stituting inqnisitors independent of the bish-
ops, with the privilege of prosecuting heretics,
as delegates of the holy see.

On the 4th of June, in the seventh year of
his pontificate, he named the abbot of the
Cistercians, with Peter and Ralph, apostolical
Jegates. He gave them full powers to proee-
cute all heretics; and to facilitate the execu-
tion of the orders of the holy see, the; were
to engage in the name of the pope, Philip II.,
king of France, his son, and all his nobles, to

ursue the heretics, and to promise them fjll
indulgences as a recompense for their zeal.
The pope invested these monks with the ne-



HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

oessary powers to emable them to destroy or
establish whatever they might judge to be
favourable to their design, in the ecclesiastical
grovincet of Aix, Arles, Narbonne, and other

ishopricks where heretics might be found,
only recommending that tlne{ should apply
to the holy see in all difficult cases; at the
same time he wrote to Philip, requesting him
to assist his commissioners, and even, if it
was necessary, to send the presumptive heir
to his throne with an army against the
heretics.

The lo&nu encountered many difficulties,

because their mission was displeasing to the
bishops. The King of France took no partin
the affair, but the Counts of Toulouse, Foix,
Besiers, Cominges, and Carcassone, and the
other nobles of these provinces, seeing that
the Albigenses had singularly i , and
persuaded that a very small number would be
converted, refused to banish them from their
states, as it would lessen the population, and,
consequently, be against their interests: an
additional motive for this refusal was, that
these heretics were all peaceful: and submis-
sive subjects.
" Peter and Ralph commenced preaching
against the heretics ; they held conferences
with these fanatics, but the number of the
converted was very small. Arnauald, Abbot
of the Cistercians, called upon twelve abbots
of his order to assist him; and (during their
sojourn at Montpellier) they admitted two
Spaniards to share tlieir labours, who were
known under the names of Diego Acebes, a
bishop of Osma, who was retarning to his
diocese, and St. Dominic de Guzman, a regu-
Jar canon of the order of St. Augustine. They
both converted several Albigenses, and when
the Spanioh bishop returned to his diocese, he
permitted St. Dominis to remain in France.

The great feudal chiefs of Provence and
Narbonne refused to execuate the orders of the
legates, to pursue the heretics in their states,
al egin'g that they were always at war with
each other; but the legates threatened to ex-
communicate them, and to release their sub-
jects from their oaths of fidelity. These
menaces alarmed the nobles, and they con-
sented to sign a peace.

. The most powerful of these princes was
Raymond V1., Count of Toulouse. His con-
duct towards Peter de Castelnau, who had
threatened him several times for not perform-
ing his promises, induced the Albigenses who
were his subjects to assassinate the legate,
who was beatified in 1208. The wrote
to all the nobles of the provinces ofpl?:erbonne,
Arles, Embrun, Aix, and Vienne in Dauphiny,
ressing them to unite and march against the
xmﬁcl, and promising them the same indul-
moes which had been granted to the crusa-
ors.

The assassination of Peter de Castelnau
had excited among the Catholics the greatest
indignation against his murderers. Arnauld
took advantage of this moment to execute the

" . orders which he had received from the pope.

He commissioned the twelve monks, and
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others whom he had associated, to preach a
crusade against the heretics, to grant in-
dulgences, to note those who refused to
engage in the war, to inform themselves of
their creed, to reconcile -the converted, and
ghoo all obstinate heretics at the disposal of

imon de Montfort, commander of the crusa-
ders. This was the beginning of the Inqui-
sition in 1208,

Pope InnocentII1. died on the 16th of July,
1216, before he had succeeded in giving a per-
manent form to the delegated inquisition : the
continuation of the war against the Albigen-
ses, and the opposition which he met with
from the bishops in the Council of Lateran,
were perhaps the causes of his failore. Ho-
norius III., who succeeded him, prepared to
finish his undertaking.

Innocent had sent St. Dominie de Guzman
to Toulouse, that he might choose one of the
religiou: orders lpﬁrovod by the chureh, for
the Institation which he intended to form. He
preferred that of St. Augustine; and on his re-
tarn to Rome with his companions, Honorius
approved his choice on the 32nd of December,
1216.

St. Dominic also established an order for
laymen. This order has been designated as
the TAird Order of Penitence, but most com-
monly as the Miktia of Christ, becanse those
who were members of it fought against here-
tics, and assisted the Inquisitors in the exer-
cise of their functions; they wera considered
as part of the inquisitorial family, and on
that account bore the name of Fumiliars.
This association afterwards gave rise to that
which was called the Congregation of S¢. Pe-
ter Martyr; it was approved by Honorius,
and confirmed by his successor, Gregory 1X.
Another association was formed in Nggbonne,
which also bore the name of Militia of Christ ;
it was soon after blended with the third order
of St. Dominic. Honorins having formed a
constitution against heretics, the Emperor
Frederic 11. gave it the sanction of civil law
at his coronation. In 1224 the Inquisition al-
ready existed in Italy under the ministry of
the Dominican Friars, which is proved by an
edict of the Emperor Frederic against heretics
at Padua. The efforts of the Inquisition in
Narbonne had not succeeded according to the
expectation of the Pope, who imputed its fail-
ure to the negligence of Cardinal Conrad,
whom he recal uf, and sent Cardinal Roman
in his place. The importunity of this legate
induced Louis VIIIL., King of France, to place
himself at the head of an army to march
against the nobles who protected the Albi-
genses. But Louis died in the same year, and
the Pope followed him, without having suc-
ceeded in giving a permanent form to the new
tribunal which had been introduced into
France.

Gregory IX., who ascended the pontifical
throne in 1227, finally established the Inqui-
sition ; he had been the zealous protector of*
St. Dominic, and the intimate friend of St.
Francisd’Assiz. Cardinal Roman was more
fortunate than the legates who preceded

B
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him ; the nobles, weary of a war which had
lasted twenty years, wished for peace. The
Count of Toulouse, Raymond VII., after the
death of his father, who had begun the war,
reconciled himself to St. Louis and the church
in a Council of Narbonne, and promised to
drive the heretics from his domains. -

In 1229 another council was held at Tou-
Jouse. The decrees were nearly the same as
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those made at the Councils of Lateran and
Verona, except that laymen were then first
prohibited from reading the Scriptures in the
volgartongge. In the succeeding year, many
other edicts were published, increasing in se-
verity ; but it appears that these rigorous
measures failed in effect, as the heresy of the
Albigenses penetrated even to the capital of
Christendom.

CHAPTER IIL

Of the ancient Inquisition of Spain.

I 1233, when the Inquisition in France
had received the established form which was
bestowed on it by St. Louis, Spain was di-
vided into four Christian kingdoms, besides
the Mahometan States., Castile was nnder
the dominion of St. Ferdinand, who added to

it the kingdoms of Seville, Cordova and Jaen.-

James 1. governed Aragon, and conquered the
kingdoms of Valencia and Majorca; Navarre
was by Sancho VIII., who died in
the course of the following year, and left his
crown to Theobald I., Count de Champagne
and de Brie. SanchoIl. reigned in Por::dgal.

Many convents of Dominicans existed in
theee kingdoms after the establishment of the
order, but there are no authentic records, to

rove that the Inquisition was introduced be-
ore the year 1232, when Pope Gregory IX.
addressed a brief to Don &amgo. Arch-
bishop, of Tarragona, and to his suffragan
bishops, in which he most earnestly exhorted
them to oppose the progress of y by
every means in their power.
e archbishop sent the bull to Gil Rodri-
guez de Valladares, first provincial of the
panish Dominicans; he also sent it to Don
Bertrand, Bishop of Lerida, in whosee diocese
the first Spanish Inquisition was fonnded.
Pope Innocent V1. conferred many privileges
on the Dominican Friars, and in 1254 extend-
ed the rights of the Inquisitors, and in the
same brief decreed that the dispositions of
witnesses should be conside: valid, al-
though their names were unknown. Urban
V1. and Clement VI. also augmented their
privile,

The kings of Aragon continued to protect
the Inquisition, and James II., in 1292, pub-
lished a decree, commanding the tribunals of
justice to assist the Dominicans,to imprison all
who might be denounced, to execute the judg-.
ments ﬁrononneed by the monks, to remove
every obstacle which they might meet with,
&c. The hatred which the office of an inqui-
sitor everywhere inspired in the first ages of
the Ingnisition caused the death of a great
namber of Dominicans and some Cordeliers :
the honours of martyrdom were assigned to
them, but St. Peter of Verona was the only
one canonized by the pope. Nothing certain
is known of the state of Portugal during this

period : it appears that in the thirteenth cen-
tury the Inquisition was established only in
the dioceses of Taragona, Barcelona, Urgel,
Lerida, and Girona.

Thé convents of Dominicans having multi-
plied in Spain, a chapter-general of the order
decreed, in 1301, that it should be divided in-
to two provinces ; that the first in rank should
be named the province of Spain, and com-
prise Castile and Portogal; and that the
second should have the title of Aragon,
and ba composed of Valencia, Catalonia,
}lqmillon, Cerdagne, Majorca, Minorca, and

viza.

The provincial of the Dominicans of Cas-
tile, designated as the provincial of Spain,
posse the right of naming the apostolical
inquisitor in.the other provinces. In 1302
Father Bernard was inquisitor of Aragon, and
celebrated several aulos-da-fé in the same
year.

In 1308 Pope Clement V. commanded the
King of Aragon and the inquisitors to arrest all
the knights templars who had not been prose-
cuted, and to confiscate their property for the
use of the holy see; the templars in Castile
and Portugal were also arrested.

In 1314, other heretics were discovered in
the kingdom of Aragon; Bernard Puigceros,
the inquisitor-general, condemned several to
banishment, the others were bumnt. Many
who abjured were reconciled.

In 1336, F. Amaldo Burguete, inquisitor-
general of the kingdom, arrested Pierre Da-
rand de Baldhace, who had relapsed into here-
;{. and he was burnt alive in the presence of

ing James, his sons, and two bishops.

In 1334, F. William da Costa condemned
F. Bonato to the flames, and reconciled many
persons who had been perverted by that monk.

In 1350, Father Nicholas Rocel{i discovered
a sect of heretics named Be, whose chief .
was named Jacobus Justis; they were all
reconciled, and Jacobus was condemned to
perpetual imprisonment. ‘The hones of three
of these heretics who had died impenitent
were disinterred and burnt. Roselli being
elected Cardinal in 1356, Nicholus Eymerich
succeeded him. Eymerich composed a book
entitled “The Guide of Inquisitors,” in
which the most minute details of his judg-
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meats, and those of other inquisitors of Aragon
are found.

It is not certain whether the provincial of
Castile exercised his privilege of nami
inquisitors ; perhape heresy had not pemmtzs
il“l‘; . :;mu oflxa.s '(ilh: in 1378, the Ro-

0 ing in e
mmp:ammzban Vl.’ughil successor; but
several cardinals assembled oot of Rome, and
elected another Pope under the name of
Clement VII. .

The great schism of the West then began,
and lasted till the election of Martin V., in
the Coancil 1 of Constance iu 1417,
where Don Gil Mufioz, who had been elected
as Clement VIII., renounced the papacy.
This revolution influenced the state of the In-
quisition as mach as the other points of ecclesi-
astical discipline. Castile followed the party of
Clement VII., and Portugal that of Urban VI.
The order of Dominicans was equally divided,

" and elected different vicars-general. Urban V1.
died in 1389, and his party elected Boniface
1X., who appointed I. rigo de Cintra
agt;nolical inquisitor-general of Portagal. He
afterwards named F. Vicente de Lisboa in-
quisitor-general of ‘Spain. Castile, Navarre,
and Aragon were under the dominion of Be-
nedict X1II., who was elected Pope after the
death of Clement VII. Such was the state
of the Inquisition in Spain towards the end
of the fourteenth ceatury,

It is uncertain if the Inquisition existed in
Castile in the beginning of the fifteenth cen-
tury ; for, though Bonignee IX. appointed F.
Vicents de Lisboa inquisitor-general, his
authority was not recognized, as that kingdom
belonged to the party of Benedict XII1., who,
after the Council of Conetance, was desig-
nated as the anti-pope Peter de Luna. The
town of Perpignan was the seat of one of the
provincial Inquisitors of Aragon, whose juris-
diction extended over the countships of
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Rousillon and Cerdagne, and over the islands
of Majorca, Minorca, and Iviza. Benediot
X111, who was recognized in this part of
Spain, divided this province and appointed
two inquisitors, who celebrated several autos-
da-fé, and burnt a considerable number of

peo'lple. -
he election of Martin V. having put an
end to the great schism of the West, the Por-
tuguese monks ought to have submitted to the
authority of the Provincial of Spain, who was
then a2 monk of their nation, named F. Joan
de Santa Justa; but the Dominicans who
were at Constance persuaded the Pope that
his jurisdiction was two extensive, which
induced the pontiff to subdivide the province
of Spain into three parts: the first part was
named the province of Spain, and comprised
Castile, Toledo, Murcia, Estremadurs, Anda-
lusia, Biscay, and the Astarias de Santillana ; -
the second, Santiago, was composed of the
kingdom_ of Leon, Galicia, and the Asturias
of 8viedo; and the third, that of Portugal, ex-
tended over all the dominions of the monarch.
Martin V. established a provincial Inquisi-
tion at Valencia, in 1420, at the request of
Alphonso V., King of Aragon; hitherto com-
missioners had only been sent there. :
The Inquisitor of Aragon, 1441, was F.
Michael Ferriz, and that of Valencia, F. Mar-
tin Trilles, who reconciled in their districts
several Wickliffites, and condemned many
others to be burnt. Several inquisitors suc-
ceeded these till 1474, when Isabella, wife of
Ferdinand of Aragon, King of Sicily, ascend-
ed the throne of Castile, after the death of
Henry 1V. her brother. John 1l., King of
Aragon, dying in 1479, his eon, Ferdinand,
united that kingdom to Sicily ; he soon after
conquered the kingdom of Grenada, which
belonged to the Moors, and lastly that of
Navarro, which was secured to him by the
capitulation of the inhabitants.

CHAPTER 1V.
Of the Government of the Old Inquisition.

Actrouan the Popes, in eatablishing the
Inquisition, had only proposed to punish the
crime of heresy, yet the inquisitora were com-
missioned to pursue those Christians who
were only suspected, because it was the only
means of discovering those who were reall
guilty. There were many crimes whic
came under the jurisdiction of a civil judge,
which the Popes considered no one could be
suihy of without being tainted with a false

octrine ; and although they were pursued by
secular tribunals, the inquisitors were enjoin-
ed to consider theaccused as suspected of
heresy, and to proceed against them, in order
to ascertain if they committed these crimes
from the depravity natural to man, or from the
idea that they were not criminal ; which opi-

nion caused a suspicion that their doctrine
was erv A species of blasphem
which was called heretical, belonged to this
class of crimes ; it was committed against God
or his saints, and showed in the offender
erroneous opinions of the omniscience or other
attributes of the Deity. It rendered the blas-
phemer liable to be suspected of heresy, as
the inqnisitor might consider it a proof that
his habitual thoughts were contrary to the
faith.

The second species of crime which caused
a suspicion of heresy, was sorcery and divina-
tion. If the offenders only made use of natu-
ral and simple means of discovering the future,
such as counting the lines in the palm of the
hand, they came ‘under the jurisdiction of a
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civil judge; but all sorcerers were liable to
be punished for heresy by the Inquisition, if
they baptized a dead person, re-baptized an
infant, made use of holy water, the consecra-
ted host, the oil of extreme unction, or other
things which proved contempt or abuse of the
sacraments and the mysteries of religion.

The same suspicion affected those who ad-
dressed themselves to demons in their su
stitious practices. A third species of crime
was the invocation of demons. Nicliolas Ey-
merich informs us that, in his office of inqui-
sitor, he had procured and burnt, after having
read them, two books which treated of that
subject ; they both contained an account of
the power of demons, and of the mode of wor-
ohi&ping them. The same author adds, that
in his time a great number of trials for this
crime took place in Catalonin, and that many
of the accused had gone so far as to worship
Satan, with all the signs, ceremonies, and
words of the Catholic religion. .

A fourth kind of crime which caused sus-

icion of heresy, was, to remain a year, or
ronger. excommunicated without seeking ab-
solution, or performing the penance which
had been imposed. The Popes affirmed that
no Catholic, in’e‘roacbnble in his faith, could
live with so much indifference under the cen-
sure of the church. -

Schism was the sixth case where heresy was
suspected. It may exist either without heresy
or with it. To thefirst class belong all schis-
matics, who admit the articles of the faith,
but deny the authority of the Pope, as head
of the Catholic church, and vicar of Jésus
Christ. The socond is composed of those
who hold the same opinions as the first, and
also refuse to believe in some of the articles ;
such as the Greeks, who hold that the Holy
Ghost proceeds only from the Father, and not
from the Son.

The Inquisition also proceeded against con-
ccalers, favourers and adherents of heretics, as
being suspected of J’)rofessing the same opi-
nions. e seventh class was com of
all those who op the Inquisition, and

revented the inquisitors from exercising their
?unctiona.

The eighth class comprehended those nobles
who refused to take an oath to drive the here-
tics from their states. The ninth class con-
sisted of governors of kingdoms, provinces
and towns, who did not defend the church
against heretics, when they were requried by
the Inquisition. The tenth class comprised
those who refused to repeal the statutes in
force in towns and cities, when they were
con to the measures decreed by the holy
office. The eleventh class of suspected per-
sons, were all lawyers, notaries, and other

rsons belonging to the Jaw, who assisted
rmtica by their advice; or concealed papers,
records, and other writings, which might
make their errors, dwellings, or stations

" known. In the twelfth class of suspected
were those persons who have given ecclesias-
tical sepulture to known heretics. Those who
refused to takean oath in the trials of heretics

‘heresy

HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

when they were required to do it, were also
liable to suspicion. The fourteenth class were
deceased persons who had been denounced as
heretics. The Popes, in order to render
more odious, had decreed that the
bodies of dead heretics, should be disinterred
and burnt, their property confiscated, and
their memory pronouncez infamous. The
same suspicion fell upon writings which con-
tained heretical doctrines, or which might
lead to them. Lastly, the Jews and Moora
were considered as subject to the holy office,
when they engaged Catholics to embruce their
faith, either by their writings or discourse.

Although all the persons guilty of the crimes
above mentioned were under the jurisdiction of
the holy office, yet the Pope, his legatcs, his
nuncios, his officers, and familiars were ex-
empt; and if any of these were denounced as
heretics, the inquisitor could only take the se-
cretinformation and refer it to the Pope. Bish-
ope _vivere also exempt, but kings had not that

rivilege.

b As bishops were the ordinary inquisitors by
divine right, it seems just that they should
have had the power of receiving informations,
and proceeding against the apostolical inquisi-
tors in matters of faith; but the Pope render-
ed his delegates independent, by decreein,
that none but an apostolical inquisitor coulg
proceed against another. The inquisitor and
the bishop acted together, but each had the
right of pursning heretics separately : the or-
ders for imprisonment conld only be issued by
both together, and if they did not accord they
referred to the Pope. The inquisitors could
require the assistance of secular power in the
exercise of their authority, and it could not be
refused without incurring the punishment of
excommunication and suspicion of heresy.
The bishop was obliged to lend his house for
the prisoners; besides this, the inquisitors
had a particular prison to secure the persons
of the accused.

The first inquisitors had no fixed salary:
the holy office was founded on devotion and
zeal for the faith; its members were almost
all monks, who had made a vow of poverty,
and the priests who were associated in their
labours were generally canons, or provided
;Li;: beneﬁe:l.j But when the in ui:iton

n to make journeys, accompani Te-
corders, alguazils, and an arml:'l fme{ the
Pope decreed that all their expenses should
be defrayed by the bishops, on the pretence
that the inquisitors laboured for the destruc-
tion of heresy in their dioceses. This mea-
sure displeased the bishops, still more as they
were deprived of part of theirauthority. The
expenses of the Inquisition were afterwards
defrayed by the fines and confiscations of the
condemned heretics : these resources were
the only funds of the holy office; it never pos-
skssed any fixed revenue.

Of the Manner of Proceeding in the Tribunals
 the o Ola et i ok 4

‘When a priest was arpoimod an inquisitor
by the Pope, or by a delegate of the holy see,
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jure the heresy of which he acknowledged
"himself guilty.

he wrote to the king, who issued a royal man-
date to all the tribunals of the towns where the
inquisitor would pass to perform his office,com-
manding them, on pain of the most severe
ponalties, to arrest all the persons whom he
should mark as heretics, or suspect of heresy,
and to execute the judﬁnento passed upon
them. The same order obliged the magistrates
to farnish the inquisitor and his attendants
with a lodging, and to protect them from in-
sult and every inconvenience. When the in-
quiaitor arrived at the town where he intended
to enter upon his office, he officially informed
the magistrate, and required his attendance,
fixing the time and 'plm. ’

The commander of the town presented him-
self before the delegate, and took an oath to
put in force all the laws against heretics. If
the officer or magistrate refused to obey, the
inquisitor excommanicated him; if he made
no difficulty, the inquisitor appointed a day
for the people to meet in the church, when he
preached, and read an edict which command-
ed that all informations should be given with-
in a certain period. The inquisitor afterwards
declared thatall who should voluntarily con-
fess themselves heretics, should receive abso-
lution, and be subjected to a slight penance,
bat that those who were denounced, should be
proceeded against with severity.

If any accusations took place during the in-
terval, they were registered, but did not take

- effect until it was known that the accnsed
would not come voluntarily before the tribanal.
After the expiration of the period allowed, the
informer was summoned; he was told that
there were three ways of proceeding to disco-
ver the truth,—accusation, information, and
inquisition, and was asked to which he gave
the preference. If he choee the first, he was
invited to accuse the denounced person, but
at the same time to consider that he wasa sub-
ject to the law of retaliation if he was found
to be a calumniator. This manner of proceed-
ing was adopted by very few persons: the

ater number declared, that fear of the pun-
ishments with which the holy office menaced
those who did not inform against heretics was
the cause of their appearance; and they de-
sired that their information might be kept se-
cret, on account of the danger they incurred
of being assassinated if they were known.

The inquisitor interrogated the witnesses,
assisted by the recorder and two priests, who
were commissioned to observe if the declara-
tions were faithfully taken down, and to be
present when they were read to the witnesses,
who were then asked if they acknowledged
all that was read to them. If the crime or
saspicion of -heresy was proved in the infor-
mation, the criminal was arrested and taken
to-the ecclesiastical prison. After his arrest,
he was examined, and his answers compared
with the testimony of the witnesses. If the
accused confessed himaelf guilty of one here-
8y, it was in vain for him to assert that he
was innocent of the others; he was not per-
mitted to defend himself, because his crime
was proved: He was asked if he would ah-
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If he consented, he was re-
conciled, and the canonical pénance was im-
on him, with some other punishment;
if he refused, he was declared an obstinate
heretic, and was delivered up to secular jus-
tice, with a copy of his sen . :

If the accused denied the charge, and un-
dertook to defend himself, a copy of the pro-
cess was given to him, but without the names
of the accuser or the witnesses, and with every
circumstance omitted which might lead to
their discovery. :

The accused was asked if he had enemies,
and if he knew their motives for hating him.
He was also permitted to declare that he sus-
pected any {nnicnhr person of wishing to
ruin him. In either case the proof was ad-
mitted, and the inquisitor considered it in
passing judgment. The inquisitor sometimes
asked the accused if he knew certain persons:
these individuals were the accusers and wit-
nesses : if he replied in the negative, he could
not afterwards challenge them as enemies: in
the course of time, every one concluded that
these persons were the accuser and the wit-
nesses, and the custom was abandoned. The
accused person was also permitted to appeal
to the Pope, who rejected or admitted his ap-
peal, according to the rules of justice. There
was no redguhr proceeding before the Inqui-
sition, and the judges did not fix a time to
establish the proof of the facts. After the
replies and defence of the accused, the inqui-
sitor and the bishop of the diocese, or their
delegates, proceeded to fw sentence without
any other formalities. If the accused denied
the charges, although he was convicted or
strongly suspected, he was tortured, to force
him to confess his crime; or if it was thought
that there was no necessity for it, the judges
proceeded to pass.the final sentence.

If the crime imputed to the accused was
not proved, he was acquitted, and a copy of
the declaration given to him, but the name of
his accuser was not communicated. If he had
been calumniated, he was obliged to clear
himself publicly by the canonical method, in
the town where it had taken place; he after-
wards abjured all heresy, and received the
absolution ad caulelam® for all the censures
which he had incurred. In order to propor-
tion the punishment to the suspicion, it was
divided into three degrees, named slight,
serious and violent.

The person who was declared to be sus-
pected, though in the least degree, was called
upon to renounce all heresies, and particularly
that of which he was suspected. If he con-
sented, he was reconciled, and was subjected
to punishments and penances; if he refused,
he was excommunicated ; and if he did net
demand absolution, or promise to abjure after
the space of one year, he was considered as
an obstinate heretic, and proceeded against as

* The absolution ad cautelom is that granted b{
inquisitors to persons who have been suspected of

B2
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such. If the accused was a formal heretic,
willing to abjure, and not guilty of baving
relapsed, he was reconciled with penances.

A person was considered as relapsed if he
had already heen condemned, or violently sus-
pected of the same errors, The abjurations
were made in the place where the inquisitor
resided, sometimes in the episcopal palace, in
the convent of Dominicans, or in the house of
the inquisitor, but most generally in the
churches. The Sunday before this ceremony,
the day on which it was to take place was
announced in all the churches of the town,
and the inhabitants were requested to attend
the sermon which would be preached by the
inquisitor ugainst hereay. Jn the appointed
day the clergy and the people assembled
round a scaffold, where the person skightly
suspecled stood bare-headed, that he might be
seen by every one. ‘The mass was performed,
and the inquisitor preached against the parti-
ticular heresy which was the cause of the
ceremony ; he announced that the person on
the scaffold was slightly suspected of having
fallen into it, and read the process to the
people : he concluded by saying, that the cul-
grit was ready to abjure. A cross and the

ible was given to the offender, who read his
abjuration, and signed it, if he could write;
the inquisitor then gave him absolution, and
imposed upon him those penances which were
thought most useful.
en the suspicion of heresy was violent,
the aulo-da-fé took place on a Sunday; or fes-
tival-day, and all the other churches were
closed, that the concourse of people might be
greater in that where the ceremony was to be
performed. The offender was warned not
only to be a good Catholic for the future, but
to conduct himself in such a manner as not to
be accused a second time; as, if he relapsed,
he would suffer capital punishinent, althongh
he might abjure and be reconciled. If the
offender was suspected in the highest degree,
he was treated as an heretic, and wore the
habit of a penitent during the ceremony; it
was composed of brown stuff, with a scapula-
ry which had two yellow crosses fastened on it.

If the suspected person was to clear him-
self from calumny by the canonical method,
the ceremony was also announced before it
took place, and he was obliged to take an oath
that he was not an heretic, and to produce
twelve witnesses who had known him for the
last ten years, to swear that they believed his
affirmation to be true. He then abjured all
heresies.

If the accused was repentant, and demand-
ed to be reconciled after having relapsed, he
was to be delivered over to secular justice,
and was destined to suffer capital punishment.
The inquisitors, after having passed judgment
on him, engaged some priests, who were in
their confidence, to inform him of his situa-
tion, and induce him to demand the sacrament
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of penance and the commaunion. When these
ministers had passed two or three days with
the prisoner, an aulo-da-fé was announced;
the sentence was read .which delivered the
culpritover to secular justice, and recommend-
ed the judges to treat him with humanity.

If the accused was an impenitent heretic,
he was condemned, but the aulo-dafé was
never celebrated until every means had been
tried to convert him ; if he was obstinate, he
was delivered up to the justice of the king,
and burht. If the unfortunate heretic had
relapsed, it was in vain for him to return to
the true faith ; he could not avoid death, and
the only favour shewn him was, that he was
first strangled, and afterwards burnt. Those
who escaped from the prisons, or fled to avoid
being arrested, were burnt in eﬁgg.

e tribunal of the Inquisition being eccle-
siastical, had originally only the power of in-
flicting spiritual punishments; but the laws
of the emperors during the .fourth and follow-
ing centuries, and other circumstances, caused
the inquisitors of the thirteenth century to
assume the right of imposing punishments
entirely temporal, except that of death. The
sentence of the Inquisition imposed a variety
of fines and personal penalties; such as en-
tire or partial confiscation; perpetual, or a
limited period of imprisonment; exile, or
transportation ; infamy, and the loss of em-
ployments, honours, and dignities. Those.
Eenons who abjured as seriously suspected of

eresy, were condemned to be imprisoned for
a certain time proportioned to the degree of
suspicion. If the accused was violenily sus-
pected, he was condemned to perpetval im-
prisonment, but the inquisitor had the power
of mitigating the sentence, if he judged that
the prisoner repented sincerely. If the abjurer
had been a formal heretic, he was imprisoned
for life, and the inquisitor had not the power
of shortening the duration of the punishment,

Among the punishments to which heretics
were condemned, mast be enumerated that of
wearing the habit of a penitent, known in
Spain under the name of San Benifo, which
is a corruption of saco bendito. Its real name
in Spanish was Zamarra. The first became
the common name, because the penitential -
habit was called sac in the Jewish history.

Before the thirteenth century it was the
custom to bless the sac which was worn in
public penance, and hence it derived the
epithet of bendito (blessed.) It was a close
tunic, made like the cassock of a priest, with
crosses of a-different colour affixed to the
breast. St. Dominic and the other ingnisitors
caused the reconciled heretics to wear these
crosses, a8 a protection against the Catholics
who massacred all known heretics, although
they might be unarmed. The reconciled Aere-
lics wore two crosses to distinguish them
from pure Catholics, who only wore one as
crusaders.
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CHAPTER V.
Establishment of the modern Inquisition in Spain.

‘Thar state of the Inquisition in the kinxdom

of Aragon, at the accession of Ferdinand and
Isabella, has been shown in a preceding chap-
ter. This tribunal was then introduced into
the kin?om of Castile, after having been re-
formed by statutes and Jations so severe,
that the nf»nen violently resisted the fresh
burdens which were imposed on them.

This is the Inquisition which has reigned
in Spain since the year 1481, which was de-
stroyed, to the satisfaction of all Europe, and
which has since been re-established to the
grief of all enlightened Spaniards. .

The war against the Albigenses was the
first cause of the establishment of the Inquisi-
tion; and the pretended necessity of punish-
ing the apostacy of the newly-converted Spa-
nish Jews, was the reason for introducing it
in a reformed state. It is important to re-
mark that the immense trade carried on by the
Spanish Jews had thrown into their hands
the greatest part of the wealth of the Peninsu-
la; and thatthey had acquired great power
and influence in Castile ander Alphonso IX.,
Peter I., and Henry II. ; and in Aragon under
Peter 1V. and John 1. The Christians, who
oould not rival them in industry, had almost
all become their debtors, and envy soon
made them the enemies of their creditors.
This dio‘ro.ition was fostered by evil-minded
men, and popular commotions were the con-
sequence in almost all the towns of the two
kingdoms. In 1391, five thousand Jews were
sacrificed to the fury of the people in different
towns. Several were known to have escaped
death by becoming Christians ; many others
sought to save themselves in following their
example; and in a short time more than a
million persons renounced the law of Moses
to embrace the Christian faith. The number
of conversions increased considerably during
the tem first years of the fifteenth century,
through the zeal of St. Vincent Ferrier and

- several other missionaries ; they were second-
ed by the famous conferences which took
place in 1413 between several Rahbis and
the converted Jew, Jerome de Santafé. The
convertod Jews were named New Christians ;
they were also called Marranos, or the carsed
race, from an oath which the Jews were in
the habit of using among themselves. As
the fear of death was the cause of most of
these conversion, many repented, and secretly
returned to Judaism, though they outwardly
conformed to Christianity. The constraint to
which they were obliged to submit was some-
times too painful, and several were discover-
od. This was the ostensible reason for the
establishment of a tribunal which gave Ferdi-
nand an opporturity of conﬁscqtinf immense
riches, and which Sextus 1V, could not but
approve, as it tended to augment the credit of

the maxims of the court of Rome : it is to
these projects concealed under the appearance
of zeal for religion, that the Inquisition of
Spain owes its origin.

In 1477, Philip de Barbaris, inquisitor of
the kingdom of Sicily, went to Seville to obtain
from Ferdinand and Isabella the confirmation
of a privilege granted in 1233, by the Empe-
ror Frederic, which gave to the Inquisition of
Sicily the right of seizing a third part of
the property of condemned heretics. Barbaris,
through zeal for the interests of the Pope, en-
deavoured to persuade the king that the Chris-
tian religion derived the greatest advantages
from the fear which the judgments of the In-
quisition inspired. He was eagerly seconded
b{ Alphonso de Hojida, prior to the convent
of Dominicans at Seville; and Nicholas Fran-
co, the nuncio of the Pope at the court of
Spein. A report was then spread in different
parts of the kingdom that the New Christians,
with the unbaptized Jews, insulted the images
of Jesus Christ, and had even crucified Chris-
tian children in mockery of his sufferings on
the cross. Ferdinand was willing to receive
the Inquisition into his states ; the only ob-
stacle was the refusal of Isabella; that ex-
cellent queen could not approve of measures
80 contrary to the gentleness of her character, .
but her cansent was obtained by alarming her
conscience : she was told that i1t became 2 re-
ligious duty to adopt them in the present cir-
cumstances. :

Isabella suffered herself to be led away by
the representations of her council, and com-
missioned her ambassador at Rome, Don
Francis de Santillan, Bishop of Osma, to so-
licit in her name a bull for the establishment
of the Inquisition in Castile, which was
granted in 14768. It authorized Ferdinand
and Isabella to.name the priests who were to
be commissioned to discover in their states all
heretics, apostates, and favourers of these
crimes. As this measure was displeasing to
Isabella, her council, by her order suspended
the execution of the bull until less severe rej
medies had been tried.

The commissioned D. Di Al-

honso de Solis, Bishop of Cadiz, Diego de
Merlo, and Alphonso de Hojida, prior of the
convent of Dominicans, to observe the effects
produced by gentle means, and give a faithful
account of them. Their reports were such as
might be expected from the situation of affairs;
and the Dominican fathers, the nuncio, and
even the king, desired that the measures pre-
ferred by Isabella should be declared insuffi-
cient. :

The events of this year proved how dis-
leasing the institution was to the Casti-
ians. In the beginning of the year 1480, the

Cortes assembled at Toledo. 1t was occupied




in providing means to prevent the evil which
the communication of the Jews with Chris-
tians might produce: the ancient la-
tions were renewed; and among others,
those which obliged unbaptized Jews to wear

some distinquishing mark, and to inhabit se- .
. ramte quarters, to which they wore compel-

ed to retire before night : they were also pro-
hibited from exercising the professions of
physicians, surgeons, merchaants, barbers, and
innkeepers ; yet the Cortes had no intention
either of approving or demanding that the In-
uisition should be established in the king-
om.

The consent of the queen was obtained ;
and while the two sovereigns were at Medina
del Campo, on the 17th of November, 1480,
they named. as the first inquisitors, Michael
Morillo and John de San Martin, both Do-
minicans, as adviser and accessor of these
two monks, Doctor John Ruiz de Medina, a
counsellor of the queen’s; and as (procara-
tor-fiscal) attorney, John Lopez del Barco,
the queen’s chaplain.

On the 9th of October an order was sent by
the king and queen to all the governors of
Pprovinces to furnish the inquisitors and. their
suite with everything they might require in
their journey to Seville; an extraordinary cir-
cumstance in that time, and which proves the
influence which the Dominicans had already
acquired. Their privileges were the same as
those _anted in 1223 by the Emperor Frede-
rit. The Castillians were so far from being
pleased at the introduction of the Inquisition,
that the inquisitors, on their arrival at Seville,
found it impossible to collect the small num-
ber of persons necessary to the performance
of their functions, although they showed their
commiseion ; and the Council of Spain was
obliged to issue another order, that the prefect
and other authorities of Seville, and the dio-
cese of Cadiz, should assist the inquisitors in
their installation: this order was also inter-
preted in such a manner that it was only ex-
ecuted in those towns which belonged to the
queen. The New Chrisiians then immediately
emigrated into the states of the Duke de Me-
dina Sidonis, the Marquis of Cadiz, the Count
D’Arcos, and other nobles; and the new tri-
bunal declared that their heresy was proved
by their emigration.

The inquisitors established their tribunal
in the Dominican convent of St. Paul, at Se-
ville ; and on the 2nd of January, 1481, they
issued their first edict, which commanded the
Mu%uis of Cadiz, the Count D’Arcos, and all
grandees of Spain, to seize the persons of the
emigrants within fifleen days; and to send
them under an escort to Seville, and sequestrate
their protxerty, on pain of excommunication,
besides the other punishments to which they
would be liable as favourers of heresy. The
number of prisoners was soon so considerable,
that the convent assigned to the inquisitors
was pot safficiently large to contain them, and
the tribunal was removed to the Castle de
Triana,.situawd near Seville.

The inquisitors soon published & second
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edict, named the Edict of Graco, to engage
those who had apostatized to surrender them-
selves voluntarily : it promised that if they
came with true repentance, their proreny
should not be confiscated, and they, should re-
ceive absolution ; but if, on the contrary, they
suffered the time of grace to elapse, or were
denounced by others, they wonld be prosecu-
ted with all the severity of the tribunal. Se-
veral suffered themselves to be persnaded ;
but the inguisitors onldy %ranted them absolu-
tion when they had declared upon oath the
names, condition, and place of dwelling of
all the apostates whom they knew or had
heard opom of. They were also obliged to
keep these revelations secret; and by these
means a number of New Christians fell
into the hands of the inquisitors. When the
period of grace was passed, a new edict was
published, which commanded all persons to
denounce those who had embraced the Judaic
ain of mortal sin and excommu-
nication. e consequence of this edict was,
that an heretic wumy informed that he was
wt(:’n:ed, at the t;:m:llmm whenfh& wlas nr_re's_ted,
an to the dungeons of the Inquisition.
'l‘h?ggl:i fate nwmd the conobged Jew,
who might have acquired certain habits in his
infancy, which, though not contrary to Chris-
tianity, might bo represented as certain signs
of apostacy. The inquisitors mentioned in
their edict several cases where accusation was
commanded. The following cases are so
equivocal, that altogether they would scarcely
form a simple presumption in the present
time. A convert was considered as relapsed
into heresy, if he kept the sabbath out of
respect to the law which he had abandoned ;
this was sufficiently proved if he wore better
linen and garments on that day than those
which he commonly used, or had not a fire in
his house from the preceding eveninF; if he
took the suet and fat from the animals which
were intended for his food, and washed the
blood from it; if he examined the blade of the
knife hefore he killed the animals, and covered
the blood with earth; if he blessed the table
after the manner of the Jews; if he has drunk
of the wine named caser, (a word derived
from caxer, which means lawful,) and which
is prepared by Jews; if he pronounces the
bahara, or benediction, when he takes the
vessel of wine into his hands, and pronounces
certain words before he gives it to another
rson; if he eats of an animal killed by
ews; if he has recited the Psalms of David
without repeating the Gloria Patri at the
end; if he gives his son a Hebrew name
chosen among those used by the Jews: if he
lunges him seven days after his birth into a
asin containing water, gold, silver, seed-
pearl, wheat, barley, and other substances,
pronouncing at the same time certain words,
according to the custom of the Jews; if he
draws the horoscope of his children at their
birth; if he performs the ruaya, a ceremony
which consists in inviting his relations and
friends to a repast the day before he under-
takes a journey; if he turned his face to the

hem’, on
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wall at the time of his death, or has been
laced in that“romm before he expired; if
e has washed, or caused to be washed, in
hot water, the body of a dead person, and in-
terred him in a new shrond, with hose,shirt,and
a mantle, and placed a piece of money in his
mouth; if he has uttered a discourse in praise
of the dead, or recited melancholy verses; if
he has emptied the pitchers and other vessels
of water in the house of the dead person, or in
those of his neighbours, according to the cus-
tom of the Jews; if he sits behind the door of
the deceesed as a sign of grief, or eats fish
and olives instead of meat, to honour his
memory; if he remains in his house one
year the death of any one, to prove his
grief. All these grticles show the artifice
used by the inquisitors in order to prove to
Isabella thata t number of Judaic heretics
existed in the dioceses of Cadiz and Seville.
These measures, so well adapted to multiply
victims, could not fail in their effect, and the
tribunal soon began its cruel execations. On
the 6th of January, 1481, six persons were
burnt, seventeen on the 86th of March follow-
ing, and a oﬁli&mm number a month after;
on the 4th of November, the same year, two
hundred and ninety-eight New Christians had
suffered the punishment of burning, and
seventy-nine were condemned to the Eorrou
of perpetual imprisonment in the town of
Sevillealone. In other parts of the province
- and in the diocese of Cadiz, two thousand of
these unfortunate creatures were bumnt; ac-
cording to Mariana,a still ter number were
burnt in effigy, and one thousand seven hun-
dred saffered different canonical punishments.
The great number of persons condemned to
be burnt, obliged the prefect of Seville to
construct a scaffold of stone in a field near
the town, named Tablada ; it was called Que-
madero, and still exists. Four statues of
plaster were erected on it, and bore the name
of the Four P; 7 the condemned persons
were enclosed alive in these figures, and per-
ished by a slow and horrible death.®
The dread which these executions inspired
in the New Christians caused a great number
to emigrate to France, Portugal, and even to

* Since the publication of this work, the Author
has been informed that the convicts were only
fastened to the statues of the Four Prophets, and
not enclosed in them. Andrew Bernaldes, a con-
temporary writer, and eye-witness of the execu-
tions, from whom this fact was taken, is not
sufficiently explicit to romove all doubt.
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Africa. Many of those who had been con-
demned for contumacy had fled to Rome, and
demanded justice of the Pope against their
jodges. e soverei ntiff wrote on the
29th of Janvary to Ferdinand and Isabella,
and complained that the inquisitors did not
follow the rale of right in declaring those to
be heretics who were not guilty. His Holi-
ness added that he would have pronou
their deprivation bat from respect to the royal
decree which had institated them in their
office, but he revoked the authorization which
he had given. On the 11th of the following
month the Pope despatched a new brief, in
which, without mentioning the first, he says,
the general of the Dominicans, Alphonso de
St. gobrimt, having proved to him the neces-
sity of increasing the number of inquisitors,
he had appointed to that office Alphonso de
St. Cebriant, and seven monks of his order.
It was at this time that Queen Isabella re-
quested the Pope to give the Inquisition a
permanent form which should be satisfactory
to all parties; she required that the judg-
ments passed in Spain should be definitive
and without uppeal to Rome, and complained
at the same time that many persons accused
her of being influenced in all that she did for
the tribunal by a desire to seize the wealth of
the condemned.

When Sixtus IV. received this letter he
had just leant that his bulls had met with
some resistance in Sicily from the viceroy and
other magistrates, and artfully took advantage
of Isabella’s request to confirm his authonity
in that kingdom. He refllied to the queen,
and praised her zeal for the Inquisition; ap-
peased her scruples of conscience in regard to
the confiscations ; and assured her that he
would have complied with all her demands,
if the cardinals, and those charged with the
administration of affairs, had not found insar-
mountable difficulties in so doing. He ex-
horted her to maintain the Inquisition in her
states, and above all to take proper measures
that the apostolical bulls should be received
and executed in Sicily.

‘The councillors to whom the Pope had
submitted the demands of Isabells, approved
of the creation of an apostolical judge of
appeal in Spain; and proposed at the same
time that no persen descended from the Jews,
eithor.:s the male or female side, should. be
admitted among the inquisitorial judges. Don
Inigo Manrique was named sole mgo of
appeals in all matters of faith, -
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CHAPTER VI

Creation of a Grand Inquisitor-General ; of a

bunals and Organic Laws : Establishment of the Holy Office in

In 1483, Father Thomas de Torquemada
was appointed inquisitor-general of n,
and the immense powers of his office were
confirmed in 1486, by Innocent VIIL. and by
the two successors of that pontiff, It would
have been impossible to 2 man more
Pproper to fulfil the intontions of Ferdinand in
maltiplying the number of confiscations than
Torquemada. He first created four inferior
tribunals at Seville, Cordova, Jean, and Villa-
Real (now Ciudad-Real) ; thelatter was soon
after transferred to Toledo. He then permitted
the Dominican fathers to exercise their func-
tions in the kingdom of Castile : these monks,
who held their commission from the holy see,
did not submit to the authority of Torquemada
without some resistance; they declared that
they were not his delegates. Torquemada did
not pronounce their deposition, as he feared it
would injnre the execution of the enterprise
which he was commencing, but prepared to
form laws which he found very necessary.—
He chose as assistants and councillors, two
Civilians, named John Guiterrez de Chabes,
and Tristan de Medina. At this time Ferdi-
nand, perceiving how important it was to the
interest of the revenue to organize the tribunal,
created a royal council of the Inquisition, and
appointed or1uemada smident, and as coun-
cillors, Don Alphonso Carillo, Bishop of Ma-
zana in Sicily, Sancho Valasquez d3 Cuellar
and Ponce de Velencia, both doctors of law.
Torquemada commissioned his two assistants
to arrange the laws for the new council, and
convoked a junta, which was composed of the
inquisitors of the four tribunals which he had
established, the two assistants, and the mem-
bers of the royal council. This assembly was
held at Seville, and published the first laws
of the Spanish tribunal under the name of in-
structions in 1484. These instructions were
divided into twenty-eight articles.

The 1st article regulated the manner in
which the establishment of the Inquisition
shoald be announced in the country where it
was to be introduced.

The 3nd article commanded that an ediot
should be published, accompanied with cen-
sures against those who did not accuse them-
selves voluntarily during the term of grace.

By the 3rd, a delay of thirty days was ap-
Ppointed for heretics to declare themselves.

The 4th lated that all voluntary con-
fessions should be written in the presence of
the inquisitors and a recorder.

‘The 5th, thatabsolution should not be given
secretly to any individual voluntarily confess-
ing unless no person was acquainted with his
crime.

The 6th ordained, that part of the penance

al Council of the Inquisition ; of Subaltern Tri.
in Aragon.

of a reconciled Aeretic shonld consist in bei
deprived of all honourable employments, a
of tble use of gold, silver, pearls, silk, and fine
wool.

By the 7th article, pecuniary penalties
were imposed on all who made a voluntary
confession.

By the 8th, the person whoaccnsed himself
after the term of grace could not be exempted
from the punishment of confiscation.

The 9th article decreed, that if persons un.
der twenty years of age accuse themselves
after the term of grace, and it is proved that
they were drawn into error by their parents, a
slight punishment shall be inflicted.

ﬁ‘he 10th obliged the inquisitors to declare,
in their act of reconciliation, the exact time
when the offender fell into heresy, that the
portion o!;rropeﬂy to be confiscated might be
ascertained. : ’

The 11th article decreed, that if a heretic,
detained in the prisons of the holy office, de-
manded absolution, and appeared to feel true
repentance, thatit might be granted to him, im-
posing at the same time perpetual ‘imprison-
ment.,

By the 12th, if the inquisitors thought the
repentance of the prisoner was pretended, in
the case indicated by the former article, they
were permitted to refuse the absolution, to
declare him a false penitent, and as such con-
deran him to be burnt.

By the 13th, if a man, absolved after his
confession, should boast of having concealed
several crimes, or if information should be
obtained that he had committed more than he
hiad confessed, he was to be arrested and
judged a8 a false penitent.

the 14th article, the accused was to be
condemned as impenitent, if he persisted in
his denials even after the publication of the
testimony. .

By the 15th, if a semi-proof existed against
a person who denied his crime, he was to be
sutm the torture ; if he confessed his crime

uring the torture, and afterwards confirmed
his confession, he was punished as convicted ;
if he retracted, he was tortured again, or con-
demned to an extraordinary punishment.

The 16th article prohibited the communi-
cation of the entire deposition of the witnesses
to the accused.

The 17th article obliged the inquisitors to
interrogate the witnesses themselves, if it was
not impossible.

The 18th article decrees, that one or two
inquisitors should be present when the prison-
er was tortured, or appoint a commissioner if
they were occupied elsewhere, to receive his
declarations. :
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By the 19th article, if the accused did not
appear when summoned, according to the pre-
scribed form, he was condemned as a heretic. ;

‘The 20th article decrees, thatif itis proved
that any person died a heretic, by his writings
or conduet, that he shall be jodged and con-
demned as such, his body disinterred and
barnt, and his property confiscated.

By the S1s(,the inquisitors were command-
ed to extend their jurisdiction over the vassals
of nobles; if they refused to permit it, they
were to be censured.

The 22nd decreed that if a man, burnt as a
heretic, left children under age, a portion of
their father’s pro should be granted to
them under the title of alms, and the inquisi-
tors shall be obliged to confide their education
to proper persons. :

y the 23rd, if a heretic reconciled during
the term of grace, without having incurred the
punishment of confiscation, possessed proper-
ty belonging to a condemned person, this
property was not to be incladed in the pardon.

e 24th obliged the reconciled to give his
Christian slaves their liberty, when his
property was not confiscated, if the king
granted the pardon on that condition.

The 25th prohibited the inquisitors, and
othér persons attached to the tribunal, from
receiving presents, on pain of excommunica-
tion, deprivation of their employments, resti-
tufion, and :J»mhy of twice the value of the
gifls received. .

The 26th recommends to the officers of the
Inquisition to live in peace ther.

e 37th commands that they shall eare-
fully watch the conduct of their inferior of-
ficers.

- The 28th and last, commits to the prudence
of the inquisitors the discussion of all points
not mentioned in the foregoing articles.

Ferdinand having convoked at Tarazona
the Cortes of hia kingdom of A decreed
that the Inquisition shoold be reformed in a
privy-council. After this resolution, Torque-
mada named Gaspard Juglar, a° Dominican,
and Peter Arbuds d’Epila as inquisitors for
the archbishopric of Saragossa. A royal ordi-
nance commanded all the authorities to aid
and assist them in their office, and the magis-
trate known by the name of Chief Justice of
Aragon, took the cath with several others.
This circumstance did not prevent the resist-
ance which the Aragonese opposed to the tri-
bunal: on the contrary it augmented, and
rose to such a height that it might have been
termed national.

The principal persons employed in the
Court of Aragon were descended from New
Christians: among these were Louis Gonzalez,
the royal spcretary for the affairs of the king-
dom; Philip de Clemente, prothonotary;
Alphonso de la Cabellaria, vice chancellor;
nng Gabriel Sanchez, treasurer; who
were all descended from Jews condemn-
ed, in their time, by the Inquisition. These
men, and many others employed in the court,

had allied themselves to the principal gran-
dees in the kingdom, and uoos the influence.

which they derived from this circumstance, to
engage the nsmenmivu of the nation to
appeal to the Pope and the king, against the
WI code. Commissioners were sent
to and the Court of Spain, to demand
the suspension of the articles relating to con-
fiscation, as mmﬁw the Jaws of the king-
dom of Aragon. ey were aded that
the Inquisition would not maintain itself if
this measure was abandoned. While the
deputies of the Cortes: of Aragon were at
Rome, and with the king, the inquisitors con-
demned seversl New Ohristians as Judaic
heretics. These executions increased the
irritation of the A e; and when the
deputies wrote from the Court of Spain, that
they were not satisfied with the state of
affairs, they resolved to sacrifice one or two
of the inquisitors, with the hope that no one
would dare to take the office, and that the
king would renounce his design. ‘The pro-
jects of assassination having been approved
y the conspirators, a voluntary contribution
was raised among all the Aragonese of the
Jewish race; and it was proved by the trials
of Sancho de Paternoy and others, that Don
Blasco d'Alagon received ten thousand reals,
which were destined to reward the assassins
of the Inquisitor Arbués. John de la Abadia,
a noble of Aragon, but descended from Jewish
ancestors on the female side, took upon him-
self the direction of the enterprise. The as-
sassination was confided to John d’Esperain-
deo, to Vidal d'Uranso, his servant, to
Matthew Ram, Tristan de Leonis, Anthony
Gran, and Bernard Leofante. They failed
several times in their attempts, as Peter
Arbués, being informed of their design, took
the necessary precautions to secure his life.
It appears, from the examination of some
of the murderers, that the inquisitor’ wore a
coat of mail under his vest, and a kind of
helmet covered with a cap. He was at last
assassinated in the metropolitan church,duri
the performance of the matins, on the 15th o
November, 1485. Vidal d’Uranso wounded
him 80 severely in the back of the neck that
he died two days after. The next day the
murdet was known in the town, but its effects
were-different from what had been expected,
for all the Old Christians, or those who were
not of Jewish origin, Penmded that the New
Christians had committed the crime, assem-
bled to pursue them and revenge the death of
the inquisitor. The disturbance was violent,
and its consequences would have been terri-
ble, if the young archbishop, Don Alphonso
of Aragon, had not shewn himself, and as-
sured the multitude that the criminal should
be punished. Policy inspired Fardinand and
Isabella with the idea of honouring the memo-
ry of Arbués with a solemnity which contri-
buted to make him pass for a saint, and
caused a particular worship to be addressed to
him. This took place-long after, when Pope
Alexander VII. had beatified him as a martyr,
in1664. A magnificent monument was erected
to his memory, by Ferdinand and Isabella.
Whilethe sovereigns were occupied in honour«
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ing the remains of Peter Arbuéds, the inquisi-
tors of Saragossa were labouring without ceas-
ing to discover the authors and accomplices of
his murder, and to punish them as Judaic
heretica and enemies to the holy office. It
would be difficult to enumerate the number of
families plunged into misery through their

" vengeance; two hundred victims were soon
sacrificed. Vidal d'Uranso, one of the assas-
sins, revealed all he knew of the conspiracy,
which was the cause of the' discovery of its
authors. There was scarcely a single family
in the three first orders of nobility, which was
not disgraced hy having at least one of its
members in the aulo-da.fé wearing the habit
of a penitent. .

Don James Diaz d’Aux Armendarix, lord
of the town of Cadreita, a kni%ht of Navarre,
and anccstor of the Dukes of Albuquerque,
was condemned to a public penance, for
having concealed in his house, for one night
several persons who fled from Saragossa. The
same punishment was inflicted on several
other illustrious knighta of the town of Tudela
in Navarre, for having received and concealed
other fugitives. Don James de Navarre (the
son of Eleanor, Queen of Navarre, and Cas-
ton de Foix) was imprisoned in the dunigeons
of the Inquisition, and was subjected to a
public penance for having assisted several of
the conspirators in their flight. The inquisi-
tors knew, when they had the nudncti:ly to
imprison him, that he was not beloved b
Ferdinand, who always feared him, althoug
he was not legitimate. :

Don Lope Ximenez de Urrea, first count of
Aranda; Don Louis Gonzalez, secretary to
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the king; Don Alphonso de la Caballeria,
vice-chancellor of the kingdom; and many
other persons of equal rank, were condemned
to the same punishment. John de Esperain-
deo and the other assassins of Arbués were
hung, after having their hands cut off. Their
bodies were quartered, and their limbs ex-
osed in the highways. John de 1’Abadia
illed himself in prison the day before the ex-
ecution, but his corpse was treated in the
same manner as the others. The hands of
Vidal d’Uranso were not cut off . until he had
expired, because he had been promised his
pardon if he discovered the conspirators.

All the other provinces of Aragon made an
equal resistance to the introduction of the
new In?uisition. The seditions . at Teruel
were only quelled in 1485, by extreme seve-
rity. The town and bishopric of Lerida, and
other towns in Catalonia, obstinately resisted
the establishment of the reform, and were not
reduced to obedience until 1487. Barcelona
refused to acknowledge Torquemada or any
of his delegates, on account of a privilege
which it possessed of having an inquisitor
with a special title. The king applied to the
Pope, who instituted Torquemada special in-
quisitor of the town and bishopric of Barcelo-
na, with the power of appointing others to the
office. The king was obliged to employ the
same method with the inhabitants of Majorca
and those of Sardinia, who did not receive the
Inquisition until 1490 and 1492. Itis an in-
contestable fact in the history of the Spanish
Inquisition, that it was introduced entirely
against the consent of the provinces, and only

by the influence of the Dominican monks.

CHAPTER VIIL

Additional Acts o the First Constitution of the Holy Offico ; Consequences of them, and Appeals to
Rome against them.

Tar inquisitor-general jodged it necessary

to augment the laws of the holy office; and
addetf:‘hven new articles to them ; the sub-

stance of them is as follows :—

1st. That each inferior tribunal should
consist of two inquisitors as civilians, an
attorney, an alguazil, a recorder and ‘other
gemm, if necessary, who were to receive a

xed salary. The same article prohibits the
admission of the servants or creatures of the
inquisitors into the tribunal.

Snd. That if any of the persons employed
should receive presents from the acoused or
his family, he shoald be immediately de-
prived of his office.

3rd. That the holy office should employ an
able civilian at Rome, under the title of agent,
and that this expense should be supported by
the money arising from the confiscations.

4th. at the contracts signed before the
year 1479, by persons whose property had
since

been seized, should be regarded as].

valid ; but if it was proved that any deception
had been used in the transactions, that the
culprits should be punished by a hundred
strokes of a whip, and branded on the face
with a red-hot iron.

5th. That the nobles who should receive
fugitives in their estates, should be compelled
to deliver up to government the property com-
mitted to their care; and if they claimed the
fulfilments of contracts signed by the accused
for their profit, that the attorney should com-
mence an action to reclaim the property as
belonging to the revenue.

6th. That the notaries of the Inquisition
should keep an account of the property of the
condemned persons,

7th. That the stewards of the holy office
could sell the confiscated pro , and receive
the rents of the gstates which might be let.

8th. That each steward shculd inspect the
property belonging to his tribunal. ’
9th. That a steward could not sequestrate
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the property of a condemned person, without
an order from the Inquisition; and, even in
that case, that he should be accompanied by
an alguazil, and place the effects and aninven-

tory of them in the hands of a third person.
10th. That the steward should pay the
salaries of the inquisitors quarterly, that they

might not be obliged to receive presents.

I1th. Thatinall circurastances not foreseen
in the new regulations, the inquisitors should
conduct themselves with prudence, and apply
to the government in all difficult cases.

‘The nature of these articles proves that the
number of confiscations had been considera-
ble. Ferdinand and Isabella often gave the
property of the condemned persons to their
wives and children, granted them pensions on
the property, or a certain sum to be paid by the
receiver-general.

These sums, and the care which people took
to conceal their effects. diminished the funds
of the Inquisition ; besides which, most of
the New Christians were merchants or arti-
sans, and it often happened that the receivers
who paid the royal gifis were anable to pay
the salaries of the inquisitors. Torquemada,
in 1488, decreed that the royal gifts should
not be paid, until the salaries and other ex-
penses of the Inquisition had been defrayed,
and wrote to request the approbation of Fer-
dinand, who refused it. The inquisitor-gene-
ral was then obliged to permit the inquisitors
to impose pecuniary penalties on reconciled
persons (which permission was afterwards
revoked.) As experience showed that the
revenue of the Inquisition was never suffi-
cient, on account of the great number of
prisoners which it was obliged to maintain,
and the expenses incurred by the agent at
Rome, Ferdinand and Isabella requested the
Pope to place at the disposal of the holy
office, a prebendlry in each cathedral in their
dominions; to which he consented in 1501.
The receivers finding themselves unable to
defray the expenses of the administration,
demanded restitution of many persons whom
they accused of retaining estates belonging to
the Inquisition. This conduct caused so
many complaints, that the council of the
Inquisition was obliged to prohibit the re-
ceivers from molesting the proprietors of
estates which had been sold before the year
1479. Ttis not surprising that the receivers
should employ such measures to augment the
revenue, when the inquisitors contributed to
impoverish it themselves, by disposing of it
according to their caprices, and without the
permission of the sovereigns. This abuse
vose to such a height, that Ferdinand and
Isabella complained to the Pope, who prohi-
bited the inquisitors from disposing of their
revenues without an order from the king, on
pain of excommunication. The inquisitors
were afterwards obliged to refund the sums
which they had seized.

In 1488 the inquisitor-general formed, with
the assistance of the supreme council, a new
ordinance which consisted of fifteen articles.

The first decreed that the regulations of
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1484 should be followed in all things, except
in regard to the confiscations, which were to
be regulated by the rules of equity.

The 2ud enjoins the inquisitors to proceed
in a uniform manner, on account of the abuses
produced by a contrary system.

The 3rd prohibits inquisitors from delaying
to pass sentence, on the pretence of waiting
for the full proof of the cnme.

The 4th imports, that as there are not in all
the tribunals civilians of sufficient ability to
be consulted in the preparation of the defini-
tive sentences, the inquisitors shall send the
writings of the trials to the inquisitor-genersl,
in order to be examined by the civilians of
the supreme council.

The 5th decrees that no person shall be al-
lowed to hold any communication with the
prisoners, except the priests, who were oblig-
ed to visit the prisoners once a fortnight.

The 6th commands that the testimony of
witnesses shall be received in the presence of
as small a number of persons as possible that:
secrecy may not be violated.

The 7th, that the writings and papers of the
Inquisition, shall be kept in the place of resi-
dence of the inquisitors, and locked ut ina
chest ; the key of which shall be kept by the
notary of the tribunal, who must not give it
up, on pain of losing his place.

‘The 8th article decrees that if the inquisitors
of a district arrest a man already pursued by
another tribnnal, all the papers relating to his
trial shall be placed in the hands of the first.

The 9th article decrees, that if there are

apers in the archives of atribunal which may

e of use to another, the expenses incurred in
sending them shall be paid by it.

The 10th article declares, that as there are
not prisons enough for all who are con-
demned to perpetual imprisonment, they shall
be permitted to remain in their houses, butnot
to go out, on pain of being punished with the
utmost severity.

In the 11th, the inquisitors are recommend-
ed to execute rigonrously all those Jaws which
prohibit the children and grandchildren of con-
demned persons from exercising any honour-
able employment, and from wearing any ger-
ment of silk or fine wool, or any ornament of
gold, silver, or precious stones.

The 12th anicle decrees, that males cannot
he admitted to reconciliation and abjuration
before the age of fourteen years, ur females be-
fore that of twelve; if they had abjured before
that age, a ratification was necesn?.

The 13th prohibited the receivers from pay-
ing the royal gifis, until the expenses of the
Inquisition were defrayed.

e 14th declares, that the holy office
should petition the sovereigns to build a prison
in each town where it was established, for the
reception of those who might be condemned
to that punishment. It also recommends that
the cells should be arranged in such a man-
ner, that the prisoners might exercise their
respective professions, and thus maintain
themselves.

The 15th and last a(l;lcle obliged the nota-
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ries, fiscals, and alguazils, and other officers of
the Inquisition, to perform their fanctions in
person.

The inquisitor-general found that these re-
gnlationl were not sufficient to prevent abuses:

e therefore convoked a junta of inquisitors at
Toledo. The decrees of this assembly were
rnblishod at Avila in 1498, and were as fol-

OWS s

First, that each tribunal shall be composed
of two inquisitors, one a civilian, the other a
theologian. They were prohibited from in-
flicting imprisonment or_torture, or commani-
cating the charges made by the witnesses,
without the consent of both. ,

Secondly, that the inquisitors should not
allow their dependents to carry any defensive
arms, except where their office obliges them
to do so.

Thirdly, thatno person should be imprison-
od if his crime had notbeen sufficiently proved ;
and that when the arrest had taken place, his
judgment should be immediately pronounced,
without waiting for fresh proofs.

Fourthly, that the Inquisition should acquit
deceased persons, if sufficient proof was not

roduced, and not delay the trial to wait for

resh accusations, as it was injurious to the
children, whose establishment was prevented,
from the uncertainty of the result of the trial.

Fifthly, that the entire failure of the funds
of the holy office should not occasion the im-
poeition of a greater number of pecuniary
penalties.

Sixthly, that the inquisitors should not
change imprisonment, or any other corporeal
puanishment, toa pecuniary penalty, but for the
punishment of fasting, alms, pilgrimages, or
other similar penances.

Seventhly, that the inquisitors should care-
fully examine into the expediency of admit-
ting to reconciliation those who confessed
their crimes after their arrest, since they might
be considered as contumacious, as the Inqui-
sition had been established many years.

Eighthly, that the inquisitors should punish
false witnesses publicly.

Nimhl{, that two men related in any de-
gree should not be employed in the holy office,
nor a master and a servant, even in case their
fanctions should be entirely distinct. :

Tenthly, that each tribunal should have ar-
chives secured by three locks, the keys of
which shonld be placed in the hands of the
two noturies and the fiscal.

Eleventhly, that the notary should receive
the testimony of witnesses only in the presence
of an inquisitor, and that the two priests com-
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missioned to prove the truth of the deposition
should not berong to the tribunal.

Twelfthly, that the inquisitor should es-
tablish the Inquisition in all towns where it
did not already exist.

Thirteenthly, that in all difficalt cases, the
inquisitors should consult the council. )

“ourteenthly, that the women should have
a prison separated from that of the men.

Fifteenthly, that the officers of the tribunal
should perform their functions six hours in
a day, and that they should attend the inqui-
sitors whenever they were required.

Sixteenthly, that after the inquisitors had
received the oath of the witnesses in presence
of the fiscal, he should be obli to retire.

Besides these ordinances, Torquemada es-
tablished several particular regulations for
each individual belonging to the tribunal : all
the persons employed were obliged to take an
oath that they would not reveal anything ther
might see or hear : the inquisitor was not al-
lowed to remain alone with the prisoner; the
gaoler could not allow any person to speak
with him, und was obliged to examine if an
wrilings were concealed in the food whic
was given him. These were the last regula-
tions framed by Torquemada, but Diego Deza,
his successor, published a fifth énstruction at
Serville, in 1500.

Such were the Jaws of the holy office in
Spain. This code caused the emigration of
more than a hundred thousand families useful
to the state, and the loss of many millions of
francs which were spent at the court of Rome,
either for the balls which it expedited, or by
those who repaired thither to solicit their ab-
solution from the Popes. The holy see was
far from complaining of this practice, as it
brought immense sums to the treasury, and
no person who presented himself with his
money before the aposiolical penitentiary,
failed of obtaining the absolution he solicited,
or an order for absolation elsewhere.

This conduct displeased the inquisitors :
depending on the protection of Ferdinand and
Isabella, ﬂ::{y expostalated with the Pope,
who annulled theabsolutions already granted,
thus deceiving those who had spent the great-
est part of their fortanes in endeavouring to
obtain them. He then promised new pardons
on new conditions, contrary to the engagement
he had entered into with Ferdinand, to abolish
every means of appeal to the court of Rome.
Such was the constant practice of the holy
see during thirty years after the establishment
of the Inquisition in Spain. -
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CHAPTER VIIIL
Expulsion of the Jows.—Proceedings against Bishops.—Death of Torquemads. »

In 1492 Ferdinand and Tsabella conquered
the kingdom of Grenada. This event offered
a multitude of victims to the holy office in the
persons of the Moors, who were converted
merely in the hope of obtaining consideration,
and after their baptism returned to Mahome-
tanism. John de Nav:giero, in his travelsin
Spain, states, that Ferdinand had promised
the Morescoes, (as those Moors were called
who became Chrmhmg that the Inquisition
should not interfere with them for the space
of forty years, but that the lmgisition was
established in the kingdom of Grenada, on
the pretence that many Jews had taken re-
fuge there. This statement is not exact ; the
sovereigns only promised that the Moorish
Christians should not be prosecated except
for serious crimes, and the Inquisition was
not introdaced among them before 1526

It was in the {ut 1493 that the unbaptized
Jews were expelled from Spain. They were
accased of persuading those of their nation
who had become Christiana to apostatize, and
of erucifying ohildren on Good-Friday, in
mockery of the Saviour of the world, and of
many other offences of the same nature. The
Jewish physicians, surgeons, and apotheca-
ries, were also accused of having taken ad-
vantuge of their professions, to cause the
death of a great number of Christians, and
among others, that of Henry IIJ., which
was attributed to his physician, Don Mair.

The Jews, in order to avert the danger
which threatened them, offured to supply
Ferdinand with thirty thonsand pieces of sil-
ver to carry on the war agaiunst Gprenada; they
promised to live peaceably, to comply with
the regulations forined for them, in retiring to
their houses in the quarters luifned to them
before night, and in renouncing all Profeuiona
which were reserved for the Christians. Fer-
dinand and Isabella were willing to listen to
these propositions ; but Torquemada, bein
informed of their inclinations, had the bold-
ness to appear before them with a crucifix in
his hand, and to address them in these words :
«Judas sold his master for thirty pieces of
silver, your highnesses are about to do the
same for thirty thousand; behold him, take
him, and hasten to sell him.”

The fanaticism of the Dominican wroanght
a sudden change in the minds of the sove-
reigns, and they issued a decree on the 31st
of March 1499, by which all the Jews were
compelled to quit Spain before the 31st of
July ensuing, on pain of death, and the con-
fiscation of their property; the decree also
prohibited Chriatians from receiving them into
their houses after that period. They were
permitted to sell their stock, to carry awa
their furniture and other effects, except d'

N7
Mddber,fort;hid were {o accept letiers
of change, or any ise nol prohibited.

Torquemada commissioned all preachers to
exhort them to receive baptism, and remain
in the kingdom. A small number suffered
themselves to be persuaded ; the rest sold
t.ho::lr“foodl at so low a price, that Andrew
Bernaldez (a contemporary historian) declares,
in his history of the Catholic Kings, that he
vineyard for o omall puentiy of cloth o ene
viney or a il or Bnen.

According to Mariana, el'zl:{hundred thou-
sand Jews quitted Spain, and if the Moors,
who em‘ffrated to Africa, and the Christians
who settled in the New World, are added to
the number, we shall find that Ferdinand and
Isabella lost, through these cruel measures,
two millions of subjects. Bernaldez affirms,
that the Jews carried a quantity of gold with
them, concealed in their garments and saddles,
and even in their intestines, for they reduced
the ducats into small pieces, and swallowed
them. A great nomber afterwards retuarned
to Spain, and received baptism. Some return-
ed from the kingdom of Fez, where the Moors
had seized their money and effects, and even
killed the women, to take the gold which the
expected to find within them. These cruel-
ties can only be attributed to the fanaticism
of Torquemada, to the avarice and sapersti-
tion :? Ferdinand, and to the inconsiderate
zeal of Isabella, who, nevertheless possessed
great gentleness of character, and an enlight-
ened mind.

The other European courts were not thas
influenced by fanaticism, and paid no atten-
tion to a ball of Innocent VIII., which com-
manded all governments to arrest, at the desire
of Torquemada, the fugitives whom he should
designate, on pain of excommunication; the
monarch was the only person exempted from
the rﬁmah"

The insolent fanatic, Torquemada, while
he affected to refuse the honour of cpiscopacy
throngh modesty, was the first who gave the
fatal example of subjecting bishops to trial.
Not satisfied with having obtained from Sixtus
IV. the briefs which prohibited bishops of
Jewish origin from interfering in the affairs of
the Inquisition, he even wished to put two on
their trial, namely, Don Juan Arias Davila,
Bishop of Segovia ; and Don Pedro de Aranda,
Bishop of Calahorra. He made his resolation
known to the Pope, who informed him that
his predecessor, Boniface VIII., had prohibit-
ed the Inquisition from proceeding against
bishops, nnhbhhops, or cardinals, without an
apostolical commission; but if any prelate
was accused of heresy, he charged Torquemada
to send him a copy of the informations, that
he might decide on the method to be pursued.



Torquemada immediau::g began to take se-
cretinformations of the conduct of thebishops,
and the Pope sent Antonio Palavicini, Bishop
of Tournai, to Spain, with the title of apostoli-
cal nuncio, when he received the informations
of Torquemada, and returned to Rome, where
the two bishops were cited to appear and de-
fend themselves. Don Juan Arias Davila was
the son of Diego Arias Davila, who was of
Jewish origin, and was baptized after the
preaching of St. Vincent Ferrier; he after-
wards became chief financier to the kings
JohnIl. and Henry IV. Henry IV. ennobled
him, and gave him the lordship of the Castle of
Punonrostro, and several other places which
form the countship of Punionrostro, and the title
of Grandee of Spain, which has been possessed
by his descendants from the time of Pedro
Arias Davila, the first count, and brother to
the bishop, and who was also chief financier
to Henry 1V. and Ferdinand V. The rank
of the bishop did not intimidate Torquemada ;
informations were taken by his order, and the
result was, that Diego Arias Davila died a
Judaic heretic : the object which the inquisi-
tor-general had in view, was to condemn his
memor{. confiscate his groporty, and to disin-

. ter his body, in order to burn it with his effigy.
As, in all affairs of this nature, the children
are cited to appear, Don Juan Arias Davila
was obli%ed to repair to Rome in 1490, to de-
fend his father and himself, although he had
arrived at a great age, and had been Bishop
of Segovia thirty years. He was well receiv-
ed by Alexander V1., who appointed him to
accompan& his nephew, the Cardinal Mon-
treal, to Naples, when he went to crown
Ferdinand II. Davila returned to Rome, and
died therein 1497, after having cleared the
memory of his futher.

Don Pedro Aranda, Bishop of Calahorra,
was not so fortunate. He was the son of
Gonzales Alonzo, a Jew, who was also bap-
tized in the time of St. Vincent Ferrier, and
who was afterwards master of a chapel. Gon-
zales had the pleasure of seeing both his sons
attain the dignity of bishops: the eldest was
Archbishop of Montreal in Sicily, the second
was made bishop of Calahorra, in 1478, and
president of the Council of Castile in 1482;
yet in 1488 he was the object of a secret in-’
struction, directed by Torquemada, which
however did not prevent him from convoking
a synod in the town of Logrogna, in 1492,
At that period Torquemada, and the other
inquisitors of Valladolid, undertook the trial
of Gonzales Alonzo, to prove that he had
died a Judaic heretic. e inquisitors of
Valladolid and the bishop of the diocese could
not agree on the sentence to be pronounced on
the accused ; and his son, Don Pedro Aranda,
obtained a brief from Alexander V1., by which
this affair was referred to Don Inigo Man-
rique, Bishop of Cordova, and John de St.
John, prior of the Benedictines at Valladolid.
They were commissioned to pronounce judg-
ment and execute the sentence, without any
interference on the part of the Inquisition.
Their decision was favourable to Gonzalez.
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The bishop, his son, gained the esteem of
the Pope, who made him chief major-domo of
the pontifical palace, and sent him as ambas-
sador to Venice, in 1494. These marks of
favour did not cause the inquisitors to relax
in their zeal: they proceeded in their trial
against Don Pedro, for heresy: his jndges
were the archbishop, the Governor of Rome,
and two bishops, auditors of the apostolical
palace. Don Pedro called one hundred and
one witnesses for his defence; but unfortu-
nately every one of them had something to
advance against him, on different points.
The judges made their report to the Pope, in
a secret consistory, in 1498, who, with the
cardinals, condemned the bishop to be de-
prived of his offices and benefices, to be de-
graded from his episcopal dignity, and reduced
to the rank of a simple layman. He was
confined in the Castle of Santangelo, where he
died some time after.

Thomas de Torquemada, first inquisitor-
general of Spain, died the 16th of November,
1498. The miseries which were the conse-
quences of the system which he adopted, and
recommended to his successors, justify the
general hatred which fullowed him to the
tomb, and compelled him to take precautions
forhis personal safety. Ferdinand and Isabella
;)erm'med him to use an escort of fifty faemi-
iars of the Inquisition on horseback, and two
handred others on foot, whenever he travelled.
He also kept the horn of a unicorn on his
table, which was supposed to discover and
neutralize poisons. Yt is not surprising that
many should have conspired against his life,
when his cruel administration 18 considered ;
the Pope himself was alarmed at his barbari-
ty, and the complaints which were made
against him; and Torquemada was obliged
to send his colleague, Antonia Badoja, three
times to Rome, to defend him against the
accusations of his enemies.

At last Alexander VI., weary of the con-
tinual clamours of which he was the object,
resolved to deprive him of his dignity, but
was deterred from so doing through consider-
ation for the Court of Spain. He therefore
expedited a brief in 1494, saying, that as
Torquemada had arrived ata t age, and
suffered from many infirmities, he had named
four inquisitors-general, invested with the
same powers which he possessed.

The familiars of the holy office, who were
employed as the body-gnard of the inquisitor-
general, were the successors of the familiars
of the Old Inquisition. They were commis-
sioned to pursue the heretics, and persons
suspected of heresy, to assist the officers of
the tribunal in taking them to prison, and to
do all that the inquisitors might require.

It has been shown that the Spaniards re-
ceived the Inquisition with relactance; but
as they were obliged to endure it when once
established, some prudent persons thought
they should be more secare from the dan,
of Incurring suspicion, if they appeared de-
voled to the cause, which was the reason why

several illustrious gentlemen offered to become
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JSamiKars of the Roly office, and were admitted | and encours
Their | who bestow

into the col tion of St. Peter.

by Ferdinand and Isabella,
several immunities and Pprivi-

example was followed by the inferior classes, | leges on them.

CHAPTER IX.
Of the Procedure of the Modern Inquisition.

Arrzer the death of the l:zniu neral,
Torquemada, Ferdinand and Isabella pro-
;ooed Don Diego Deza, a Dominican, to the
ope, as his successor. was Bishop of
Jaen, and afterwanla became Archbishop of
Seville. The Pope signed his balls of confir-
mation on the 1st of December, 1498, but
limited his authority to the affairs of the
kingdom of Castile. Deza was displeased at
a restriction which did not exist in the bulls
of his two colleagues, and refused to accept
the nomination, until the Pope invested him
with the same power over Aragon, in a ball,
in 1499. The new inquisitor-general did not
show less severity in the exercise of his office
than his predecessor; but before I enter on
this part of the history, it is necessary to give
some account of the mode of proceeding of the
holy office, as it was the work of Torquemada,
the effect of the laws which he formed, and
properly belongs to his history.
e processes in the Inquisition began by
a denunciation, or some other information,
such as a discovery accidentally made before
the tribunal in another trial. en the de-
nunciation is signed, it takes the form of a
declaration, in which the informer, afler
having sworn to the truth of his deposition,
designates those persons whom he presumes,
or believes. to have anything to depose against
the accused person.
heard, and their depositions, with that of the
first witnees, form the summary of the infor-
mation, or the preparatory instruction.

Inguest.

When the tribunal judged that the actions
or words which were denounced were suffi-
cient to warrant an inquiry to establish the
lroofs, the persons who had been cited as

nowing the object of the declaration were
examined, and were obliged to take an oath
not to reveal the questions which were put to
them. None of the witnesses were informed
of the subject on which they were to make
their depositions ; they were only asked in
general terms, if they Aad ever seen or
anything which was, or appeared, contrary to
the Catholic faith, or the rights of the Inquisi-
tion,
Personal experience has shown me that the
witnesses who were ignorant of the cause of
their citation often recollected circumstances
entirely foreign to the subject, which they
made known, and were then interrogated as
if their examination had no other object; this

ese persons are then| P

accidental deposition served instead of a de-
nunciation, and 8 new process was com-
menced

The declarations were written down by the
oomminarx or notary, who usually aggra-
vated the denunciation, as much as the arbi-
trary interpretation of the improper or equivo-
cal expressions used by ignorant persons
would permit. The declaration was twice
read to the witnesses, who did not fail to
approve all that Rad been written. :

Censure of the Qualifiers.

When the inquisitors examine the prelimi-
nary snslruction, if they find sufficient cause
to proceed, they send a circular to all the tri-
bunals in the province to inquire if any charges
against the accused exist in their registers.
This proceeding is called the review of the
registers. Extracts are made of the proposi-
tions against the aogused, and if each is ex-
p in different terms, which is almost
always the case, they are sent as accusations
advanced on different occasions. This wri-
ting was then remitted to the theologians,
guahﬁmrf the holy office, who write at the

ottom of the page if the propositions merit
the Mlogwa censure, as heretical, if they
give occasion to suppose that the person who
ronounced them approved of any heresy, or
if he is only suspected of that crime.

The declaration of the qualifiers determines
the proceedings against the accused, until the
trial is prepared for the definite sentence. The
qualifiers were generally scholastic monks,
almost entirely unacquainted with true dog-
matic theology, and who carried famaticism
and superstition to such a height as to find
heresy in everything which they had not stu-
died : this disposition has often caused them to
censure some of the doctrines of the fathers of
the church,

Prisens.

When the qualification has been made, the
procurator-fiscal demands that the denounced
pereon shall be removed to the secret prisons
of the Roly office. The tribunal has three
sorts of prisons, public, intermediate, and
secret, o first are those where persons are
imprisoned, who are not guilty of heresy, but
of some crime which the Inquisition has the
privilege of punishing: the second are destin-
ed for those servants of the holy office who
have committed some crime in the exercise of
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their functions, without incarring suspicion of
heresy. Those who are detained in these
prisons are permitted to communicate with
others, unless they are condemped to solitary
confinement. The secret prisons are those
where all heretics, or persons suspected of
heresy, are confined; they can only commu-
nicate with the judges of the tribunal,

Theee prisons are not, as they have been
represented, damp, dirty, and unhealthy;
they are n;a;lhed ¢ am!:‘e?, well lighted, n:t
damp, and large enovgh for a person to take
som: exemi:egoin. 'Fherul horrors of the
prisons are, that no one can enter them with-
out becoming infamous in public opinion;
and the solitude and the darkness to which
the prisoner is condemned for fifteen hours in
the day during the winter, as he is not allow.
ed light before the hour of seven in the morn-
ing, or after four in the evening. Some au-
thors have stated, that the prisoners were
chained ; these means are only employed on
extraordinary occasions, and to prevent them
from destroying themselves.

First Audiences.

In the three first days following the impris-
onment of the culprit, he had three audiences
of monition, or caution, rocommending him to
speak the truth, without concesling anything
that he had done or said, or that he can im-
pute to others, contrary to the faith. He was
told that if he followed this recommendatior
he would be treated lenieptly; but in th.
contrary case, he would be proceeded agains
with severity. Until then the prisoner is
ignorant of the cause of his arrest ; he is only
told that not:ﬁpenon is taken to the prison of
the holy office without sufficient proof that
he has spoken against the Catholic faith, and,
therefore, it is for his interest to confess his
crimes voluntarily. Some prisoners confess-
od themselves guilty of the crimes stated in
the preparatory instruction; others acknow-
Jedged more; others less; generally the pri-
soners declared that their consciences did not
reproach them, but that they would endea-
vour to recollect the faults which they had
committed if the accusations of the witnesses
were read to them.

The advantages of the confession were, that
it lessened the duration of the trial, and rendered
the punishments inflicted on the accused less
severe when the reconciliation took place.
‘Whatever ‘rromim might be made to the
prisoners, they could not avoid the disgrace
of the san-bensto and aut ¢, or preserve
their honour or their property, if they acknow-
ledged themselves formal heretics.

Another custom of the Inquisition was to
examine the prisoner on his genealogy and
parentage, in order todiscover by the registers
of the tribunal if any of his family had been
Lmnished for heresy, supposing that he might

ave inherited the erroneous doctrines of his
ancestors. He was also obliged to recite the

Pater, the Credo, and other forms of Christian
doctrine, because the presumption that he had ,

HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

erred in his faith was stronger if he did not
koow them, had forgotten them, or if he made
mistakes in the repetition. In short, the In-
quisition employed every means, and neglect-
ed nothing in the trial of the prisoners, to make
them appear guilty of hemfy, and all this was
done with an appearance of charity and com-
passion, and in the name of Jesus Christ.

Charges.

When the ceremony of the three first audi-
ences is finished, the procurator-fiscal forms
his act of accusation against the prisoner,
from the preliminary instruction. Although
a semi-proof only exists, .he reports the facts
in the depositions as if they were proved ; and
what is still more illegal, he does not reduce
the articles of his requisition to the number of
facts, but following the practice in forming
the extracts of the propositions for the act of
guakification, he multiplies them according to
the variations in the statements ; so that an ac-
cusation which ought tobe reduced to one point,
contains five or six charges, which appear
to indicate that the accused has advanced so
many heretical opinions on different occasions,
without any foundation but the different man-
ver in which each witness relates the conver-
sation.

This mode of proceeding produces the
worst effects ; it confuses the prisoner where
the charges are read to him, and if he has not
coolness and intelligence, he imagines that’
several crimes are imputed to him, and replies,
for instance, to the third article, and relates the
facts in different words from those which he
employed in answering the second; this
variation taking place in each article, he
sometimes contradicts himself, and thus fur-
nishes the fiscal with fresh accusations against
him, for he is accused of not adhering to truth
in his replies.

Torture.

Although the prisoner has confessed all
that the witnesses deposed against him in the
first audiences, yet the fi terminates his
reguisition by saying that he is guilty of con-
cealment and denial, that he is, therefore, im-
penitent and obstinate, and demands that the
question shall be applied to the accused.

It is true, thatit is so long since torture has
been inflicted by the inquisitors, that the cus-
tom may be looked upon as abolished, and the
fiscal only makes the demand in conformity to
the example of his predecessors, yet it is
equally cruel to make the prisoners fear it.

In former times, if the inquisitor jud
that the prisoner had not made a full confes-
sion, they ordered him to be tortured ; the
object was to make him confess all that form-
ed the substance of the process. I shall not
describe the different modes of torture employ-
ed by the Inquisition, as it has been already
done by many historians : I shall only say that
none of them can be accused of exaggeration.
When the accused acknowledged the crimes
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nted to them during the tortare, they were

the next day to ratify or retract their
ession upon oath, Almost all confirmed
their first statement, because they were sub-
jeoted to the tortare a second uime if they
dared to retract.

im
obli
con

Roguisition.

_ The requisition or accusation of the procu-
rator-fiscal was never given to the prisoner
in writing, that he might not reflect on the
charges in prison and prepare his replies. The
prisoner is conducted to the audience chamber,
where a secretary reads the charglu, in the
Kreoence of the inquisitors and the fiscal:

etween each article he calls npon the prison-
er to reply to it instantly, and declare if it is
trae or false.

It is evident that this prooeeding is intend-
od to embarrass the prisoner, by compelli
him to reply without previous reflection. S
stratagems are allowed in other tribunals where
the prisoners are guilty of homicide, theft, or
other offences nst society : but it must be
allowed that it i1s against the spirit of Christi-
anity to employ them where zeal for religion
and the salvation of others seem to be
motives for acting. :

Deéfence.

‘When the charges and the accusation have
been read, the inquisitors ask the prisoner if
he wishes to make a defence; if he rePliel in
the affirmative, a copy of the accusation and
the replies is taken. He is then required to
select the lawyer whom he wishes to employ
for his defence, from the list of those helong-
ing to the holy office. Some prisoners
required permission to seek a defender oat of
the tribunal, a pretension which is not con-
trary to any law, particularly if the lawyer has
taken an oath of secrecy ; yet thissimple and
nataral right has seldom been granted by the
inquisitors,

tis of little consequence to the accused to
be defended by an able man, as the lawyer is
not allowed to see the original process, or to
communicate with his client. One of the no-
taries draws up a copy of the result of the
prefiminary instruction, in which he reports
the deposition of the witnesses, without men-
tioning their names, or the circumstances of
time or place, and (what is more extraordi-
nary) without stating what has been said in
defence of the prisoner. He entirely omits
the declarations of the persons who, having
been summoned and interrogated by the tn-
bunal, have persisted in affirming that they
knew nothing of the subject on which they
were examined. This extract is accompa-
nied by the censure of the qualifiers, and the
demand of the fiscal for the examination, and
the accusation, and the replies of the acoused.
This is all that is givey tothe defender in the
audience-chamber, where the inquisitors have
commanded him toattend. He is then obli
to promise to defend the prisoner if he thinks

8t

that it is just to do #o0 ; but in the con
case, that he will use all the means in his
power to persuade himn to solicit his pardon
of the tribunal, by a sincero confession of his
sins, and a demand to be reconciled to the
church.

Those who have acquired any experience
in criminal proceedings, are aware of the great
advan which may be derived from the
comparison of the testimony of the witnesses
in the defence of the accused ; but the direction
given to the proceedings by the Inquisition is
such, that the lawyer can rarely find any
mheans of defence but that which arises from
the difference and variations in the depositions
on the actions and words imputed to the
prisoner.

As this is not sufficient, (because the semi-
proof exists,) the defender generally demands
to see the prisoner, that he may inquire if it
is his intention to challenge the witnesses,
to destroy, either in part, or entirely, the

roof established against him. If he replies
In the affirmative, the inquisitors order pro-
ceedings to prove the irregularity of the
witnesses.

Procf.

It is then necessary to separate all the
original declararations of the witnesses from
the process, and send them to the places
which they inhabit to receive a ratification.
This takes place without the knowledge of
the prisoner, and as he is not represented by
any person during this formality, it is impos-
sible that the challenge of a witness should
succeed, even if he was the greatest enemy of
the prisoner. If the witness was at Madrid
at the time of the instruction, and afterwards
went to the Philippine Isles, the course of the
trial was suspended, and the prisoner was
obliged to wait till the ratification arrived
from Asia. If he demanded an audience, to
complain of the delay, he was answered with
ambiguity, that the tribunal could not proceed
with greater haste, as it was occupied with
particular measures.

The prisoner made his challenge of the
witnesses by naming those whom he con-
sidered as his enemies, giving his reason for
mistrasting them, and writing on the margin
of each article the names of those persons
who could attest the facts which are the
causes of the challenge. The inquisitors
decree ‘that they shall be examined, unless
some motive prevents it.

As the prisoner is not acquainted with the
Kroceedings, he often accuses persons who

ave not been summoned as witnesses. The
article in which they are mentioned is passed
over with those of the witnesses who have
not deposed against him, or who have spoken
in his favour. Thus he encounters his ac-
cusers only by chance.

It sometimes happens that the procurator-
fiscal socretly obtains the proof of the morali-

ged [ty of the witnesses, in order to destroy the

effect of the challenge; and as this is more
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easy to accomplish than the measures taken
by the prisoner, they are generally rendered
nseless, because in doubtful cases the inqui-
sitors are always disposed to depend upon
the witness, if he is not known to be the de-
clared enemy of the accused. .

Pudlication of the Procfs.

‘When the proof is established, the tribunal
publishes the state of the trial, the depoei-
tions, and the act of judgment. But these
terms are not to be understood in the common
sense, since the publication was only an un-
faithful copy of the declarations and other
facts contained in the extract formed for the
use of the defender. A secretary reads it to
the prisoner in the presence of the inquisitors ;
after each article he asks him if he acknow-
ledges the truth of what he has just heard;
he then reads the declurations, and if the
prisoner has not &et alleged any thing against
the witnesses, that privilege is given him,
becaase, after bearing the deposition, he is
genenll able to designate the person who

as made it.

This reading is only a fresh snare; for if
the least contradiction is J)erceivod, he ma
be considered guilty of duplicity, conceai-
ment, or a false confession, and the tribunal
may refuse to grant the reconciliation, al-
though he demand it,‘and even condemn him
to 7 on.

Definitive Censure of the Qualifiers.

Afer this ceremony the ifiers are sum-
moned, who receive the onq;mriﬁug of
the sentence passed in the instruc-
tion, with the extract of the replies of the
prisoner in his last examination, and the de-
clarations of the witnesses which were com-
municated to him. They are commissioned
to qualify the propositions a second time, to
examine his explanation, and to decide if his
NR“GI have destroyed the suspicion of heresy
which he had incarred; or if he had con-
firmed it, and was looked upon as a furmal
heretic.

Ever¥ one must be sensible of the impor-
tance of this cen-ur:‘.-', ;i:;e it led to the defi-
nite sentence ; yet the gualificrs scarcely took
the trouble to hear a mpgn;eruul of the
proceedings ; they hastily gave their opinion,
and this was the last important act in the
proceedings, as the rest was a mere formality.

Sentence.

The trial was then considered as finished.
The diocesan in ordinary was convoked, that
with the inquisitors he might decide upon the
proper sentence. In the first ages of the hol
office these functions were confided to mmly-
lors: these were doctors of law, but as they
could only give their opinion, and as the in-
xxisiton pronounced the definitive sentence,

e latter always prevailed if they chanced to
differ. The accused had the right of appeal-
ing to the Supreme Council, but appeals to
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Rome were more frequent. The inquisitors
of the provinces were aflerwards obliged to
submit their opinion to the council before they
pronounced the definitive sentence ; the coun-
cil modified and reformed it; their decision
was sent to the inquisitors, who then esta-
blished the judgment in their own names,

' although it might be contrary to their previous

opinion., This proceeding rendered the office
of the consultors useless, and it was discon-
tinued.

Although the prisoner was acquitted, he
was not acquainted with the names of his
denouncers and the witnesses. He rarely
obtained a more public reparation than the
liberty of returning to his house with a certifi-
cato of absolution.

Ezecution of the Sent

The nature of the punishments inflicted b
the Inqguisition has been already described ; it
is, therefore, only necessary to remark that the
sentences were not communicated to the vic-
tims until the commencement of the execution,
since the condemned were sent to the aufns-
da-f¢, either to be reconciled or given over to
secular justice ; on leaving prison the fami/iars
attired them in the san-benifo, with a paper
mitre on their heads, a cord round their necks,
and a wax taper in their hands.

When the prisoner arrives at the place of
execution, his sentence is read, and he is
then reconciled or relazed, which means, that
he is condemned to be burnt by the justice of
the king.

San-benite.

The San-benilo was a species of scapulary,
which onlzedescended to the knees, that it
might not be confounded with those worn b
some monks : this motive also made the inqui-
sitors prefer common woollen stuff of a yellow
colour with red crosses for the San-benito.
Such were the penitential habits in 1514,
when Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros altered
the common crosses for those of St. Andrew.
‘The inquisitors afterwards had a different habit
for each class of penitents.

Those who abjured as ol:'glul?: suspected of
heresy, wore the scapulary of yellow stuff
without the cross. 1f he abjured as violently
suspected, he wore half the cross; if he was a
Jormal heretic, he wore it entire.

There were
also three different kinds of garments for those
who were condemned to death. The first was

for those who repented before they were sen-
tenced. It was a simple yellow scapula
with a red cross, and a conical cap, denomi-
nated Caroza, which was formed of the same
stuff as the San-benilo, and decorated with
similar crosses.

The second was destined for those who had
been condemned to be burnt, but who had re-
pented after their sentence, and before they
were conducted to the aulos-da-fé. The San-
denito and the Caroza were made of the same
stoff. On the lower part of the scapulary a
bust was painted, in the midst of a fire, the
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flames of which were reversed, to show that)tent. It was similar to the others, with a
the culprit was not to be burnt until he had | bust, and the flames in the natursl direction,
been strangled. ‘The Caroza was painted in | to show that the person who wore it was to

the same manner.

be burnt alive; grotesque figures of devils

The third was for those who were impeni- | were also painted on the San-benito and Caroza.

CHAPTER X
Of the Principal Events During the Ministry of the Inquisitors Deza and Cisneros.

Trs new inquisitor-general was scarcely
in possession of his office, when he began to
esatablish lations to increase the activity
of the Inquisition. In1500 he published a
constitution in seven articles; and in 1504
four new articles relative to the confiscations.

To prove his zeal, Deza proposed to Fer-
dinand that the Inquisition should be intro-
duced into Sicily and Naples in its present
form, and that it should be under the authority
of the Spanish inquisitor-general, instead. of
being dependent on the Court of Rome. The
king undertook to introduce it into Sicily by
a decres in 1500; bat the inhabitants made
great resistance, and he was obliged to pursue
the plan which had succeeded in Aragon, by
commanding the viceroy and other magistrates
to assist the inquisitors. Several seditions
were quelled before the sab-delegated inquisi-
mr-g;neral, Don Pedro Velorad, Archbishop
of Messina, could enter upon his office.

In 1516 the Sicilians, weary of the proceed-
ings of the Inquisition, revoited and set all
the prisoners at liberty. Melchiorde Cervera,
the inquisitor, only escaped death by a con-
currence of extraordinary circumstances; the
viceroy was also in the greatest danger. The
islanders were thus freed from the yoke of this
detested tribunal ; but they did not long enjoy
liberty, for they were not able to resist the
power of Charles V., who obliged them to
receive ita second time. Naples was more
fortunate. Ferdinand, in 1504, commanded
the viceroy, Gonzales Fernandez de Cordova,
surnamed fAe Greal Captain, to assist the
Archbishop of Messina with all his power, in
establishing the Inquisition; but the Nea-
politans opposed it so osbtinately, that the
viceroy ju ﬁd it prudent to desist, and in-
formed the king that it would be extremely
dangerous to combat so decided a resistance.

In 1510 Ferdinand again attempted to intro-
duce the new Inquisition ; but his efforts were
unavailing, and he was obliged X
that he would be satisfied if the Neapolitans
would banish all the New Christians who had
taken refuge in their towns when they were
driven from Spain.

Deza persuaded Ferdinand and Isabella to
introduce the Inquisition into the kingdom of
Grenada, although a promise to the contrary
had been made to the baptized Moors. 'The
queen rejected the proposition, hut fmntod
one that differed little from it, namely, that

5

to declare| or

the jurisdiction of the inquisitors of Cordova
should extend over Grenada, bat permittin
them to prosecute only in cases of actu
apostasy. From that rriod the Moors have
been known in history by the name of Mores-

coes.

The pﬁmf’pal inquisitor of Cordova was
Don Diego de Lucero; the severity of his
character caused great misery throughout the
kingdom of Cordova.

e moderation and exhortations of Xime-
nez de Cisneros, Archbishop of Toledo, and
Don Ferdinand de Talavera, had converted
more than 50,000 Moors, and the conversions
would havebeen still more numerous, if some
priests had not treated the Moors with severity,
and excited a general revolt.

In 1501 the sovereigns declared in an edict,
that by the grace of God, there were no infi-
dels in the kingdom of Grenada, and to render
the conversions inore secure, they forbade any
Moors to enter the territory ; they also prohib-
ited the slaves of that nation from holding any
communication with others, that their conver-
sion might not be retarded, or with those who
had been baptized, as they might induce them
to apostatize. All who did not conform to
these laws incurred the punishment of death.

In February, 1502, Ferdinand and Isabella
commanded all the free Moors of both sexes,
ahove fourteen and twelve K:ars of age, to
quit the kingdom of Spain before the month
of May following: they were allowed to sell
their goods as the Jews had been; but were
prohibited from %oing to Africa, which was -
then at war with Spain. The States of the
Grand Seignior and other countries were as-
signed to them as ;I»laoel of refuge : as several
baptized Moors sold their property and went
to Africa, a royal ordinance was published,
importing that, for the space of two years, no

rson could sell his property, or leave the
ini’dom of Castile, except to go into Aragon

ortugal, without a permission, which
would only be granted to those who gave a
security for their return when they had ter-
minated their affairs.

Deza was not contented with exciting the
zeal of Ferdinand and Isabellz against the
Moors; he also proposed measures against
the Jews on the occasion of the arrival of
different strangers in Spain, but who were
not of those expelled in 1492. He obtain-
ed a royal ordinance in 1499, which applied
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those measures to them which had been es-
tablished against the first Jews. The council
of the Inquisition had already decreed that the
converted Jews should be obliged to prove
their baptism, and that they lived with the
other Chriatians; that those who had been
rabbins or masters of the law shoald be obli;

to change the place of their residence ; that
they should appear every Sunday and on fee-
tival days in the churches, and be elrefully
instructed in the Christian doctrine. Ferdi-
nand permitted the inquisitors of Aragon to
take ‘ cognizance of usury and other crimes
foreign to their jurisdiction, contrary to the
oath which he had taken to observe the Jaws
of that kingdom, which ordained that they
should be punished by the secular {ndge.

Deza was at the head of the Inquisition
eight years. If the calculation of his victims
is formed after the insecription at Seville, we
shall find that 38,440 persons were punished
during thattime, of whom 2,592 were burnt in
person, 896 in effigy, and 34,952 condemned
to different penances. Among this crowd of
persons who were persecuted by the Inquisi-
tion, there were many distinguished by their
birth, their learning, their fortunes, and their
offices, The Sanguinary inquisitor, Lucero,
made the venerable Don Ferdinand de Tale-
vera, first Archbishop of Grenada, the object
of a shameful persecution. He became jealous
of the reputation for sanctity and charity which
this prelate had acquired, and raised doubts of
his faith, by reminding 1sabella, that he had
opposed the establishment of the Inquisition
in 1478, and the following years; and by
publishing that, although his father was noble,
and of the illustrious family of Contreras, yet
he was of Jewish origin by the mother’s side.
The inquisitor concluded from these circam-
stances that he could commence a secref in-
struction against the holy prelate.. Deza
commissioned the Archbishop of Toledo,
Ximenez de Cisneros, to recejve the prepara-
tory informations on the faith of the Arch-
bishop of Grenada; Cisneros informed the
Pope of the commission which he had receiv-
ed, and the Pontiff commanded his apostolical
nuncio, the bishop of Bristol, to take the af-
fair under his direction, and prohibited Deza
and the Inquisitors from pursning it. The
Pope, in a council of Cardinals and Bishops,
acquitted the Archbishop of Grenada, who
died in 1507, some months after this judgment
after three years of the greatest anxiety, as
the inquisitor Lucero had caused many of his
relations to be arrested, although they were
all innocent.

The persecution suffered by the learned
Antonio Lebrija was not less cruel. He had
been tutor to Isabella, and was honoured by
the friendship and protection of Ximenez de
Cisneros : he was well acquainted with the
Greek and Hebrew, and discovered and correct-
ed in the Latin text of the Vulgate some errors
which had been committed by the transcriber
before the invention of printing. He was ac-
cused by some scholastic theologians; his
Ppapers were seized, and afler being treated
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with the greatest cruelty, he had the grief of

seeing the suspicion of hereay established °

against him, and was obli to live in that

species of disgrace until he could write his

:!wlogy under the protection of Ximenez de
isneros.

The inhumanity of the inquisitor Lucero
had still more serious consequences: as he
declared almoat all the accased persons guilty
of concealment, and condemmed them as false
penilents, some persons added imaginary cir-
cumstances to their confessions, and declared
that synagogues were held in different houses
in Cordova, Grenada, and other towns; they
added, that even monks and nuns attended at
them, and went in procession from all parts
of Castile; they also affirmed that many
Spanish families of Old Christians, whom
they named, assisted at the Jewish feasts. In
consequence of these declarations, Lucero ar-
rested such an immense number of persons,
that Cordova was on the ﬁm of revoliing
against the Inquisition. e municiYality.
the bishop, the chapter of the cathedral, and
all the nobility sent deputies to the inquisitor-
general, to demand that Lucero should be re-
called. Deza refused to listen to their claim,
until the cruelties of which Lucero was ac-
cused were proved. Lucero had then the au-
dacity to note down as favourers of Judaism,
knights, ladies, canons, monks, nuns, and re-
spectable persons of every class.

At this period, 1506, Philip I. ascended the
throne™of Castile ; the bishop of Cordova in-
formed bim of what was pmi:s, and the
relations of the prisoners demanded that they
should be tried by another tribunal. Philip
commanded Deza to retire to his archbishop-
ric of Seville, and to invest Don Diego Rami-
rez de Guzman, Bishop of Catania, with the
powers of inquisitor-general ; at the same
time all the papers relative to this affair were
submitted to the Supreme Council of Castile.
Ramirez de Guzman suspended Lucero, and
the other inquisitors of Cordova from their
fanctions. e affair would have terminated
happily, but for the death of the king in the
same year.

Deza was no sooner informed of that event
than he again resnmed his office of inquisitor-
seneml, and annulled all that had been done

uring his retirement. Ferdinand V. resumed
the government of the kianom, as father of
Queen Joanna, widow of Philip I., as her
mind was disordered. Some time elapsed,
however, before he began to reign, as he was
at Naples at the time of the death of the King
of Spain. At this period, all the inhabitants
of Cordova, and some members of the Coun-
cil of Castile, declared against Deza, and
published that he was of the race of Marranos,
that is, a descendant of the Jews.

The Marquis de Priego excited the Cordo-
vans to a revolt; they forced the prisons of
the holy office, and liberated an immense
number of prisoners. They seized the persons
of the procurator-fiscal, one of the notaries,
and seversl other officers of the tribunal;
Priego would also have arrested Lucero, but
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he eseaped by means of an excellent mule.
These events alarmed the inquisitor-general
to such a degree, that he resi his office,
and retired to his diocese with the greatest
precaution. This proceeding restored tran-
quilllity in Cordova, but did not terminate the
trials,

When the Regent of Spain arrived in that
kingdom. he named Don Francisco Ximenez
de Cisneros inquisitor-general for the crown
of Castile, and Don Juan Enguera, Bishop
of Vie, for that of Aragon. e Pope ex-
pedited their bulls in 1507, and made Cis-
neros a cardinal.

Ximenez de Cisneros began to exercise his
new employment on the lst October, when
the conspiracy against the holy office had be-
come almost general on account of the events
at Cordova, of which the Council of Castile
took cognizance. All its members who had
been of the party of Philip I. signalized
themselves by their hatred against the Inqui-
sition. This aversion made Ximenez de
Cisneros feel the necessity of conducting
himself with extreme caution, that he might
not give occasion for a ﬁonenl convocation of
the Cortes, which would have deprived him
of the high office of governor of the kingdom,

which he then possessed. .

The events at Cordova forced a t num-
ber of persons to arped to Rome. e Po)
appointed two prelates to examine the trials,

with the power of bringing all the trials n
by the apostolical commissioners before him.

The cardinal immediately suspended the
inquisitor Lucero, and sent him prisoner to
Burgos; he also imprisoned all those wit-
nesses who were suspected of having made
false depositions, because some of the charges
were so absurd that no ome could believe
them. The examination of the trials made
the cardinal perceive, that an affair which
implicated some of the most illustrions fami-
lies of Spain could not be treated with too
much delicacy :—he therefore obtained the
king’s permission to form a junta, which he
named the Catholic Congregation: it was com-
posed of twenty-two respectable p '
numely, the inquisitor-general (who was the
president ;) the inquisitor-general of Aragon;
the Bishop of Ciudad Rodrigo; those of
Calahorra and Barcelona ; the mitred abbot
of the Benedictines at Valladolid; the pre-
sident of the Council of Castile, and erght
of its members; the vice-chancellor and the
president of the Chancery of Aragon; two
counsellors of the Supreme; two provincial
inquisitors, and an auditor of the Chancery
of Valladolid.

Their first assembly was held at Burgoes,
on Ascension-day, in 1508, and on the 9th of
July they decreed that the characters of the
witnesses were vile, contemptible, and un-
worthy of confidence; that their declarations
were full of contradictions ; that they contain-
ed things unworthy of belief, and contrary to
common sense; that the prisoners were
consequently at liberty; that their honour,

and made Cardinal Cisneros judge of ap&?!:,

and that of the prisoners who had died, was
re-established ; that the houses which had
been destroyed, as having been used for
synagogues, should be rebuilt; and that the
judgment and the notes in the register should
be erased.

This decision of the Cithokic junia was pro-
claimed at Valladolid on the 1st August, in
the same year, in the presence of the king,
and a multitude of nobles, and other inhabi-
tants of all classes. -

Cardinal Ximenexz de Cisneros had genius,
knowledge, and was just, which he proved in
the affair of Cordova, and in the protection
which he granted to Lebrija and other learned
men on different occasions. 1 shall here re-
mark the error into which several writers
have fallen, in accusing Cisneros of having
taken a great part in the establishment of the
hol& office, when it is certain that, in concert
with Cardinal Mendoza and Talavera, he
endeavoured to prevent it. When he was
chosen as chief of an institation which bad
more power and was better obeyed than many
sovereigns, circumstances made it a daty to
uphold and defend it, and he was obliged to
oppose innovations in the manner of proceed-
ing, although the events at Cordova had
shown him the inconveniences of the secrecy
preserved by the tribunal.

The division of the kingdoms of Aragon
and Castile, which took place at this time,
and the idea that it was no longer necessary
to have as many inquisitorial tribunals as
bishoprics, were the reasons that induced
Cisneros to distribute them by provinces.
He established the holy office at Seville,
Cordova, Jaen, Toledo, in Estremadura, at
Murcia, Valladolid, and Calahorra, and de-
termined the extent of territory for the juris-
diction of each tribunal : at this time he also
sent inquisitors to the Canary isles. In 1513,
the Inquisition was introduced at Cuenga; in
1524, at Grenada; under Philip II., at San-
tiago de Galicia; and under Philip 1V, at
Madrid. Cisneros also judged it necessary,
in 1516, to have a tribunal at Oran, and soon
after in America.

The inquisitor-general of Aragon adopted
the same lgutem and sent inquisitors to
Saragossa, Barcelona, Valencia, Majorca,
Sardinia, and Sicily; and, at a later period,
to Pampeluna, after the conquest of Navarre :
but this kingdom being united in 1515 to that
of Castile, its tribunal was subjected to the
inquisitor-general of that kingdom, who sup-
pressed it some time afier, and transferred the
territory to that of Calahorra.

Daring the eleven years of his ministry,
(which ended by his death in 1517,) Cisneros
permitted the condemnation of 52,855 indi-
viduala, 3564 were burnt in person, 1232 in
effigy, and 4832 suffered different punish-
ments. Although this number of executions
is immense, yet it must be acknowledged that
Cisneros had taken measures to relax the
activity of the Inquisition; the most impor-
tant was, that he assigned particular churches
to the New Christians, and charged the cu-
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rates 1o increase their zeal in instructing
them, and to visit them often in their own
houses.

Offer made to the King to oblain the icity o
e mmd&". publicity of

In 1519, a report being spread among the
New Christians that Ferdinand intended to
make war against his nephew, the King of
Navarre, they offered him 600,000 ducats of
gold towards the expenses of the war if he
would consent to make a law that the trials
of the Inquisition should be public: the king
was on &e oint of treating with the New
Christians, when Cisneros placed a large sum
of money at his disposal ; the king accepted
it, though it was less than the first, and
abandoned the idea of a reform.

After the death of that prince, and while
Charlea V. was in Flanders, in 1517, the
New Christians aguin offered, on the same
conditions, 800,000 ducats for the expenses
of his journey to Spain. William de Croy,
Duke d’Ariscot, the favourite governor of the
young monarch, persuaded him to consult the
colleges, universities, and learned men of
Spain and Flanders; they all replied that the
commaunication of the names and the entire
depositions of the witnesses was consonant to
all rights natural, human, and divine. When
the cardinal-inquisitor was informed of this
decision, he sent deputies, and wrote to the
king to combat it; he reminded him that a
similar proposal had been refused by his
grandfather; but he did not tell him the most
Important circumstance, that he had refused
it for a sum of money. Charles V. left the
affair undecided until his arrival in Spain, but
he terminated it according to the general
hopes after the death of Cisneros, in 1518,

The particular favour which Ferdinand

nted to the Inquisition did not prevent him
rom maintlining the rights of his crown. In
1509, he published a law whicb prohibited,
on pain of death, any person from presenting
to the inquisitors any bull, or writing of that
nature, obtained from the Pope, or his legates,
without first applying to the king that it
might be examined by his conneil.

This right of the crown of Spain over the
decisions of the Po;]w has been lately renewed
by a law of Charles III.; yet the law has
often been impotent against the enterprises,
the decisions, and the briefs of the Popes.

Ferdinand named Don Louis Mercader in-
quisitor-general for the kingdom of Aragon,
after the death of the Bisop of Vic. Mercader
died in 1516, while the government was in
the hands of Charles of Austria, the grandson
of Ferdinand, who died in the same year,
leaving no children by his second marriage.

Charles, his grandson, resided in Flanders,
but he sent into Spain several men who
enjoyed his confidence: amongst them were
his governor, the Duke d’Anscot, and Ad-
rian de Florencio, who was Dean of Louvain,
and born at Utrecht. As the two sovereignties
of Castile and Aragon were now united, it
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appeared natural that there should be but one
inquisitor-general for the monarchy, but Cis-
neros had too much penetration to omit this
opportunity of recommending himself to the
favourite, and, consequently, to the prince.
Instead of demanding this union, he wrote to
the king to represent that it appeared to him
expedient to bestow the bishopric of Tortosa
and the office of inquisitor-general of Aragon
on the Dean of Louvain, and it was easy to
obviate the difficalty of his being a foreigner
by giving him letters of naturalization. This
p{an was executed; the double nmomination
was sent to Rome, and the Pope fg'nnted the
bulls. Adrian took possession of Majorca on
the 7th of February, 1517 : this nomination
was followed by one to the office of Cisneros,
who died on the 6th of November following.
Although he was elected Pope on the 9th of
January, 1522, he continued in his office until
the 10th of September in the following year,
when he signed the bulls of his successor,
Don Alphonso Manrique de Lara, Archbishop
of Seville.

During the period that the Inquisition re-
mained separate from that of Castile, it was
often violently attacked, and more than once
was on the point of being abolished, or at
least subjected to a reform, which would have
left it without the power of exciting terror.
Ferdinand having assembled the Cortes of
the kingdom-at Monzon, in 1510, the deputies
of the towns and cities Joudly complained that
the inquisitors abused their powers, not onlz
in matters of faith, but in several points whic
were not in their jurisdiction. e depaties
also reptesenwd, that they interfered in the
regulation of the contributions, and that the
taxes were shamefully diminished by the
reductions which they made in the lists; that
their authority had made them so bold and
insolent, that they created themselves judges
in all doubtful cases; and where their com-
petence was denied, they had recourse to ex-
communication ; that they oppressed the ma-
gistrates, who feared that they should be
obliged to do public penance in an aufo-da-f¢;
that this misfortune had already happened to
the vicemﬁn and governors of garcelom,
Valencia, Majorca, Sardinia, and Sicily, and to
several persons of high rank ; in consequence,
they entreated his Majesty to maintain the
execation of the Jaws and statues of the king-
dom of Arégon, and to oblige the officers of
the Inquisition to confine themselves to mat-
ter of faith, and to pursue them according to
the rules of common law, in giving them the
publicity of criminal proceedings.

‘This representation of the Cortes acquaint-
ed the king with the disposition of the public;
yet he avoided givinF a direct reply, and said
that it was impossible to decide upon so im-
portant an aftair without having acquired a
profound knowledge of facts ; that he request-
ed them to collect all that came to their
knowledge, and to lay them before him in the
first assembly. This took place in the same
town, in 1512. T'he resolutions which were
then adopted form a treaty between the
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sovereign and his people: it contains twenty-
five articles, all tending to restrain the extent
of the jurisdiction of the inquisitors.

It was there stated that they could not in-
terfere in trials for bigamy and usury unless
the culprits had fallen into the crime of heresy
in asserting that these offences were not
sinful; nor in the proceedings instituted
against blasphemers by other tribunals, unless
the bla:ﬁhemy was heretical : they were
also prohibited from proceeding in a trial
without the concurrence of the ordinaire
diocesan : the inquisitor-general was likewise
restrained from pronouncing judgment in cases
of appeal without the consent of his counsel-
lors; and that the execution of the sentence
which had caused it should be delayed. No
measures were taken for the publicity of the

roceedings, or with regard to the confisca-
tions ; but it was ag that the contracts
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and other engagements, si by one who
had the reputation of a catholic, should
he valid, although he should be aflerwards
proved to have been a heretic at the time of
the transaction.

The king soon repented of having given his
word to the Cortes; and, seco ed‘:x the
intrigues of the inquisitors, he solicited and
obtained a dispensation from his promise, on
the 30th of April, 1513. One of the clauses
of the dispensation reinstates the tribunals of
the holy office in all the privileges which they
had formerly possessed. This conduct of the
king caused a general revoit; and he was
obliged to request the Pope to confirm the re-

lations of the Cortes, and suhject those who

id not conform to them to the censure of
the church. The Pope saw the neocessity
of compliance, and granted the bull in
1515.

CHAPTER XI.

An Attempt made by the Cortes of Castile and Aragon to Reform the Inquisition—Of the Princi-
pal events under Adrian, Fourth Inquisitor-general.

¢

TreInquisition was never insomuch danger
as during the first year of the reign of Charles
V. When the young monarch arrived in
. Spain, he was dis to abolish the Inquisi-
tion, or at least to regulate the proceedings ac-
cording to those of otlier tribunals. In1518 a
Fenen assembly of the Cortes washeld at Val-
adolid, when the representatives solicited that
his highness would command the office of the
holy le;qnisition to conform to the rules of the
canons and the common law. The Cortes
likewise sent ten thousand pieces of gold to
chancellor Selvagio, and promised the same
sum when the decree which they solicited
should be pat in execution. The king re-
plied that he would take proper measures to
remedy the evil of which they complained :
in consequence, he engaged.the Cortea to
publish theabuses which had been introduced,
and to indicate the means of abolishing them.

When the assembly at Valladolid had ter-
minated their labours, Charles convoked the
Cortes of Aragon at Saragossa, where he was
accompanied gy the chancellor Selvagio, who
had prepared a royal ordinance to be pub-
lished according to the demand of the Cortes
of Castile. It was composed of thirty-nine
articles : the proceedings of the tribunal were

lated in it, with the ages, the rank, and
salaries of the judges and subaltern officers.

The result of this new code was, that the
inquisitors could not question a witness to ob-
tain information on any subject but that for
which he was summoned.

That each denouncer should be subject to a
strict examination, to discover his motives for
the accusation.

That the order for imprisonment could not

be given without the concurrence of the dioce-
san in ordinary, or until they had examined
each witness a second time.

That the prisons should be public, neat, and
convenient.

‘That the prisoners should be allowed tosee
their relations, their friends, and their counael.

That they might choose a lawyer or procu-
rator in whom they placed confidence.

That the accusation should be immediately
commaunicated to them, with the name of the
ﬁlam where, and the time when, the witnesses

ad declared the crime to have been committed.

That if the accused demanded a copy of the
accusation and the examination, it should be
given to him.

That when the proofs and the depositions
were all received, they should be communi-
cated entirely to the prisoner, as in the present
time there are no persons powerful enough o in-
spire the witnesses wilh fear, except sn cases
thmllu;m‘merica y m'é'amul,

ishop, or in ton of some ignily
ubop”w 2 possession of

That in this case, in order to conceal. the
names of the witnesses, the judge shall draw
up a writing, declaring upon oath, that he be-
lieves this measure to be. necessary for the
preservation of the lives of the witnesses;
that this act shall deprive the prisoner of his
right of appealing against it.

That if itis considered absolutely necessary
to make use of the torture, it shall only be
administered in moderation, and without re-
curring to the cruel inventions hitherto em-
ployed.

at it shall only be employed once for
what personally concegu the accused ; mever
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to obtain from him information of other indi-
viduals; and only in the case of persons men-
tioned in the law.

That the definitive sentences, and even the
interlocutory orders, shall be subject to the
right of appeal, as to their double effect.

That when the preparatory examination of
the judgment is commenced, the parties and
their counsel may attend at this revision of
the process, and demand that the reading may
be made in their presence.

That if the proof of the crime is not then
established, the prisoner shall be acquitted,
without being liable to a punishment as being
still suspected.

That if the accused desires to clear himself,
on oath, he shall be allowed to seek witnesses,
and to converse with them in private; and
that their being descendants of the Jews
shall not prevent their admission.

That the challenge of witnesses shall be
permitted ; and if one of those called by the
procurator-fiscal is convicted of giving false
testimony, he shall be subject to the punish-
ment of retaliation, according to a law of Fer-
dinand and Isabella, in the begioning of their
reign.

That when an accused n has been re-
conciled, he shall not be arrested for things
which he has not confessed, because it is to
be supposed that he forgot them.

That no persons shall be molested or im-
prisoned for a simple presumption of heresy,
arising from their baving been brought up
among Jews or heretics.

That the San-benitos shall be taken out of
the churches, and that they no longer be worn
in %‘o streets. " c .

at the punishment of perpetual imprison-
ment shall Ko abolished, because the prisoners
die lgf hunger, and cannot serve God.

That the statutes recently established to

revent New Christians from being admitted
into convents, shall be considered as nulland
void, because they are contrary to all laws,
human and divine.

That when an individual is sentenced to
imprisonment, an inventory shall be taken of
his property, and they shall not be seques-
trated or sold.

That he, and his wife, and chiidren, shall
possess his revenues during his detention, and
shall be allowed to employ them to prepare
his means of defence against the Inquisition.

That when a man is condemned, his chil-
dren shall inherit his property.

That no donation shall be made on their
protz:ny, until it has been definitively confis-
cal

That the spirit and letter of the canons shall
be complied with in all things, without regard
to any particular custom previously in use.

That the king shall be supplicated to obtain
8 bull from the Pope to ratify these measures.

That until this bull is obtained, the king
shall be requested to command the inquisitors
to conform to these regulations, in the trials
already cormmenced, and in those which may
begin from this time.
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This excellent code of laws was never put
in execution, because the chancellor Selvagio,
who framed it, died before its publication;
and Cardinal Adrian so totally changed the
ideas and inclinations of Charles V. that he
became an ardent defender of the Inquisition.

Charles V. had sworn at Saragossa, in 1518,
to respect the privileges and customs of the
Aragonese, particalarly the resolutions of the
Cortes at Saragossa, ‘I'arazona, and Monzon,
and consequently that he would not suffer the
inquisitors to commence any trials for vsury.

ut a new assembly of the Cortes havin,
been convoked at Saragossa, towards the en
of the year 1518, the deputies of Aragon re-
presented to the king, that the agreement of
the Cortes at Monzon, in 1512, was not suffi-
cient to remedy the abuses which the inquisi-
tors had introduced ; they therefore entreated
his Majesty to add to it thirty-one articles
which they had adopted. These articles dif-
fered little from those of the Cortes of Castile,

The king, after having consulted his council,
replied, ¢ that it was his pleasure that the holy
canons, and the decrees of the holy see, should be

‘ormed lo in regard to all the articles whick

been presented to him,  That if difficulties
or doubts should occur, which required explana-
tion, they should apply to the Pupe ; thatif any

reon wished to an inquisitor of ab

in the exercise of his office, he might do so by
applying to the inquisitor-general, who would
pronounce sentence according to equity; and
that the king would cause them to be punish-
ed as an example ; (hat Ae engaged by oath to
observe himaelf, and cause others lo observe the
order and declaration which he addressed to
the assembly, as well as the articles which the
Pope might add to those of the Cortes; that he
also promised, upon oath, never to demand 2
dispensation from his promise ; and that if one
was addreseed to him he would never make
use of it, as he at that time renounced all the
rights which might arise from it.”

This reply induced the Cortes to believe
that the king had granted all their requests;
they considered that the triala would be there
conducted as before other ecclesiastical tribu-
nals. Persuaded that this waa the king's
intention, the Cortes resolved to show their
gratitude by s voluntary contribution of
money.

Some time elapsed before the agreement
was approved by the Pope. The Emperor
wrote the following letter from Cologne, in
1520, to his ambassador at Kome:—¢ la re-

rd to the transactions of the Cortes, it will

sufficientif his Holiness will approve an
act sent to Don Louiz Carroz, and afterwards
to Don Jerome Vich, which is written by the
hand of the venerable Cardinal of Tortosa,
and that of the great chancellor, without any
extension or interpretation, as I have often de-
manded earnestly.”

The Aragonese, who did not even believo
it possible to obtain this last point, entreated
the inquisitor-general to command the inquisi-
tors of Saragossa to conform immediately to
the regulations of the sgreement, witlont
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wailing for the conformation of the Pope,
because almost all the articles were the same
as those in the convention of 1613, which the
Po&e had approved

ardinal Adrian complied with the request,
and wrote to the inquisitors. They replied,
that they thought themselves obli to take
the orders of the king before they obeyed him.
Charles addressed an ordinance to them, in
which he commanded them to execute all
that hé had promised and swom in the pre-
ceding year.

At last the Pope confirmed the resolutions
by a bull, which was proclaimed with great
solemnity. However, it soon appeared that
this publication would have no effect, because
the promise of the king was, that the canons
and apostolical ordinances should be strictly
observed in regard to the articles; and in
conforming to this they only executed the bull
of 1515,

On the 21st of January, 1531, the Emperor
ordered the secretary of the Cortes to be set
at liberty ; for although the inquisitor-general,
in 1520, had decreed that he should be relax-
ed, and the prisoner had been informed of it,
yet he refused to quit the prison, affirmin
that the decree which set him at liberty, tend-
ed more to make him appear guilty than inno-
cent, by the use of the word relazed.

Similar debates took place in Catalonia,
where the king convoked a Cortes at Barce-
lona, in 1519, to take the oath of maintaining
the privile?o of the province. The Catalans,
informed of the effect produced by the repre-
sentations of the Cortes of Aragon, likewise
demanded a reform of several abuses of their
Inquisition relative to the taxes, as well as
usury, bigamy, and other crimes of that class.

e king, after having heard their remon-
strances, made nearly the same reply as to
the Cortes of Saragossa, and wrote to the
Pope to demand a ratification of the articles.
The Pope approved them in a bull in 1520;
but Charles did not wait for its arrival to en-
force the execution of his promise, which is
Kroved by his order to Don Diego de Mendoza,

is lieutenant-general in Catalonia;: Vet he
declares in his letter to his lieutenant, that he
only made these promises on account of the
importunities of some representatives of towns,
and some men who were among the members
of the Cortes.

In consequence of some events in Aragon,
during the period which elapsed before the
bull of confirmation was issued, Leo. X. was
on the point of destroying the Inquisition ; but
intimidated by the policy of Charles V., he
left the hydra in the same state.

John Prat, the secretary of the Cortes of
Aragon, drew up the proposition of the repre-
sentatives, and the reply of the king, to be
addressed to the Pope; the chancellor of the
king had done the same. This procending
particularly displeased the inquisitors of Sara-

opea; and to avoid the danger which they
lieved themselves to be in, they began to
intrigue at court, and soon su ed in ren-

dering the king averse to the cause of the
deputies of Aragon. They insinuated that
Prat had drawn up the act which was to be
sent to Rome, in such a manner, as to repre-
sent the reply of the king as obligatory, not
only in the literal sense of the words, but in
supposing that he had admitted the articles as
being conformed to the common law; and
that they, oconsequently, only wanted the rati-
fication of the Pope, which there was no doubt
of obtaining, as it was known that the depu-
ties of Aragon were sapported by several car-
dinals, had sent them considerable sums
of money.

The papers which contained these details
were sent to Cardinal Adrian, who communi-
cated them to the king, and obtained permjs-
sion to order the inquisitors of Saragossa to
make an inquiry if this recital was true,
when they would be anthorized to arrest Prat,
Everything happened according to the hopes
of the inquisitors.

Prat was arrested on the 5th of May, 1509,
and the next day the king wrote to the Pope, -
to request that he would not expedite the
bull, It was intended that the prisoner
should be transferred to Barcelons, bat the
permanent deputation (who then represented
the Aragonese doring the intervals of the as-
sembling of the Cortes) wrote to the king,
that this proceeding was contrary to the
statutes which he had sworn to maintain.
The deputation also judged it necessary to
convoke a new Cortes, who represented to the
king the dangerous consequences of the re-
moval of Secretary Prat, whose fidelity had
been particularly remarked daring the reign
of Ferdinand; and entreated him to set Prat
at liberty, not only because they believed him
to be just, faithful, and loyal, but that it was
impossible to levy the supply which had
been offered to the king, unless this request
was nted. The king prevented the re-
moval of the prisoner, but would not liberate
him.

The deputation of the Cortes sent commis-
sioners to Barcelona, to say that the sum of
money offered to the king was conditional,
and at the same time convoked the tiers-état.
Charles being informed of it, commanded the
dissolution of the assembly, which replied,
that the kings of Aragon had no right to use
so violent 2 measure, without the consent of
the ple; it decreed that the levy should
not mouised, and applied to the Court of
Rome . for the ratification of the articles of
Saragossa.

Leo X. was at that time displeased with
the Inquisition of Spain, on acconnt of its re-
fusal to admit certain briefs of inhibition in
the tribunals of Toledo, Seville, Valencia, and
Sicily ; and forgetting the consideration which
he owed to Charles (who was then emperor
of Germany,) he resolved to reform the holy
office, and to compel it to submit to the rules
of common law,

In consequence of this resolution he ex-
pedited three briefs addressed to the king, the
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cardinal inquisitor-general, and the inquisitors
of Saragossa, in which, after explaining his
intention, he decrees that the inquisitors shall
be deprived of their offices, and that the
bishops and their chapters should present two
canons to the inquisitor-general, who should
appoint one: he added that this choice should
be confirmed by the holy see, and that these
new inquisitors should he subjected every
two years to a judicial censure.

The derutiel received . these briefs, and
immediately required the inquisitors to con-
form to them; they replied that they would
await the orders of their immediate chie
The King wrote to his uncle Don Alphonso
of Aragon, Archbishop of Saragossa, to enter
into an agreement with the deputies, and at
the same time he sent an ambassador-extra-
ordinary to Rome to demund a revocation of
the briefs. The Aragonese then promised to
levy the sapply if the secretary Prat was
liberated, but protested that they would not
admit any Eroposition contrary to the promise
which the king had made.

This prince instructed his ambassador to
inform the Pope of all that had passed in the
Cortes of Castile, but to keep silence on the
most important circumstances, and to assure
his Holiness that no complaints had been
made of the Inquisition since Cardinal Adrian
had been inquisitor-general. Charles also
required that no brief should be expedited to
cause the San-benitos to be removed from the
churches, or to prohibit them from being
worn in the streets.

The Pope, seeing the importance which
Charles attached to these things, wrote to
Cardinal Adrian, that although he was per-
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fectly informed of all that was passing, and
that he had resolved to do justice to the claims
of the Cortes, yet he would not carry the
affair further without the consent of the King,
to whom he promised to make no innovations;
but he requested him to pay great attention to
what was passing, as he heard serious com-
plaints every day from all parts of the king-
dom, of the avarice and injustice of the
im’nisimn.

This brief offended the deputies, but they
continued their importunities at the Court of
Rome with so much ardour, that their credit
balanced the power of Charles V. ; and thongh
they did not obtain the extension of the arti-
cles, they prevented the revocation of the
reforming briefs, and Charles was obliged to
be satisfied with that addressed to Cardinal
Adrian.

Leo X. died on the 1at of December, 1521,
and Cardinal Adrian succeeded him on the
9th of January, 1523: he did not quit his
office of inquisitor-general until the 10th of
September, 1523, when he bestowed it on
Don Alplionso Manrique,Archbishop of Seville.

According to the most moderate calculation
from the inscription at Seville, it appears that
240,025 persons were condemned by the In-
quisition during the five years of the ministry
of Adrian; 1620 were burnt in person;
560 in effigy; and 21,845 subjected to dif-
ferent penances. If the year 1523, which
may be considered as an interregnum until
the inscription of Seville, which is of the
year 1524, is added to this, the number of
victims sacrificed by the Inquisition may be
estimated at 234,526 persons, an immense
number, though it is far below the truth.

CHAPTER XIIL

Conduct of the Inquisitors towards the Morescoes.

Tax New Christians of Jewish origin
flattered themselves, at the commencement of
the ministry of Don Alphonso Manrique, that
they should obtain the publication of the
names and charges of the witnesses, as he
had supported their st in 1516: but the
inquisitors seuuaded him that such a pro-
ceeding tended to the destruction of the holy
office, and the triumph of the enemies of the
faith: and that the appearance of two new
sects of Morescoes and Lutherans rendered a
great degree of severity indispensable.

It has been already stated, that an order
from Ferdinand and Isabella, in 1502, had
compelled all those Moors who refused to be-
come Christians, to quit Spain. Although
this law was execute‘? in Castile, it did not
affect the Moors of Aragon, as the King had
yielded to the solicitations of the nobles, who
represented the immense injury which it

would do them, in destroying the population
of their domains, where there were scarcely
any baptized inhabitants. .

e two sovereigns renewed their promise
in 1510, and Charles V. took an oath to the
same efiect in the Cortes of Saragossa in
1519,

A civil war soon after broke out in Aragon,
similar to one in Castile, about the same
time. The factions were almost all common
people, who hated the nobles: they endea-
voured to injure them as much as possible;
and knowing that the Moors, who were their
vassals, were obliged to serve them in a more
laborious manner, on account of the differ-
ence of their religion, they baptized all the
Moors who fell into their hands. Above
sixteen thousand thus received baptism ; but
as they were forced to it, many afterwards re-
tarned to their former creed. The emperor
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punished the chiefs of the insurrection, and
many Moors, fearing the same fate, ?uiued
Spain, and retired to the kingdom of Algiers;
so that in 1593, more than five thousand
houses were left without inhabitants.

Charles V., irritated at this conduct, per-
suaded himself that he ought not to sufferany
Moors to remain in his dominions, and de-
manded a dispensation from his oath to the
Cortes of Saragoesa. The Pope at first re-
fused, on account of the al of such a
proceeding: but the emperor insisted, and it
was granted in 1534: the Pope, however,
engaged him, at the same time, to charge the
inquisitors to accelerate the conversion of the
Moors, bé announcing, that if they did not
become Christians within & certain period,
they would be obliged to quit Sgin, on pain
of being reduced to llavor(. oubts were
afierwards raised, of the validity of the bap-
tism administered to the Moors in Valencia
by the rebele; but Charles assembled a coun-
cil, which, after many debates, decided, on
the 23d of March, 1525, that it was valid, as
tha infidels had not offered any resistance.

The greatest part of the Moorish Jnoglq fled
to the mountains and the Sierra de Bernia,
and resisted the arms of Charles, until the
month of Aagust, when the;r';urrenderﬁd.
after obtaining an amnesty. e Moors of
Almonacid refused baptism, and took up arms;
their town was taken, and several put to death,
and the rest became Christians.

In the borough of Correa, the Moors assas-
sinated the lord of the district, and seventeen
Christians, who endeavoured to compel them
to embrace Christianity. At last the rovolt
hecame general thronghout the kingdom of
Valencia, where they %ormed nearly twenty-
six thousand families; they fortified them-
selves in the town of the Sierra d’Espadan,
and a considerable period elapsed before they
were reduced by the royal army. They then
implored the protection of Germaine de Foix,
second wife to Ferdinand V., and who was
then married to Don Ferdinand of Aragon,
Duke of Calabria. This princess granted a
passport to twelve of their depaties, whom
they sent to court to learn the real intentions
of the emperor. They demanded a delay of
five zesn before they hecame Christians, or
left Spain by the port of Alicant. These de-
mands being refased, they offered to become
Christians, on condition that the inquisitors
should not be permitted to prosecute them for
the space of forty years ; this was also cruelly
refused them.

They then applied to the inquisitor-general
Manrique, who received them graciously, and
supposing that they would freely consent to
receive baptism, he offered to employ his in-
fluence with the emperor. On the 16th of Jan-
uary, 1526, they remitted a memorial to him,
in which they demanded, lst, that during
forty years they should not be liable to be
prosecuted by the holy office; Sndly, that
they might be allowed to preserve their lan-
guage, and their manner of clothing them-
selves ; Srdly, that they might have a cemetery
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separate from that of the old Christians ; 4thly,
that they might be able to marry their rela-
tions during the space of forty years, and that
the marriages already contracted should not
be interfered with; 5thly, that the ministers
of their religion should continue to receive the
revennes of the mosques converted into
churches; 6thly, that they might be allowed
the use of arms like other Christians; 7thly,
that the charges and rents which they paid to
their lords should not be more burdensome
than those of other Christians; 8thly, that
they should not be obliged to pay the manici-
pal expenses of royal towns, unless they were
allowed to hold offices, and enjoy the honours
depcmding on them. c

These articles being submitted to the em-
peror, they were granted, with a few restric-
tions, and the Moors were all baptized, with
the exception of some thousands who fled to
the mountains, and resisted the royal force
during the year 1526. When they were re-
duced, they received baptism, and the pun-
ishment ol, slavery which they had incurred
was commuted for a fine of twelve thousand
ducats.

The Aragonese, fearing that the Moors dis-
persed among them would be subjected to the
same laws as those of Valencia, represented
to the Emperor, through the medium of his re~
lation the Count de Ribagorza, that they had
never caused any trouble either in politics or
religion; that they could not have any com-
munication with Africa, onaccount of the dis-
tance of the countries ; and that many of them
were excellent workmen in the fabrication of
arms, and consequently, their banishment
wonld cccasion great loss to the kingdom of
Aragon. The representations of the Aragonese
were unavailing: the Emperor commanded
the inquisitors to subject the Moors of Aragon
to the same laws as those of Valencia, and
tholy were baptized without resistance in 1526.

n 1530 the Pope gave the inquisitor-gene-
ral the necessary power to absolve all the
Moors of Aragon-as often as they should re-
lapseinto heresy and repent, withoutinflicting
any public penance or infamous punishments.
‘The motives expressed in the bull for this
conduct were, that they were mach sooner
converted by gentle means than severity. It
is natural to inquire why a different policy
was adopted with respect to the Jews; they
were all rich merchants, while scarcely one
in five thonsand were found among the Moors.
Occupied in the cultivation of the ground and
the care of their flocks, they were always

oor; sometimes workmen of singular intel-
igence, talent, and address were found among
them.

The Morescoes of Grenada also occupied
the attention of the emperor, although the
events which passed among them were of less
importance.

hen the emperor was at Grenada in 1526,

a memorial from the Morescoes was presented

to him, by Don Ferdinand Benegas, Don

Michael d’Aragon and Diego Lopez Benaxara;

they were all members of the maunicipality,
3
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and illustrious nobles, as they were descended
in the direct maleline from the Moorish kings
of Grenada. They represented that the Moors
suffered much from the priests, judges, nota-
ries, alguazils, and other Old Christians.
The emperor appeared touched by the recital,
and commissioned a bishop to go into the
countries inhabited by the Moors and examine
into the state of religion. The bishop visited
the kingdom of Grenada, and found that the
Moors had reason to complain; but he. also
discovered that there were scarcely seven
Catholics among all these people; all the
others had returned to Mehometanism, either
because they had not been properly instructed,
or because they were permitted to exercise
their old religion in public.

The emperor convoked a council, which
decreed that the inquisitorial tribunal of Jean
should be transferred to Grenada. Several
other measures were adopted and approved by
the emperor; the most important was a
Ktomise of pardon to the Moors for all that

ad passed, and a notice that they would he
treated with the utmost severity, if they again
relapsed into heresy. The Morescoes submit
ted, and_obtained for eighty thousand ducats
the privileges of wearing the costume of
their nation, and that the Inquisition should
not be allowed to seize their property if they
relapsed.

The inquisitors of Grenada celebrated an
eulo-da-fé in 1528 with the teat cere-
mony, in order to inspire the Moors with
more respect and fear. However no Moors
were burnt, but only baptized Jews who had
veturned to Judaism.

The Moors still continued to emigrate to
Africa, although they were treated with mode-
ration.  Philip 1. obtained a brief from Paul
1V. by which the confessors were authorized
10 absolve the Moors secretly, without impo-
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sing any penance or niary penalty, on the
condition that they demanded absolution vol-
untarily. The system of indulgence which
had been adopted did not prevent Louis Albo-
acin from being condemned to the flames.—
After emigrating to Africa, he returned to Va-
lencia with several other renegadoes, with the
intention of exciting the Morescoes toa revolt;
the plot was discovered, the conspirators dis-
armed, and Louis was burnt in 1563.

In 1567 the Pope expedited a brief in
favour of the Motescoes of Valencia, but those
of Grenada revolted, and elected for their
king Don Ferdinand Valor, a descendant of
their former sovereigns of the dynasty of
Abenhumeyas. This rebellion continued for
some time; and Philip II. endeavoured to

uell it by issuing edicts of pardon even for

ose crimes which came under the jurisdic-
tion of the Inquisition. An amnesty was
granted to the Moors on condition that they
came to solicit it, and many took advantage of
the permission. To prevent emigration, the
king remitted the penalty of confiscation, but
the inqusitors, by means of the impenetrable
secrecy which they always preserved, ‘ren-
dered the bemevolent intentions of the sove-
reign of no avail. They did not publish the
briefs of indulgence granted by the Court of
Rome, knowing that a great number of the
relapsed would take ndvantafge of them ; these
people, not being aware of their privileges,
were condemned and burnt. These examples
of cruelty increased the hatred of the Moors
for this sanguinary tribunal, and were the
canse of many seditions, which, in 1609, Ted
to the entire expulsion of the Moors, to the
number of a8 million souls; so that in the
space of an hundred and thirty-nine years, the
Inquisition deprived the kingdom of Spain of
three millions of inhabitants, Jews, Mores-

coes, and Moors.

CHAPTER XIII

Of the Prohibition of Books and other Articles.

Tre opinions of Luther, Carolstadt, Zuin-
gle, Ecolampadius, Melancthon, Muncer,
and Calvin, were first promulgated during the
ministry of Don Alphonso Manrique, the
fifth inquisitor-general. Thess reformers were
called Protesiants after the imperial diet at
Spire, in 1529,

Leo the Xth had already condemmed the

inions of Luther as heretical, which induced

anrique to enact severe panishments for
those who should openly maintain or write in
favour of them.

In 1490 several Hebrew bibles and books
written by Jews were burnt at Seville; at
Salamanca more that six thousand volumes
of magic and sorcery were committed to the

flames, In 1503 Ferdinand and Isabella ap-

ointed the presidents of the Chanceries of
alladolid and Ciudal Real, the Archbishops
of Seville, Toledo, Grenada, the Bishops of
Burgos, Salamanca, and Zamora, to decide
on all affairs relating to the examination, cen-
sure, printing, introduction, or sale of books.
In 1521 the Pope wrote to the governors of
the provinces of Castile during the absence of
Charles V., recommending them to prevent
the introduction of the works of Luther into
the kingdom; and Cardinal Adrian, in the
same year, ordered the inquisitors to seize all
books of that nature: this order was repeated
in 1523.
In 1530 the Supreme Council wrote to the
inquisitors during the absence of Cardinal
Maurique, on the nécessity of executing the
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measures which had been ordained ; adding,
that information had been received that the
writings of Luther had been introduced into
the Kingdom under fictitions titles, or as
works entirely composed by Catholic authors;
and in order to reprees this intolerable abuse,
they were commanded to visit all public libra-
ries for those books, and to add to the edict of
denunciation, a particular article, to obligeall
Catholics to denounce any person who might
read or keep them in their houses. In 1535
Cardinal Manrique addressed an order to the
inquisitors, and another in the same year pro-
hibiting the universities of the kingdom from
explaining, reading, or even selling the Collo-
guies of Erasmus. In 1528 he anathematised
some other works of the same author, althou
he had defended him in 1527, in an assembly
which met to examine his writings.

Erasmus was considered in Spain as a sup-
porter of the Catholic faith against the doc-
trine of Luther, and his enemies were only a
few scholastic theologians, who were not
acqaainted with the Greek and Hebrew
tongues. The Spanish theologians who wrote
against him were, Diego Lopez de Zuniga,
Sancho de Corranza, professor of theology in
the university of Alcala de Henards, Brother
Louis de Carjaval, a Franciscan, Edward
Lee, the English ambassador, and Pedro
Vittoria, a theologian of Salamanca.

. Afer this first attack, in the Lent of the
year 1537, two ‘monks denounced several
Kropo.ition:' in the works of Erasmus, as
eretical. Alphonso Manrigue (althongh he
was then the friend of Erasmue) was obliged
to submit these propositions to the examina-
tion of qualifiers; but he appointed the most
learned men of the kingdom to that office.

This assembly of doctors lasted two months,
when the plague, which then desolated some
g:rta of the kingdom, obliged them to separate,

fore they had decided on the judgment to
be prc d; it appears from several lettors
written by Erasmus about that time that he
hoped it would be favourable to him.*®

at the Supreme Council qualified his
Colloguses, his ﬁ 4{ Folly, and his Para-
ase, and prohibited them from being read.
n later times, this trohibition was extended
to several other books of the same guthor, and
the Inquisition recommended in its edicts that
the works of Erasmus should be read with
caution.

The emperor Charles V. commissioned the
University of Louvain to form a list of dan-
gerous books, and in 1539 he obtained a bull
of approbation from the Pope. The index
was published in 1546 by the university in all
the states of Flanders, six years after a decree
had been issued to prohibit the writings of
%uther from being read or bought on pain of

eath.

'l‘l:ia1 severe measure displeased all ranks.
The princes of Germany openly complained
of it, and offered to assist Charles in his war
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against the Turks, if ha would allow the
poo:le liberty in matters of religion. Charles
paid no attention to their remonstrances, and
this bad policy accelerated the progress of
Lultlun'mium.m° I with

n 1549, inquisitor-general, with the
approbation of the%upreme Coancil, added
some new works to the list of those which
had been prohibited, and addressed two ordi-
nances to the inquisitors, enjoining them in the
first not to allow any person to possess them,
and in the second, commanding the consultors
of the holy office neither to read nor keep them,
thongh the execution of the decrees might
throw them into their hands.

In 1546 the emperor commanded the Uni-
versity of Louvain to publish the index, with
additions. This work appeared in 1550, and
the prince remitted it to the inquisitor-general,
and it was printed by the order of the Supreme
Council, with a supplement eomposed of
books prohibited in Spain; some time after
the council framed another index, which was
certified b{ the secretary.

Al the Inquisitions received copies, and a
bull from Julius III., which renewed the pro-
hibitions and revoked the permissions con-
trary to the new bulls; he charged the
inquisitors to seize as many books as they
could; to cnblilh prohibitory edicts, ac-
companied by censures; to prosecute those
who did not obey them, as suspected of
heresy ; and to give an account of the books
which they had read and preserved.

The Pope added, that he was informed that
a great number were in possession of libra-
rians and private persons, particularly the
Spanish Bibles mentioned in the catalogue,
and the Missal and Diurnal in the supplement.

The Council of Trent, after acknowledging
the necessity of treating the writings of here-
tics with great severity, commissioned the
celebrated Carranza to compose the catalogue.
After having examined the great number of
bocks submitted to the council, he sent all
those which did not contain any thing repre-
hensible to the Dominican convent in the
city of T'rent, and cansed the rest to be burnt,
or torn, and thrown into the Adige.* Car-
ranza soon after accompanied Philip II. to
England, where he not only converted many
Lutherans, but caused many bibles which had
been translated to be burnt.

Some bibles, whichk had beer introduced
into Spain, and were not upon the list, were
also prohibited; and the inquisitors were
commanded to publish the interdict, and to
employ severe measures against those who
refused to obey it. ‘The ordinances of the
Couneil of Castile, composed by the order of -
the king, and approved by him, were pub-
lished in the same year; they gave the coun-
cil the privilege of permitting books to be
printed, on the condition that they should be
examined previonsly, if the subject of which
they treated was important. .

* Erssmus, letters 884. 907, 910.
t Sandoval, Hist. Charles V. B. 24, $ 23.

* Salazar de Mendoza, Life of Don Bartholo-
mew Carranza, ch. vii.



4

Charles V. and Philip IT. had regulated the
circulation of books in their American states.
In 1543 the viceroys and other authorities
were commanded to prevent the introduction
or printing of tales and romances.

n 15650 a new decree obliged the tribunal
of the commerce of Seville to register all the
books destined for the colonies, to certify that
th? were not prohibited.

n 1556 the government commanded that
no work relating to the affairs of America
should be published without a permission
from the council of the Jndies, and that those
already printed should not be sold unless

were examined and spproved, which
obliged all those who possessed any to sub-
mit them to the council. The officers of the cus-
toms in America were also obliged to seize
all the prohibited books which might be
ixll:somd, and remit them to the archbishops
and bisohps, who, in this case, possessed the
same powers as the inquisitors of Spain.

- Lastly, Philip II. in 1560 decreed new
measures, and the surveillance was afterwards
as strictly observed in the colonies of the
New World as in the Peninsula.

Although Charles V. and Philip IL. neg-
lected nothing that could prevent the intro-
duction of prohibited books into Spain, several
which were favourable to the Lutheran heresy

enetrated into the kingdom. In 1558 the
Inquisitor-general published an edict more
severe than any of the })recoding; and also
drew up an instruction for the use of the in-
quisitors ; importing, that all books mention-
ed in the printed catalogue should be seized ;
that a public aulo-dafé should be made of
those tending to heresy; that the commenta-
ries and notes attributed to Melancthon should
be suppressed in all the treatises on grammar
where they were introduced ; that the bibles
marked as being suspected should be ex-
amined; that no books should be seized
except those mentioned in the list; that all
the books printed in Germany since 1519
without the name of the author should be
examined ; that the translation of Theophy-
lact by (Ecolampadius should be seized ; like-
wise some volumes of the works of St; John
Chrysostom, which had been translated by
that arch-heretic and Wolfang Nusculus; that
the commentaries by heretics on works com-
posed by catholics should be suppressed ; and
that a book on medicine might be seized,
although it was not mentioned in the index.

When this edict was published, Francis
Sanchez, professor of theology in the universi-
ty of Salamanca, wrote to inform the Supreme

ouncil, that he had occupied himle’l’f for
several years in examining dangerous books,
and gave his opinion on the course which
ought to be pursued.

e council, in consequence, decreed that
those theologians in the university who had
studied the Oriental languages, should be
obliged, as well as other persons, to give np
their Hebrew and Greek Bibles to the com-
missaries of the holy office, on pain of excom-
munication ; that the proprietors of Greek,
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Arabic, and Hebrew books, not mentioned in
the list, should not be molested ; that the or-
der-concerning the books printed without the
name of the author, related only to modern
productions; that the request made by some
persons to be allowed to keep P, tus Mela,
with the commentary of Nadicano, should be
refused ; that these books should be remitted
to the council to be examined; that the
order to seize all works containing errors
should only be applied to modern books ; and
that the Summa Armata of Durand, of Cajetan,
Peter Lombard, Origen, Theophylact, Ter-
tollian, Lactantius, Lucian, Aristotle, Plato,
Seneca, and other authors of that class, should
be allowed to circulate; that the council,
being informed that several catalogues of pro-
hibited books existed, would unite them, and
compose one general catalogue.

In the year 1558 the terrible law of Philip
I1. was published, which decreed the punish-
ments otP death and confiscation for all those
who should sell, buy, keep, or read, the books
prohibited by the holy office ; and, to ensure
the execution of this sanguinary law, the in-
dex was printed, that the people might not
allege ignorance in their defence.

A bull of 1559 enjoins confessors to interro-
gate their penitents on this subject, and to re-
mind them that they were obliged to denounce
the guilty on pain of excommunication. A
particular article subjects the confessors to the
same Funishmem. if they ne;lected this dmx,
even if their penitents were of the highest rank.

This severe law was however mitigated in
1561 when the Cardinal of Alexandria, in-
quisitor-genenl of Rome, published a decree,
annonncing, in the nameof Pius IV,, that
some of the prohibitions of books had been
withdrawn. is decree also granted permis-
sion to read and possess some books which had
been suppressed only because they were writ-
ten by heretics.

Valdes, the inquisitor-general of Spain, im-
mediately wrote to the inquisitors of the
provinces, to suspend the execution of the
edict, until he had received the orders of the
king, to whom he had represented the danger
arising from a measure which annulled the
Knnishmem of excommunication; but Valdes

ad another motive in this proceeding.

In 1559, this inquisitor had published a
printed catalogue of prohibited books, which
was much more extended than that of
1558, and in which, according to the advice
of Francis Sanchez, he had introduced all the
works mentioned in the catalogues of Rome,
Lisbon, Louvain, and those of Spain of an
earlier date. Hedivided them into six classes.
The first consisted of Latin books; the second
of those written in Castillian; the third of
those in the Tuetonic language; the fourth of
German books ; tho fifth of French; and the
sixth of Portuguese. Valdes, in a note at the
end of his index, gave notice that there were
many books subject to the prohibition, not
mentioned in the list, but that they would be
be added. He appointed the punishment of

| excommunication, and a penalty of two hun-
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dred ducats, for those persons who should
read any of these books, and in this number
were included some which were permitted to
be read by the last edict of the Pofe.

Valdes had inserted in his catalogue some
books which had not only been considered
catholic, but were in the hands of everybody
and full of true iety,'&anieuhﬂy some works
of Don Hernand de Talavera, the venerable
Juan d’Avila, Bartholomew Carranza de Mi-
randa, Archbishop of Toledo; Hernand de
Villasgu. Louis de Grenada, s Dominican ;
and St. Francis Borgia. :

The catalogue of Valdes contained other
general prohibitions. This proscription in-
cluded all Hebrew books, and those in other
tongues which treated of the Jewish customs ;
those of the Arabs, or those which in any way
treated of the Mahometan religion; all works
composed or translated by an heretic, ora per-
son condemned by the holy office ; all treatises
in the Spanish langnage, with a preface, letter,
prologue, summary, notes, additions, para-
phrase, explanation, glossary, or writing of
that natare added by an heretic; all sermons,
writings, letters, discourses on the Christian
rellgion, its mysteries, sacraments, or the holy
Scriptures, if these works were inedited
manuscripts,

Lud{, the same prohibition was. extended
to a multitude of translations of the Bible, and
other books which had been written by men
of great piety, and bad always been consider-
ed as &roper guides to virtue: of this number
were the worrks of Denis, the Carthusian ; the
author known by the name of the idiot; the
bishop Roffense, and many other writers.

In the eighteenth session of the Council of
Trent (which began on the 26th of February,
1568,) the bishops found that it was neces-
sary to examine the books which were de-
nounced as suspicious, on acoount of the com-
plaints which had been made on the prohibi-
tion of the t number of works which had
been anjustly enrolled in the decree of Paul
IV. ‘The council appointed cominissioners
to examjne them, and they made a report of
their labour in the last session in 1563 : the
had drawn up a catalogue of the works whic‘
they considered neeesuv to be prohibited. It
was submitted to Pias V., who published it
in 1564, with ten general rules for the solu-
tion of any difficulties which might be dis-
covered. t number of books, which
had been unjustly condemned by Valdes, were
omitted in this index, and the Catechism of
Carranza was declared to be orthodox by an
assembly of theologians who had been ap-
pointed to examine it.

In 1568, tbe Doctor Gonzales Illescas pub-
lished the first part of his Pontifical History.
It was immediately seized by the holy office,
. and the second part, printed at Valladolid in
1567, shared ‘the same fate. A short time
after, Illescas was ated by the Inqmisi-
tors of Valladolid; and, to preserve himself
from being their victim, was obliged to sup-
Ppress his work and write another, omitting the
articles against some of the Popes: this work
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sppeared in 1574. Although the holy office
had so carefully supp: the first edition,
it was innrd in the index of 1583, as if
some copies had been still in existence. °
In 1567 the council commanded the theolo-
gical works of Brother John Fero, a Francis-

. can of Italy, to be seized, with the notes and

corrections of Brother Michael de Medina, and
some other works of the same author, who
ended his days in the dungeons of the Inqui-
sition in 1578, before his sentence had been
pronounced. After his death, his Apology for
J::n Fero, was inserted in the .expurgatory
index.

In 1568 the Supreme Council charged the
officers of the Inquisition to watch the Fron-
tiers of Guipuscoa, Navarre, Aragon, and
Catalonia, with the greatest viﬁihneo, to pre-
vent the introduction of prohibited books.
This resolution was adopted, because infor-
mation had been received that a t number
of Lutheran books in the Castillian tongue
were packed and sent in hogsheads of the
wines of Champagne and Burgundy, with so
much art, that the officers of the customs could
not discover the deception.

In 1517 the council prohibited a work on
the Pentateuch by Brother Jerome de Holcas-
tro; and the Petit , printed at Paris in
1556. The motive for this suppression was
singular; the frontispiece was decorated with
a cross and a swan, with the motto, * Ix noc
ctexo vinces.” It is plain that the Pefit Of-
fice was prohibited becayse a C was used
instead otP un Sin the word signo. The same
severity was shewn In all cases where the
books had this symbol, or any allegories of
that natare.

In 1571 the inquisitors caused a Spanish
Bible, printed at Baste, to be seized, and
Philip II. wrote to the Duke of Alva, the
governor of the Low Countries, to compose
an index for the use of the Flemish people,
with the assistance of the learned Arias
Montanus. He presided in an assembly of
theologians, who jud that the new index
should only consist of the Latin prohibited by
the Inquisition, or which it was necessary to
correct. ‘This measare was applied only to
some well-known authors who were dead, and
to some others, still living; but more parti-
cularly to the works of Erasmus, and with
circumstances which might lead to the sup-
position, that his books were the principal
objects of the prohibition, and that of the
other authors merely a pretext to conceal the
injury done to him. This catalogue was
printed at Antwerp in 1571, with a Ireface by
Arias Montanus, a royal decree and a procla-
mation of the Duke of Alva -enforcing the
execation of it. This Ij:ite:ir:' l.‘;toh‘e"}) Izwthe name
of the Expurgatory I 0 of Alva.
The holy office had no part in this affair, as
the Flemings had refused to recogmise their

authority.
In 1582 the inquisitor-general, Don Gas-
pard de Quiroga, pnblished a new Frohibitory

Index. It is remarkable that the Index of his

\ predecessor Valdes is mentioned in this kist,
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That which was published in 1584 was
drawn up by Juan de Mariana, who soon after
had some of his own works prohibited. In
1611, a new index was formed under the in-
guiailo eneral Don Bernard de Roxas de

andoval.

‘The Cardinal Zapata, whosucceeded Roxas,
adopted one more extended in 1620, and it
was used by his successor, Don Antonio de
Sotomayer, in 1630. This catalogue was the
first which the inquisitors presumed to pub-
lish from their own authority, and without
being commissioned by government. Don
Diego Sarmiento Valladares, inquisitor-gene-
ral in 1681, began toreBrint it with additions,
and it was finished by Don Vidal Marin, who
published it in 1707.

Don Francis Perez del Prado, another
inquisit neral, commissioned the Jesuits
Casani and Carrasco to compose a new cata-
logue. Although these monks were not
authorized by the Supreme Council, they
inserted in the list all the books which they
supposed to be favourable to the Jansenists,
Baius and Father Quesnel. Their conduct
was denounced to the Supreme Council by the

- Dominican Concina, and some other monks;
the Jesuits were examined, and defended
themselves: the council, though it could not
approve, did not carry the affair farther; it had
not sufficient power to balance the influence
of the Jesuit Francis Robago, who was con-
feasor to Ferdinand VI. ‘

Among the books which they prohibited
were the works of Cardinal Norris, which
were held in general estimation by the learned
throughout Christendom. Benedict XIV.,in
1748, addressed a brief to the inquisitor-gene-
ral, commanding him to revoke the prohibi-
tion; as this order was not obeyed, the Pope
complained to the king, but was unable to
obtain his request until ten years after, when
the Jesuit Rabago no longer directed the con-
science of the monarch.

The index of the Jesuits also contained
several treatises of the venerable Don Juan de
Palafox y Mendoza, Archbishop and Viceroy
of Mexico. The congregation of rites after-
wards declared that there was nothing in
them worthy of censure, and the inquisitor-
general was obliged to revoke the prohibition
in an edict, the copies of which were imme-
diately bo’:_ght up by some friends of the
Jesuits. To give an idea of the criticism of
Perez del Prado, it is sufficient to say that he
bitterly lamented the misfortunes of the age
he lived in, saying, ¢ That some individuals
Aad carried their audacity to the execrable ex-
trema'tg;{ demanding permission to read the
Holy Scriptures in the vulgar tongue, without

Searing to ter mortal poison therein.”

In 1792 a new index was published, with-

out the consent, and even in opposition to the
Supreme Council, by Don Aungustine Rubin
de_ Cevallos, inquisitor-general. It is this
index which is still in force, but the prohibi-
tions and expurgatory measures have since
been multiplied.
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The prohibitory decrees are preceded by
ificalion. The process is instituted be-
ore the supreme council ; but as the informa-
tion is generally Jaid before the inquisitors of
the court, they appoint the qualifiers whe
censure the book. A copy of the work and
the denunciation is sent to the first qualifier,
and afterwards to the second, unsigned :{y
the opinion of the first; if they do not accord,
copies are sent a third time before it is sub-
mitted to the Supreme Council. The inquisi-
tors of the provinces have likewise the privi-
lege of receiving informations : they proceed
in the same manner; but the council always
commission the inquisitors of the court to cen-
sure books, because they were more sure of
their qualifiers. .

If any person presumed to buy, keep, or
read prohibited books, he rendered himself
liable to be suspected of heresy by the inaui—
sitors, although it mi¥ht not proved that
hé became an heretic from such reading: he .
incurred the punishment of major excommuni-
cation, and was proceeded against by the tri-
bunal: the result of this action was the abso-
lution ad cautelam. . s

During the last years of the eighteenth
century, no person has been imprisoned for
reading prohibited books, unless he was con-
victed of having advanced or written heretical
propositions. g’he punishment inflicted was
merely a pecuniary penalty, and a declaration
that the individual was slightly suspected of
heresy; it must be acknowledged that this
qualification was omitted, if there was any
reason to suppose that the accused had erred
from motives of curiosity, and not from a
tendency to false doctrine. Nevertheless all
these proceedings are arbitrary, and the inqui-
sitors have the power of pursuing the infrin-
gers of this law as if they wete heretica.

The permission to read prohibited books,
rendered all actions instituted against those
who violated the law ineffectual. The Pope
granted it for a sum of money, without in-
quiring if the person who demanded it was
capable of abusing the permission. The in-
quisitor-general of Spain acted with more
prudence; he took secret informations on the
conduct of the solicitor, and required him to
state in writing the object of his demand, and
the subject on which he wished to consult the
prohibited books. Where the permission
Enmad was general, the books mentioned in

e edicts were excepted. In this sense the
works of Rousseau, Montesquieu, Mirabeau,
Diderot, d’Alembert, Voltaire, and several
other modern philosophers, among whom was
Filangieri, were excepted from the privile
During the last years of the Inquisition, the
permissions granted by the Court of Rome
did not defend the persons who received them
from the inquisitorial actions; they were sub-
ject to revision, and the inqnisitor-general did
not authorize the nse of them without great
difficulty, and as if the Court of Rome had
pever granted them.

The Inquisition also prohibited pictures,
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medals, prints, and & number of other things, | and difficulties to those
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them,

wrmw

with as much severity as books. Thus fans, | if they happened to be adorned with the mytho-
snuff-boxes, mirrors, and other articles of | logical figures which might be considered as
furniture, were often the cause of great troubles | indecent.

CHAPTER XIV.
Particular Trials for Suspicion of Lulhrghm, and some other Crimes.

Edicts against Lutherans, Iluminati, §e.

Tae inquisito 1, who perceived the
necessity of arresting the of Luther-
anism in Spain, decreed, In concert with the
Council of the Inquisition, several new articles
in addition to the annual edict. ‘These arti-
cles oblige every Christian to declare, if he
knows or has heard of any person who has said,
maintained, or thought that the sect of Luther
is good, or that his partizans will be saved,
and approved or believed any of his condemned
propositions :. for example, that it is not neces-
sary toconfess sins to a priest, and thatit is suf-
ficient to confess to God ; that neither the Pope
nor thé priests have the power of remitting sins;
that the body of Jesus is not actually prisent
in the consecrated host; thatit is not permitted
to pray to saints, or expose images in churches ;
that faith and baptism are sufficient for salva-
tion,and that good works are not necessary; that
o:’? Christian may, although not of the priest-
hood, receive the confession of another Chris-
tian, and administer the sacrament tohim ; that
the Pope har not the power of granting indul-

ences ; that priests and -monks may lawful-

y- marry ; that God did not establish.the
regular religious orders; that the state of
marriage is better and more perfect than that
of celibacy ; that there ought to be no festivals
but the Sabbath, and that it is not sinful to eat
meat on Friday, in Lent, or on other fast-days.

Alphonso Manrique also gave .permission
to the inquisitors of the provinces to take any

"measures they might think proper, to discover
those persons who had embraced the heresy
of the slluminats, (Alumbrados.) These peo-
¥le who were also called dejados équz‘m‘m.)

ormed a sect, whose chief, it.is said, was that
Muncer who had already established that of
the Anabaptists. Some time sftér, the coun-
cil of the Inquisition added several articles
relative to the Jluminali to those already

- mentioned., . : .

I am of opinion that the first Spainiards who
followed the docrtrinee of Luther were Francis-
can monks, for Clement VII., in 1526, autho-
rized the general and provincials of the order
of minor friars of St. Francis d’Assiz, to ab-
solve those of the community who had fallen in-
to that heresy, after they had taken an oath to

" renounce it forever. Several monks of the same

order had already represented to the Pope, that

" by the privileges granted to them in tK: bull

mare magnum, and confirmed by other decrees
of the holy see, no stranger had a right to inter-

fere in their affajrs, and that they did not recog-
nize any judge but the judge of their.institu-
tion, even in cases of apostacy.

Manrique, embarrassed in his ministry by
the pretensions of the Franciscans, wrote to
the Pope, who expedited, in 1525, a brief, by
which the inquisitor-general was empowered
to take cognizance of these affairs assisted
by a monk named by the prelate of the or-
der, and that, in cases of appeal from judg-
ment, the Pope should be applied to: but these
appeals were Iﬂerwards'orgered to be made
before the. inquisitor-general. - '

Tvials of Several Persons.

During the ministry of the inquisitor 1
Manrique, history points out several illus-
trious and innocent victims of the tribunal,
who were suspected of Lutheranism: such
was the venerable Juan d’Avila, who would
have been beatified, if he had been a monk, but
he was only a secular priest: he was called
in Spain, the tle gf JAndalusia, on acéount
of his exemplary life, and his charitable
actions. St. 'Fhema de Jesus informs us, in
her works, that she derived much assistance
from his counsels and doctrine. He preached
the gospel with simplicity, and never intro-
duced intohisdiscourses those questions which
at that time so disgracefully agitated the scho-
lastic theologians. Some envious monks, ir-
ritated at his aversion for disputes, united to
plan his ruin. They denounced some of his
g‘roposiﬁom to the Inquisition, as tending to

utheranism and the doctrines of the Jllumi-
nati. In 1534, Juan d'Avila was confined in
the secret prison of the holy office, by an or-
der of the rnquisiton; they did not make their
resolution known to the Supreme Council or to
the ordinary, on the pretence that this measure
was only ordained in case of a difference of
opinion. .Ah.hou%h this proceeding was con-
trary to the laws of the Inquisition, to the royal
ordinances, and those of the Supreme Council,
yet they contemned these violations, and even
tacitly approved them, a8 no reprimand was ad-
dressed to the offenders. This act of the In-
quisition, which took place at Seville, much
affected the inquiaitor-general : he occupied
the see of that city, and had the greatest cs-
teem for Juan d’Avila, whom he regarded as
a sainty which was a fortunate circumstance
for him, as the protection of Manrique, as
chief of the Inquisition, greatly contributed to
prove his innocence; d’Avila was acquitted,
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and continued to preach with the same zeal
and charity until his death,

This year was more fatal to two mnen, who
are celebrated in the literary history of Spain
—Jnan de Vergara, and Bernardin de Tober,
his brother: they were arrested b{ the Inqui-
sition of Toledo, and were not released from
its dungeons, until they had been subjected to
the abjuration (de levr) of the Lutheran heresy,
to receive the absolution of censures ad caute-
lam, and to several ranances. Juan de Vergara
was a canon of-Toledo, and had been secreta-

to Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros, and to
on Alphonso de Fonseca, his successor in
the see of that city. Nicholas Antonio has
inserted, in his library, a notice of the literary
productions of this Spaniard, and does justice
to his virtue and merit. His profound know-
ledge of the Greek and Hebrew languages
was the cause of his misfortune; he had re-
marked some faults in the translation of the
Vulgate, and thus gave the signal for pérsecu-
tion to some monks who had only studied
Latin and the jargon of the schools. The
chapter of Toledo .honoured his memory in
placing on his tomb an epitaph, which is pre-
served by the author I have cited. Vergara
had a claim on the gratitude of this commu-
" nity, for having composed the inscriptions
which decorate the choir of their church,

Bernardin .de Tobar is less known, bat
Peter Martyr d’Angleria mentions him amon,
the learned men of the sixteenth century, an
John Louis Vives, a learned man of that age,
says, in writing to Erasmus: ¢ We live in
a difficult time ; it is dangerous either to speak
or be_silent; Vergara, his brother Bernardin
de Tobar, and several other learned men,
have been arrested in Spain.”*

Among this number was one of whom Vives
could not give a particular account. I speak
of Alphonso Virues, a Benedictine, born at
Olmedo, and one of the best theologians of
his time. He had a profound knowledge of
the oriental languages, and had composed
several works. He was a member of the
commission which jndged the works of Eras-
mus in 1527, and preacher to Charles V.,
who listened to his discourses with.so much
pleasure that he took. him to Germany, and
on his return to Spain would not hear any
other person. These distinctions excited the
.envy of the monks, and they would have suc-
oeged in their endeavours to ruin him, bat
for the firmness and constancy of the. empe-
ror in protecting him. :

Virues was suspected of heing favourable
to the opinions of Luther, and thrown into the
secret prisons of the holy office at Seville.
The emperor, who knew him well, both from
his sermons, and the intercourse which took
place during their travels in Germany, felt
this blow acutely, and not doubting that
Virues was the victim of an intrigue which
the inquisitor-general ought to have prevented,
he exiled Manrique, who was obliged to
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retire to his archbishopric of Seville, where
he died in 1538. Not content with this,
Charles commanded the Supreme Council to
address an ordinance to all the tribunals of
the Inquisition, importing, that in case of a
preliminary instruction sufficiently serious to
cause the arrest of a monk, the degree of im-

risonment should be delayed, and that the
inquisitors should send an entire and faithful
copy of the commencement of the proceedil:ﬁs
to the Supreme Council, and wait for the
orders which would be sent them after the
examination of the writings.

The unfortunate Virues, nevertheless, suf-
fered all the horrors of a secret imprisonment
for four years. During this period, as he -
writes to Charles V., ‘**he was scarcely al-
lowed' to breathe, or to py himself with
anything but charges, replies, testimonies, de-
fences, libels, means, acts, (momsna qua ef ipso

ana timendo sono . . . . words which cannot be
d without lerrors,) or with heresies, blas-
phemies, errors, anathemas, schisms, and other
monsters, which, with labour that may be com-
pared to those of Hercules, I have at last -
conquered with the aid of Jesus Christ, so
that I am now justified through your majes-
ty’s protection,”’*

One of the means employed by Virues for
his Jefence, was to demand that the tribunal
should Kny attention to the points of doctrine
which he had established, and prepared to
attack Malancthon and other Lutherans before
the diet of Ratisbon; but this demand did
not izin the object which he had in view,
which was a complete absolution, because his
enemies had denounced propositions advanced
in public. Although he proved that they were
extremely Catholic, when examined with the
text, yet he could not prevent them from
incurring the theological censure in the form
given by the denunciation : he was obliged to
submit to an abjuration of all heresies, parti-
cularly that of Lather and his adherents.
The definitive sentence was pronounced in
1537 : he was declared to be suspected of pro-
fessing the errors of Luther, and condemned
to be absolved from the censures ad caulelam;
to be confined in a monastery for two years,
and prohibited from preaching the word of
God for two years after his release.

The emperor, when informed of these
transactions, complained to the Pope, who, in
1538, addressed a brief to Virues, which con-
tained a dispensation from the different pen-
ances to which he had been condemned: it
also re-instated him in his office of preacher;
and declared, that what had passed could not
exclude him from any office, not -even from
episcopacy.

It is surprising that the affair of Virues and -
many others, did not make Charles V. per-
ceive the nature of the Inquisition, and that
he still continued to protect that institution,
However, the trial of his preacher, and seve-
ral other crosses which he experienced about

- * Mayan's Life of John Louis Vives, in the |

introduction to the new edition of his works.

v

* Virues: Philippics against Melancthon, in the
dedication of the edition of Antwerp, 1541,
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that time, were the reasons why he deprived
the holy office of the royal jurisdiction in 1535,
and it was not restored until the year 1545.
This favour of Virues was so constant, that he
soon after presented him to the Pope for the
bishopric og the Canaries; but the Pope re-
fused him, alleging that the suspicions raised
against the E:my of his faith rendered him
imiroper to be invested with the dignity of a
bishop, aldnon'ﬂ: the bull had declared him to
be eligible.

Pope at length yielded to his
citations. Virues was made
Canaries in 1540.

In 1527 the Inquisition of Valladolid was
occupied by an affair, of which it is necessary
to give an account, that the compassion and
indulgence which the inquisitors always pro-
fmegein their acts, and other forms of justice,
md bednuly appreciated.

iego Vallejo, of the village of Palacios
de Meneses, in the diocese of Palencia, having
been arrested for blasphemy by the Inquisi-
tion, declared, among other things, that two
months before, on the 34th of April, 1526, two
physicians, named Alphonso Garcia and Juan
de Salas, were disputing on the subject of
medicine, before him and Ferdinand Ramires,
his son-in-law: the first maintained his
opinion on the aathority of certain writers;
Salas affirmed that these writers were de-
ceived ; Garcia replied that his opinion was
proved by the text of the evangelists, which
caused Salas to say tkat the lied as well
as the others. Ferdinand Ramirez (who had
also been arrested upon suspicion of Judaism)
was examined the same da{; his deposition
was the same as that of Vallejo, but he added,
that Salas retarned to his house some hours
after, and in speaking of what had passed,
said, ¢« Waat folly I asserted!”” When
the tribanal had finished the affair of Ramiresz
and Vallejo, they arrested Juan de Salas.

The inquisitors (without the concurrence of
the diocesan, without consultors or qualifiers,
and without commnnicating with the Supreme

sroui.ng soli-
ishop of the

Council) decreed the arrest of Juan de Salas,|

on the 14th of February, 1527, as if the de-
clarations of Ramirez and Vallejo had been
sufficient. ‘The audiences of admonition were
granted, and the depositions were communi-
cated without the names of the persons or
place. He replied that the circumstances
were not correctly stated. The other physi-
cian was then called, who declared, that in
conversing with Salas on the evangelists, he
heard him say, thatsome of them lied. He
was asked if any one had reproached Salas
for this expression; Garcia replied, that an
hour after he had advised him to give himself
up to the Inquisition, and that he had promised
“to do so. e inquisitor then asked if he
was inimical to the accused; the witness
replied in the negative. On the 16th of April
the ratification of Ramirez and Garcia tobk
place. On the 6th of May the prisoner pre-
sented two requisitions or means of defence:
in the first he protested against all that had
been said contrary to his declaration, and
7

e emperor insisted, and the’
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pointed out the differences in the depositions
of the witnesses; the second was an tnler-
ro in thirteen questions, two of which
tended to prove his orthodoxy, and the others
to justify the motives of the challenge which
he had presented against certain persons who
had been called upon to depoee in his trial.
This piece contains, in the margin, the wit-
nesses tobe consulted for each question. It will
be seen that the prisoner took advantage of
the laws of the holy office in his defence; but
the inquisitors, instead of conforming to their
own regulations, erased the names of several
persons designated in the list of the accused
witnesses on his side, and would not hear
them. Neverthaless, the facts mentioned in
the interrogatory were tKrovod by fourteen
witnesses, and on the 25th of May the fiscal
gave: his conclusions.

The fact related by Ramirez, the contradio-
tions in the depositions of the witnesses; the
difference in the report of both, from that of
the accuser; the important advantages gained
by the prisoner in justifying his challenge, in
only having two witnesses against him (who
had both been prosecuted, one for blasphemy,
the other for Judaism), and in being accused
of only one proposition ; lastly, the possibility
that the accused had forgotten many things
during the space of a year, are circumstances
which would make any one suppose that Juan
de Salas would have been acquitted, or that
they would, at least, (if they supposed that
he had denied the truth,) have contented them-
selves with imposing the Kenanco of the sus-
picion de levt apon him; but instead of: this,
the inquisitor’Moriz, withont the concurrence
of his colleagne Alvarado, decreed that Salas
should be tortured, as guilty of concealment.
In this act the following deposition is found :
—4*We-ordain that the said torture be em-
ployed in the manner and during the time
that we shall think proper, after haring pro-
tested as we still protest, that, in case of
injury, death, or fractured limbs, the fault can
only be imputed to the said licentiate Salas.”
The decree of Moriz took effect: I subjoin the
verbal process of the execution.

s At Valladolid, on the 21at of June, 1527,
the licentiate Moriz, inquisitor, caused the li-
centiate Juan de Salas to appear before him,
and the sentence was read and notified to him.
After the reading, the said licentiate Salas
declared, that Ae Aad not said that of which he
was accused; and the said licentiate Moriz im-
mediately caused him to be conducted to the
chamber of torture, where, being stripped to
his shirt, Salas was put by the shoulders into
the chevalet, where the executioner, Pedro
Porras, fastened him by the arms and legs
with cords of hemp, of which he made eleven
turns round each limb; Salas, during the
time that the said Pedro was tying him thus,
was warned to speak the truth several times,
to which he always replied, that Ae had never
said whkat he was accused of. He recited the
oreed, ¢ Qnicnm&uo vult,”” and several times
gave thanks to God and our Lady; and the
said Salas being still ti;d as before mentioned,
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a fine wet cloth was put over his face, and
about a pint of water was poured into his
mouth and nostrils, from an earthen vessel
with a hole at the bottom; and containin,
about two quarts: nevertheless, Salas sti
ersisted tn denying 1he accusation. Then
edro de Porras tightened the cords on the
right leg, and poured a second measure of

water on the face; the cords were tighlened a’

second time on the same leg, but Juan de Salas
still persisted in denying that Ae cver said a
thing of the kind; and althongh pressed to tell
the truth several times, Ae still denied the ac-
cusation. Then the said licentiate Moriz,
having declared that the forture was BeGun
BUT NOT FiNisgep, commanded that it should

The d was withdrawn from the
chevalet or rack, at which execution, I, Henry
Paz, was present from the beginning to the
end.—Henry Paz, notary.”

if this execution was but the beginning of
the torture, how was it to finish? By the
death of the sufferer? 1In order to understand
this statement, it is necessary to know that
the instrument, which in Castilian is called
escalera (and which has also the name of
burro, and is translated into French by the
word chevalet), is a machine of wood, invented
to torture the accused. Itis formed like a
groove, large enough to hold the body of a
man, without a bottom, but a stick croeses it,
over which the body falls in such a position,
that the feet are much higher than the head;
consequently, a violent and painful respiration
ensues, with intolerable pains in the sides,
the arms, and legs, where the pressure of the
cords is 80 great, even before the garot has
been used, that they pepetrate to the bone.

If we observe the manner in which the
people who carry merchandise on mules or in
carts tighten the cords by means of sticks, we
can easily imagine the torments which the
unfortunate Juan de Salas must have suffered.
The introduction of a liquid is not. less likely
to kill those whom the inquisitors tortare, and
it has happened more than once. The mouth,
during the torture, is in the most unfavourable
position for respiration, 80 much so, that a

rson wounld die if he remained several hours
In it; a piece of fine wet linen is introduced
into the throat, on which the water from the
veesel is poured so slowly, that it requires an
hour to consume a pint, although it descends
without intermission. In this state the patient
finds it impossible to breathe, as the water
enters the nostrils at the same time, and the
rupture of a blood-vessel in the lungs is often
the result. .

Raymond Gonzales de Montes (who, in
1558, was so fortunate as to escape from
the prisons of the holy office at Seville) wrote
a book in Latin, on the Inquisition, nnder the
name of Reginaldes Gonsalvius Montanus.®
He informs us that the cord was wound eight
or ten times round the legs. Eleven turns

* Reginaldus Gonzalvius Montanus, Sancie
Inquisitionis Hispanice, artes aliguot detectas.
This work is now extremely rare ; it was publish-
ed in 8vo. at Heidelberg, in 1567.
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were made round tho limbs of Salas, besides
those of the garol. We may form an idea o
the humanity of the Inquisition of Valladolid,
from the definitive sentence pronounced by the
licentiate Moriz and his colleague, Doctor
Alvarado, without any other formality, after
they had taken (if we may believe them) the
advice of persons noted for their learning and
virtue, but without the adjournment which
ought to have preceded it, and without the
concurrence of the diocesan in ordinary. The;
declared that the fiscal had not entirely prov
the accusation, and that the prisoner had suc-
ceeded in destroying some of the charges; but
that on account of the ruspicion arising from
the trial, Juan de Salas was condemned to the
punishment of the public aulv-da.fé, in his
shirt, without a cloak, his head uncovered,
and with a torch in his hand ; that he should
abjure heresy publicly, and that he should pay
ten ducats of gold to the Inquisition, and fulfil -
his penance in the church assigned. It is
seen, by a certificate aflerwards given in, that
Juan de Salas performed his auto-da-fé on the
24th of June, 1528, and that his father paid
the fine: the trial offers no other peculiarity.
This affair, and several others of a similar na-
ture, caused the Supreme Council to publish
a decree in 1558, commanding that the torture
should not be administered without an order
from the council.

Letter- Orders, relating to the Proceedings.

The abuse of the secrecy of the proceedings
caused a number of complaints to be address-
ed to the inquisitor-general. He usually re-
ferred them to the Supreme Council, which,
during the administration of Manrique, ad-
dressed several circulars to the provincial
tribunals: it is necessary to make known the
most important.

In one of these writings, dated March 14th,
1528, it is said, that if an accused person
gwben asked a general question) declares at

rst that he knows nothing on the subject, and
afterwards, when questioned on a particular
fact, confesses that he is acquainted with it
sin case the inquisitors think proper to take

own the second declaration, to make use of it
against a third,) they should insert the first
question and the answer of the accused in the
same verbal process, because it might assist
in determining the degree of confidence to be
placed in his declarations. .

On the 16th of March, 1530, another in-
struction of the council appeared. Tt directed
that the facts related by the witnesses in
favour of the prisoner should be mentivned as
well as those against him. This direction,
however just, has not been strictly followed,
since it was never observed in the extract of
the publication of the depositions given to the
accused and his defender; consequently, no
advantage could be derived by the prisoner
from the declarations in his favour.

Another circular of the 13th of May in the
same year, says, that if an accused person
challenges a witness, he must be interrogated
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on the foundation of the proceedings, as he
might have facts to depose against the ac-
cused.

On the 16th June, 1531, the council wrote
to the tribunals, that if the accased challenged
several persons, on the supposition that they
will depone against him, the witnesses whom

he calls to prove the facts which caused the:|

challenge, shall be examined on each indi-
vidual, although they have not made any
deposition, in order that the accused may not
suppose at the time of* the publication of the
depoditions, from an omission (if there should
be any,) that some have deposed against him,
and that the others are not mentioned, or
have not said anything.

Another instruction on the 13th of May,
1532, directs, that the relations of the accused
shall not be admitted as witnesses in the
proof of the challenge.

In another decree of the 5th March, 1535,
it is ordained that the witnesses shall be
asked if there is any enmity between them
and the accused.

On the 20th of July, the council obliged the
tribunals to insert in the extract of the publi-
cation of the depositions, the day, the month,
and the hour when each witness gave his
evidence.

In March, 1525, it was decreed, that when
the extract was given to the accused, he was
not to be informed that any witness had de-
clared the fact to be known to others, because
if they said nothing against him, it was not
proper to inform the accused of it, as he
would learn, from that circumstance, that
some persons had spoken in his favour, or at
least had declared that they knew nothing
against him.

Another regulation of the 8th of April,
1533, prohibitod the inquisitors from commau-
nicating the extract of the publication of the
depositions to the accused, before the ratifica-
tion of the declarations.

The council decreed, on the 33d December,
1536, that in transacting any business relating
to circumstances which took place in the
house of a person deceased, so that the corpse
was still exposed to view, and that its posi-
tion, figure, or other circumstance, might tend
to discover if he died a heretic or not, the
name of the defunct, his house, and other de-
tails, should be communicated to the wit-
nesses, that they might be enabled to recol-
lect the event, and to assist them in making
their declaration.

Yet the conncil, on the 30th August, 1537,
decreed that the time and place of the events
should be inserted in the extract of the publi-
cation of the depositions, because it was of
consoqlnenoe to the interests of the accused ;
it would be done even in supposing that he
would learn from it the names of the wit-
nesses. .

This rule is too contrary to the inquisitorial
system, not to inspire a wish to seek for the
principle and the cause; it may be found in
the bad reputation which the Inquisition had
acquired by the proceedings against Alphonso
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Virues, which induced Charles V. to deprive
it of the royal jurisdiction: but although the
council registered the order of the sovereign,
he d , on the 15th of December, in this
year, and on the 22d of February, 1538, that
the extract should not contain any article
which could make known the witnesses ; thos
annulling the order imposed in the preceding
year. During the last years of the Inquisi-
tion, neither the time nor place were indi-
cated in the act of the publication of the
depositions.

n June, 1537, the council being consulted
by the Inquisition of Toledo, decreed, as gene-
ral rules—1st, that all who calmly uttered the
blasphemies, 7 deny God, I.abjure God should
be punished severely ; but those who uttered
these words in anger, should not be subject to
prosecation; 2dly, to punish all Christians
accused of bigamy, if the guilty person sup-
posed it permitted ; and in the_contrary case
to abstain from prosecution; 3rdly, to ascer-
tain, in cases of sorcery, if there had been
any compact with the devil; if the compact
had existed, the Inquisition was directed to
judge the accused—if it had not, they were
to leave the cause to the secular tribanals.

The second and third of these regulations
are contrary to the system of the holy office,
which leads me to suppose that the temporary
disgrace and exile of Manrique contributed to
this moderation, which emnd not last long:
the inquisitors have always proceeded against
persons guilty of these crimes, on the pre-
tence of examining if any circumstance might
cause suspicion of heresy. The same spiritis
found in another order of the 19th February,
1533: it obliges the inquisitors to receive all
the papers which the relations of the accused
wish to communicate to them. The council
made this rule, because these writings (though
nseless on the trial) might yet be serviceable
in proving the innocence or guilt of the
accused.

On the 10th May, 1531, the council de-
creed, that if bulls of dispensation from the
use of the San-benilo, imprisonment, or other
punishments, were presented to the Inqui-
sition, the procurator-fiscal shonld demand
that they should be suppressed, as well as
those obtained by the children and grandchil-
dren of persons declared infamous by the holy
office: the council supported this rule by
alleging that children always followed the ex-
ample of their heretical ancestors, and that it
was a scandal to see them occupying honour-
able employments.

On the 22nd of March in the same year the
council wrote to the tribunal of the provinces,
that it had remarked, in one of the trials, that
certain writings had not been digested in the
places where the facts mentioned had hap-

ned; whence they concluded that these
ormalities had not been fulfilled at the proper
time, but at the moment when the proceedings
were to begin; the council then recommended
them to avoid these abuses, as contrary to the
instructions. But the orders of the council
were not obeyed : the same irregularity was



53

renewed, and produced amother still more
dangerous, which during my time had the
most serious consequences. In order to sup-
ply what might be omitted in the course of
the trial, the inquisitors adopted the custom
of writing each act, declaration, and deposi-
tion, on separate sheets of paper. As in
these tribunals they did mot make use of
stamped paper, and as the pieces of the pro-
cess were, not numbered, it oflen happened
that those which they wished to conceal
from the council, the diocesan in ordinary, or
other interested parties, were changed or sap-
ressed. ‘This maneuvre was employed by
the inquisitors in the affair of the Archbishop
of Toledo, Carranza, and I have myself seen
several attestations of the secretary changed
at the request of the inquisitors of Madrid.
The circular of the 11th of July in the
same year i3 more remarkable, and had more
success than the preceding. The inquisitors
of the provinces were directed to refer to the
Supreme Council all sentences pronounced
without the unanimity of the inquisitors, the
diocesan and the consulters, even supposing
that there wus only one dissentient voice.
The inquisitors were afterwards obliged to
consalt the council on all the judgments
which they passed ; and I must confess that
this measure was extremely useful, because,
in a difference of oginion. the decisions of the
eme were much more just than those of
the tribunals of the provinces, from bein,
composed of a greater number of enlighte

juc!lgh o

e council displayed the same lave of
justice in 1536, when it decreed that those
convicted of making use of gold, silver, silk,
and precious stones, shonl'dfe punished b

pecuniary fines, and mot by fire, althoug

they had been prohibited from so doing on
Ppain of being relazed.
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The decree most contrary to the wisdom
which oufht to have animated the conncil,
was that of the 7th of December, 1532,in which
it was ordained that each provincial Inquisi-
tion should state the number and rank of the
persons condemned to different punishments
within their jurisdictions, since their estab-
lishment, and to deposit in the churches thoee
San-benitos which had not been placed there,
without even excepting those of persone who
had confessed and suffered their punishment
during the term of grace. This direction was
executed with a severity worthy of the Inqui-
sition ; at Toledo those San-benitos were re-
newed which had been destroyed by time,
and they were likewise sent to the parishes
of the condemned persons. The consequences
of these proceedings were the ruin and extinc-
tion of many families, as the children could
not establish themselves according to the rank
they had possessed ; while the condemnation
of their ancestors by the Inquisition remained
unknown. The council discovered too late
the injustice it had committed in respect to the
San-benito since it revoked the decree seven
years after, in 1539. .

It is not necessary to give the history of the

uarrels which took place between the Inquisi-
tion and the different civil authorities, during
the administration of Manrique. A scandalous
enterprise of the Supreme Council ought never-
theless to be mentioned. In 1531, it presumed
to condemn the president of the royal court of
appeals, in Majorca, to ask pardon of the holy
office, to atténd mass, (as a penitent), with a
wax taper in his hand, and to receive the ab-
solution of censures, for having defended the
jurisdiction of the criminal tribunal in an af-
air which involved several persors, amon
whom was one Gubriel Nebel, a servant o
the summoner of the holy office.

. CHAPTER XV.

@oncnﬁom of Sorcerers, Magicians, Enchanters, Necromancers, and Ochea

Unrper the administration of the inquisitor-
neral, Manrique, the Inquisition was par-
ticularly occupied by the sect of sorcerers.
Pope Adrian VI.'(who had been inquisitor-
meral in Spain), published a bull on the 20th
g:ly, 1523, 7: which he says, that in the time
of his predecessor Julius II. a numerous sect
had been discoveréd in Lombardy, which
abjured the Christian faith, and abused the
ceremonies of religion and the eucharist.
These sectarians acknowledged the devil as
their patron, and promised obedience to him.
They sent maladies o animals and destroy-
ed the fruits of the earth by their enchant-
ments. An inquisitor Invingl attempted to
arrest and bring them to punishment, the ec-
elegiastical and secular jodges opposed him,

which led Julius II. to declare that these
crimes were within the jurisdiction of the In-
quisition, as well as all other heresies. In
consequence Adrian V1. reminded the different
Inquisitions of their duty in this respect.
is bull was not necessary in Spain, as

the Inquisition of Aragon had taken cogni-
zance of magic and sorcery, since the pontifi-
cate of John XXII.

It appears that the Inquisition of Calahorra,
burnt more than thirty women as sorceresses
and magicians in the year 1507.

In 1527, a

t number of women who p;a_ggi}iﬂﬁ&?o
;‘W%MWTE.

“These crimen increased so mnch in the

province of Biscay, that Charles V. found it
hecessary to notice it. Persaaded that the
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noe in which the people were left by
priests was the cause of these superst-
tions, he wrots in December, 1587, to the
Bishop of Calahorra, and to the provincials of
the Dominicans and Franciscans, to select a
number of able preachers from their commu-
nities, to teach the doctrine of the Christian
religion on this point. But thesé ministers of
the gospel, even those who had aoquired a
reputation for learning, believed as well as
the enchanters in these illusions.

Nevertheless, Father Martin de Castanaga,
a Franciscan monk, composed in that time, a
book in Spanish, entitled, 4 Treatise on Su-
perstilions and Enchantments. 1 have read
this work, and I acknowledge (with the ex-
oception of a few articles, in which the author
appears too credulous,) that it would be diffi-
cuit even in the present time to write with
more moderation or discernment. The Bishop
of Calahorra, Don Alphonso de Castilla,
- having read this trealise, had it printed.in
quarto, and sent it to the priests in his diocese,
with a pastoral letter, in 1529.
The Inquisition of Sa

into A;gon to gain disciples.. The inquisi-

T8, the ordinary, an e consulters, were
not of the same opinion; the greatest number
voted for the execution of the sorceresses, the
others for reconciliation and perpetual impris-
onment. The minority gave up their opinion
in deference to the greater number, thus
relaxation was pronounced unanimously, with-
out any of the formalities prescribed, and the
unfortunate women perished in the flames.—
The Supreme Council which was informed of
this event by one of its members, who had
learnt it from an inquisitor of Saragossa, ad-
dressed a circular on the 93rd of March, 1536,
to all the tribunals, stating the Inquisition of
Saragossa had failed in its duty, in not having
consulted the council, after having found that
the opinions of its members were different.

The inquisitor-general Manrique being in-
formed that the sect of sorcerers made great

in different parts of the Peninsula,
added several articles to the edict of de-
nunciation : the substance of them was, that
all Christians were obliged to declare to the
In%ni-iﬁon:

. First, If they had heard that any person
had familier spirits,and that he invoked demons
in’ circles, questioning them and expecﬁnf
their answer, as a magician, or in virtue of
an express or tacit compact; that he had
mingled holy things with profane objects, and
worshipped in the creature that which belongs
only to the Creator.

Secondly, If he had studied judicial astro-
logy to discover the future, by observing' the
conjunction of the stars at the birth of persons.

irdly, If any person in order to discover
the fature, had' employed geomancy, hydro-
mancy, uéromancy, piromancy, onomancy, ne-
cromancy, or sorceries by beans, dice, or
wheat.
Fourthly, If a Christian had made an

express compact with the devil, practiced
enchantments by ‘magic, with instruments,
circles, characters, or diabolical signs; by
invoking and consulting demons, with the
hope of a reply, and placing confidence in
them ; by offering them incense, or the smoke
of good or bad substances ; by offering sacri-
fices to them ; in abusing sacraments or holy
thing.; by promising obedience to them, and
adoring or worshipping them in any manner.
Fifihly, If any one constructed, or procured
mirrors, rings, phials, or other vessels, for the
purpose of attracting, enclosing, and pre-
serving a demon, who replies to his questions,
and assists him in obtaining his wishes; or
who had endeavoured to discover the future,
by interrogating the demons in p
people; or tried to produce the same effect by
invoking the devil under the name of Aoly
angel or white angel, and by asking things of
him with prayers and humility ; by practising
other snperstitious ceremonies with vases,
phinls of water, or consecrated tapers ; by the
inspection of the nails, and of the palm of the
hand rabbed with vinegar; or by endeavour-
ing to obtain representations of objects by
means of phantoms, in order to learn secret
things, or which had not then happened.
Sixthly, If any one had read or possessed,
or read or at present, any manua-
script or book on these matters, or concerning
all other sgeeiu of divination, which is not
performed by natural and physical effects.

though the edicts and punishments for
sorcery W ely severe, they have ap-
pe rom time to Wmé in different parts of

Spain. The history of Uis sorcetesses of the
valley of Bastan, in Navarre, has been parti-
cularly celebrated. ese women were taken
before tha Inquisition of Logrofia, and con-
fessed the greatest extravagancies. ~They
were condemned to ah aulo-da-fé, in 161_9;

heir history was published .2t Madrid, in
1810, with .very -xemarks by the
Moliere.of Spain, Don Leaudro de Moratin,
who deserves a better fate than he experiences.

thryqf' a famous Magician.

The history of Doctor Eugene Torralba, a
physician of Cuenga, onght not to be
over, as it offers several remarkable events,
and is mentioned in the Histmg{:flhe Jamous
knight, Don Quizole de la Mancha. This
person is also introduced in different parts of
a poem, entitled, Carlos Famnso.* composed
by Louis Zapats, dedicated to Philip Ii., and
printed at Valencia, in 1556.

The author of Don Quizole, in the adven-
ture of the Conntess Trifaldi, represents that
famous knight as mounted upon Clavileno,
with Sancho Panza behind him, having their
eyes covered ; the squire wishes to uncover
his eyes to see if had arrived at the
region of fire. Don 3nixoto says, *Take
care not to do it, and remember the true
history of the licentiate Torralba, who being

* Charles V.is the ;ero of this poem,
B
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mounted on & cane, with his eyes covered,
was conveézd through the air by devils, and
arrived at Rome in twelve hours, and descend-
ed on the tawer of Nona, which is in a street
of that city, where he saw the tamult, as-
saalt, and death of the Constable de Bourbon,
and returned to Madrid before morning, where
he gave an account of what he had seen.
He also related that while he was in the air,
the devil told him to open his eyes, and that
he saw himself so near the moon that he
might have touched it with his hand, and
that he did not dare to look towards the earth
for fear of fainting.” .

The Doctor Eugene Torralba was born in
the town of Cuenga. In an examination he
stated, that at the age of fifteen he went to
Rome, whére he was made a page of Don
Francis Soderini, Bishop of Volterra, who
was made a cardinal in 1503. He stndied
medicine under several masters, who in their
disputes attacked the immortality of the
soul; and though they did not succeed in con-
vincing him, caused him to incline to pyrr-
honism. Torralba was a physician in-1501,
at which period he became intimately ac-
quainted with Master Alphonso of Rome, who
had renounced the law of Moses for that of
Mahoinet, which he quitted for the Christian
doctrine, and finished by preferring nataral
religion. Alphonso told him that Jesus
Christ was only a man, and supported his
opinion with several arguments; this doctrine

did not entirely eradicate the faith of Torralba, | al

but he no longer knew on which side the
trath lay. i
Among the friends he acquired at Rome,
was a- monk of St. Dominic, called Brother
Peter. This man told him one day that he
had in his service one of the g angels,
whose name was Zequiel, so powerful in the
knowledge of the' future, that no other could
e,ual him; but that he abhorred the practice
of obliging men to make a compact with him;
that he was always free, and onlz served the
rﬂon who placed confidence in him through
riendship, and that he allowed him to reveal
the secrets he communicated, but that any
constraint employed to force him to answer
-questions made him for ever abandon the
society of the man to whom he had attached
himself. Brother Peter asked him if he
would not like to have Zégusel for his friend,
adding that he could obtain that favour on
account of the friendship which subsisted
between them ; Torralba expressed the great-
est desire to become acquainted with the
spirit of Brother Peter. :
Zegquiel soon appeared in the shape of a
young man, fair, with flaxen hair, dressed in
flesh colour, with a black surtout ; he said to
Torralba, I will belong to thee as long us thou
kvest, and will follow thee wherever thou
goest. Afier this promise Zeguis! appeared
to Torralba at the different quarters of the
moon, and whenever he wished to go from
one place to another, sometimes in the figure
of a traveller, sometimes like a hermit, Ze-
guiel never spoke against the Christian reli-
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gion, or advised him to commit any bad
action; on the comnr{, he veproached him
when he commitied a fault, and attended the
church service with him : he always spoke in
Latin or Italian, although he was with Tor-
ralba in Spain, France, and Tarkey : he con-
tinaed to visit him during his imprisonment
but seldom, and did not reveal any secrets to
him, and Torralba desired the spirit to leave
him, because he caused agitation and prevent-
ed him from sleeping; but this did not pre-
vent him from returning and relating things
which wearied him.

Torralba went to Spain in 1503. Some
time after he travelled over all Italy, and set-
tled at Rome under the protection of Cardinal
Volterra ; he there acquired the reputation of
a good physician, and engaged the favour of
several cardinals, He studied chiromancy,
and acquired some knowledge of the art.
Zequiel revealed to Torralba the secret vir-
tues of several plants in curing certain mala-
dies; having made use of this information to
procure money, Zequiel reproached him for it,
saying, that as these remedies had cost him no
labour, he ought to bestow them gratnitously.

Torralba having appeared sad sometimes
because he was in want of money, the angel
said to him, Why are you sad for want of
money ? Some time after, Torralba found six
ducats in his chamber, and the same thing
was repeated several times, which made him
sn&pose that iel had placed them there,

ough he would not acknowledge it when
questioned. . .

The greatest part of the information which
Zelqm‘cl communicated to Torralba related to
political occurrences. Thus, when Torralba
returned to Spain in 1510, being at the court
of Ferdinand the Catholic, Zequtel told him
that this prince would soon receive disa
able news. Torralba hastened to inform the
Archbishop of Toledo, Ximenez de Cisneros,
and the great captain Gonzales Ferdinandes
de Cordova; and the same day a courier
brought letters from Africa, which announced
the failare of the expedition against the Moors,
and the death of Don. Garcia de Toledo, son
of the Duke of Alva, who commanded it.

Ximenes de Cisneros having learnt that the
Cardinal de Volterra had seen Zequiel, ex-
pressed a wish to see him also, and to become
acquainted with the pature and qualities- of
this spirit. Torralba, to gratify the arch-
bishop, entreated the angel to appear to him
under any human form : Zeguiel did not think
Kroper to do 80 ; bnt to soften the severity of

is refusal, he commissioned Torralba to in-
form Ximenez de Cisneros that he would be
a king, which was in a manner verified, as he
became absolute governor of the Spains and
Indies.

Another time when he was at Rome, the
angel told him that Peter Margano would
lose hia life if he went out of the city. ‘Tor-
ralba had not time to inform his friend; he
went out and was assassinated. :

tel told him that Cardinal Sienna
would come to a tragical end, which was
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verified in 1517, after the sentence which Leo
X. prondunced against him.

hen he returned to Rome in 1513, Tor-
ralba had a great desire to see his intimate
friend Thomas de Becara, who wus then at
Venice. Zequicl, who knew his wish, took
nim to that city, and brought him back to
Rome in s0 short a time, that the person with
whom he was in the habit of associating did
not perceive his absence.

The Cardinal de Santa Crus, in 1516,
commissioned Torralba to pass a night with
his %hyqiohn, Doctor Morales, in the house
of a Spanish lady named Rosales, to ascertain
if what this woman related of a phantom
which she saw every night in the zm ofa
murdered man, was to believed ; Doctor
Morales had remained a whole night in the
house, and had not seen anything when the
Spanish lady announced the presence of the
gE:::, and the Cardinal hoped to discover
something by means of Torralba. At the hour
of one the woman uttered her cry of alarm;
Morales saw nothing, but Torralba perceived
the figure, which was that of a dead man;
behind him a;;yund another phantom with
the features of a woman. ‘Torralba said to

him with a loud voice, WAat dust thou seek
Hieappeared.Zaquich oo belog questones
isa . sel, on ng questioned,
nplmﬂ\hat under the house t%"e‘rle was the
body of a man who had been assassinated
with a poignard.

In 1519, Torralba returned to Spain, ac-
companied by Don Diego de Zuniga, a rela-
tion of the Duke de Bejar, and brother to Don
Antonio, grand prior of Castile, who was his
intimate friend. At Barcelonetta, near Turin,
while they were walking with the secretary
Acebedo (who had been marshal of the camp

.in Italy and Savoy, Acebedo and Zuﬂigl
thought they saw something pass by Torralba
which they could not define; he informed
them that it was his angel tel, who had
approached to spesk to him. Zuniga wished
mach to see him, but Zequiel would not
appear.
At Barcelons, Torralba saw, in the house
of the Canon Juan Garcia, a book on chiro-
mancy, and in some notes a process for win-
ning money at play. Zuailiga wished to learn
it, and Torralba copied the characters, and
told his friend to write thein himself on paper
with the blood of a bat, and keep them aboat
his person while he played.

Being at Valladolid in 1520, Torralba told
Don Diego that he would return to Rome,
becaass he had the means ol"aﬁening there in
a short time, by being mounted on a stick and

ided through the air by a cloud of fire.

'orralba really went to that city, where Car-
dinal Volterra and the grand prior requested
him to give up his famikiar spirit to them.
Torralba proposed it to Zequiel, and even en-
treated him to consent, but without success.

In 1535 the angel told him that he would
do well if he retarned to Spain, becauve ho
would obtain the place of physician to the
infanta Eleonora, queen dowager of Portugal

and aflerwards married to Francis I. Kiog of
France. Thedoctor communicated this affair
to the Duke de Bejar, and to Don Stephen-
Manuel Merino, Archbishop of Bari; the
solicited and obtained for him the place whic
he aspired to.

Lastly, on the 5th of Mayin the same
ear, Zequiel told the doctor that Rome would
e taken by the imperial troope the next day.

Torralba entreated his angel to take him to
Rome to witness this important event; he
complied, and they left Valladolid at the hour
of eleven at night: when they were at a short
distance from the city, the angel gave Tor-
ralba a knotted stick, and said to him, Shu?
your eyes, do not fear, lake this in your Aands,
and no evil will befall you. When the moment
to open bis eyes arrived, he found himself so
near the sea, that he might have touched it
with his hand; the black cloud which surround-
ed them was succeeded by a brilliant light,
which made Torralba fear that he nhoulg be
consumed. Zegquiel perceiving his fear, said
Reassure youraself, fool! Torralba again closed
his eyes, and when tel told him to open
them, he found himeelf in the tower of Nona
in Rome. They then heaid the clock of the
Castle St. Augelo sound the fifth hour of the
night, which is midnight according to the
manner of computing time in Spain, so that
they had been travelling one hour. Torralba
went all over Rome with Zeguiel, and afler-
wards witnessed the 'pillagn of the city : he
entered the house of the Bishop Copis, a
German, who lived in the tower of St. Ginia;
he saw the Constable de Bourbon expire, the
Pope shut himself up in the Castle of St.
Angelo, and all the other events of that terri-
ble day. In an hour and 2 half they had
returned to Valladolid, where Zequiel quitted
him, saying, Another lime you will helmu
what I tell you. Torralba published all that
he had seen; and as the court soon received
the same news, Torralba, (who was then
physician to the Admiral of Castile) was
spoken of as a great magician. .
These rumours were the cause of his de-
nunciation; he was arrested at Cunenga by the
Inquisition in the beginning of the year 1523.
He was denonnced by his intimate friend
Diego de Zuiliga, who, afler having been
as foolishly captivated as Torralba,* with .
the miracles of the good angel, became fanati-
‘cal and superstitious. Torralba at first con-
fessed all that has been related of Zeguiel,
supposing that he should not be tried for the
doug: he had expressed of the immortality of
the sonl and the divinity of our Saviour,
When the judges had collected sufficient evi-
dence, they assembled to give their vofes, but
as they did not accord, they applied to the
council, which decreed that Torralba should
be tortared, as muck as Ais age and rank per-
mitled, to discover his motives in receivins
and keeping near him the spirit Za{m'el § an
if he helieved him to be a bad angel, asa wit-
ness declared that he had said 8o if he had
made a compact with him; what had passed

at the first interview ; if at that time or after-
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wards he had employed conjarations to invoke
him; immediately after this the tribonal was
to pronounce the defipitive sentence. °

'orralba had never varied, until that time,
in his account of his familiar spirit, whom he
always affirmed to be of the order ef
angels, but the torture made him say, that he
now perceived him to be a bad angel, since he
was the cause of his misfortune. He was ask-
ed if Zeguiel had told him that he would be
arrested by the Inquisition; he-replied that he
had told him of it several times, desiring him
not to go to Cuenga, because he would meet
with a misfortune there, but that he thought
he might disregard this advice. He also de-
clared that there was no compact between
them, and that every circumstanoce had passed
as he had related it.

The inquisitors considered all these de-
tails to be true; and after taking a new de-
claration from Torralba, they suspended his
trial for the space of one year, from motives
of compassion, and with the hope of seeing if
this famous necromancer would be converted,
and confess the compactand sorcery which he
had constantly denied.

A new witness recalled the memory of his
dispute, and his doubts of the immortality of
the soul, and the divinity of Jesus Christ,
which caused another declaration of the Doc-
tor in January, 1530. The council being
informed of it, commanded the Inquisition to
commission some pious and lea rsons to
endeavour to convert the accused, Francisco
Antonio Barragan, prior of the Dominican
Convent at Cuenga, and Diego Maunrique, a
canon of the cathedral, undertook this task,
and exhorted hjm vehemently. The prisoner
replied that he sincerely repented of his faults,
but that it wus impossible for him to confess
what he had not done, and that he could not
follow the advice given him, to renounce all
communication with iel, because the
spirit was more powerful than he was ; but he
promised thathe would not desire his presence,
or consent to un{y of his propositions.

On the 6th of March, 1531, Torralba was
condemned to the usual abjuration of all here-
sies, and to suffer the punishment of imprison-
ment and the San-bensto during the pleasure
of the inquisitor-general ; to hold no further
communion with the spirit Zegusel, and never
to attend to any of his propositions : these
oonditions were imposed on him for the safety
of his conscience and the of his soul.

The inquisitor soon put an end to the punish-
ment of Torralba, in consideration, as he said,
of all that he suffered during an imprisonment
of four years: but the true motive of the par-
don granted to Torralba was the interest which
the Admiral of Castile took in his fate : here-
tained him as his physician for several years
after his judgment. .

The truth of the marvellous facts related by
Torralba rests solely upon his confession, and
the report of the witnesses whom he had in-
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duced to believe all that he had told them.
Torralba cited none but deceased ns in
eight declarations which he made, except Don
Diego Zuniga. It was necessary to remark
this to show the degree of confidence to be

good Kleaood in some parts of his narration. It may

supposed thata t number of different
accounts of this affair were spread, to which I
attribate the additions and alterations in some
circumstances which Louis Zapata introduced
into his poem of Corlos Famosa, thirty years
after the sentence passed on Torralba, and of
those details which Cervantes eighty years
later thought proper to put in the mouth of
Don Quixote. I terminate, by this account
of Doctor Torralba, the history of the admin-
istration of Cardinal Don Alphonso Manrique,
Archbishop of Seville, who died in that city
on the 28th of September, 1538, with the re-
putation of being a friend and benefactor to the
poor. His charity and some other qualities
worthy of his birth have gained him a place
among the illustrious men of his age. He
had several patural children before he entered
into orders: Don Jerome Manrique is cited as
having been most worthy of his father ; he
successively attained the dignities of Provin-
cial Inquisitor, Counsellor of the Supreme,
Bishop of Carthegena and Avila, President of
the Cﬁaneery of \g:lladolid, and lastly, Inqui-
tor-general. )

At the death of Don Alphonso Manrigue,
there were nineteen provincial tribunals ; they
were established at Seville, Cordova, Toledo,
Valladolid, Murcia, Calahorra, Estremadura,
Sarzgoua. Valencia, Barcelona, Majorca, in
the Canaries, at Cuenca, in Navarre, Grenada,
Sicily, Sardinia, in Tierra Firma, and the
isles of the American Ocean. The Inquisition
of Jaen had been united to that of Grenada.

The Inquisition had afterwards three tribu-
nals in America, at Mexico, Lima, and Car-
thagena. In the Indies they had been decreed
but not organized.

By omitting the tribunals of America, Sar-
dinia, and Sicily, we shall find that there were
fifteen in Spain, which respectively burnt, an-
nually, about ten individuals in person, five

Lin effigy, and subjected fifty to different pe-

nances: so that in all Spain one hundred and*
fifty persons were burnt every year; sixty-five
in efligy, and seven hundred and fifty suffered
different canonical ‘penances, which, multi-
plied by the fifteen years of the administration
of Manrique, shows that two thousand two
hundred and fifty individuals were burnt, one
thousand one hundred and twenty-five in effi-
Ey. and eleven thousand two hundred and

fty condemned to penances; in all, fourteen
thousand, six hundred and twenty-five con-
demnations. ‘This number scarcely deserves
to be mentioned in comparison with those of
preceding times; but still it appears enor-
mous, particalarly if the excessive abuse of
the secret pmeesings is considered.
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CHAPTER XVI

Of the Trial of the False Nuncio of Port
Tabera,

Quarsels of the Inquisition with the Court of Rome.

Cuances V. appointed Cardinal Don Juan
Pardo de Tabers, Archbishop of Toledo, to
succeed Cardinal Manrique, in the office of
inquisitor-general; his bulls of institation
were expedited in September 1539, and 8
month after he entered upon his office, so that
the Supreme Council governed the-Inquisition
for the space of one year.

It was ander the int‘nilitor Tabera, that the
congregation of the holy office was founded at
Rome, on the st of April, 15643. It gave the
title and privilege of inquisito | of the
faith, for all the Christian world, to several
cardinals; two of the number were Spaniards,
Don Juan Alvares de Toledo, Bishop of Bur-

o0s, & son of the Duke of Alva, and Don
g‘homu Badia, cardinal-priest of the title of
Silvestre, and master of the sacred palsce.
These two cardinals were of the order of St.
Dominic.

This new creation alarmed the Inquisition
of Spain for its supremacy ; but the Pope for-
mally declared that it was not his intention to
alter anything that had been established, and
the institation of the inquisitors-general would
not interfere with the privil of the other
inquisitors. Yet the general Inquisition at-
tempted several times to give laws to that of
Spain, particularly in the prohibition of some
writings which had been proscribed at Rome.
The inquisi wrote to those of
Spain, to register the censure of the theolo-
glu, because they were to be Jooked r:ton an

e most learned of the Catholic chu o n.;d

1, and other im tevents during the time of Cardinal
ixth lnqni-im-ml.

Although the inquisitors of Spain pretended
that theirg‘;uthority was elnonpi.einl and spi-
ritual, and had been delegated to them by the
sovereign pontiff, who is infallible when he
pronounces ex cathedr?, yet they always op-
posed this infallibility in fact, and refused to
submit to his decrees, when contrary to their
canicnlu system. The inquisitors would

ave acted differently, if they had not been
certain that b{ applying to the king and inte-
resting his policy, they would force the royal
authority to take a part in their quarrels, and
o{pooho :ho measures o{h the po:rt}ﬂ', who, if
they had 'not possessed that powerful support,
would have treated them ‘]:o rebels, a " de-
ded them to the rank of simple priests by
epriving them of their employments.

History ¢f the Viceroys of Sicily and Catalonia.

In 1535, Charles V. had deprived the In-
quisition of the right of exercising the royal
jarisdiction, and 1t was not restored to them
till 1545; consequently, in 1543, they had not
the privilege of trying their officers, familiars,
or other secular attendants of the holy office,
for matters not relating toreligion. This royal
decree was known to the Captain-general of
Catalonia, Don Pedro Cardona, when he com-
menced proceedings against the gaoler, a fa-
milist and a servant of the -serjeant of
the Inquisition of Barcelona, for carrying arms,
which was g::)hibiled in his government.

The inquisitors of Barcelona had become
insolent, from having always prevailed in af-

arned of fairs of this nature, and instituted pro-
because their opinion was sup e | ceedings against. Don Pedroaéardona,u are-
confirmation of the supreme head of the | bel against the holy office; without respectin

church, whom the cardinals asserted to be in-
fallible when he acted (as in this case) as so-
vmifn pontiff. Heapproved and commanded
the decrees of the eong:suion of cardinals,
to be received and executed with submission.

These pretensions of the Court of Rome
did not inspire the inquisitors of Spain with
any awe; they have slways defended their
privil with so much vigour, that they of-
ten refused to execute the apostolical briefs,
when they were contrary to the decisions they
had made conjointly with the Supreme Coun-
cil. We find examples of this resistance un-
der Urban VIIL., in the condemnation of the
works of the Jesuit, Jobn Baptist Poza, which
had been pronounced at Rome; and under
Benedict XIV., when the inquisitor-general,
Don Francis Perezdel Prado, Bishop of Te-
ruel, refused to enter n;:lron the ihitory in-
dex the works of Cardinal Noris, in opposi
tion to the request, and even tho.fomc! de-
mand, of that great Pogo.

his_high situations of captain-general, an
military governor of the province, or the rank
and name of his illustrious family. Being in-
formed that the emperor was only nine leagues
from Barcelona, they denou the act of his
lieutenant to him, and represented, through
Cardinal Tabera, that if Cardona was not con-
demned to make a public reparation, the peo-
ple would lose all t for the Inquisition,
and an incalculable in‘nry be done to the Ca-
tholic religion thronshom the kingdom.

The emperor, blinded by fanaticism, not on-
ly favoured the inquisitors against all justice,
and in contempt of his own ordinance of 1535 ;
but he wrote to Cardona, that the interests of
the faith required that he should submit to re-
ceive the absolution ad cautelam. This order
deeply afflicted Don Pedro, but he resolved to
obey_ his master, and demanded absolution.
The |n%uislton, to render their triumph great-
er, celebrated an aufo-da-fé, in the cathedral of

Barcelona, where Cardona was compelled to



attend, standing without a sword, and with a
taper in his hand, during the celebration of
mass, and the ceremony of his absolution.

Charles V. had also deprived the Inquisi-
tion of Sicily of the royal ‘urisdiotion, for the
space of five years, and s prolonged
it to ten; bat the inquisitors represented,
through Cardinal Tabera, that the inconve-
niences arising from this measure were so

t, that Don Ferdinand Gonzaga, Prince de
alfeta, the viceroy and captain-general of the
island, was informed that the suspension was
to be revoked at the expiration of the tenth
year, without a particular order. The Mar-
quis de Terranova had been viceroy and go-
vernor-general ; he was constable and admi-
ral of Naples, ‘:dgmndoe of Spain of the first
class, and related to the emperor through the
house of Aragon. Two familiars of the In-
quisition had taken before the civil tribu-
nal, by his orders, for some crimes which they
had committed. Philip of Austria, Prince of
Asturias, the eldest son of Charles V., then
aged sixteen, governed the Spanish dominions
during the absence of his father; aud as he
was not less superstitious, his conduct towards
the Marquis de Terranova was the sahe as
that of the emperor to Don Pedro Cardona. 1
consider it necessary to give the letter of the
Prince to the Marquis de Terranova; it was
as follows :=—

« 1, the Prince. Honourable marquis, ad-
miral and constable, our dear counsellor; you
know what happened when you commanded
two familiars of the holy office to be whipped
(while you were governor of this king.som,
and not well informed of the affair). So great
a contempt for that holy tribunal has been the
result, that it has heen impossible for it to
command anything with the success which it
formerly obtained. On the contrary, several
persons of this kingdom have presumed to in-
sult and use violence towards the officers of
the Inquisition, and to prevent and distorb them
in the exercise of their office, according to the
complaints and informations which we have
received on this affair. The reverend Cardi-
nal of Toledo, inquisitor-general, and the
members of the council of the general Inquisi-
tion, have deliberated with his majesty, and it
has been found proper and convenient that you
should do penance for the fault you have com-
mitted ; saying that it shoutd be gentle and
moderate, in consideration of the services you
have rendered his majesty. In consequence,
the inquisitor-general and the council, guided
by their esteem for your person, have com-
manded the .inquisitor Gongora to speak to
you, and represent your fault, that you may
accomplish the penance imposed, which (ac-
cordin% to the nature of the fact, and the evil
which has been the result) ought to have been
much more severe, as you will learn from
what the inquisitors have been commanded to
say to you. _As to the rest, this has only been
decreed for the glory of God, the honour of the
holy office, and the good of your conscience.
‘We require and charge you, for the sake of the
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good example which you owe to others, to ac-
oegt and accomplish this penance, with the
submission which is due to the church, and
without waiting to be compelled by means of
excommunication and ecclesiastical censures ;
the submission which we ask of you will not
affect your honoar, but will be profitable to
you in freeing you from all inquietude and
vexation; it is approved by his majesty, will
give us rleuun, and we undertake to treat

ouin all that concerns yon with the favour

at we have used towards you,and which we
will show whenever there is an opportunity.
Given at Valladolid, 15th December, 1543.
1, the Prince.” 'This letter is marked by seve-
ral members of the council, and countersigned
Juan Gareia, pro-secr. .

‘The silence which is observed on the nature
of the gxmanco imposed on the viceroy is re-
markable; but whatever gentleness and mo-
deration was affected, it was the same as that
of Don Pedro Cordona. The only difference
to be observed was, that it did not take place
in the cathedral, but in the church of the Do-
minican convent; it was also thought neces-
sary, by way of compensation, to prevent the
Marquis from kneeling, except during the ele-
vation of .the host, that he might be more ex-

to the sight of the people, and condemn
im to ‘y:ay an hundred ducats to the familiars
whom he had punished. .

Hi the False Nuncio of the Pope i
istory of the P:m:;_wd ope i

The history of the quarrels of the Inquisi-
tion with the royal authority affords another
conflict of jurisdiction. Is of the affair
of the famous Juan Perez de Saavedra men-
tioned in histories, romances, and dramatic
pieces, under the name of the False Nuncio of
Portugal, and who generally passes for the
fonnder of the Inquisition in that kingdom.
The critic Feijoo has sapposed that the history
of this affair was fabulous. The narration of
Saavedra, which Feijoo quotes, contains fa-
bles, but it also contains truths belonging to
the history of the Inquisition. It is necessa
to enter into the details of this history : I shall
first relate the facts according to the narrative
which Saavedra wrote for the Cardinal Espi-
nosa in 1567; I shall afterwards establish the
trath on some points which that impostor con-
trived to obscure.

Juan Perez de Saavedra was born at Cor-
dova. His father was a captain ina regiment
of infantry, and a perpetual member of the
maunicipality of that city, from a privilege ac-
&uired by his family; his mother, Anne de

uzman, was descended from a family as no-
ble as that of her husband. Saavedra, who
was possessed of great talents and informa-
tion, employed himself for some time in forg-
ing apostolical balls, royal ardinances, regula-
ti;‘ms of ::ntl}:cils and tribunals, lemr':b:f
change, ai e signatures of a t number
of persons: he itgi':ted them gc;“perfectly. .
that he made use of them without exciting any
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doubts of their authenticity, and for a
knight commander of the military order of St.
Jago, und received the salary, which was
three thousand ducats, for the space of a year
and a half. In a short time, by means of the
royal orders which he counterfeited, he ac-
uired three hundred and sixty thousand
ucats, and the secret of this t fortune
would never have been revealed (as he ox-
presses himself in his oconfession) if Az Aad
not clothed himaelf in scarlet, that is, if he had
not taken it into his head to feign himself a
caln!inal. ait': order to exercise the functions of
a te .
e says, that being in the kingdom of
garves, a short time after the institution of
thé Jesuits had been confirmed by Paal IIL.,
a priest of that society arrived in the country,
furnished with an apostolical brief, which
aathorized him to found a college of the order
in the kingdom of Portugal; that having
heard him preach on St. Andrews Day, he
was so pleased with him, that he invited him
to dinner, and kept him several days in his
house. The Jesuit, having discovered his
talent during this period, expressed a wish to
have a fac-esimile of his brief, containing an
eulogy on the Society of Jesus. He perform-
ed this task with so much success, that the
brief might have been taken for the original ;
and they at last that, to complete the
good which would aocrue to Portugal from the
establishment of the Sociel{ of Jeaus, it would
be proper 1o introduce the Inquisition on the
same plan as that of Spain. Saavedra then
went to Tabilla, a town in the same frovince.
where, with the assistance of the Jesuit, he
made the apostolical bull which was necessa-
1y for their purpose, and forged letters from
Charles V. and Prince Philip his son, to the
King of Portugal, John HI. This bull was
supposed to have been sent to Saavedra, as
leﬁate, to establish the Inquisition in Portu-
gul, if the king consented.

Saavedra afterwards passed the frontier,
and went to Ayamonte, in the kingdom of
Seville. The Provincial and Franciscan
mouks of Andalusia had lately arrived there

" from Rome. Saavedra thought he would try
if the bull would pass as authentic: hs told
the Provincial that some individual going to
Portugal had dropped a parchment on the
road, which he showed him, and begged to
know if it was of importance, as, in that case,
he would lose no time in restoring it to the
person who had drode it. ‘The Provincial
took the parchment for an original writing
and trae bull; he made the contents known
to Saavedra, and expatiated on the advantages
which Portugal would derive from it.

Saavedra went to Seville, and took into his
service two confidants, one of whom was to
be his secretary, the other his major-domo;
he bought letters and silver-plate, and adopt-
ed the dress of a Roman cardinal; he sent
his oconfidants to Cordova and Grenada to
hire servants, and commanded them to go
with his suit to Badajoz, where they gave out
that they were the familiars of a cardinal from
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Rome, who would pass through' the city in
his way to Portugal, to establish the Inquisi-
tion by the order of the Pope; they also an-
nounced that he would soon arrive, as he
travelled post. .

At the appointed time Saavedra a‘:pund
at Badajos, where his servants publicly kiss-
ed his hand as the Pope’s Legate. Ho left
Badajox for Seville, where he was received
into the archiepiscopal palace of Cardinal
Loaisa, who resided at Madrid in the quality
of apostolical commiuug-genenl of the holy
crusade. He received the test marks of
respect and devotion from Don Juan Ferdi-
nandez de Temino, the vi ral. He
remained eighteen days in this city, and
during that time obtained, by false obligations,
the sum of eleven hundred and thirty ducats
from the heirs of the Marquis de Tanfa. He
afterwards took the road to Llerena (where
the Inquisition of Estremadura had been
established,) after going to different towns in
the province; he was Jodged in part of the
buildinge of the Inquisition, which was then
occupied by the inquisitors Don Pedro Alva-
res gecem and Don Louis de Cardenas, to
whom he said that he meant to visit the In-
quisition of Llerena in his quality of !e?te;
and, afler having fulfilled that part of his
mission, he should proceed to Portugal, where
he should establish the holy office on the plan
of that of Spain.

Saavedra then returned to Badajoz, from
whence he sent his secretary to Lisbon with
his bulis and papers, that the court being in-
formed of hia arrival, might prepare to receive
him. The mission of this agent cansed great
doubts and agitation at the court, where such
a novelty was little expected : nevertheless,
the king sent a nobleman to the frontier, to
receive the Cardinal Legate, who made his
entry into' Lisbon, where he passed three
months, and was treated with every mark of
respect : ‘he then undertook a long journey
into different parts of the kingdom, going
over the dioceses, and taking a detailed account
of them ; it would have been difficult to dis-
cover the aim of his apostolical solicitude, if
some unforeseen circumstance had not put an
end to his imposture.

The Inquisition of Spain discovered this
intrigue through the address of Cardinal
Tabera, who shared the cares of governmens
with the Prince of Astarias, at the time when
Charles V. was absent in France. In conse-
quence of the measures concerted between the
cardinal and the Marquis de Villaneuva de
Barcerrota, the governor of Badajoz, Saave-
dra was arrested at Nieva de Guadiena in the
Portuguese territory, on the 23rd of January,
1541, where he was at table with the curate
of the village, who had entreated that he
would do him the honour of visiting his perish,
as he had the others in his diocese. This
reqnest was only a snare, in order to arrest
the impostor with more safety.

Saavedra says that, when he was arrested,
three treasures which he had with him were

seized ; one of twenty thousand ducats, the
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}yroduce of the fines of the condemned, destined
or the holy office; the second of a hundred
and fifty thousand ducats, which, he said, he
intended to apply to the use of the church,
and other works; the third of ninet
thousand ducats, which belo to himself.
Saavedra was taken to Madrid by the order
of the procurator-general of the kingdom, and
there imprisoned. The alcaldes of the court
went to him, and received his declaration,
which was necessary to the trial. The tribu-
nal of the Inquisition had not then been es-
tablished at Madrid, which was subject to
that of Toledo. The inquisitors pretended
that this affair ought to come before them,
because it was to be presumed that the prison-
er had renounced the Catholic religion, from
the fictions which he had invented to procure
meney ; as if Catholics did not commit
greater crimes every day !

As the inquisitor-general was the lieute-
nant of the prince, the holy office was sare to
prevail. Tabera, wishing to satisfy both
parties, decreed that the alcaldes should
remain in possession of the person of Saave-
dra, and proceed against him for his exactions,
forgeries, and other political crimes, and that
the holy office should take izance of the
crimes against the faith which he had been
guilty of, under the title of a cardinal.

The inquisitor reflected that Saavedra was
a man of great talent, and that he therefore
should be treated with moderation; besides
that, he had always conducted himself like a
real judge, excogt that he only condemned the
accused to pay fines,

Saavedra declared that these reasons made
the inquisitor-general wish to be personally
acquainted with him; that he caused him to
be brought before him, heard him with inter-
est, and offered to protect him, promising to
give him for a judge any one that he named :
that he then expressed a wish to be jud
by Doctor Arias, inquisitor at Llerena ; this
was granted, and caused t murmars
against the cardinal and the court at Madrid,
where it was whispered that Tabera had ap-

n;priated the ninety thousand ducats which

ad been taken from Saavedra: that Doctor
Arias condemned him to serve ten years in
the king’s galleys; that after a detention of
two years, the alcaldes of Madrid pronounced
bis definitive sentence, one of the princiral
parts of which was, that after having fulfilled
the inquisitorial sentence, he could not be set
at liberty or quit the galleys without the
permission of his majesty, on pain of death;
that he was sent to the gall:za in 1544 ; that
in 1554, although the period of his punish-
ment had expired, he could not obtain his
liberty : then, persuaded that his affair de-
pended more on the Inquisition than the
alcaldes of the court, he endeavoured to inter-
est the Pope in his fate, representing that he
had done several things extremely useful to
religion and the state, in the exercise of his
falso legation; that Paul IV, sent him a
brief, which was addressed to the inquisitor-
general Don Ferdinand Valdes, whom his
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holiness charged to obtain Saavedra’s liberty;
that he received this brief when the king’s
lleys were in the of St. Mary ; that he
immediately forwarded it to the bishop coadju-
tor of Seville, and he sent it to the inquisitor-
meral, who was his archbishop. Valdes
g:ving commaunicated the affair to Philip II.,
that prince gave orders that Saavedra should
be set at liberty, that he might immediately
repair to court. Saavedra arrived there in
1562, after having passed pineteen years in
the galleys. He was presented to the Ling,
who desired to hear his history from his
own:jlps. and to have it in wnting; while
Saavedra related it to the king, Antonio Perez
wrote down the singular events of his life:
lastly, Saavedra himself wrote it in 1567, for
the inquisitor-general, Don Diego Espinosa.
The history of Saavedra has furnished the
subject for a Spanish comedy, entitled the
“False Nuncio of Portugal,” in which not on-
ly all the unities of time, place, and action are
wanting, but the rule which only admits pro-
bable events is infringed ; but this ought not
to surprise in poets, since the hero himself
has taken the same liberty in the narrative
which he composed for the amusement of Car-
dinal Espinosa. It is certain that he was
'imiﬁaonod on the 25th of January, 1641,
as he states in his history. But this point,
so well established, proves that he im-
in other circumstances; for example,
if what he relates of the Jesuit in Algarves
is true, it could not have happened until the
ear 1540, because Paul 1I1. only expedited
is bull of approval for the Society of Jesus, on
the 87th of g:a tember, 1540 ; now the sermon
preached by the Jesuiton St. Andrew’s day
corresponds with the 30th of November
in the same year, that is, on the fifty-second
day before his imprisonment; this interval
would not be sufficient for his journeys to Ay-
amonte, Llerena, Seville, Badajoz,and in Por-
tugal. Thus Saavedra did not speak truth,
either in stating the period of his appearing to
the world as a Cardinal, and the motives which
induced him to enter into the intrigue with
the Jesuit : or when he said that he sustain-
ed his part for three months at Lisbon, and
doring three months-which he employed in
visiting different towns.in the kingdom.
Besides, the number and names of the dis-
ciples of St. Ignatius were known at that
riod ; and it is certain that before the bull of
approbation was obtained, the founder of the
order had appointed St. Francie Xavier and
Simon Rodriguez, a ‘r‘ortugum. to preach in
Portugal; and that these monks left Rome on
the 15th of March, 1540, with the Portugnese
ambassador; that on their arrival at Lisbon,
John III. wished to receive them into his
lace; that they refused that honour, and
ro‘aged in the hospital : that St. Francis Xa-
vier embarked for the East Indies, with the
new governor, on the 8th of April, 1541, and
that Rodriguez remained in Portugal to preach
as he had already done, to the great satisfac-
tion of the inhabitants, who had a high
opinion of his virtues; these circumstances
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render it improbable that the Jesuit would
ask for a forged brief, and enter into an in-
trigue with a layman.
aavedra says that the court of Lisbon was
disturbied at the news of the arrival of a nun-
cio in Portugal. This would not be extruor-
dmurg, a8 neither the Pope nor u& other per-
son had written to the court on the subject,
and as the Pope had appointed Don Henry,
archbishop ‘of Braga, the king’s brother, In-
ﬁ_nisiwmmnl in the preceding year. But
the arrival of the legate caused so much
surprise, it was natural that the king should
write to the Pope whose answer would have
arrived two months afterwards, and Saavedra
would have been detected before the end of
the third month, and thus there would have
been no necessity for the king of Spain to ar-
rest him,

It is not more certain that Saavedra estab-
lished the Inquisition in Portagal. The ex-
pulsion of the Jews took place in 1493 ; many
of them retired to Portugal; among them
were some that had been baptized, and John
TI. consented to receive them into his states,
if they would behave like faithful Christians.

King Manuel ordered them to quit the king- |

dom, and to Jeave all their children under the
age of fourteen, who were to be made Chris-
tians ; they offered to receive baptism, if the
king woald promise not to establish the In-

uigition for twenty years; the king granted

eir reqaest, and aleo that the names of the
witnesases should be communicated to them,
if they were accused of after that period,
besides the power of bequeathing their effects
if they were cond . In 1507, Manuel
confirmed these pﬁvilﬁu. prolonging the first
twenty years, and rendering the others per-
petual: in 1530, John renewed the first con-
cession for another twenty years.’

Clement VII., being informed that ‘the
baptized Jews in Portugal did not show much
attachment to the Christian religion, and that
the Protestant MthLm:nen';; heresies t:g;

t progress in the kingdom, appoin
g::ther Diegode Silvainquisitor for apto‘ coun-
try. He attempted to exercise his functions,
but the new Christians claimed their rights,
which were to last for several years; a trial
was the result of this opposition. Clement
VIL died, and hin successor, Paul 111., grant-
ed to the new Christians a privilege which
they could not obtain in Portugal: tha
they might confide, to persons chosen by
themselves, their defence before the prince of
the sense to be given to the dispositions of
their privileges, which had been interpreted
to their prejudice. Tnthe same year, the Pope
granted them a pardon for all that bad passed.

The king afterwards represented. that the
converted Joews abused thelr privileges, some
returning to Judaism, and others adopting
the errors of the Protestants. This circum-
stance induced the Pontiff' to publish another
bull on the 25th of March, 1536, which is
considered as the foundation of the Inquisition
in Portugal. The Pope appointed as inquisi-
tors, the bishops of Colmbra, Lamego, and

£1

Ceuta ; and decreed, at the same time, that
another bishop or priest of the kin&"l nomina-
tion should 8. associated with them. The
Pope granted to each inquisitor the power of
proceeding against heretics and their adhe-
rents, in concert with the diocesan in ordinary,
or alone, if he refused to assist; they were
likewise obliged for the first three years, in
the proceedings against heretics, to conform
to the manner of proceeding in cases of theft
or homicide, and after that period to the rules
of common law; the practice of confiscation
was abolished, and the heirs of the condemned
could inherit as if he died intestate. Lastly,
the Pope commanded that a sufficient number
of tribunals should be instituted, for the exe-
cution of these measures.* The king appoint-
ed Don Diego de Silva, bishop of Cueta, first
inquisitor-general. .
uch was the origin of the Inquisition in

Portugal, four years before Saavedra arrived
in that country. In 1539, the Pope appointed
Don Henry, archbishop of B;ﬁt, to succeed
the first inquisitor-general. e third grand
inxicilor was Don George de Almeide, arch-
bi of Lisbon.
All that I have now stated is taken from
authentic docaments. 1 conclude from them
that Juan Perex de Saavedra forged his brief
of Cardinal @ /atere, presented it in Decem-
ber 1540, and succeeded in concealing his
forgery : that what he related of the Jesuit was
not true, or happened differently ; that seeing
the Inquisition established in a manner con-
trary to his opinions, he insinuated that it
would be better to take that of Spain asa
model, which was well known to the inquisi-
tors of Llerena, and that he would visit the
different parts of the kingdom to facilitato
this design ; that he travelled throngh part of
the king:f:m in the month of December, and
continued his journeys in January in the fol-
lowing year, when he was arrested, before the
court of Lisbon received information of his-
imposture. I have no doubt that Saavedra
emassed t sums, but I am far from think-
ing that they were as considerable as he af-
firmed them to be. :

Cardinal Tabera, sixth inquisitor-general,
died on the 1st of August1545: at his death the
number of tribunals was the same as when he
was placed at the head of the Inquisition: he
had re-established that of Jaen, but the tribanal
of Navarre was united with that of Calahorra.

The number of victims, calculated as it was
for the time of Manrique, affords, for the seven
years of Cardinal Tabera’s ministry, seven
thousand seven hundred and twenty indivi-
duals condemned and punished ; eight hnn-
dred and forty were burnt in person, four hun-
dred and twenty in effigy ; the rest, in number
five thousand four hundredand sixty, were sub-
Jected to different penances. 1 firmly believe
that the number was much more considerable ;
butfaithful to my system of impartiality I have
stated the most moderate calculation.

* Don Antonio Cajetan de Souza has inserted
this bull in his geneslogical History of the Royal
House of Portugal; V i‘ll.
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.CHAPTER XVIL

Of the Inquisitions ofNaplu,Siq’lg. mdmbiﬂlqt:..moéthe events of the time of Cardinal Losise,

Naples.

Crarwzs V. appointed, to succeed Cardinal
Pardo de Tabera, Cardinal Don Garcia de
Louisa, Archbishop of Seville, who was the
seventh inquisitor-general. This prelate had
arrived at a great age, since he had signed dif-
ferent ordinances ol the Supreme Council in
1517, He had been the confessor of Charles
V., prior-general of the order of St. Dominic,
Bishop of Osma and Siguensza, and apostoli-
cal commissary of the Holy Crusade. The
Court of Rome expedited his bulls of confirme-
tion on the 18th of February, 1546, and he
died on the 2%nd of April, in the same year.

In 1846, Charles V. resolved to estahlish
the Inquisition at Nu&lu, although his grand.
father had failed in the attempt in 1504 and
1510. He commissioned his viceroy, Don
Pedro de Toledo, Marquis of Villa Franca del
Bierzo, to select inquisitors and officers from
among the inhabitants, to send to the govern-
menta list of the persons chosen, and all the ne-
cessary documents, that the inquisitor-general
might be able to delegate the necessary pow-
ers to the new inquisitors: when these mea-
sures had been taken, the tribunal was to be
established with all the forms of the inquisi-
torial jurisdiction.

- Frederic Munter, professor of theology in
the literary academy at Copenh:son. has sg
posed that theintri of Don Pedro de Toledo
were the causes of the introduction of the In-
.quisition; but he was not able to consult the
original documents, which are now in my
hands, and this impossibility was the canse of
his errors in his history of the Sicilian Inqui-
sition. The efforts of Charles V., to establish
the Inquisition at Naples, arose from the pro-

which Lutheranism made in Germany
and his fear that it would penetrate into other
countries. His inclinations were fostered by
Cardinal Loaisa, and the councillors of the
Inquisition; the only part that Don Pedro
too“( in this affair, was, that he was the first
rson to whom the emperor confided his
Intentions, and the only one who had suffi-
cient wisdom to advise his master to relin-
quish his designs, when he found the evil they
would cause. The orders of the emperor were
execated without meetinE any opposition ; but
scarcely was it known that some persons had
been arreated by the new lnquini;‘ion‘.":hin the
le rebelled, erying, fve
!::"’ Perish the I it !” TheNeam
tans flew to arms, they compelled the Spanish
troops to retire to the fortresses, and Charles
V. was oblri'iod to abandon his antelrrito.
It is worthy of remark, that Paul III. open-
1y protected t{e Neapolitan rebels; being dis-

pleased that the Inquisition of Naples should.

depend on that of Spain, he complained that
his predecessors, Innocent VIII., Alexander
V1., and Julius 1., had done much evil in not
making the inquisitors entirely dependant on
the Popes, in allowing an intermediate
authority, which rendered that of the holy see
of no effect.

Paul III., without communicating these
motives to the Neapolitans, told them that they
were right in resisting the will of their master,
since the Spanish Inqoisition was extremely
severe, and did not follow the example of that
of Rome, which had been establshed three
ye:dn, and of which no complaints had been
made.

In 1563, Philip II. attempted to introduce
his favourite tribunal at Naples, but the in-
habitants had reconrse to their usual method,
and the despot was obliged to yield.

Sicily and Malta.

The holy office of Sicily triumphed in the
same year otill more completely than it had
done in 1543. In 1600, Ferdinand V. en-
deavoured to establish the Spanish Inquisition
in that kingdom, after having suppressed that

of the Pope’s, which was confided to the
monks of St. Dominic; but all his efforts

failed, until the year 1503. 1In 1520, Charles
V. wrote to the Pope to request that he would
not admit any appeals from persons condemn-
od b! the Sicilian Inquisition, because they
coul applg for that purpose to the inquisitor-
general of Spain, in virtae of apostolical con-
cessions granted by his predecessors, and
confirmed by himself.

This proceeding, and the particalar favour
which the emperor bestowed on the holy office,
singularly increased the pride of the Inquisi-
tors, and their audacity in abusing the secrecy
of ther trials. :

Bat the hatred of the people for the Inqui-
sition, and their rebellion in 1535, compelled
Charles V. to revoke the privileges which he
had granted, and deprive it of the royal juris-
diction for five years.

This measure humiliated the inquisitors,
but they contrived to re-establish their autho-
rit{ein 1538, when the inquisitor Don Arnauld
Albertius was viceroy adsnlerim his presence
emboldened them to persecute all who offended
them ; but their despotism was not of lo
duration. The vioeroy returned to Sicily;
and finding that theaversion of the inhabitants
for the Inquisition was still the same, he
communicated it to the emperor, who, as
an indispensable measure, prolonged the sus-
pension of their privileges for a fresh term of
five years. ‘The aversion inspired by the holy
office was not without a cause, as will be
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ilaan in the following affair, which happened
n 1538.

Antonio Napoles, a rich inhabitant of the
island, had been thrown into the secret prisons
of the Inquisition: Francis Napoles, his son,
applied to the Pope, and described this act of
authority as the result of a miserable intrigue
of some men of the lowest class, of whom the
inquisitors had been the dupes,and had grant-
ed them a degree of confidence which nothing
could justify, since his fatherhad acted like a
good Catholic from his i . He represent-
ed that the dean of the inquisitors had
with his father’s enemies, and detained him in
prison five months, to the scandal and discon-
tent of the inhabitants of Palermo, and with-
out affording him any means of defence;
Francis entreated his holiness not toallow the
inquisitor to judge his father. The Pope re-
ferred the affair o his commissioners in Sici-
ly, DonThomas Guerrero and Don Sebastian
Martines. Scarely had the inquisitors of
Madrid received information of this event,
than they pressed the em and Cardinal
Manrique to write to the and represent
;o him :'llut:. th:i :ixli.mf‘:h thsis oo'ml:ulinion

estroy: o p of the Spanis ui-
sition, on which th:ig::' Sicil depondod.n"i’he
weak Clement VII. hastened to suppress the
commission, and caused Guerrero to send all

the writings of the ﬁrooou to the Spanish in-
luhitor-gemnl. e appointed Doctor Don
ugustin Ca , inquisitor of Siecily, to

continue the trial, or in his place, any other
inquisitor, so that Antonio Napoles fell into
the hands of his enemy. He was condemned
as an heretic, his mmy confiscated, (al-
though he was admitted toreconciliation,) and
to be imprisoned for life. What can justif

the conduct of the Pope, the Cardinal, an

the judges ?

The inquisitors of Sicil{ depended on the
protection of the coart of Madrid, and sup-
posed that when all fear of rebellion had
ceased, their rrivilegu would be restored:
this was really the case; the emperor, in
1543, signed a royal ordinance, which annull-
ed the suspension at the end of the tenth
year. This event inspired the inquisitors
with the boldness to signify to the Marquis
de Terranova, that he must accomplish the
penance to which he had been condemned.

An act appeared on the 16th of June, 1546,
renewing the former concessions, and granting
new ones. The Inquisition resolved to cele-
brate its victory; s solemn aufo-da-fé was
celebrated, in which four contumacious per-
sons were burnt in effigy. Similar ceremo-
nies took place in 1549 and 1561. The in-
quisitors now bechme es insolent as formerly,
treated the Sicilians of all classes with so
much severity, that a new sedition was
excited in Palermo. against the holy office, at
the time when the edict of the fasth was
about to be published. The viceroy succeed-
ed in restoring tranquillity, and the inquisitors
appeared more moderate, at least wl;:ho they
were under the influence of fear, and instead
of the solemh aulos-da-fé which had caused so
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much indignation, satisfied themselves with
celobnl.inf them, from time to time, privately
in the ball of the tribunal; but in 1569 they
ordained one which was general, and gave
rise to a circumstance which deserves to be
recorded. -

Among the prisoners of the Inquisition was
an unfortunate creatore who had inspired the
Marchioness of Pescari, the wife of the vice-
roy, with some interest. The inquisitors,
thinking it to conciliate “the first
magistrate of the island, remitted his punish-
ment at the request of the marchioness, but
at the same time informed the inquisitor-gene-
ral of the ciroumstance, to avoid all reproach.
The Supreme Council having deliberated on
the affair, addressed a severe reprimand to
the inquisitors, for having assumed a right
which they did not poesess, decouse, in affairs
w nalure, snicrcession could not be ad-

‘When the island of Malta belonged to the
Spanish momhg. it was subject to the Inqui-
sition of Sicily; but when it was given to the
knights of St. John of Jerusalem, it would
have been contrary to the dignity of the grand-
master to permit the exercise of foreign jurie-
diction in it, after having received that of
ecclesiastical power from the Po,

A man was in the island as en
heretic, and the Inguisition of Sicily took in-
formations on the affair. The grand-master
wrote to demand them; the inquisitors con-
sulted the council, which directed them, in
1875, not only to refuse them, but to claim the

risoner. The grand-master, resolved to de-
end his privileges, caused the man to be tried
in the island, and he was acquitted. This
act displeased the inquisitors, who, to revenge
‘hem:egvu. took advan of an occurrence
which took place in the following year.

Don Pedro de la Roca, a Spaniard, and a
kunight of Malta, killed the first alguazil of the
Sicilian Tuquisition in the city of Messina.
He was arrested and conducted to the secret
prisons of the holy office. The grand-master
claimed his knight, as he alone bad a right to
try him. The council being consulted, com-

'manded the inquisitora to comdemn and punish

the accused as an homicide. ‘The inquisitor-
Fenenl commauniocated this resolution to Phi-
ip IL., who wrote to the grand-master to ter-
minate the dispute.

The quarrels between the secular powers
and the Inquisition were not less violent ‘in
Sicily ; in 1580 and 1597 aitempts were made
to appease them, but without success; and in
1606 the Sicilians had the' mortification of
seeing their viceroy, the Duke de Frias, con-
stable of Castile, prosecuted and subjected to
their censures.

In 1592 the Duke of Alva,who was then vice-
roy, endeavouréd by indirect means to repress
theinsolence of the inquisitors. Perceiving that
the nobility of all classes were enrolled among
the familiars of the holy office, in order to
enjoy its privileges, and to keep the people in
greater order, he represented to the king that
the power of the sovereign and the authority
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of his lieutenant were almost null, and would
be entirely so in time, if these different classes
continued to enjoy privileges which had the
effect of neutralizing the measures of govern-
ment. fghulu 11. acknowled dthat thi:_
state of things was contrary to the dignity o
his crown; and he decreed- that no person
employed by the king should poesess those
prerogatives, even if he was a famikiar or
officer of the Inquisition. The people then
n to feel less respect for the tribunal ;
and this was the commencement of its decline.
In 1718, Sicily no longer formed a part of
the Spanish dominions, and Charles de Bour-
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bon in 1739 obtained a bull, which created an
iuquisitor-general for that country, indern-
dent of Spain; and in 1782, Ferdinand 1V,
who succeeded Chnrlet,snipressed this odious
tribunal. During the two hundred and seven-
ty-nine years of its existence, the solemn and
neral autos-da-fé were celebrated of which
onter speaks, and several otbers which
were performed in the hall of the tribunal.

In the year 1546, which co nds with
the administration of Cardinal isa, the
nnmber of condemned in the fifieen Spanish
tribunals amounted to seven hundred and
eighty individuals.

CHAPTER XVIIIL

Of Important Events during the first years of the Administration of the
Religion of Charles V. during the last years of his

Mhlsringﬂcﬁn}manﬂcﬁaﬁlryd

Dox Feapinanp Varpzs was the successor
of Cardinal Loaisa in the archbishopric of
Seville, and the office of inquisitor-general.
At the time of his appointment he was bishop
of Siguenza, and president of the royal Coun-
cil of Castile, after having been successively
a member of the grand College of St. Bartho-
lomew de Salamanca, of the Council of
Administration forthe archbishopric of Toledo,
for the Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros, visitor
of the Inquisition of Cuenga and of the royal
Council of Navarre, a member of the Council
of State, canon of the metropolitan church of
Santiago de Galicia, counsellor of the Su-
preme Inqnuisition, bishop of Elna, Orensa,
Oviedo and Leon, and president of the Royal
Chancery of Valladolid. So many honours
could not render him insensible to the mortifi-
cation of not being a cardinal like his prede-
cessors, and of seeing Bartholomew Carranza
elevated to the see of Toledo. Tlhis was the
true cause of his cruel persecution of Car-
ranza. .

The Pope approved the nomination of
Valdés in Junvary, 1547, and he took posses-
sion of his office in the following month.
Valdés displayed an almost sanguinary dis-

osition during his administration. It led
Rim to demand from the Ponthe power of
condemning Lutherans to burnt, even
though they had not relapsed, and had
desired to be reconciled. 1 shall here make
known the most illustrious of the victims sa-
crificed before the abdication of Charles V.,
as it is necessary to make a separate article
for the events of that nature under the reign
of Philip IT.

Among the condemned persons who ap
ed in the aulo-da-fé of Seville in 1652, was
Juan Gil, a native of Olvers, in Aragon, and

Wm‘ Inquisitor-general ;

a canon of the metropolitan church of that
city; he is better known by the name of
Doctor Egidius. He was first condemued, as
violently suspected, to abjure the Lutheran
heresy, and to be subjected to a penance; but
four years after his death, in 1556, he was

condemned, and, as having Nhi s his body
was disinterred, and burnt with his effigy; his
memory was declared infamous, ai his

Erogrty confiscated, for having died as a
Lutherau. Raymond Gonzales de Montes
was his companion in prison, but succeeded in
escaping, and was burnt in effigy. In a work
written on the Spanish Inquisition, he has in-
troduced several particulars relating to the life
of Juan Gil. He informs us that Egidius
studied theology at Alcala de Henares, and
there obtained the title of Doctor. He ac-
quired so great a reputation, that he was
compared to Peter Lombard, to St. Thomas
d’Aquinas, to John Secott, and other theolo-
gians of the greatest merit. His talents
induced the chapter of Seville to offer him
unanimously the office of preacher to the
cathedral. Efidin' bad very little talent for
reaching, and the canons eoon repented of
aving appointed him.

Rodrigo de Valero told Egidius that the
books from which he derived his knowledge
were worth nothing, and that his preaching
would never be admired, if he did not study
the Bible. Egidius took his advice, and in
time acquired a style of preaching extremely
agreeable to the people, but his success
raised him many enemies.

The emperor gave him the Bishopric of
Tortosa in 1550, which increasing the envy
and hatred of his enemies, they denounced
him to the Inquisition of Sevilleas a Lutheran
heretic, for some propositions which he had
advanced in his sermons, and which they
separated from the other parts, to give them a
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different sense from what they would other-
wise have had; they took advantage of the
favour he showed to Rodrigo Valero in 1540
during his trial, and of some other circum-
stances, to injare him.

Egidive was taken to the secret prisons of
the holy office in 1550: he made use of this
opportunity to compose his a) , Which
rendered the atorm, his enemies had raised
still more violent. His simplicity had made
him, in his apology, establish as certain prin-
ciples, some rrorooidonl which the scholastic
theologians looked upon as erroneous, and
tending to heresy. e conduct and morals
of Egidius were so pure, that the emperor
werots in his favour, the chapter of Seville fol-
lowed his example, and (what is still more
remarkable) the licentiate, Correa, Dean of
the inquisitors, was touched bg his inno-
eenoe, and undertook to defend him against
his colleague, Pedro Diax, who bore the great-
esthatred to the accused. This circumstance
was particularly mortifying to Egidius, as his
enemy formerly held the same opinions, and
had likewise studied in the school of Rodrigo
Valero. .

The interest which Egidius had inspired
induced the inquisitors to accede to his pro-

1 of a discaussion between him and some
earmed theologians. Brother Garcia de Arias,
of the convent of St. Isidore of Seville, was
chosen ; but his opinion was not deemed suf-
ficient, and Juan Gil demanded the Dominican
friar, Dominic Soto, should be summoned to
the conference. This incidence retarded the
trial, but Soto at last arrived at Seville.

According to Gonzales de Montew, this theo-
logian held the same opinions as Egidius; but
o prevent the suspicions which might arise
from this circumstance, he renuad Bgiflhim
to draw up a sort of confession of faith. They
agreed that both should write their opinions,
and only communicate them to each other in
public. This author states that these confes-
sions of faith were compared, and found to ac-
cord perfectly.

The inquisitors being informed of this ar-
rangement, declared that, as the reputation of
a bishop was concerned, it was necessary to
convoke a dpublio assembly, where Dominic
Soto should explain the object of the mesting
in a sermon, and read his confession of faith;
that Egidius should afterwards read his, that
the assembly might judge of the conformity
of their opinions. The inquisitors caused two
pul‘piu to be prepared, but, either by chance,
or from a private order, they were so far apart,
that Egidius could not hear what Soto said.
Soto® read an exposition of his principles
entirely different from that on which they had
igreed in their private conferences; and as

gidius did not hear him, and supposed that
he was reading the.same confession which he
had approved, he consequently made signs
;Iv_ilh his head and bnm:ll m:h he lmded m
is propositions, idius then n to
his confession of ﬁm but those who under-
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stood the subject, soon perceived that there
was not the slightest resemblance between
them, and that Egidius held several opinions
entire} oplgocite to some propositions ad-
by Dominic Soto, and acknowled
as dogmatical by fAe iribunal of the faith: this
circumstance effaced the favourable impres-
sion produced by the gestures of Egidius,
The inquisitors added these writings to those
of the trial, and passed jndgnont ngn Egidius
acoording to the advice of Soto. He was de-
clared violently suspected of the Lutheran
heresy, and condemned to three years’ impri-
sonment ; he was prohibited from preaching,
writing or explaining theology for the space
of ten years, and never to leave the kingdom
on pain of being considered and punished asa
formal heretic. '

Egidius remained in prison until 1555; he
was at first extremely astonished at his situa-
tion, after havin, rfectly agreed with the
Dominican on all the points in question. He
was not undeceived, until some of his fellow-
Kri.onen informed him of the difference of

is articles with those of Soto, and the treache-
ry of that monk.

Egidius took advantage of the short inter
val of liberty which fullowed his imprison-
ment to go to Valladolid, where he had an
interview with Doctor Cazalla and other
Lutherans in that city: on his return to Se-
ville he fell sick, and died in 1556. The tri-
bunal being informed of his intercourse with
heretics, instituted another trial, and pro-
nounced that he died an beretic; his body
was disinterred, and burnt with his effigy, in
a solemn aulo-da-fé, his memory declared
infamous, and his property confiscated : this
sentence was executed in 1560.

It will be necessary here to quote a letter of
Don Bartholomew Carranza to Brother Louis
de la Crus, a Dominican, and his disciple.
The archbishop mentions as a well-known
circumstance, that his catechism had been
presented to the holy office; Brother Melchior
Cano and Dominic Soto had been commie-
sioned to censure it, and that they had judged
unfavourably of bis work. He complained
mach of this conduct in Soto; he said he
could not comprehend such scruples in a man
who Aad been 20 indulgent to the Doctor Egi-
dius who was considered as an Reretic, whale,
on the conlrary, the author of the Catechism had
combated the opinions of the heretics of England
and Flanders; that Soto had judged the book
of a Dominican mouk no less favourable, while
he treated an archbishop, whom he was bound
to respect, withont consideration; that he
would, in co auence, write to Rome and
Flanders, where he hoped that his proposi-
tions would be more favourably received than
at Valladolid; but that, at all events, Pedro .
de Soto, confessor to the emperor, would wiite
to Dominic, and he hoped that the Almighty
wounld allay the tempest which had been
raised around him.

Brother Pedro wrote to Dominic Soto, and

* Continued from (;onnlu de Montes.

a correspondence ensued between him and the
archbishop Carranza, on the censure of the
. rs
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catechism, and other works. Theee letters were
found Im(::s the papers of Carranza, when he
was arrested by the Inquisition. They proved
that Dominic Soto had violated the secresy
which he had sworn to maintain before the
Inquisition : some details were found in them
relating to the violence which had been used
to make him condemn the catechism of Car-
ranza; he was arrested by the Inquisition of
Valladolid, on account of these expressions.

It appears from the archbishop’s letter, that
the censure of Brother Dominic on Egidius was
mild and conciliating, which does not accord
with the substitution of the false exposition of
his principles mentioned by Gonzales de Mon-
tes. I mustobserve that thisauthor writes like
a man blinded by his hatred of his enemies,
whom he calls papists, hypocrites, and idola-
tors ; he even carries his fanaticism so far as
to look upon the death of the three judges of
Egidius during his lifetime as a panicuﬁef-
fect of divine justice. i

As the affair of Juan Gil is connected with
the histo
lateit. He was born of a good family in Le-
brija. In his youth he was extremely irregu-
Jar and dissipated, but all at once he guiued
society, and shut himself up to stady the
Scriptures with so much ardour, that his con-
versation, and his contempt for food and
clothing, made him pass for a madman.

He endeavoured to persuade priests and
monks, that the Roman church was far from
holding the pure doctrine of the Evangelists,
and became one of the sect of Luther. His
attachment to their doctrine was so great,
that when he was asked from whom he held
his mission, he replied from God himself
through the inspiration of the Holy Spirit.

‘This fanatic was denounced to the holy office,
which paid noattention to it, being persuaded
that Rodrigo was mad. But as he continned
to preach In the streets in favour of Lather-
anism, and as no part of his conduct showed
that he was deranged, he was arrested, and
would have been condemned to be delivered
over to secular justice, if the inquisitors had
not persisted in believing him to be mad, and
if his disciple Egidins, whose opinions were
not then known, had not undertaken his de-
fence. Nevertheless, he was condemned in
1540 as an heretic and false le ; he was
admitted to reconciliation, deprived of his
property, condemned to the San-benilo, to per-
getunl imprisonment;, and to assist on every

Sunday at the grand mass of St. Saviour of
Seville.

Several times, when he heard the preacher
advance propositions contrary to his own, he
raised his voice, and reproached him for his
doctrine : this boldness confirmed the inquisi-
tors in the opinion that he was deprived of
reason : he was shut up ina convent in the
town of San Lucar de Barremeda, where he
died at the age of fifty. Gonzales de Montes
considers hiin as a man miracalously sent b
God to preach the truth: he adds, that his

ito was suspended in the Metropolitan
church of Seville, where it excited great cu-

of Rodrigo Valero, I shall here re-.
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riosity, as he was the first person cendemned

as R{du e.

though, during the period of which I
have related the history, there were fewer Ju-
daic heretics than in former times, yet there
were many more than might be supposed. Of
this number was Mary de Bour, who
was born at Sarragossa: her father-in-law
was a native of Burgundy, of Jewish ex-
tration. A New Christian slave, (who had
renounced the law of Moses, to obtain his lib-
erty, and was afterwards bumed for having
relapsed,) in 1553, denounced Mary de Bour-
gogne, who resided in the city of Murcia,
and had attained her eighty-fifth year. This
man deposed that, before his conversion, some
person asked him if he waa a Christian; he
replied that he was a Jew, and that Mary
then said to him, You are right, for the Chris-
tians Rave neither faith nor law. It will no
doubt appear incredible, but the trial proves
that in 1557 she was still in prison, waiting
until sufficient proof was found to condemn
her. After having waited in vain, the inqui-
sitors eommaude? that Mary should be for-
tured, though she was then ninely years old,
and the council had decreed that in such cases
the criminal should only be intimidated by
the preparations. The inquisitor Cano says,
that the moderate torture was aprliod; ut
such were the effects of this gentle applica-
tion, that the unfortunats Mary ceased to live
and sufferina few days after.

The inquisitors took advantage of some ex-
pressions which escaped from the unfortunate
woman during the torture, to condemn her as
a Judaic heretic, in order toconfiscate herpro-
ﬁmy which was considerable. Her memory,

er children, and her descendants in the male
line were declared infamous, her bones and
eﬂitg were bumt, and her property confie-
cated. .
The Supreme Council showed a certain de-
gree of moderation in another affair, before
the tribunal of Toledo. Michael Sanchez
died in prison, before his sentence, which was
a pecaniary penalty, could be announced to
him: the inquisitors were unoertain if his
property was linble for this penalty; they
applied to the council, which replied in the
tive.
now terminate the history of the remark-
able events of the reign of Charles V. After
a reign of forty years, this prince abdicated
the crown in favour of his son Philip II., on
the 16th of January, 1556. He did not long
survive his abdication ; hedied in the convent
of the Jeronimites, at Yustein the province of
Estramadura, on the 21st of September, 1558,
;fed fifty-seven years and twenty-one days.

e had made his will at Brussels on the 16th
of June, 1654, and a codicil in the monastery
of Yuste, twelve days before his death.

Religion of Charles V.

Some historianshave asserted, that Charles
V. adopted, in his rvetreat, the opinions
of the German Protestants; that in his
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last illness he confessed himself to Constantine
Ponce de Ja Fuents, his preacher, who was
afterwards known to be a Lutheran ; thet af-
ter his death Philip 11. commissioned the in-
quisitors to examine the affair, and that the
holy office took on -of the emperor’s
will, to examine if it contained anything con-
trary to the true faith. Theee statements
compel me to enter into some details which
will elucidate this point of history.

To ascertain that the report on the religion
of Charles V. is only an invention of the pro-
testants and the enemies of Philip II., fm
sufficient to read the history of that prince,
and that of his father, composed by Gregorio
Leti. Although this historian has made use
of the least authentic documents, in his work,
he is entirely silent on this point, Heenters
into a minute detail of the )ife and oocupations
of Charles V. in his retreat, and he relates
many decisive proofs of his attachment to the
faith, and his zeal in wishing that it might
triumph over the Lutheran heresy; and
though no dependance can be placed on what
he says concerning the conversations of the
emperor with the Archbishop Carranza, (since
there is nothing relating to them in his trial,
which I have read,) yet it must be confess-
ed that his recital is m{nenviu very exact.

It is not true that Constantine Poncede la
Fuente attended the em in his lastmo-
ments, either as his preacher, (which office he
filled in Germany,) or as a bishop, since he
did not possess that dignity,as foreign au-
thors have asserted without any foundation,
or a4 his confessor, since he had never direct-
ed his conscience, though the emperor had
always looked upon him a8 one of the most
learned and res; le priests in his king-
dom. Lastly, Ponce de la Fuente could not
assist Charles V. in his last moments, since
it appears from his trial before the Inquisition
of Seville, that he was in the secret prisons of
the holy office long before the iliness of the
emperor. Don Prudent de Sandoval, bishop
of Tui and Pampeluna, speaking of the last
circumstances of the life of Charles V., relates
that when that prince heard of the imprison-
ment of Ponce, he said, OA! if Constan-
tn’mn’aanlccnﬁc,hc‘caral fic: an
expression very different from that which
he used on hearing that a monk named Domi-
nic de Guzsman had been arrested in the same
city : They might rather imprison Aim as a

In his codicil, written twelve days before
his death, Charles V. thus expressed himself:
¢ When I had been informed that many per-
sons had been arrested in some provinces, and
that others were to be taken, as accused of
Lutheranism, I wrote to the princess my
daaghter, to inform her in what manner the
should be punished, and the evil remedied. {
also wrote afterwards to Louis Quixada, and
authorized him to act in my name in the same
affair; and although 1 am persuaded that the
king my son, the princess my daughter, and
the ministers, have already, and will always,
makeevery possible effort to destroy so great
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an evil, with all the severity and promptitude
which it requires; yet, oonsideng what I
owe to the service of our Lord, the trinmph
of his faith, the preservation of his church and
the Christian religion, (in the defence of which
I have performed such painful- labours at the
risk of my life, as every one knows;) and
particularly desiring, above all, to inspire m
son, whose catholic suntiments I know, wi
the wish of imitating my conduct, and which
{ hope he will do, from knowing his virtue
and piety, I beg and recommend to him very
pnruonla;ll,u much as I can and am obliged
to do, and command him moreover in m
quality of father, and by the obedience whic
he owea me, to Jabour with diligence, as in a
point which particnlarly interests him, that
the heretics shall be prosecuted and chastised
with all the severity which their crimes de-
serve, withoul permilting any criminal to be
excepled, without any or the enlreaties,
or-rank, or guality of the persons: and that
my intentions m-ly bave their full and entire
effect, I desire him to protect the holy office
of the Inquisition, for the great numbers of
crimes which it prevents or punishes, remem-
bdering that I Aave charged Aim to do 30 in my
will, that he may fulfil his duty as a prince,
and render himself worthy that the Lord should
make his reign prosperous, conduct his affairs,
and protect him against his enemies, to my
consolation.”*

I have already stated, that no dependance
can be placed on the acoount given by Gre-
gorio Leti of the conversations ofthe emperor
with Don Bartholomew Carranza de Miranda,
archbishop of Toledo. It is certain that the
em| ad a t esteem for Carranza,
which induced him to give him the bishopric
of Cusco in America, in 1348, and of the
Canaries in 1549; to send him as theologian
of the emperor 1o the coancil of Trent, in 1545
and 1551; and to London with his son Philip
IL, King of Naples and England, in 1554, to
preach against the Lutherans. Nevertheless,
when he was informed, in his retreat at Yuste,
that Carranza had accepted the arch-bishoprie
of Toledo, to which King Philip had appoint.
ed him, he to feel less esteem for him,
because he did not know that Carransa had
refused that dignity,and named three persons
whom he considered more worthy to ocoupy
it. Philip was not only displeased at this
refusal, but he commanded him to obey the
will of his sovereign, and wrote to the m
who supported his order by a particular b
addressed to Br. Bartholomew.

Charles V., at this period, had Br. Joan de
Regla, a Jeronimite, and a learned theologian,
for his confessor. He had assisted at the
Council of Trent with Carranza, whom he
always treated as an enemy, because he was
jealous of his great reputation. 1 shall here-
after prove the disposition of Juan de Regla
towards Carranza; at present I shall only
show that he had great partin his disgrace
with the emperor, for being suspected of pro-

* Sandoval's History of Charles V., vol. ii.



fessing the same doctrine as Egidius, Con-
stantine, Cazalla, and others. Regla became
more fanatic than charitable, during the per-
secution which he suffered from the Inquisi-
tion of Sara, when he was prior of the
Convent of Santa Fé; e was condemned to
abjure eighteen Lutheran propositions, of
which the inquisitors declared him to be sus-
pected. The emperor was also informed,
throogh the private correspondence of his chil-
dren, that the Inquisition was occupied in
Kreparing the trial of the arch-bishopric for
eresy, when he came to visit him in his last
illness; and his presence was so disagreea-
ble, that, instead of conversing with him, as
Leti affirms, he did not speak one word.
Sandoval, with more probability, thus ex-
pressed himself: ¢ This evening the archbish-
op of Toledo, Carranza, arrived, but he could
not see the emperor. This prince had waited
for him with much impatience since he had
quitted Englnnd, because he wished to have
an explanation on certain things which had
been reported of him, and seemed to show
that his faith was suspected ; for that of the
prince was extremely lively, and anything
which appeared contrary to sound doctrine
gave him great pain. The archbishop retnrn-
ed on another day; the emperor who wished
mauch to hear him, admitted him into his pre-
sence, and told him to sit down, but did not
talk to him, and on that night he became much
worse,”#

The animosil{ of Juan de Regla against
the archbishop of Toledo, was soon manifested
in two voluntary informations before the In-
quisitor-General Valdes, on the 9th and 23rd
of December, in 1558, at Valladolid. I shall
at a future period explain all the articles of
the denunciation of Juan de Regla, bat it is
necessary to anticipate the order of time in
affairs, to prove that Charles V. was not dis-

poiq; to favour Carranza in the latter part of

s life.

The first denunciation took place on the
‘9th of December : it imported, that on the day
before the death of the emperor, the archbisho
of Toledo kissed his majesty’s hand, and lef
the room; that he soon afier returned; and
that he did so several times, llmugh the
ror showed very little desire 1o see Aim,and that
he gave him absolution before he confessed
him; which Juan de Regla imputed to the
archbishop as a sign of contempt or neglect
of the sacrament: that in one of these visits
he said to the emperor, Your majesty may be
'Lu;l‘ of canfidence, :‘or there is not, nor cver has

any sin, the of Jesus Raving sufficed
to?’m 2; that this discourse appeared bad
to him, and that there were present Br. Pedro
de Sotomayor and Br. Diego Ximenez, Dom-
inicans ; Br. Marcos Oriole de Cardona and
Br. Francis Villalba, monks of St. Jerome:
the last was his majesty’s preacher ; the Count
de Uropesa and Don Diego de Toledo his
brother; Don Louis @’Avila Zufliga, grand
commander of the military order of Alcantara,

* Sandoval’s History of Charles V,, tom. ii.
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and Don Louis de Quixada, major-domo to
the emperor.

The inquisitor-general would not admit the
Dominican monks as witnesses, because he
sup them subject to the archbishop : the
evidences of Count Oropesa and bis brother
were likewise rejected, because they were his
friends. The monk of St. Jerome declared
that the archbishop arrived at Yuste on a Sun-
day, two days before the death of the emperor;
that this prince would ot see him or allow Aim
to enter, but his major-domo, Don Louis de
Quixada, undertook to introduce him; that
Carranza threw himself on his knees in the
chamber, and that the emperor, withou! saying
a word fo him, fixed his eyes upon him, like
a person who wishes to expresa himself by a
look: that the persons who were present re-
tired : that when the archbishop came out of
the chamber he appeared discontented, and he
the witness believed that he was 80, having
heard from William, the Emperor’s barher,
that on the day when the news of the nomina-
tion of Carranza to the archbishopric of Toledo
arrived, his ma'ecg said, When I gave Aim
the bishopric of ics ke re il; now
Ae the 7 i of Toledo ; we shall
sece what we are to think of his virtue ; that
their private interview lasted a quarter of an
hour, and the archbishop called in the attend-
ants. When they entered, the archhishop
threw bimself on his knees, and his majesty .
made a sign for him to sit down, and repeat
some words of consolation ; that the prelate
threw himself on his knees, and repeated the
four first verses of the psalm De profundis,
not literally, but paraphrasing the text. His
majesty made him a aign to stop, and Car-
ranza then retired with the other attendants ;
that on another day, about ten in the evening,
just bhefore the emperor expired, Carranza
visited him, because he had been informed of
his danger, and gave him the crucifix to kiss,
and at the same time addressed some words
of consolation to him, at which the monks
Jnan de Regla, Francis de Villalba, Francis
Angulo, prior, and Louis de St. Gregoria,
were scandalized. These persons conversed
together afterwards, and said that the prelate
ought not to have spoken thus; but the wit-
ness could not recollect what the words were.
They were repeated to him, and he replied
thathe believed they might be the same, but
that he could not be certain, as he was read-
ing the passion of our Saviour, according to
St. Luke, at the time; he only remarked that
the monks looked at one another with a kind
of mystery.

Neither Francis Angulo, nor Louis de St.
Gregoria were examined, perhaps they were
deag.o“ Francis de Villalba, preacher to the
emperor, declared that he had not heard any-
thing in the emperor’s apartment which was
worthy of being reported to the Inquisition.
Being questioned as to what he thought of the
discourse which thearchbishop had addressed
to the emperor, he replied that he was only
present once, when the prelate recited some
verses of the Deprofundis; that Don Louis
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d’Avila aflerwards ru‘u::oud him to speak to
the emperor, and that he made him an exhor-
tation. When examined on the subject of the
words and the scandal, he replied that he did
not hear or see anything that could offend him.
Don Louis d’Avila y Zogiga cited the en-
trance of theprelate ; and that he took a cruci-
fix and knelt down, saying with a loud voice,
bdoldb” b’uwb.“m arall;ThM:’: no
ger any sin, all is par o witness
did not recollect if the archbishop said, end Aosw-
ever numerous lAe sins may be, tAey are allpar-
doned: that these words did not appear proper
to him, and_he requested the emperor’s preach-
er tomake him an exhortation, who afterwards
told him that his majeety appeared satisfied.
Don Louis de Quixada deposed that the
archbishop was with the emperor, three times
before his death, that he saw him take a cru-
cifix, and that he pronounced some words on
the subject of Jesus Christ dying for our sins,
but he could not recollect them, because his
employment as major-domo occupied him at
the time.
These circumstances show that Charles V.
was far from being inclined to Lutheranism
at his death. Itis equally false that the inqui-

sitors took his will, to examine if it contained
any sentiments tending to heresy. I have
read or consulted a multitude of books and
papers in the archives of the Inquisition, and
could not discover anything to support the
opinion ; so that nothing now remains but to
seek the origin of this fable.

A number of ciroumstances may Lave caused
the Inquisition to be mentioned in relating the
death of Charles V. The first is, that Car-
ranss, who attended him at his death, was
soon after arrested by the holy office; the
second, that his two preachers, Constantine
Ponce and Augustine Cazalla, were con-
demned by that tribunal; the third, that his
confessor, Juan de Regla, was obliged to ab-
jure certain p itions ; the fourth, that the
emperor himself had been threatened with ex-
commanication three years befors, as a fa-
vourer of heretics, by Paul IV.; the fifth, that
Philip I1. made use of the Inquisition in a va-
riog of circumstances entirely political.

harles V. died a Catholic ; and it is only

to be tted that he associsted so many

superstitions with his vatholicism and showed

:9 _nli.l:_eh attachment to the Inquisition during
is life. .

CHAPTER XIX.

Of tho Proceedings sgainst
gress of the Inquisition under the
which he llww:z towards it.

Trials of Charies V., Philip II., and the Duke
of Alva.

In 1585, John Peter Carafa, a noble Nea-

litan, and as such the subject of Charles
V: and Philip I1., was elevated to the holy
see, under the name of Paul IV., at the age
of saventy-nine years. Charles V. had then
mnonnoos the crown of Sicily in favour of
Prince Philip who was about to marry the
Queen of England. The new Pope mortally
hated the emperor, not only because he could
not bear to be a subject to the house of Aus-
tria, but because this prince and his son fa-
voured the families of Colonna and Sforza,
which he looked upon as the rivals of his
house. The kingdom of Naples passed at
that time for a fief of the holy see. Psul
1V. undertook  to deprive Charles of the
imperial purple, and his son of the crown
of Sicily, and to dispose of it in favoor
of one of his nephews, with the assis-
tance of the king of France, or to give the
kingdom to some French prince. He com-
menced the proceedings against Charles
V. and Philip, by the preparatory instruetion,
toshow that they were enemies of the holy
see, particularly in protecting the families of

orza and Cblonna, whose hatred for the

outiff was well known.

To these reasons it was to be alleged that

inst Charles V. and Philip II. as Schismatics and Favourers of Heresy.—Pro-
last of these Princes.—Consequences of the Particular Favour

Charles V. was a favourerof heretics, and
suspected of Lutheranism, since the publica-
tion of the imperial decrees at the diet of
Augsburg, in 1664. The fiscal of the A
tolical chamber then demanded that the Pope
should declare Charles V. to be deprived of
the imperial crown, and that of Spain and its
depons::cie-, and Philip of the throne of
Naples ; that bulls of excommunication should
be issued against them, and the people of
Germany, Spain, Italy, and puﬁculu!{ of
Naples, released from- their oath of fidelity.
Paul IV. suspended the trial at this s

of the proceedings to continne it when he
judged it convenient. He revoked at the
same time all the bulls which his prede-
cessors had expedited in favour of the
Spanish monarchs, for the collection of the
annual subsidy im on the clergy, and
for the funds destined for the Aoly de.
The Pope was not content with this hostile
measure ; he entered into an alliance with
Henry 11., King of France, to make war up-
on the House of Austria, until its princes
were deprived of their kingdoms.

Charles V. was then at Brussels, oocngied
in ceding the empire of Germany to his bro-
ther Ferdinand, King of Hungary and Bohe-
mia, and in making over the crown of Spain
and the countship of Flanders to his son.

This policy was useful to Charles V., as it
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threw the weight of the embarrassment on
Philip, who had jast arrived from England to
receive his father’s instructions how to govern
Spain, The circumstances in which they
found themselves required the greatest pru-
dence, for they not only had to fear the abuse
which the Pope might make of his apostolical
and temporal power, butalso the consequences
of the alliances which his" holiness had just
signed with the King of France.
ides the Council of State ghieh Charles
and Philip always consulted before they de-
cided on any subject) they deemed it neces-
sary to have jndFuenu of conscience, to balance
the authority of the supreme head of the Ca-
tholic Church. On the 16th of November,
1553, the famous consultation of Brother Mel-
chior Cano was framed at Valladolid, which
l::l. publ?hd at Madrid in 1809, l':l my col-
ton ifferent papers, ancient and modern,
on malr'{mo{ml i sons, and other eccle-
siastical di tons. The decision of Cano
was, that in all similar cases the only and
proper remedy is not only to deprive the
temporal sovereign of Rome of the power of
injuring, but to reducehim to the necessity of
accepting reasonable terms, and of acting
with more prudence in future. Other theo-
logians decided that the concessions made
by the Court of Rome were irrevocable, and
had the force of a true contract passed for the
benefit of an empire or kingdom.

The Pope, informed of these decisions,
commanded the inquisitor-general to punish
the authors of it; he was supported by most
of the prelates of the kingdom, at the head of
whom was the Cardinal Siliceo, Archhishop
of Toledo, who had been the king’s preceptor.
Philip, who had been King oF Spain from
January, 1656, wrote from London, in the
month of July following, the letter to his sis-
ter, the governess of the kingdom, which I
have inserted in my diplomatic collection. It
is as follows :—

« Since I informed you of the conduct of the
Pope, and of the news received from Rome,
1 have learnt that his holinesa proposes to
excommunicate the emperor and me, to put
my states ander an interdict, and to prohibit
the divine service. Having cousulted learned
men on this subject, it appears that it is not
only an abuse of the power of the sovereign
pontiff, founded only on the hatred and pas-
sion, which, certainly, has not heen provoked
by our conduct, but that we are not obliged to
submit to what he has ordained in respect to
our persons, on account of the great scandal
wbich would be caused by our confessing
ourselves guilty, since we are notso, and the

t sin which we should commit in so doing.

n consequence, it has been decided, that if I
am interdicted from certain things, I am not
obliged to deprive myself of them, asthose do
who are excommunicated, although a censure
may be sent to me from Rome, according to
the disposition of his holiness. For after hav-
ing destroyed the sects in England, brought
this country under the influence of the charch,
pursued and punished the heretics without
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ceasing, and obtained a success which has al-
ways been constant, I see that his holiness
evidently wishes to ruin my kingdom, without
considering what he owes to his dignity ; and
1 have no doubt that he would succeed if we
consented to his demands, since he has already
revoked all the legstions which Cardinal Pole
received for this kingdom, and which had
produced eo much benefit. .These reasons,
other important considerations, the necessity
of preparing for all events, and of protectin,
our peoplefrom being surprised, have indu
us to draw up, in the name of his majesty,
and in our own, an act of recusation in form,
of which 1 intended to send you a copy; but
as this piece is very long, and the courier
is setting out for France, it could not be
done, and 1 will send it by the courier going
by sea, who will soon set ont. When you re-
ceive it, you must write to the prelates, the
grandees, to the cities, universities, and the
heads of orders and inform them of all that has
passed ; you must direct them to look upon the
censures and interdict sent from Rome as non-
existent, because they are null, unjust, and
without foundation, for ] have taken counsel
on what is permittted in these circumstances.
If any act of the Pope should arrive in the
interim, it will be sufficient to prevent it from
being received, accepted, or executed ; but to
preclude the necessity of coming to this ex-
tremity, you must cause the frontiers to be
strictly gnarded, as we have done in England,
:.lhxlig. no':: of t(:tue m[:'lom. should be notified or
elivered, an severely an; on
who shall darcpt: ds'dr:'goylc lhm.lybewizm}'t i
not to be permitied that we should conlinue to
dissimulate. 1If it is impossible to prevent
their introduction; and if any one attempts to
put them in force, you must oppose their exe-
cution, as we have powerful motives for this
command ; and this prohibition muet extend
to the kingdom of Arragon, to which you must
write if it is necessary. It has been since
known, that in the bull published on Ho‘l‘y
Thursday, the Pope has excommaunicated all
those who have taken or shall take the pro-
perty of the church, whether are kings or
emperors, and that on Good Friday, he com-
manded the prayers for his majesty tobe omit-
ted, although the Jews, Moors, heretics, and
schismatics ave prayed for on that day. This
proves that the evil is becoming serious, and
induces us to recommend more particularly
the execution of the measures which we have
prescribed, and of which we shall give an ac-
count to his roajesty.”*

Philip, for the time, prevented the inquisi-
tor-general from trying any of those persons
who had been marked as suspected of heresy,
among whom were not only the theologians
and canonists who had been consulted, but
many counsellors of state who supported their
opinion against Cardinal Siliceo and his ad-
herents.

The Pope was obstinate in his resolutions ;
and deceived by the tranquillity which Philip

* Cabrera. Hiat. Philip II., Book 2. chap. vi. ,
1 Cabrera, ibid. B. L chep. viii. and
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saffered him to enjoy in Rome, he placed him-
self at the brink of the precipice. The Duke
of Alva, who was viceroy of Naples (and
whose character was at least as harsh as that
of the Pope,) in September 1556, left his
vernment, and occupied the statws of the
oly see, even to thog:tu of Rome; and
Panl IV., finding that republio of Venice
had deserted him, and being pressed by the
cardinals and people, demanded an armistice,
which was granted. Instead of taking ad-
vantage of this favour to make peace on
reasonable terms, the Pope confirmed his alli-
ance with Henry II., and raised a war between
that mounarch and the King of Spain, although
Charles V. had, in 1555, signed a truce of
five years with that prince. Henry, having
lost the famous battle of St. Quenun, on the
10th of August, 1557, the Pope became so
alarmed, that he demanded a peace at the
time when the Duke of Alva was preparing
to enter Rome at the head of his lrmg. The
viceroy renounced his design, but had the
boldness to tell the Pope that he would not
make until he had asked pardon of the
king, his master, for having treated him with
so litile respect. This message increased
the alarm of the old pontiff, who had recourse
to the mediation of Venice. The Pope refused
to negotiate with the Duke of Alva, but said
that he would consent to any proposal from
the King of Spain, as he was persuaded that
he wou?d not impose any condition on him
contrary to his honour, or to the diguity of the
holy see.

e Duke of Alva wrote to Philip, to re-
3::“: that, in this instance, he would dis, Iay

e severity necessary to prevent new divi-
sions. But this prince (who had signed on
the 10th of July, 1556, the excellent letter
already quoted) had no person in the following
Par to inspire him with sufficient energy to
ollow the advice of his viceroy. He wrote
to command him to conclude a peace imme-
diately, ‘‘as he would rather lose the privi-
)| of his crown, than infringe those of the
holy see in the slightest degree.”

e Duke of Alva was extremely displeased
at this resolution, but he immediately obeyed
his master, and this singular peace was signed
on the 14th of September, 1557, by the Duke
of Alva, and Cardinal Carafa, nephew and
Plenipotentiary to the Pope. The envoy made
no-reparation to Philip 11., and the following
singular article is part of the treaty :—* His
holiness will receive from the Catholic king,
through his plenipotentiary, the Duke of Alva,
all the necessary submissions to obtain the
pardon of his offences, without prejudicing the
engagement of the king to send an ambassa-
dor extraordinary for the particular object of
the pardon which he demands, it being un-
derstood that his holiness will restore him to
favour as a submissive son,and worthy to
share the benefits which the holy sen is accus-
tomed to bestow on its children and the other
Christian princes.”

The haughty pontiff acknowledged that he
had obtained more than he had hoped for, and

T

to show his satisfaction, bestowed the highest
honours on the Duke of Alva; he invited him
to eat at his own table, and received him in
the palace of the Vatican.

Gregorio Leti is right in attributing all the
evils that have sinoe arisen from the excessive
authority which the priests have a ted
over laymen, to this conduct of Philip II.
Paul IV. soon displayed bis contempt for
Philip 11.and his father, since, in five months
after the treaty, on the 13th of Febrnary, 1558,
he addressed a brief to the inquisitor-general
Valdés, in which he revived all the la-
tions of the councils and pontiffs againet here-
tics and schismatics. He commanded him
to prosecute them, and punish them according
to the constitutions, and, above all, to deprive
all such persons of their dignities and offices,
whether they were bishops, archbishops,
patriarchs, cardinala, orlegates, barons, counts,
marguisses, , princes, kings, or emperors.
Fortunately, neither Charles V. nor his son
had embraced the opinions of Luther, yet it
was certainly the intention of the Pope to
subject them to the dispositions of his bull,

Of the Inguisitions of Sardinia, Flanders, Milan,
Naples, Galicia, America, and the Sea.

In 1569, Philip II. commanded the Inquisi-
tion of Sardinia to conform rigorously to the
rules of the holy office of Spain in prosecu-
dnithe accused, althouﬁh it was represented
to him that they had hitherto only known
those of Ferdinand V., which were less se-
vere.

Philip did not treat his Flemish subjects
with less rigour. In 1523 Charles V. ap-
gointed Francis de Hult, a )ay counsellor of

rabant, inquisitor-general for the states of
Flanders; and Adrian V1. invested him with
the apostolical jurisdiction, on the condition
that he had priests and theologians for asses-
sors. Soon after three provincial inqnisitors
were appointed, the overseer of the regular
canons of Ypres for Flanders and its depend-
encies ; the overseer of the clergy of Mons for
Hainault, and the Dean of Louvain for Bra-
bant, Holland, and the other provinces. The
inquisitors-general appointed by Clement V11,
were Cardinal Everard de la Marche, Bishop
of Liege, and Francis de Hult, before men-
tioned. This measure did not deprive the
other inquisitors of their privileges; those of
Louvain, in 1537, celebrated several auloe-da-
Jé and conderaned sixty persons to different
punishments. In 1529 terrible edicts were
1ssued n{ninst heretics, which were renewed
in 1531, but with some mitigation.

At the death of the Dean of Louvain, Paal
IIL in 1537, appointed as inquisitor-general
for the Low Eountry the successor in the
deanery, and the canon Douce; they were
proved by Charles V. In 1555 Julius III.
authorised the sub-delegates of the dean and
canon; Panl 1V. did the same in 1660 for the
overseer of Valcanet, and the theological
docter of Louvain, Michael Bayo. All
men took the title of ecclesiastical ministers
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from the year 1550, when Charles V. pro-
hibited them from ever taking the name of
Snquisi because it was obnoxious to the
people. The Flemish lnquisition was ex-
tremely severe in the first period of its exis-
tence; it inflicted the same punishments as
that of Spain, but a ﬁlied them to a greater
number of cases. ilip II. moderated the
action of this tribunal by an edict in 1556.

Such was the state of the Flemish Inquisi-
tion in 1559, when a bull of Paul IV. was re-
ceived from Rome, by which three ecclesias-
tical provinees were created, the bishoprics of
which were subjected to the glrisdiction of
the Archbishops of Malines, Cambray, and
Utrecht: twelve canons were instituted for
each cathedral, three of whom were to be in-

nisitors for life. This measure caused the

rst indication of the rebellion which raged
in Holland and the United Provinces in 1562.
The people maintained that they had only
tolerated the inquisitors since 1532, because
they oonsidered them as temporary agents;
but that they would never allow the perma-
nent establishment of an institution so obnox-
ious to the provinces. This opposition in-
creased when it was known that Philip II.
intended to organize the eighteen Inquisitions
of Flanders, on the plan of that of Spain,
which had long beenregarded as a sanguinary
tribunal.

This prt?eet was the more dreaded, as
many Spaniards had fled from the Inquisition
to Holland. These emigrations were most
numerous after the year 1550, when several
Bibles, which had been printed in the Spanish
hnguage in the Low Countries, were pro-
hibited, as containing the opinions of the new
heretics. Notwithstanding the obstinacy with
which the King of Spain pursued the estab-
lishment of the Inquisition in Flanders, he
failed in his enterprise, also in his attempt to
force the Low Countries to receive the regular
tribunal. The l"leming! persisted in op
ing every thing resembling the Inquisition,
and their resistance was the cause of the
long and bloody wars which exhausted the
treasures and armies of Spain during balf a

eenmx.
In the following year, 1563, Philip TI. de-
creed the necessary measures to establish the
‘I’nqnilition atPMilan. " He com:::nicalod his
esign to the Pope, who a| to approve
it,but was m)lyl:!?splnu}:gxnnso it It:rm!ed
to diminish the power of the holy see. The
Milunese immediately protested against the
introdaction of a tribunal, of which they had
formed the moet unfavourable opinion. The
bishops of Lombardy were not less averse to
it, as they knew that in Spain the bishops
were not only deprived of all power, but had
fallen into contempt from the despotism of the
in?:::itou. who had taken possession of the
episcopal privileges, and enjoyed them in
peace under the protection of the sovereign,
who had no adviser in these affairs but the
inquisi neral.
e city of Milan sent deputies to the Pope
(who was a native of that place,) to entreat
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him to preserve his country from the danger
which threatened it. They aleo sent deputies
to Madrid to demand that things should remain
in the same state, and applied at the same
time to the Milanese bishops at the Council
of ‘Trent to support their cause before that
celebrated assembly. Pius IV. told the de-
uties that he would never allow the Spanish
nquisition to be established in Milan, as Ae
knew its extreme severity, and promised that
their tribunal should be dependent on the
Court of Rome, whose decrees were extremely
mild, and gave the accused every facility in
their defence.

During the course of this negotiation, the
Duke de Sesa, wishing to execute his mas-
ter’s private orders, established the tribunal
of the Inquisition in the city of Milan, of
which he was the governor, and published the
names of the sub-delegated inquisitors. This
declaration displeased the Milanese, who be-
g:w excite popular commotions, and cried

live the king ! {eruh the Inguisition !

Tﬁe Milanese bishops at the Council of
Trent disinclined all the Italian prelates to
the Spanish Inquisition; the legates of the
Pope who presided at the council, declared
in favour of the Milanese, and Cardinal S.
Charles Borromeo pleaded the cause of his
countrymen in the college of cardinals, and
Blaoed them under their protection. The

uke de Sesa, who observed all that passed,
foresaw that the result would be disa ble
to his master, and wrote to Philip, who

‘sbandoned his design.®

These events did not prevent Philip II.
from attempting to introduce the inquisition
at Naples, although both Ferdinand V. and
Charles V. had faﬂed in the enterprise; but
his efforts only served to disgrace him and
destroy his authority in Naples, as they had
before done in Flanders and Milan.

It may be snpposed that Philip did not for-
et his American dominions. Feldinmd v.
aving resolved to establish the Inquisitionin

the New World, charged Cardinal Ximenez
de Cisneros with the conduct of the affair, and
in 1516 he appointed Don Juan Quevedo,
Bishop of Cuba, the delegated inquisitor-
neral, for the Spanish colonies then known
y the name of . the kingdom of Terra Firma,
and gave him the power of aprointing fudgo
and officers for the tribanal. Charles V.
wished to extend the benefits of this pious in-
stitution, and Cardinal Adrian, by his order,
appointed, on the 7th of January, 1519, Den
Alphonso Maneo, Bioh;r of Porto Rico, and
Brother Pedro de Cordova, inquisitors for
the Indies and Isles of the Ocean, and gave
them the requisite powers to establish the tri-
bunal/’

The new inquisitors began to prosecute the
baptized Indians, who still retained some
idolatrous practices. The viceroys informed

* Loti, Life of Philip II. Book 17.—Reinaldi,
Annales An. 1563, No. 146.—Palavicini,
Hist. Council of Trent, Book 23 Cbz?' -
Sarpi, Hist. Council of Trent, Book 8, No. 43.
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the King of Spain of the evils produced by
this system: in fact the Indians fled into the
interior and joined the savage tribes, which
considerably retarded the progress of popula-
tion in those vast countries. Charles V. in
1538 prohibited the inquisitors from prose-
cuting the Indians, who were to be under the
jurisdiction of the bishops. Theinquisitors of
America were not more submissive than those
of Spain, which obliged the lrrixmo to renew
his orders in 1649. Philip Il. undertook to
organize the tribunal on the plan of that of
Spain. In 1553 and 1565 he renewed his fa-
ther’s injunctions to leave the Indians under
the jurisdiction of the bishopa; and in 1569
he published a royal ordinance, importing
that the inquisitor-general had appointed in-
quisitors, and commanding the viceroys and
governors to give them every assistance in
their estublishment. These inquisitors were
received with great ceremony at Panama and
Lima, when they first formed the tribunal.

In 1570 Philip I1. appointed an Inquisition
at Mexico, and in 1571 established three tri-
bunals for all America; one at Lima, one at
Mexico, and the other at Carthagena, assi
ing to each the extent of territory which
they were to possess, and subjecting them to
the authority of the inqnisitor-general and the
Supreme Council.

T'he first auto-da-fé in Mexico took placein
1574 ; it was celebrated with so much pomp
and splendour, that eye witnesses have de-
clared that it could only be compared to that
or Valladolid in 1559, at which Philip II.
and the royal family attended. A French-
man and an Englishman were burnt as impeni-
tent Lutherans ; eighty persons were recon-
ciled, and subjected to different penances.
‘The Inquisition of Carthagena was not estab-
lished at this period ; it was founded in 1610
by Philip 111. .

The great fleet of the Catholic league against
the emperor of Constantinople, which gined
the famous batile of Lepanto, inspired Philip
II. with the project of creating an Inquisition
for heretics who might be found in ships.
As the authority of the inquisitor-general did
not extend beyond the dominions of the King
of Spain, it was considered neceesary to appl
to the Pope, wbo in 1571 granted the brief,
which was demanded, authorizing the inqui-
sitor-general tocreate the new tribunal, and
appoint judges and officers. It was firse
known by the name of the Inguisition of the
Galleys, but it was afterwards called the Jn-
gm’n’tion of the Fleels and Armies; it existed

ut a short period, as it was found to impede
the ro%reu of navigation.

e Inquisition was unknown in Galicia
for more than a century before this period.
‘This province formed part of the district sub-
{ect to the holy office of Old Castile and the

ingdom of Leon; it had escaped this scourge,
but at last Philip II. resolved that it should
have an Inquisition to superintend the sea-
ports, in order to prevent the introduction of
pernicious books, and the entrance of persons
who would teach the doctrines of the Pro-
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testants, The royal ordinance which estabs
lished the Inquisition in Galicia was expedi- -
ted in 1574, and the tribunal was organized
in the same year.

Disputes with the Inguisition of Portugal. -

The establishment of the power of Philip
IL. in Portugsl, after the death of the Cardinal
King Don Henry, who bad occapied the
throne until 1580, gave that prince another
opportunity of signalizing his zeal for the In-
quisition. I have already indicated the pe-
riod of its institution, and the attendant
circumstances®. Don Henry was inquisitor-
general from 1539 to 1578, when he succeeded
to the crown of Portngal, after the death of
his nephew Don Sebasuan. He bestowed the
archbishopric of Lisbon, which he occupied
at the time of his accession, on Don George
Almeida, and likewise appointed him the
third inquisitor-general of the kingdom.

In 1544, Don Henry (who then occupied
the see of Evora,) and Cardinal Don Juan
Pardo de Tabera, inquisitor-general of Spain,
with the consent of their respective sovereigns,
published a circular, in which they announced,
that as the two states were 80 near each other,
and the extent of the frontier favoured the
flight of the persons prosecuted by the Inqui-
sition, they had agreed, 1st, to commaunicate
reciprocally everything which might interest
the Inquisition; 2nd, to armrrest in their re-
spective jurisdictions those subjects who were
designated ; 3rdly, to keep them prisoners, and
to claim the wrinngt of lne trial, because this
measure was less inconvenient than the ex-
change of the prisoners.

This convention was observed for some
time ; but in 1588 the Inquisitors of Lisbon
sent a requisition to those of Valladolid, to
deliver up to them Gonzales Baez, who had
been arrested at Medina del Campo: they re-
plied that this demand could not be admitted,
as it was contrary to the convention. The
inquisitors of Portugal acknowledged the

ustice of this claim; but those of Spain, who

in 1568 found themselves in the same situn-
tion, refused to conform to the measure, be-
cause they had at their head Cardinal Espi-
nosa, who was all-powerful with Philip.
The Cardinal informed Don Henry that he
had not ratified the convention, and that he
considered it more proper that the prisoner
should be given up to the tribunal which had
institnted the trial. He requested Cardinal
Henry to apply to both their sovereigns, and
promised to propose to the King of Spain a
measure which should be a general rule for
all cases in future. .

Don Henry commissioned Francis Pereira,
the Portuguese ambassador at Madrid, to ter-
minate this dispute with Cardinal Espinosa.
While this affair was being negotiated, seve-
ral Spaniards who had been condemned by
the tribunal of Llerena to be burnt in eﬂiﬁy as
contumacious, were arrested in Portugal by
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the inquisitors of Evora, who immediately de-
manded the writings of the trial according to
the convention of 1544. The tribnn:f of
Llerena replied that it was impossible not to
follow the example of Cardinal Espinosa. Al-
most at the same time these inquisitors ar-
vested some Portuguese who bad escaped
from their country. The hishop of Portale-
groe, inquisitor of Evora, reclaimed the prison-
ers, bat the tribunal refused to give them up,
if the inhabitants of Albuquerque, who had
been arrested by the Inquisition of Evora,
were not returned. Cardinal Henry yielded
to the Spanish Inquisition, but wrote to them
on the 5th of December to address a formal
requisition on this subject, while the Inquisi-
tion of Evora would do the same to Cardinal
Espinosa. The Supreme Council consented
to this arrangement, and the prisoners were
exchanged.

The inquisitor-general, Don Henry, died
in 1580. The crown of Portugal then de-
scended to Philip 11., as being the Son of the
Empress Jsabella, the sister of John III.,
King of Portugal. As the office of grand-
inquisitor was vacant, he wished to sappress
it, and place Portugal ander the dominion of
that of Spain. He represented to the Pope
that there would be more unity in the proceed-
ings; but this attempt was unsuccessful, as
he had only been acknowledged king, on con-
dition that the crown should continue inde-
pendent of that of Spain.

‘When the Duke of Braganza was proclaimed
King of Portugal in the reign of Philip IV,
Don Francis de Castro, grand-inquisitor, and
Don John de Vasconcellas, a member of the
council of the Inquisition, remained faithful
to the King of Spain. The new sovereign
(who had taken the name of John IV.) wished
to increase hi:gany. Influenced by the ad-
vice of England, which had favoared the in-
surrection, he resolved to restore to the Jews
the liberty which they enjoyed before the
establishment of the Inquisition ; but he was
opposed by the two inquisitors above men-
tioned. e council even condemned a de-
cision of the university of Paris, in which it
was said that the king conld appoint and con-
secrate bishops without bnlls from Rome, if
Pope Innocent X. refused to grant them.
John IV, threatened the inquisitors with im-
prisonment, and even with death, but they were
ready to suffer anything rather than consent
to the emancipation of the Jews. Don Fran-
cisco de Castro. died, and it was necessary to
appoint_another inquisitor-general; but the
bulls of confirmation were not less difficalt to
obuain than those for bishops, as the Po
Urban VIIIL., Innocent X., and Alexander
VIl., avoided declaring in favour of either
the King of Spain or the Duke of Braganaa.
At last Portugal trinmphed over the efforts of
Spain, and the Inquisitions of the two king-
doms seldom had any communication.

That I may not pass over any event tending
to prove the attachment of Philip 1I. for the
Inquisition, I shall here mention a project for
s military order of the holy office, which
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would never have been conceived, if the rt\-'
tiality of the monarch for this' tribunal had
not been generally known.

Some fanatics thought to please him, by
founding a new military order under the name
8. Mary of the White Sword. The object of
this institution was to defend the Catholic re-
ligion, the kingdom of Spain, its frontiers and
forts, from any invasion; to prevent the in-
gress of Jews, Moors, and heretics ; and to
execute any meéasures which the inquisitor
might command. Tobe a member of this or-
der it was necessary to produce proofs and
witnesses that they descended neither from
Jews, Moors, nor any Spaniard condemned and
punished by the holy office ; nobility was not
necessary. The members.of this association
were independent of the jurisdiction of the
bishops and civil authorities ; they were allto
take the field and fight in defence of the fron-
tier towns, but they acknowledged no chief but
the inquisitor-general.

This scheme was adopted by the provinces
of Castile, Leon, the Asturias, Aragon, Na-
varre, Galicia, Guipuscoa, Alava, Biscay, Va-
lencia, and Catalonia. The statutes of the
order received the approbation of the inquisi-
tor-general and the Supreme Council ; the
founders and the representatives of the metro-
politan churches of Toledo, Seville, Samingo,
Grenada, Tarragona, Sarragosss, Valencia,
and forty-eight noble families known for
having never mixed their blood with that of
the New Christians, addressed an humble
supplication to the king to obtain the confir-
mation of them. They represented that the
order of the While Sword offered the greatest
advantages to Spain; that it would increase
the army without any expense of public trea-
sure; that its services would reform and
ameliorate the morals of the people; lastly,
that it would shed fresh lustre on the nobility
of the kingdom.

Philip commissioned his Sovereign Counci)
to examine the plan of this institution, which
was likewise discussed in several assemblies
appointed by his majesty. The opinions were
vartious; but I shall make known that of a
Spanish gentleman, as it deserves to be re-
corded.

Don Pedro Venegas, of Cordova, represent-
ed to the king that the new order was not
necessary, as the Inqnisition had not found
the want of it in the most difficult circum-
stances; tnat the bishops reformed the morals
of the people as much as could be expected
from human natore; that Spain had never
wanted troops even when part of the Peninsu-
la was occupied by enemies; that other
military orders existed, who were obliged ‘to
obey their respective grand-masters; that
these dignities were now possessed by the
monarch in virtue of apostolical bulls; that,
the new establishment might one day attack
the authority of the sovereign, if the inquisi-
tor-general made a bad nse of the troops at
his disposal ; that several similar instances
had been known of the grand-masters of the
urders above mentioned ; that this institution
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om, that | and being jealons of his authority, he was not

would create two es in the ki
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of the Old Christians and that of the New, | disposed to place an army in tberowor of the

and that the distinction ted to the first | inquisitor-general, who might follo
would cause murders m‘r:ivil wars, and | ample; he therefore commanded

threaten the monarchy with ruin.

w their ex-
that the

prooeedings should be suspended, and the in-.

Philip II. thonf:c seriously on what the | terested persons informed that it had not been
grand-masters of the military orders had done, | found necessary to create & new order.
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CHAPTER XX.
The Inquisition celebrates at Valladolid, in 1559, two Autos-da-fé againet the Lutherans, in the pre-
y. .

sence of some members

First Awte-da-fé.

Tax trial of Juan Gil, Bishop of Tortoss,
so much alarmed many Lutherans, that they
uvitted the kingdom. Of the number were
assiodorus de Beina, Juan Perex de Pineda,
Cyprian de Velera, and Julian Hernandez;
the three first published Catechisms, transla-
tions of the Bible and other works written in
the Castilian tongue, in foreign countries.®
Juan Perez published this at Venice in 1556,
and they were soon after introduced into
Spain by Hernandez, who was arrested by the
Inquisition. The citations and inquiries made
in consequence of the trial of Hernandes, in
order to discover the religious opinions of the
rsons with whom he associated, caused an
nfinite number of trials to be instituted
during the fifteen years following, in all the
tribunals of Spain, particularly in those of
Seville and Valladolid. In 1557 and 1538,
the Inquisition arrested a t number of
persons distinguished by their birth, their
offices, or their doctrine. Some indications
found in the writi of the trials, of a vast
scheme tending to the pro tion of the opi-
nions of Luther, persuaded Philip 11, and the
inquisitor Valdés that it was necessary to
treat all the convicted persons with the ut-
most severity. Philip wrote to Rome on the
subject on the 4th Janusry, 15659. The Po,
addressed to Valdés a brief, in which he
authorized him to give over to secular
justice all dogmatizing Lutherans, even
those who had not relapsed, and who, to
avoid capital punishment, had given equivo-
cal signs of repentance. If history had no-
thing to alloss inst Philip II. and the
im‘maitor Valdés, but the solicitation for this
ball, it would be sufficient to devote their
names to infam{.

On the 5th of January, 1559, a second bull
revoked sll the permissions granted for reading
prohibited books, and cha the inquisitor-

ral to prosecute all who should read or

eep them in their houses; and as his Holiness
was informed that a great number of wri-
tings which tended to propagate the Lutheran

* Pellecyr, Ensago de Bibliotica de Traduc*
u;’ru Espatioles. icles, Reina, Peres, and

of the Royal Famil;
doctrines were circulating in Spain, the bull
commanded the confessors to ask their peni-
tents if they know or had heard of any per-
sons : nf, reading, or dispersing them ;
that they should also impose upon them the
obligation of communicating such circum-
stances to the holy office on pain of excom-
munication; and that the confessors who
omitted this duly should be punished as
En’ilty. oven if persons they absolved were
k'mhopo. amhbishopi.l patriarchs, ctrdiuiln,
7 or emperors. It is easy to perceive
ho::mch these measures must h’ave increased
the number of accusations; and to encourage
the informers, Philip renewed the edict of
Ferdinand V., published at Toro in 1505, by
which they were entitled o the fourth part of

the confiscated property.

The muh.itn(ro of n’oonudons caused by
these bulls, induced the inquisi neral to
delegate his. powers to P de la

Gasca, Bishop of Palencia, who established
himself at Valladolid, and to Don Juan Gon-
zales de Munebrega, Bishop of Tarragona,
who repaired to Seville. Valdés at the same
time executed the dispositions of another bull,
which -granted to the holy office, on account
of its increased expenses in travelling and
maintaining so great a number of prisoners,
the revenues of a canonship in each metropo-
litan church, cathedral, and coll in the
kingdom. Another brief gran them a
subsidy of one hundred thousand dacats of
gold, to be imposed on the ecclesiastical
revenues of the kingdom, to pay. the debts
contracted from the same cause., It is sur-
prising that, sfter eighty years of confiscation,
the establishment should complain of distress.
These bulls, however, were not sufficient to
procure money, owing to the resistance of
several chapters, particularly that of Majorca.
In 1574 they still remained unexecuted, when
Gregory XII1. confirmed them, and the King
of Spain was abliged to force the rebel canons
to submit.

The arrest and trial of so ta number of
Spaniards necessarily caused an auto-da-fé to
be celebrated in many tribunals; bat as the
victims in those of Valladolid snd Seville
were persons distinguished, some for their
nobility, others for their doctrine, and all for
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the purity of their lives, the ceremonies in
these cities were more noted than the others;
and 1do not hesitate in affirming that all that
has been written aguinst the Spanish Iuquisi-
tion in Germany and France was only caused
by the treatment of the Lutherans at Seville
and Valladolid (for, until then, scarcely any-
thing had been written on the sabject,) though
the namber of Lutherans who perished was
small, when compared to the enormous and
almost incredible number of: those who had
suffered as Jews or Mahometsns.

The first solemn aulo-da-fé of Valladolid,
was celebrated on the S1st of May, 1559, in
the grand square, and in the presence of the
Prince Don Carlos, and the Prinoess Juana,
of the civil authorities, and of a considerable
number of the grandees of Spain, besides an
immense maltitude of people. The arrange-
ment of the scaffolds ‘seata have been
llm:iy described in several works, and repre-
sented in prints. . Fourteen persons were
relaxed, the bones and effigy -of a woman
burnt, and sixteen individuals were admitted
to reconciliation with Some de-
tails of the principal persons may be found
interesting.

Donna Eleonora de Vibero (the wife of
Pedro Cazalla, who held an office in the
Treasury,) daughter of Juan de Vibero, who
had s similar employment, and Constance
Ortiz, was proprietress of a chapel in the
Benedictine convent of Valladolid. She had
been interred without any doubt of her ortho-
doxy ; but she was aacused of Lutheranism
by the fiscal of the Inquisition, though he
said she had concealed her opinions, re-
reiving the sacraments and the eucharist at
her death. He supported his accusation by
the testimony of several witnesses who had
been tortured or threatened, the resunlt of
which was that the house of Eleanora de
Vibero had been used as a temple by the
Lutherans. Her memory and her posterity
were condemned to infamy, her property con-
fiscated, her body disinterred and burnt with
her efligy, and her house razed to the ground,
and prohibited from being rebuilt; a monu-
ment with an inscription rehlini to this
event was placed on the spot. I have seen
the column and the inscription; 1 have heard
that it was destroyed in 1809.

The other principal persons who perished in
this auto-da-fé were, Doctor Augustin Cazalla,
priest snd canon of Salamanca, almoner and
preacher to the king and emperor; he was the
son of Pedro Cazalla and Eleanora de Vibe-
ro, and descended from the Jews both by his
father and mother. He was accused o :ro-
fessing the Lutheran heresy ; of having
matized in the Lutheran conventicle of Val-
ladolid, and corresponded with the heretics of
Seville. Cazsalla denied the facts imputed to
him' in several declarations on oath, and in
others which he presented when the publica-
tion of the s took place. The torture was
decreed : Caszalla, on the 4th of March, was
conducted to the dungeon where it was to be
inflicted, but it did not take place, as the
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prisoner promised to make a confession. He
gave it in writing, and ratified it on the 16th,
acknowled that he was a Lutheran, but
denied having taught the doctrine. He ex-
lained the motives which had prevented him
From making this declaration before; and
Promiled to be a good catholic for the future,
if reconciliation was ted to him; but the
inquisitors did not think proper to spare him
the capital punishment, as the witnesses
affirmed that he had dogmatized. Caszalla,
however, continued to give every possible
roof of conversion until his execution: when
e saw that death was inevitable, he began
to preach to his companions in misfortune.
Two days before his death, he related some
particulars of his life. He was born in 1510:
at the age of seventeen he had Bartholomew
Carranza de Miranda for his confessor, in the
college of St. Gregory at Valladolid; he
continued his studies at Alcala de Henares,
where he remained till 1536. In 1545 Charles
V. made him his preacher; in the following
year he accompanied that prince to Germany,
and stayed there till 15563, Emching against
the Lutherans; he returned in that year to
Spain, and relired to Salamanca, where he
lived for three years, going sometimes to Val-
ladolid. He once attended, by the emperor’s
order,at’an assembly where Don Antonio Fon-
seca, president of the Royal Council of
Castile, presided, and at which the Licen-
tiate Otalora, the Doctors Ribera and Velusco,
auditors of the council and chancery, and Bro-
thers Alphonso de Castro and Bartholomew
Carranza assisted. The object of the meeting "
was to decide on the course to be pursued on
the occasion of certain briefi*which the Court
of Rome had expedited against those who ap-
proved of the decrees of the Council of Trent,
which continued to assemble in that city,
though the Pope had commanded that it
should be transferred to Bologna. Cazalla
declared that all ‘members of the jumta
acknowledged that the Pope only acted from
motives o Cpenonal interest; and that Bar-
tholomew Carranza particularly di-tih%’ni.h-
ed himself by inveig ingapinst the ahuses
of the Court of Rome. On the 20th of May,
the day before his death, he received a visit
from Brother Antonio de Ja Carrers, a monk
of St. Jerome, who wassent to him by the in-
quisitors, to inform him that they were not
satisfied with his declarations, and to exhort
him, for the ﬁood of his conscience, to con-
fess all that he knew of himself and others.
Cazalla answered, that he could not say more,
without bearing false-witness: The monk
replied, that he had always denied that he
had dogmatized, though the contrary was
proved by the witnesses. He said that this
crime had been unjustly imputed to him ; that
he was guilty of not-having undeceived those
who held bad doctrines ; but that he had only
spoken of his opinions to persons who thought
as he did. Brother Antonio then exhorted
him to prepare for death on the following
day. This information was a thunderbolt to
Cazalla, who had expected to be admitted to
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a reconciliation. He demanded if his pun-
ishment might not be commuted: Csrrera
told him, that if he confessed what he had
hitherto concealed, he might hope for meroy.
Well then, said Cazalls, ’uwdpnparc to di
in the grace of God; for it is i?mu'bkﬂdl
should add anything to what I have already
said, unless I lie. He then be; to encou-
rage himself to suffer death; confessed
several times in the same night, and the next
day to Antonio de la Carrera. When he
arrived at the place of the aulo-da.fé, he
asked ﬂpermiuion to preach to those who were
to suffer with him ; he could not obtain it, but
he addressed a fow words to them: as he
was a penitent, he was s led before he
was burnt. When he was ‘fastened to the
stake, he confessed for the last time, and his
confessor was so affected by all that he had
seen and heard during the last twenty-four
hours, that he afterwards wrote, **that he
had no doubt that Doctor Cazalla was in
Heaven.”

Francis de Vibero Cazalla, brother to Au-

tin, a priest, and Curate of Hormigos in

e diocese of Palencia, at first denied the
charges, confessed them when tortured, rati-
fied his confession, and demanded to be ad-
mitted to reconciliation. This was refused, as
it was anrpoood that he had only confessed
from -the fear of death. In fact, he ridiculed
his brother’s exhortation on the seaffold, and
expired in the flames without showing any
signs of repentance. He was degraded from
the priesthood, as well as his brother, before
he ascended the scaffold.

Donna Beatrice de Caszalla, sister to the
abovq mentioned eseuom, and Alphonso
Perez, at first denied the charges, confessed
during the torture, demanded reconciliation,
but were strangled and burnt.

Don Cristobal de Ocampo, of Seville, a
kni&lht of the order of St. John, and almoner
to the Grand Prior of Castile and Leon, and
Don Cristobal de Padilla, a knight and in-
habitant of Zamora, were condemned to the
same punishment for Lutheranism.

The licentiate Antonio Herrezuelo, a law-
{u of the city of Toro, condemned as a

utheran, died without any signs of repent-
ance. Doctor Cazalla addreesed some words
to him in particular; Antonio ridiculed his
discourse, although he was already fastened
to the stake. One of the archers, furious at
so much courage, plunged his lance into the
body ;‘)’f Herrezuelo; he died without uttering
a word.

Juan Garcia, a goldsmith of Valladolid, and
the licentiate Perez de Herrera, judge of the
court against smugyglers, in Logrono, suffered
a9 Lutherans. Gonzalez Baez, the Portu-
¥neco mentioned in the preceding chapter, suf-
ered as a Judaic heretic.

Donna Catherine de Ortega, widow of the
commander Loaisa, and davghter to Hernand
Diaz, fiscal of the Royal Council of Castile,
was condemned as a Lutheran, and madé her
confession. She suffered the same fate with
Catherine Roman de Pedross, Isabella d’Es-

™

trada, and Jane Blazquiez, a servant of the
Marchioness d’Alcanizes. None of these per-
sons had dogmatized, none had relapsed, but
they were condemned because they only con-
fessed during the torture. ‘

Among the persons reconciled were dis-
tinguished,—Don Pedro Sarmiento de Roxas,
a knight of the order of St. Jago, commander
of Quintans, and the son of the first Mar-

uis of Poza. He was condemned as a

utheran, deprived of his orders, clothed in
the p‘e’?otul San-benito, imprisoned for life,
de‘v& to infamy, and his property confis-
cated.
Don Louis de Roxas, nephew of the above,
was charged with the same crime ; he was ex-
iled from Madrid, Valladolid, and Palencia,
and prohibited from leaving Spain; his pro-

erty was confiscated, and he was declared
incapable of succeeding to the marquisate of
Poza, which passed to his youngest brother.

Donna Mencia de Figueroa, wife of Don
Pedro Sarmiento de Roxas, and an attendant
of the Queen of Spain, was condemned, for
Lutheranism, to wear the sto, to im-
prisonment for life, and the confiscation of her
property. '

onna Anna Henriquez de Roxas, daughter
of the Marquis d’Alcanizes, and the wife of
Don Juan Alphonso de Fonseca Mexia, was
condemned as a Lutheran. She appeared in
the aulo-da-fé with the San-benilo, and was
afterwards shut up in a monastery. She was
twenty-four years of was perfectly ac-
?tinud with the Latin tongue, and had read
the works of Calvin, and those of Constantine
Ponce de la Fuente. -

Donna Maria de Roxas, a non of the con-
vent of St. Catherine of Valladolid, and
daughter to the first Marquis de Poza. She
was condemned as a Lutheran, conducted to
the auwlo-da-fé with the San-beniio, and se-
cluded for life in her convent. The Inquisi-
tion commanded that she should be treated
as the lowest in the community in the choir
and refectory, and deprived of the power of
voting.

Don Juan de Ulloa Pereira, a knight com-
mander of the order of St. John of Jerusalem.
He was son and brother to the Lords dela
Mota, who were soon after made Marquisses,
and an inhabitant of Toro. He was condemn-
ed, for Lutheranism, to wear the San-benilo,
to be imprisoned for life, and to be deprived
of his property. He was declared infamous,
incapable of obhining dignities, stript of the
habit and cross of his order, and banished
from Madrid, Valladolid, and Toro, but was
prohibited from quitting the kingdom. In
1565, Ulloa represented his situation to the
Pope, reminding him of his services in fight-
ing ?ninlt the Turks, particularly when he
took five shipe of the pirate Caramani Arraesz ;
he added that the inquisitor-general had re-
mitted the continuation of bis penance for
more than a year, but that he wished to regain
his rank as a knight, as he was still capable

of .serving. The !;c‘)ro granted a brief in fa-
vour of Ulloa, rehabilitating him in his privi-
&2
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leges an 3 knight, with a particular clause,
stating that what had passed could not pre-
vent him from attaining the superior dignities
of his order, provided the inquisitor-general
and the grand master of Malta ‘:‘r roved the
decree. Ulloa was then reinstated in his com-

mandery.

Juan de Vibero Cazalla, & brother of Au-
gustin, and Donna Juana Silva de Ribera, his
wife, were condemned, as Lutherans, to be
deprived of their liberty and their property,
and to wear the San-bensto,

Donna Constance de Vibero Cazalla, sister
of Augustin, and widow of Hernand Ortiz,
was condemned to wear the ito, to
perrtunl imprisonment, and the confiscation
of her property. When Augustin saw his
sister pass, he turned to the princess go-
vorness, and said to her: Princess, I enireat
your highness to Aave ion on that un-
Jortunale woman, who leave thirieen or-

Eleonora de Cisneros, aged twom{;fonr,
the wife of Antonio Herrezuelo, and Donna
Francisca Zoniga de Baeza, were condemned
to the San-benito, imprisonment, and confisca-
tion.

Marina de Saavedra, the widow of Juan
Cisneros de Soto, a distinguished gentleman,
Isabella Minguez, a servant of Donna Bea-
trice Cazalla, and Antonio Minguez, the
brother of Isabella, suffered the same punish-
ment,

‘Anthony Wasor, an Englishman,. servant
to Don Louis de Roxas, was condemned to
wear the San-benilo, to lose his property, and
be confined in a convent for one year.

Daniel de 1a Quadra lost his liberty and
property, and took the perpetaal San-denito, as
a Lutheran.

The sermon on the faith was preached by
the celebrated Melchior Cano, afler all the
assembly had witnessed a scandalous trans-
action. When the court and all the other at-
tendants had taken their places, Don Franocis
Baca, Inquisitor of Valladolid, advanced to-
wards the Prince of Asturias, Don Carlos,
and his aunt, the princess Juana, to demand
and receive from them an oath to maintain
and defend the Inquisition, and to reveal to it
all that might have been said against the
faith by any person within their knowledge.
It had decreed at the establishment of the
Inquisition, that the magistrate who presided
at an aulo-da-fé should take a similar oath,
but sovereigns cannot be considered as ma-
gistrates. Don Carlos and his aunt took the
oath, but subsequent events show how much
he was displeased at the boldness of this in-
quisitor: he was then aged fourteen years.

Second Suto-darfié.

The second Aulo-da.fé of Valladolid took
Place on the 8th of October, in the same year,

1559 ; it was still more splendid than the,

first, on account of the presence of Philip JI.
The inquisitors had waited his return
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the Low Countries, to do him honour in this
grand festival. .

Thirteen persons, with a corpse and an effi-

, were burnt, and sixteen admitted to recon-
ciliation. ‘The king was accompanied by his
son, his sister, the Prinoe of Parma, three am-
bassadors from France, the Archbishop of
Serville, the Bishops of Palencia and Zamora,
and other bishops elect; there were also pre-
sent, the constable and admiral, the Dukes de
Naxara and d’Arcos, the Marquis de Denia,
afterwards Duke of Lerma, the Marquis
d’Astorgs, and the Count de Urefia, after-
wards Duke of Ossuna, the Count de Bena-
vente, the Count de Buendia, the lest grand-
master of the military order of Montesa, Don
Louis Borgia, the Grand Prior of Castile and
Leon, a knight of the order of St John of Je-
rusalem, Don Antonio de Toledo, son and
brother to the Dukes of Alva; several other
grandees of Spain, not named in the verbal-
process of this execution, and many persons
of lower rank : the Countess de Ribadabia,
and other ladies of distinction, besides the
councils, the tribunals, and other authorities.

The sermon on the faith was preached by
the Bishop of Cuenca: the Bishops of Pe-
lencia and Zamora degraded the condemned
Krieou; and the inquisitor-general, the Arch-

ishop of Seville, demanded and received
from the king the same oath which had been
administered to Don Carlos. The condemn-
ed persons were :—
on Carlos de Seso, s noble of Verons, son
to the Bishop of Placenza in Italy, and one
of the most noble families in the country ; he
was forty-three years of age, passed for a
learned man, who had rendered great services
to the emperor, and had held the office of
Corregidor of Toro. He married Donna Isa-
bella de Castilla, daughter of Don Francis
de Castilla, who were descended from the
king Don Pedro the Oruel. After his mar-
riage he settled at Villamediana, near Lo-
grofio. He there cscnly preached heresy,
and was the principal author of the progress
of Lutheranism at Valladolid, Palencia, Za-
mora, and the boroughs depending on those
cities. He was arrested at no, and
taken to the secret prisons of Valladolid. He
answered the requisition of the fiscal on the
28th of June, 1558. His sentence was com-
municated to him on the 7th of October, 1559,
and he was told to prepare to suffer death on
the following day. De Seso asked for ink and
paper, and wrote his confession, which was
entirely Lutheran ; he said that this doctrine,
and not that taught by the Roman Charch,
which had been corrapted for several cen-
turies, was the true faith of the gospel ; that
he would die in that belief, and that he offered
himself to God in memory of the passion of
Jesus Christ. It would be difficult to express
the vigour and energy of his writing, which
filled two sheets of paper. De Seso was ex-
horted during the night, and on the morning
of the 8th, but without suocess; he was gag-
ged, that he might not ‘have the power of
preaching bis doctrine. When he was fasten-
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od to the stake, the gag was taken from his
mouth, and he was again exhorted to confess
himself; he replied with a loed voice, and
great firmness: * If I had sufficient time, 1
would convince you that you are lost, by
not following my example. Hasten to light
the wood which is to consume me.”

executioners complied, and De Seso died im-

penitent.

Pedro do Casalla, curate of the parish of
Pedrosa; he was the brother of Augustin
Caszalls, and 3| thirty-three. He was ar-
rested on the 23rd of April, 1658, and con-
fessed that he was a Lutheran. He demand-
od to be reconciled, but was sentenced to be
relazed because he had preached the heretical
doctrine. On the 7th of October he was in-
formed of his sentgnoe, but refused to confoss ;
when he was fastened to the stake, he asked
for a confessor, and was then strangjed, and
afterwards burat.

Dominic Sanches, a priest of Villamediana,
adopted the Lutheran heresy, after having
heard Do Seso and read his books. He was
condemned to be burnt, and followed the ex-
ample of Pedro de Cazalls.

minio de Roxas, & Dominican t'rieot; he
was a disciple of Bartholomew Carranza.
His father was the-‘Margnis de Poza, who had
two children punished in the first é.
Brother nic was forty years of sge. He
was taken st Calahorrs, disguised as a lay-
man; he had taken the habit to conceal him-
self from the agents of the Inquisition, until
he could escape to Flanders, after an inter-
view which he wished to bave with Don
Carlos de Seso. He made his first declara-
tion before the Holy Office, on the 13th of
May, 1558 ; he was obliged to make several
others, because he retracted in one what he
advanoced in another; he was condemned to
the torture for these recamtations. Brother
Dominioc intreated that he might be spared the
horrors of the question, as he dreaded it more
than death. ‘T'his request was granted on
condition that he wounld promise to reveal
what he had hitherto concealed ; he consent-
ed, and added several new declarations to the
first; he afterwards demanded to be recon-
ciled. On the 7th of October, he was exhort-
ed to prepare for death; he then made some
discoveries in favour of persons against whom
he had spoken in the preceding examinations ;
but he refused to confess, and when he de-
scended from the scaffold to the auto-da-fé, he
turned towards the king, and exclaimed, that
he was going to die for the true faith, which
was that of Luther. Philip 1I. commanded
that he should be gagged. He was still in
that sitoation when he was fastened to the
stake ; but when they began to light the fire
his courage failed, he demanded a confessor,
received absolution, and was strangled.

Juan Sanchez, a servant of Pedro de Ca-
zalla, and Donna Catherine Hortega ; he was
thirty-three years of age. The fear of being
arrestad by the Inquisition induced him to go
to Valladolid, in order to escape to the Low

”

Countries, under the forged name of Juan de
Vibar. The inquisitors were informed of his
intention by his letters written at Castrour-
diales, addressed to Donna Catherine Horte-
g8, while she was in prison. The inquisitors
gave information to the king, who commis-
sioned Don Francis de Castilla Alcalde, of
the court, to arrest him. Sanchez was taken
at Toarlingen, and transferred to Valladolid,
:hm he was :;ndemnod to e 1 .l.-l s
ogmatizing and impenitent Lutheran. He
was o0 until Ir:m fastened to the
stake. As he did not ask for a confessor, the
ile was lighted, and when the cords which

Id him were burnt, he darted to the tep of
the scaffold, from whence he could see that
several of the condemned oconfessed, that they
might avoid the flames. The priests again
exhorted him to confess, but seeing that De
Seso remained firm in his resolution, he re-
turned and told them to add more wood, for
that he would die like Don Carlos de Seso.
The archers and executioners obeyed his in-
junctions, and he perished in the flames.

Donna Euphrosyne Rios, a nun of the order
of Santa Clara of Valladolid, was oconvicted
of Lutheranism by twenty-iwo witnesses;
she continued impenitent until she was fas-
tened to the stake, when she confessed, and
was sirangled and burnt.

Donna Marina de Guevara, a nun of the
convent of Belen at Valladolid, of the order
of Cistercians; she was related to the family
of Poza. Marina eonfessed the facts, but
coold not avoid her condemnation, though
:'l:: demudodﬁtio be re‘:mloc: This was

more surprising, as the inquisitor-general
made great efforts to save hel:afo; he was the
intimate friend of several of her relations, and
being informed that the inquisitors of Valla-
dol?cfinuudod to condemn her, he authorized
Don Alphonso Telles Giron, Lord of Mon-
talban and cousin to Marina, and the Duoke .
of Ossuna, to visit the accused, and press
her to confegs what she denied, and the wit-
nesses affirmed; but Marina said that she
could not add anything to what she had
already declared.

She was condemned to be relaxed, but the
sentence was not immediately published, as
it was the custom to do so only on the day
before the auto-da.fé; and as the rules of
1541 allow the sentence of death to be re-
voked if the eriminals repent before they are
given up to secular justics, the inquisitor-

neral sent Don Alphonso Giron a second
time to his cousin, to exhort her to confess
all, and avoid death. This conductof Valdés
displeased the inquisitors of Valladolid, who
spoke of it as a singular and scandalous pre-
ference. Valdéa applied to the Supreme
Council, which commanded that the visit
should be made in the presence of one or two
inquisitors, This last attempt did not sucosed
better than the first; Marina persisted in her
declaration, and was burnt.

Donna Catherine de Reinoso, a-nun in the
same convent, Donna Margaret de Santiste-



ban, and Donna Maria de Miranda, nuns of
Santa Clara at Valladolid, were likewise
strangled and burnt as Lutherans.

Pedro de Sotelo and Francis d’Almarzo
suffered the same punishment for Lutheran-
ism, with Francis Blanco, a New Christian,
who had abjured Mahometaniam, and had
afterwards fallen into error.

Jane Sanches, of the class of women called
Beates, was condemned as a Lutheran : when
she was informed of her sentence, she cut
her throat with a pair of scissors, and died
impenitent some days after in prison. . Her
::?u was taken to the aulo-da-fé on a bier,

‘burnt with her efligy.

Sixteen persons were condemned to pe-
nances. I shall only mention those distin-
gnt.n:hed for their rank or the natare of their

als.

Donna Isabella de Castilla, the wife of Don
Carlos de Seso, voluntarily confessed that she
had adopted some of her husband’s. opinions;
she was condemned to wear the m&m‘to.
be imprisoned for life, and to be deprived of
her properg.

Donna Catherine de Castilla, the niece of
the above, suffered the same punishment.

Donna Francisca de Zufliga Reinoso, sister
to Donna Catherine, who was bumt in the
same cuto-da.{é, and a nun in the same ocon-
vent was condemned, with Donna Philippina
de Heredia and Dorina Catherine d’Alcaraz,
two of her companions, to be deprived of the
K?\yer of voting in her community, and pro-

ibited from going out of the convent,

Antonio Sanchez, an inhabitant of Sala-
manca, was punished as a false witness; it
was proved that he had deposed falsely for
the purpose of causing a Jew to be burnt: he
't:i. oondemn:d ri‘oedm?ih"l . t':v.o hundred
stripes ; was deprived of half his property,
and sent to the galleys for five yeag'.pe ye
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compassion of the inquisitors for this sort of
criminale {8 an incontestable fact, although
they did not hesitate to condemn heretics to
death, if they had only concealment, or an
insincere repentance to reproach them with.
Pedro d’Aguilar, a shearer, born at Torde-
sillas, pretended to be an alguazil of the In-
quisition, and appeared at Valladolid with the
wand of the Holy Office on the day of the
celebration of the first auto-da.fé; he after-
wards went to a town in the province of
Campoe, where he said that he was commis-
sioned to open the tomb of a bishop, and take
the bones to be burnt in an auto- ‘-{6, as be-
longing to a man who had died in the Judaic
heresy. Pedro was condemned to receive
four hundred stripes, to have his property
confiscated, and to be sent to the galleys for
life. This affair proves that the,inquisitors
considered it a much ter crime to pretend
to be an alguazil of the Holy Office, than to
bear false-witness, and to cause the death of

to |a man, the confiscation of his property, and

:‘ho o'ondemnation of his posterity to in-
amy ! .
Sich is the history of the two celebrated
of Valladolid, of which so much
has been said, although nothing certain was
known of them. It is.an interesting circum-
stance that the Inquisition was at the same
time proceeding againet forty-five persons
distinguished for their rank or personal quali-
ties : of these forty-five persons, ten had been
arrested. It is not to be supposed that the
inquisitors only prosecuted these fpenonl:
the trial of Carranza, Archbishop of Seville,
was the origin of a great number asninst
bishops and other distinguished individuals.
1 have confined myself to those of which I
could consult the papers; it would be a task
beyond the strength of one man to read all that
bave accumulated in the archives.

’

 CHAPTER XXI.

History of the two Autos-ds-fé, celebrated against the Lutherans in the city of Seville.

AN aulo-da-fé was celebrated on the 24th
of September, 1550, in the place of St. Fran-
cis, at Seville, not less remarkable for the
rank of the condemned, than for the natare of
their trials. Four bishops attended at it; the
coadjutor of Seville, those of Largo and the
Canaries, who hsppened to be in the city,and
Tarrazona, whom the king had authorized to
reside at Seville as vice inquisitor-general.

- 'The inquisitors of the district of Seville
were Don Michel del Cagio, Don Andres
Gasco, and Don Francis Galdo; Don Juan
de Obando represented the archbishop. 1
make this remark, to show that none of the
judges were named Vorgas, as the author of

a romance entitled Cornelia Bororguia has

asserted.

This auto-da-fé was celebrated before the
royal court of justice, the chapter of the
cathedral, some ndees of Spain, and a
great number of titled persons and gentlemen;
the Duchess of Bejar was present with seve-
ral ladies, and an immense concourse of peo-
ple. 'l‘wentrom persons were relazed, with
an effigy of a contumacious person, and
eighty persons condemned to penances, the

teat number of whom were Lutherans ; I
shall mention the most remarkable instancee.

The effigy was that of Francis Zafra, the

beneficed priest of the parish of St. Vincent
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of Seville, who was condemned as a Luthe-
ran, but had made his escape. Gonzales de
Montes ¥ivu a long acoount of this man,
which I found to be correct, on examining the
papers of the holy office. He says that gnn-
cis Zafra was well versed in the Seriptures;
for some time he succeeded in concealing his
inclination to Lutheranism, and was employed

by the inquisitors to qualify denounced pro-| Waite Doctor

positions, and that he was thus enabled to
save many persons from being condemned.
He had received into his house one of the
women called Beates, who (after obstinatel
supporting thenew doctrines) became so mue
deranged, that he was obliged to confine
and scourge her, to calm her violence. In
1555, this woman escaped, and denounced
three hundred pérsons as Lutherans to the
. Inquisition: the inquisitora drew up a list
of them ; Francis Zafra was summoned, and
although he was mentioned ss one of the
principal heretics, proved that they could not
receive the evidence of a n whose mind

was so much disordered.®* As the holy|d

offica never neglected anything that could
assist in discovering heresy, this list caused
the conduct of many persons to be strictly
observed, and more than eight hundred were
arrested ; Francis Zafra was one of the pri-
soners, but he contrived to escape, and was
burnt in effigy as contumacioas.

The first person I shall mention as con-
demned to relaxation, was Donna lsabella de
Baena, a rich lady of Seville. Her house
was razed to the ground for having served as
a temple to the Lutherans.

I find, among the other victime at Seville,
Don Juan Ponce de Leon, youngest son to
the count de Baylen; he was cousin-german
to the Duke d’Arcos, and related to the
Dachess de Bejar, who were both present at
his auto-da-fé. He was condemned as an im-
penitent Lutheran: he st first denied the
cha but confessed during the torture: the
inquisitors sent a priest, with whom he was
well acquainted, to persuade him that it
would be to his advantage if he confessed the
truth. Ponce was deceived, and made the
confession they required ; bat, on discover-
ing his mistake, the day before the aulo-da f¢,
he made one truly Lutheran, and treated the
priest who attended him with contempt. Gon-
zalez de Montes pretends that he persisted in
his sentiments, but he is mistaken, for Ponce
confessed when he was fastened to the stake,
and was strangled before he was burnt.

Don Juan Gonzales, a priest of Seville,
and a celebrated preacher of Andalusia, em-
braced Mahometanism at twelve years of
age, because his parents were Moors, but he
wus reconciled by the Inquisition. Some
time after he was imprisoned as a Lutheran,
bat obstinately persisted in refausing to con-
fess, even when tortured ; affirming that his
opinions were founded on the Holy Serip-
tares, and that, consequently, he could not be

I * R.egnialdu;{ Gonzalirus M?m::‘n:i‘ Sancta
isitionis Hispanicas artes alig oct®, in
th.::ubric *Publicato umaﬁ-, p. 50. ’

a heretic. This example was imitated by his
two sisters, who suffered in the samé aulo-ds-
Jé When the gags were taken from their
mouths, Don Juan told them to sing the 106th

m. They died (say the Protestants) in
the faith of Jesus Christ, and detesting the
errors of the Papists.

Brother Garcia de Arias (surnamed the
I tor, on account of the extreme
whiteness of his hair) was a Jeronimite of the
Convent of St. Isidore, at Seville; he was
condemned as an impenitent Lutheran, and
perished in the flames. He had professed
the doctrines of Luther for several years, but
his sentiments were known only to the prin-
cipal partisans of the heresy, such as Vargas,
Egidius, and Constantine : his prudence was
80 great, that he was looked upon as an or-
thodox theologian and of the greatest piety :
he even carried his dissimulation so far as
to profess to be an enemy to the Lutherans.
He was several times employed. to qualify
heretical propositions, and aprnnd to be so
evoted to the inquisitorial system, that
lhongh he was denounced several times, the
inquisitors declared that the informers acted
out of hatred to him. However, the informa-
tions were communicated to him, that he
might be more cautious in his conversations
with suspicious persons.

His conduct towards Gregorie Riuz ought
to be recorded. Riuz was denounced for
;zlmo e:ﬁhgx:’tionl of do&:tr(iln:i i? :I lhem:!on;

i iged to appear and defend his doc-
lrinl;(befom thoolggianl, be applied to his
friend, the ‘White Doctor, who wished to
hear his exposition of the principles he in-
tended for his defence, and the solutions he
had prepared for the difficulties which he
might meet with. When the assembly took
place, the inquisitors commissioned Arias to
argue against Riuz, who was much surprised
to see him at this conference, and satill more
80, when he heard him speak in such a man-
ner, that the answers he had prepared, were
entirely useless. Rius sunk under this at-
tack, and the doctor Arias was severely
reproached for his treachery by the Lutheran
doctors, Vargas, Egidius, and Constantine.

Arias taught the Lutheran doctrine to

| some monks of his convent: one of them

(Brother Cassidorus) made so much pro-
gress in it, that he converted almost all the
monks of the community, so that the monas-
tic exercises were no longer practiced. Twelve
of these persons being alarmed at this_state
of things fled to Germany; the rest who re-
mained at Seville, were condemned by the
Inquisition. The same fate awaited Garcia
d’Arias; the depositions against him con-
tinied to multiply, and he was at last ar-
rested. Foreseeing the result of his trial, he
made a confession of his faith, and undertook
to prove, that the opinions of Luther were
founded on the gospel. He persevered in his
impenitence, and no Catholic could convert
him, because be understood doctrine better
than those who disputed with him.

Donna Masia de Virues, Donna Maria
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Comnel, and Donna Maria Bohorques, also
perished in this auto-da-fé. They were all
ﬂnng. and of the highest class of nobility.

e history of the last of these three ladies
ought to be made known, on account of some
circamstances in her trial, and because a Span-
iard has composed a novel under the title of
Cornelia t¢a, which he affirms to be
rather a history than a romance, although it is
neither the one nor the other, but a collection
of scenes and events badly conceived, in
which he has not even given the actors their
true names, from not having understood the
History of the Inquisition by Limborch.
This historian has mentioned two of the
ladies by the names of Cornelia and Bokor-

ta, which means Donna Maria Cornel, and

na Maria Bohorquia. ‘The Spanish au-
thor has united these names, to designate
Cornelia Bororquia, an imaginary person. He
has supposed a love-intrigue between her
and the inquisitor-gencral, which is absord,
since he wadat Madrid. He hasalsointroduced
examinations which never took place in the
tribunal ; in short, the intention of the author
was to ctriticise and ridicule the Inquisition,
and the fear of being punished for it induced
him to fly to Bayonne. A good cause be-
comes bad whien falsehood is employed inits
defence : the true history of the Inquisition is
sufficient to show how much it merits the
detestation of the human race, and it is there-
fore useless to employ fictions or satire. The
same may be said of the Gusmanade, a French
Ppoem, containing assertions false and injurious
to the memory of St. Dominic de Guzman,
whose personal conduct was very pare, thongh
he may be blamed for his conduct to the
Albigenses.

Donna Maria de Bohorques, was the natu-
ral daughter of Pedro Garcia de Xerez Bo-
horques one of the first families of Seville,
and from which spmni the Marquises de
Ruchena, grandees of the first class. She
was not twenty-one years of age when she
was arrested as a Lutheran. She had been
instructed by the doctor, Juan Gil ‘(.?r
Egidius), was perfectly acquainted with the
Latin language, and understood Greek ; she
had many Lutheran books, and had commit-
ted to memory the Gospels, and some of the

rineipal wo;zs which explain the textin a

utheran sense. She was conducted to the
secret prisons, where she acknowledged her
opinions, and defended them as Catholic.
She said that some of the facts and proposi-
tions contained in the depositions were true,
but denied the others, either because she had
forgotten them, or was afraid to compromise
others. She was then tortured, and confess-
ed that her sister, Jane Bohorques, was
acquainted with her sentiments, and had not
diaapproved them. The fatal consequences
of this confession will be shown hereafter.
‘The definitive sentence was pronounced, and
Maria Bohorques was condemned to relaxa-
tion. As the sentence was not communicated
to the prisoner till the day before the aulo-da-

Jfé, the inquisitors desired that Maria should | N
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be exhorted during the interval. Two Jesuits
and two ‘Dominicans were successively sent
to her. They returned full of admiration at
the learning of the prisoner, but displeased at
her obstinacy, in explaining the texts of
Scripture which they proposed, in s Luthe-
ran sense.  On the day before the auto-da-fé;
two other Dominicans went with the firat, to
make a Jast effort to convert Maria, and they
were followed by several other theologians of
different religious orders. Maria received
them with as much pleasure as politeness,
but she told them that they might spare them-
selves the trouble of speaking to her of their
doctrines, as they could not be more con-
cerned for her salvation than she was her-
self;; that she would renounce her opinions if
she felt the least uncertainty ; but that she
was still more convinced that she was right,
since 80 many isA theologians had not
been able to advance any arguments, for
which she had not prepared a solid and con-
clusive answer. At the place of execution,
Don Juan Ponce de Leon, who had abjured
heresy, exhorted Maria to do the same. She
received his advice very ill, and culled him
:gmmml, an idiol, and a babbler: she added,

at it was no longer a time to dispute, and
that the few moments they had to live ought
to be emﬁloyed in meditating on the passion
and death of their Redeemer, to reanimate the
faith by which they were to be justified and
saved. Although she was so obstinate,
several priests, and a great number of monks,
earnestly entreated that she might be -'Kared.
in consideration of her extreme youth and
surprising merit, if she would consent to re-
peat the Credo. The imi‘uisiton granted their
request; but scarcely had she finished it,
than she began to interpret the articles on the
Catholic faith, and the judgment of the
quick and the dead, according to the opinions
of Luther: they did not give her time to con-
clude; the executioner strangled her, and she
was afterwards burnt. Such is the true his-
tory of Maria Bohorques, according to the
writings of the Inquisition. .

Paul 1V. died at Rome on the 18th of
August, 1559, a few days before the auto-da.fé
at geville. When the Romans learnt this
event, they went in crowds to the Inquisition,
set all the prisoners at liberty, and burnt the
house and the archives of the tribunal. It cost
much money and trouble to prevent the en-
raged populace from burning the convent De
la Sapienza of the Dominicans, who condnet-
ed all the affairs of the Roman Inquisition.
The principal commissioner was wounded,
and his house burnt. The statue of Paul 1V.
was taken from the eapital and destroyed ;
the arms of the house of Carafa were every-
where defaced, and even the mortal remains
of the Pope would have been abused, if the
Canons of the Vatican had not interred him
secretly, and if the. guards had not defended
the pontifical residence.* This revolt of the

hd l;'rury, Hist. Eccles. liv. 154. ann. 1559
0.
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Romans did not alarm the inquisitors of
Spain, where the people had been hrought up
by the monks in different principles from those
professed by their ancestors under the reign
of Ferdinand, and the first ten years of thatof
Charles V.

Muto-da-fé of the year 1560.

The inquisitors of Serille, who had aps
depended on the presence of Philip 11., pre-
pared another aufo-da-fé for him similar to
that of Valladolid. hen they had lost all
hope of that honour, the ceremony was per-
formed ; it took place on the 23nd of Decem-
ber, 1560. Foourteen individuals were burnt
in person (i. e. relaxed,) and three in effigy;
thirty-four were subjected to penances, and
the reconciliation of three other persons was
read before the aufo-da-fé. The effigies were
those of Doctors Egidius, Constantine, and
Juan Peres.

Constantine Ponce de 1a Fuente was born
at San Clementa de la Mancha, in the diocese
of Cuenga: he finished his studies at Alcala
de Henares, with the Doctor Jusn Gil, or
Egidius; and with V who died doring
his trial. These three theologians were the
principal chiefs of the Lutherans at Seville,
whom they secretly directed, enjoying at the
same time the repulation of good Catholics
and virtnous priests. Egidius preached much
in the metropolitan church ; Constantine was
less ardent in his zeal, but he obtained as
much applause; Vargas explained the Scrip-
tures in the pulpit of the municipality. Con-
stantine refused the dignity of magisterial
canon which was offered to him both by the
Chapter of Cuenga and that of Toledo.
Charies V. ltﬁpoinled him his almoner und
preacher; in this quality he took him to Ger-
many, where he made a long stay. On his
return to Seville, he directed the College
de la Doctrina, and there established a palpit
to preach the Holy Scriptures, of which he
l;ﬂ»roinwd the salary ¢ he undertook to fill the
office, and durinithis period the Canons’ cor-
poration offered him the place of magiaterial
canon, exerpting him from the usual compe-
tition. Some of the canons recollecting the un-
fortunate consequences of the election of Juan
Gil (who wasappointed in the same mannuer,)
wished that the competition should take place.
Constantine was requedted to submit to it,
and assured that he would triamph over the
competitors. This, in fact, took place in
1556, in opposition to the appeals and in-
trigues of the only person who bhad the cou-
rage to compete with him. While Constan-
tine continued to enjoy general esteem, the
declarations of a great number of prisoners
who were arrested for Lutheranism, caused
his arrest in 1558, some months before the
death of Charles V. During the time that he
was etrretaring his defence, an accident hap-
pened which rendered it useless.

Isabella Martines was arregted as a Luthe-
ran. Her property was sequestrated ; but it
'was soon found, that Francis Beltran, her son,

had concealed several .chests of valuable
effects before the inventory was taken. Con-
stantine had committed some prohibited hooks
to the care of this woman, who concealed
them in her cellar. The inquisitors sent
Louis Sotelo, the alguazil of the holy office,
to Francis Beltran, to claim the effects which
he had concealed. Francis, on seeing the
alguasil, did not doubt that his mother had
declared the conoealment of the books given
to her care by Constantine, and without wait-
ing until Sotelo should tell him the cause of
his visit, he said, Sefor Solelo, I suppose that
you come for the things deposiled in my
mother's house. IL‘ you will promise that 1
shall not be punished for not gwl'%ivy'm-
tion of them, 1 will show you whal tAerc is
hidden there. Deltran then conducted the
alguazil to his mother’s bouse, and pulled
down part of the wall,” behind which the
Latheran books of Constantine had been con-
cealed ; Sotelo, astonished at this sight, told
him that bhe should take possession of the
books, but that he did not consider himself
bound by his promise, as he only came to
claim the effects which he had concealed.
This declaration increased the alarm of Bel-
tran, and he gave evérything up to the algua-
zil, on condition that he might remain free in
his house. ‘This denunciation had been made
by a servant, who hoped to obtain the benefit
of the act of Ferdinand V., which assigns the
fourth part of the concealed effects to the
informer.

Among the prohibited books, were found
several writings by Constantine Ponce de
Fuente, which treated of the true church
according to the principles of the Lutherans,
and proved in their manner, that this church
was not that of the papisis: he also discussed
in them several other points on which the
Lutherans differed from the Catholics. Con-
stantine could not deny these parn, as they
were in his own hand-writing; he confessed
that they contained the profession of his faith,
but refused to name his accomplices and dis-
ciples. The inquisitors, instead of decreein
the torture, plunged him into a deep, humid,
and obecure dungeon, where the air, impreg-
nated with the most dangerous miasma, soon
altered his health. Overcome by this perse-
cution, he exclaimed, *“ My God, were thereno
Scythians or cannibals inlo whose Aands to de-
Hver me, rather than to let me fall into the pow-
er of these barbarians ! This situation could
not last long; Constantine fell sick, and died
of a dysentery: it was reported, when the
aulo-da-fé was celebrated, that he had killed
himself to avoid his punishment. His trial
was as celebrated as his person. The inqui-
sitors caused the merils or charges against
him to be read in a pulpit cloee to their seats,
where the people could not hear them; the
Corregidor Calderon remarked the circum-
stanoe twice, and they were obliged to begin
it again where those of the other trials were
read. Constantine had published the first
part of a catechism; the second was not
printed. The following works of Constantine
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were inserted in the propibitory Index, pnb-‘
lished in 1959, by Don Ferdinand Valdés:— '
An Abridgment of the Christian Doctrine ; a
Dialogue on the same subject, between a
Master and his Disciple; The Confession
of a Sinner to Jesus Christ; A Christian
Catechism; An Exposition of the Psalm,
Beatus qus non abiit in concilio impiorum.
Alphonso de Ulloa, in his Life of Charles V.,
gives the highest praise to the works of Con-
stantine, particularly his Treatise on the
Christian Doctrine, which was translated into
Italian.®* The effigy of Constantine was not
like those of the other condemued persons
(which were an unformed mass surmounted
by a head) ; it was an entire figure with the
arms spread, as Constantine was accustomed
to do when preaching, and was clothed in
garments which appeared to have belonged
to him. After the aulo-dafé, this figure was
taken back to the Holy Office, and a common
effigy was burnt with the bones of the con-
demned.

Another prisoner died in the dungeons of
the Inquisition; he was (according to Gon-
zalez de Montes) a monk of the Convent of
St. Isidore, named Ferdinand. The same
author affirms, that one Olmedo, a Lutheran,
was likewise carried off by an epidemic
disease which ravaged the prisons, and that
he uttered groans similar to those of Con-
stantine when he was dying. I have not
found that any Inquisition in Spain has, of
late years, condemned any person to this sort
of dungeon, unless the torture was decreed ;
the inquisitors of that time cannot be pardon-
ed for making them a common prison.
eﬂiThe Docu:' Jx::nd-Pem de Pineda, whose

gy was the third in the aulo-da-fé, was

born at Montilla in Andalusia: he was placed
at the head of the College de la Doclrina, in
wl::::'h the young people of Seville were edu-
cated.
He made his escape when he was informed
that the inquisitors were about to arrest him
as suspected of Lutheranism. Proceedings
were instituted against him as contumacious,
and he was condemned as a formal Lutheran
heretic. He had composed several works:
the Index prohibited the following: the Holy
Bible, translated into the Castilian tongue; a
Catechism, printed at Venice, in 1556, by
Pedro Daniel; The Psalms of David in
Spanish; and a Summary of the Christian
Doctrine. Juan Perez had attained a great
age when he was condemned. Of the
fourteen persons who were reconciled in the
second aufo-da-fé, the most remarkable
were :— : :

Julian Hernandez, surnamed the Litile, a
native of Villaverdé. The wish to promul-
gate Lutheran books in Seville induced him
to go to Germany. He gave the books to
Don Juan Ponce de Leon, who undertook to
distribute them. He passed more than three
years in the prisons of the Holy Office, and

* Ulloa, Vita di Carlos V., edition of Venice,
589, p. 237.

HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

was tortured several times, to foroe him to
discover his accomplices. He bore the tor-
ture with a fortitade far above his physical
strength, and remained faithful to his creed.
When he arrived at the stake he arran
the wood around him so as to burn quickly;
the Doctor Ferdinand Rodriguez, who at-
tended him, demanded that the gag should
be taken from his mouth, that he might make
his confession, but Julian opposed it, and he
was burnt.

Nicholas Burton, born in England, was
condemned as an impenitent Lutheran here-
tic. It is impossible to justify the conduct of
the inquisitors of this Englishman, snd se-
veral other foreigners who had not settled in
Spain, and were merely returning to their
respective countries after having transacted
their commercial affairs. This man came to
Spain in a veesel laden with merchandise,
w?nich. he said, was all his own property, but
of which some part belonged to John Fronton,
who was reconciled in this auto-ds-fé. Bar-
ton refused to abjure, and was burnt alive;
the inquisitors seized his vessel and its
freight, thus proving that avarice was the
principal motive of the Inquigition. The in-
quisitors were guilty of a great cruelty in this
instance, and tﬁo commerce of Spain would
perhaps have been destroyed, if the violence
committed against Burton, and some others,
had not been protested against by the dif-
ferent powers, which induced Philip 1V. to
prohibit the inquisitors from moludnf foreign
merchants and travellers, if they did not at-
tempt to promulgate heretical opinions; bat
the Inquisitors eluded this order, by pretend-
ing that they bronght prohibited books into
the kingdom, or spoke In favour of heresy.

Gonzalez de Montes speaks of the arrival
in Spain of a very rich stranger, named Re-
hukin, whose vessel was finer and better
built than any that had ever appeared at San-
Lucar de Barrameda. Thé Inquisition arrest-
ed him as an heretic, and confiscated his pro-
perty; the merchant proved that the vessel
did not belong to him, and that it could not
be included in the confiscation; but his efforts
to recover it were useless.

Two other foreigners shared the fate of
Burton. One was an Englishman named
William Brook, born at Sarum, and a sailor;
the other was a Frenchman of Bayonne,
named Fabianne, whose trade required his
presence in Spain.

The Beata protected by Francis Zafra, who
had recovered her senses, but persisted in her
heresy, was burnt in this aulo-da-fé, with five
women of her family. Thirty-four persons
were condemned to penances. The most re-
markable instances were :—

John Fronton, an Englishman of the city
of Bristol, who came to Seville, where he
was informed of the arrest of Nicholas Barton.
He was the proprietor of a considerable part
of the merchandise taken from Burton, and
after provin‘g this fact by documents which
he brought from England he claimed restita-
tion. He was subjected to great delays and
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ox but as it was impossible to deny
his rights, the inquisitors promised to restore
the merchandise : in the mean time they con-
trived that witnesses should appear and de-
pose that John Fronton had advanced hereti-
cal propositions, and he was taken to the
secret prisons. The fear of death induced
Fronton to say everything that the inquisitors
required, and he demanded reconciliation.
He was declared to be wiolently ed of
the Lutheran heresy. This was sufficient to
suthorize the inquisitors to seize his property,
and he was reconciled, condemned to forfeit
his' merchsniise, and to wear the san-benilo
for the space of one year. This is a remark-
able proof of the mischief produced by the
ncm? of the inquisitorial proceedings. If
the affair of John Fronton had been made

public, any lawyer would have shown the
nullity and falsehood of the instruction. Yet

there are Englishmen who defend the tribunal
of the holy office as a useful institation, and
I have heard an English Catkolic priest s
in its defence. I represented that he did not
understand the natare of the tribunal ; that 1
was not lesa attached to the Catholic religion
than he, or any inquisitor might be; but that
if the spirit of peace and charity, humility
and disinterestedness, inculcated by the Holy
Scriptures, is com with the system of
severity, craft, and malioce, dictated by the
laws of the holy office, and the power pos-
seased by the inquisitors (from the secresy of
their proceedings) of abusing their authority
in defiance of natural and divine laws, the
orders of the P and the royal decrees, it
will l'»e im&ouib o n:; to detest the tribunal
as only tending to produce hypocrisy.
Gaspard degBe:uidu sz an alealde of
the prison of the Injjuisition, and appeared in
the aulo-da-fé with a flambeau; he was
banished for life from Seville, and loet his
Ll:u, for Aaving failed in zeal and atlcntion in
J Let this qualification and
the sentence be com with the crime of
which he was accused. He purloined })m
of the small rations of the ‘pritonors, the food
which he gave them was of a bad quality,and
he made them pay for it, as if it was superior;
he did not take care to prepare it properly, it
was badly cooked and seasoned ; he deceived
them in the price of wood, and made false
bills of expenditare. If any of the prisoners
complained, he removed them to a dark and
homid dungeon, where he left them for a fort-
night or even longer, to punish them for mur-
muring ; he did not fail to tell them that he
did this by the order of the inquisitors, and
that they were released at his interoession.
When any prisoner demanded an audience,
Gaspard (feering that they would denounce

‘Don Pedro Garcia de Xeresey B

k opinions, and had anot o

him) did not inform the inquisitors of the re-

uest, and told the prisomer the next day that
the inquisitors were so much occupied that
they could not grant audiences. In short,
there was no sort of injastice which he did
not commit until the moment when his con-
dact was discovered by chance.

Maria Gonzalex, a servant of this man, was
condemned to yeceive two hundred stripes,
and to be banished for ten years. Her crime
was, having received money from some pri-
soners, havin, permimz them to seeand
converse with each other.

Donna Jane Bohorques was declared inno-
cent. She was the legitimate daughter of
orques,
and the sister of Donna Maria Bohorques,
who perished in a former autn-dafé. She
had married Don Francis de Vargas, lord of
the borough of Higuera. She was taken to
the secret prisons when her onfortunate sister
declared that she was soquainted with ber
posed them ; as if
silence could prove that she had admitted the
doctrine to be true. Jane Bohorques was six
months gone with child ; but this did not
prevent the inquisitors from proceeding in her
trial, a cruelty which will not surprise, when
it is considered that she was arrested before
any proof of her crime had been obtained.
She was delivered in the prison; her child
was taken from her at the end of eight days,
in defiance of the most sacred rights of nature,
and she was imprisoned in one of the com-
mon dun| of the holy office. The in-
quisitors thought they did all that humanit
required in giving her a less inconvenient cell
than the common prison. It fortanately hap-
pened that she had as acompanion in her cell
a young girl who was afterwards burnt as a
Latheran, and who pitying her situation,
treated her with the utmost tenderness during
her convalescence. She moon required the
same care; she was tortured, and all her
limbs were bruised and almost dislocated.
Jane Bohorques attended her in this dreadfal
state. Jane Bohorques was not yet quite re-
covered, when' she was tortured in the same
manner. The cords with which her still fee-
ble limbs were bound penetrated to the bone,
and several blood vessels breaking in her
body, torrents of blood flowed from her
mouth. She.was taken back to her dangeon
in a dying state, and expired a few days afler.
The inquisitors thought they expiated this
cruel murder by declaring Jane Bohorques
innocent, in the aulo-da-fé of this da{. n-
der what an overwhelming responeibility will
these monsters appear before the tribunal of
the Almighty! :

H
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CHAPTER XXII.

Of the Ordinances of 1561, wnich have been followed in the proceedings of the Holy Office, until
the present time. .

Tar ancient laws of the holy office had
been almost entirely forgotten, and the inqui-
sitors merely followed a kind of rontine in
transacting their affairs. The inquisitor-
general Valdés found it necessary to remedy
this evil; and as a multitude of extraordinary
cases had occurred since the publication of
the Codes of Torquemada and his saccessor
Deza, which had obliged the inquisitors to

ublish supplements and new declarations,

e resolved to frame a new code, composed
of those laws which experience had shown to
be useful. This edict was published at Ma-
drid, on the 8nd of September, 1561 ; it was
composed of eighty-one articles, which have
been, till the present time, the laws by which
the proceedings of the Inquisition have been
regulated.

g;mmblc. 4 'We, Don Ferdinand Valdés,
by the grace of God, Archbishop of Seville,
apostolical inquisitor-general against heresy
and apostacy in all the kingdoms and do-
mains of his majesty, &o.; we inform you,
venerable apostolical inquisitors, that we un-
derstand, that although it has been provided
by the ordinances of the holy office, that the
same manner of proceeding should be exactly
followed in all the Inquisitions, there are,
nevertheless, some tribunals where this mea-
sure has not been, and is not well observed.
In order to prevent any difference for the fu-
ture, in the conduct of the tribunals, and the
forms which should be followed, it has been
resolved, after communicating and consulting
with the council of the general Inquisition,
that the following order shall be observed by
the tribunals of the holy office :—

1st. When the inquisitors admit an in-
formation, which shows that propositions
have been advanced which ought to be de-
nounced to the holy office, they must consult
theologians of learning and integrity, and ca-
pable of qualifying the said propositions ; they
shall give their opinion in writing, accom-
panied by their signatare.

8od. Ifit is certain from the opinion of the
theologians that the object of their examina-
tion is & matter of faith, or if it is apparent
withont consulting them, and the denounced
fact is sufficiently proved, the prosecutor-fis-
cal shall denounce the author of it, and the
individuals implicated, if there are any, and
shall require that they be arrested.*

* The informer is admitted as a witness, in
contempt of the rule of right, and the punishment
due to a false witness is not inflicted, if he is dis-
covered to be such.

3rd. The inquisitore shall be assembled to
decide if imprisonment should be decreed ; in
doubtful cases, they shall summon consultors,
if they find it necessary.®

4th. When the proof is not sufficient to
cause the arrest of the denounced person, the
inquisitor shall not cite him to appear, or sub-
ject him to any examination, because expe-
rience has shown, that an heretic who is at
liberty will not confess, and this measure only
makes him more reserved and attentive in
avoiding everything that may increase the
suspicions or the proofs brought against him.

5th. If the inquisitors are not unanimous
in decreeing an arrest, the writings of the
trial shall be sent to the council, and this
must likewise take place even when they are
ananimous in their decisions, if the indi-
viduals to be arrested are persons of quality
and consideration.

6th. The inquisitors shall sign the decree
of arrest, and address it to the grand alguasil
of the holy office. When it relates to a for-
mal hereay, this measure shall be immediate-
ly followed by the sequestration of the pro-
perty of the demounced person. If several
persons are to be imprisoned, a decree of ar-
rest shall be expedited for each individual,
distinct and independent of each other, to be
separately executed : this precaution is neces-
sary to ensure secrecy, in case one alguazil
cannot arrest all the criminals. A note sholl
be entered in the trial, stating the day on
which the decree of arrest was delivered, and
the person who received it.

7th. The alguazil shall be accompanied,
in the execution of the decree of imprison-
ment, by the recorder of the sequestrations,
and the stewards. He shall appoint a depo-
siutr{. and if the steward does not approve
of the person mentioned, he shall appoint
snother himself, as he is responsible for the

roperty.
P B':;. ¥l’ho recorder of the uestrations
shall note all the effects separately, with the
day, the month, and year of the seizure ; he
shall sign it with-the alguazil, the steward,
the deposita N and the wilne:hsud 3 l:;islnll

ive a copy of this writing to the dep H
gut if the ztheu demand copies, he is po:;{lr
ted to require payment for them.

* They never found this measure nacessary.
The old bulls and the Cortes had provided that
the interlocutory act of arrest should be con-
sonted to, and signed by the inquisitor in ordinary
of the diocese. Reason dictated this measure,
becauso the decree for an arrest does not permit
the summons,
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Sth. the algwaszil shall deduct from the
lu}uectnud property a sufficient on to
deiray the ex of the food, lodging, and
journey of the prisoner; he shall give an
account of what he received when he arrives
at the Inquisition. If any money remains he
shall give it 10 the cashier, to be employed in
the maintenance of the prisoner.

10th. 'l'hoalfuzc’l shall require the prison-
er to &ive up his money, pspers, arms, and
everything which it might be dengerous for
him to be in poesession of; he shall not
allow him to have any communication, either
by speech or writing with the other prisoners,
without receiving permission from the inqui-
sitors. He lll:ﬁ remitall the effects found
upon the person of the prisoner to the gaoler,
and shall take a receipt, with the date of the
day on which the remittance took place. The
gaoler shall inform the inquisitors of the arri-
val of the prisoner, and he shall lodge him in
such a manner, that he cannot have at his
disposal anything which might be dangerons
in his hands, unless they are confided to bhim,
and he is obliged to be responsible. One of
the notaries of the holy office shall be present,
and shall draw op the verbal process of the
decree of imprisonment and its execotion;
even the hour when the prisoner enterod the
rrilon must be mentioned, as this point is

mportant in the accounts of the cashier.

1th. The guoler shall not lodge several
Pprisoners ;s he shall not permit them
to communicate with each other, unless the
inquisitors allow it.

18th. The gaoler shall be provided with a
register, in which all the effects in the cham-
ber of the prisoner, with the clothes and food
which he receives from each detained person,
shall be noted ; he shall sign the statement
with the recorder of the sequestrations, and
shall give notice of it to the inquisitors; he
shall not remit any food or clothing to the
prisoners without examining them with great
attention, to ascertain if &ay contsin let.
ters, arms, or anything of which they might
make a bad use.

13th. When the inquisitors think proper,
they shall order the prisoner to be brought into
the chamber of audience ; they shall cause him
to sit on a bench or small seat, and take an cath
w«-k the truth, at this time, and on all suc-

ing audiences; they shall ask him his
name, his surname, his age, his country, the
place where he dwells, his profession and
rank, and the time of his arrest; they shall
treat him with humanity, and respect his rank,
but without derogating from the authority of
judges, that the accused may not infringe the
respect due to them, or commit any reprehen-
sible act towards their persons. accased
shall stand while the act of denunciation by
the fiscal is read.

14th. The aocused shall be afterwards ex-
amined on his genealogy. He shall be asked
if he is married * if more than once, what
woman he married : how many children he
bad by each marriage, their age, as well as
their rank and place of dwelling. The re-
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corder shall write down these details, paying
sttention to place each name at the baginaing
of a line, because this practice is useful in
consulting registers, to discover if the ac-
oused is not descended from Jews, Moors,
beretics, or other individuuls punished by the
holy office.

15th. When the preceding ceremony has

, the accused shall be required to give

an abridged history of his life, mentioning
those towns where he made a considerable
stay, the motives of his sojourn, the persons
he associated with, the friends he acquired,
his studies, the masters he studied under, the

iod when he began them, and the time that

continued them; if he had been out of
Spain, at what time and with whom he had
quitted the country, and how long he had been
absent. He shall baasked if he is instructed
in the truths of the Christian religion, snd
shall be required to repeat the Pater-noster,
the Ave Maria, and the Credo. He shall be
ssked if he has confessed himself, and to
what confessors. When he has gi.ven an
acoount of all these things, he shall be asked
if he knows or suspects the cause of his
srrest, and his reply shall mq:_l;te the ques-
tions put to him afierwards. ¢ inquisitors
shall avoid imerrunting the accused while he
is speaking, and shall allow him to express
himself freely while the recorder writes down
his declarations, unless they are foreign to the
trial. They shall ask all necessary questions,
bat shall avoid fatiguing him by examining
him on subjects not nllling to the trial,
anless he Fives occasion for it g his replies.

16th. It is proper that the inquisitors
should always suspect that they have been
deceived by the witnesses, and that they
shall be so by the accused, and that they
should not take either side ; for, if they adopt
an opinion too soon, they will not be able to
act with that impartiality which is suitable to
their ststion, and on the contrary will be
liable to fall into error. -

17th. The inquisitors shall not speak to the
accused during the audience, or other times,
of any affair not relating to his own. The
recorder shall write down the questions and
replies; and, after the aundience, ho_llull
read it to the accused, that he may sign it.
If he wishes to add, retrench, alter or eluci-
date, any ‘article, the recorder shall write
after his dictstion, without suppressing or
certifying the articles alrcady written.

18th. The fiscal shall present his act of
accusation within the time prescribed by the
ordinances ; he shall accuse the prisoner of
being an heretic in general terms, and after-
wards mention, in particular, the facts and
propositions of which he s charged. The
inquisitors have not the right of punishing
an accused person for crimes which do not
relate to matters of faith ; but it the prepa-
ratory instruction mentions any, the fiscal
shall make it the object of an accusation, be-
caase this circumstance, and that of his gene-
ral good or bad conduct, assists in determining
the degree of credence to be given to his



repl'ie-. and serves for other purposes in his
tnal.

19th. Although the accused may confess
all the charges brought against him in the
first audiences of admonilion, yet the fiscal
shall draw up and present his act of accusa-
tion, because experience has shown, ‘that it
is better that a trial, caused by the denuncia-
tion of a person who is a party in the cause,
should be continued and judged at the prose-
cution of the denunciator; that the inquisitors
may be at liberty to deliberate on the applica-
tion of punishments and penances, which
would not be the case if they procecded
officially.

QOth{/ Whenever the accused shall be ad-

mitted to an audience, he ghall be reminded
of t‘l‘le oath which he has taken to speak the
truth.

21st. At the end of his requisition, the fis-
cal shall introduce a clause, importing, that
if the inquisitors do not think his accusation
sufficiently proved, they are requested to
decree the torture for the accused, because, a8
it cannot be inflicted without previous notice,
it is proper that the accused should be
informed that it has been required; and this
moment appears the most convenient, because
the prisoner is not prepared for it, and he will
receive the notice with less agitation.

23nd. The fiscal shall himself present his:

requisition, or demand in accusation, to the
inquisitors; the recorder shall vead it in the
presence of the prisoner, the fiscal shall make
oath that he does not act from bad intentions,
and retire ; the accused shall then reply suc-
cessively to all the articles of the act, and the
recorder shall write down his answers in the
same order, even if they are only denials.
83rd. The inquisitors shall give the prison-
er to understand that it is of great consequence
to him to speak the truth. One of the advo-
cates of the holy office shall be appointed to
defend him, who shall communicate with
him in the presence of an inquisitor, in order
to prepare himself to reply in writing to the
accusation, after swearing fidelity to the ac-
cused, and secrecy to the tribunal, although
he had already taken that oath at the time
that he was apz:)inted the advocate of the
prisoners of the holy office. He must endea-
vour to persuade the accused that it is of the
greatest consequence to be sincere, to ask
rardon and submit to a penance if he acknow-
edges his guilt. Hisreply shall be commau-
nicated to the fiscal, who, with the prisoner
and his advocate, shall be present at the
audience, and shall demand the proofs. The
inquisitors shall admit the requisition, but
withoat naming the day or informing the
parties of it, because neither the accused nor
au{ other person in his name has the right of
be t;:‘ present when the witnesses take their
oaths, .
24th. The recorder shall read to the advo-
cate all that the accused has declared relating
to himself, but shall omit all that he has
said concerning others; this communication
is necessary to the advooate, that he may es-
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tablish the defence of his client. If he wishes
to make any additions to his declaration,
the advocate must be obliged to retire.

26th. If the accused has attained the IE:
of twenty-five years, a guardian shall
appointed for him before the aoccusation is
read. The advocale may fill that office, or
any other person of known honour and integ-
rity. The prisoner, with the approbation of
his guardian, shall ratify all that he has
declared in former sudiences; and he shall
sfierwards be attended by the same person in
all the circuimstances of the trial.

26th. Where the proof has been admitted,
the fiscal shall announce in the presence of
the accused, that he reproduces and presents
the witnesses and the proofs which existed in
the writing and the registers of the holy
office ; he shall demand that they proceed to
the ratification of the witnesses who have
been examined in the preparatory instruction,
that the witnesses shall be confronted and the
depositions published. If the accused or his
advocate speak at this time, the recorder shall
write down all that they say.

27th. If the accused confesses himself
guilty of another crime, after the proof is ad-
mitted, the fiscal shall accuge him of it, and
he shall be prosecuted according to the ordi-
nary forms. If the proof of the first crime is
increased, it will be sufficient to inform the
prisoner of the circumstanece.

28th. In the interval between the proof and
the publication, the prisoner may demand
audiences, through the gaoler. The inquisi-
tors must grant them without delay, in order
to profit by the inclination of the sccused,
which may change from day to day.

29th. 'ﬂ\o inquisitors must not neglect to
cause the ratification of the witnesses, or to
take any measure to discover the truth.

30th. The ratification of the witnesses shall
take place before responsible pereons, sach as
two priests, Christians of an ancient race,
and of a pure life and. reputation. The wit-
nesses shall be asked in their presence if they
recollect having deposed in any trial before
the Inquisition: if they reply in the affirma-
tive, they shall be questioned on the circum-
stances, and the persons interested in it.
‘When they have given satisfaction on this ar-
ticle, they shall be informed that the fiscal
has presented them as witnesses in the trial
of the prisoner. Their first declaration shall
be read to them, and if they say that they
have attested those facts, they shall be re-
quired to ratify them, making any additions,
suppressions, ex‘r‘lamtions, and alterations,
which they may think proper. These shall all
be mentioned in ;the verbal process: it shall
also be stated if the witness is at that time at
liberty or detained in the chamber of sudi-
ence, or in his chamber, and ‘why he has not
appeared in the ordinary place.

31st. When the ratification of the witnesses
isconcluded, the publication shall be prepared,
taking a copy. of each deposition ; it shall be
literal, except in all that may tend to discover
the witnesses to the accused. If the declara-
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tion is too long, it shall be divided into seve-
ral chapters. At the publication of the depo-
sitions, they shall not be read to the accused
all at once, nor all the articles of a long
declaration. The first head of the deposition
of the first witness shall be read to him, that
he may reply to it with more precision and
facility ; they shall then to the second
chapter, then to the third, following the same
order in all the depositions. Th:annislm
shall hasten, as much as possible, the publi-
cation of the depositions, to spare the accused
the anxiety of a long delay; they shall avoid
all that may lead him to suppose that new
charges have been brought against him, or
that those already made are more extended
than in their own declarations; and although
such circumstances may have ocenrred, and
the accused has denied the charges, they shall
cause the delay of the formalities and the
conclusion of the trial.

3%nd. The inquisitors shall fulfil the form
of the publication, dictating to the recorder all
thatis to be written in the presence of the
accused, or they shal] write it themselves and
sign it. This writing shall be dated with the
year, the month, and the day, when the wit-
ness deposed, provided that it is not conve-
nient to do s0; it will be improper if the de-
ponent was in prison. ey shall also
mention the time and place when the facts
occurred, because this is useful to the accused
in his defence; but the place must only be
designated in general terms. In the copy of
the deposition the #Aird shall be used,
although the witnees spoke to the first. Thus
it must be said: The witness has seen or
heard the sccused conversing with an indivi-
dusl, &e.*

33rd. If an accused, who has made decla-
rations in several sittings, reveals crimes
committed by persons whom he named, and
afterwards makes new declarations, only cites
these peraons ina vague and general manner,
employing for example, the words all those
whom I Aave named, or a similar expression;
these accusations cannot be brought against any
accused person, as they do notapply in a direct
mauner; this must oblige the inquisitors to pay
attention to the prisoner who speaks of differ-
ent individuals, and cause him to name them
one after the other, and afterwards to state the
facts or words which he imputes to them.

34th. Although the accused has denied the
charges, the pablication of the depositions
must be read to him, that he may not call in

uestion the regularity of the proceedings of

the tribunal, which has arrested him, and that
the judges may rely with more confidence on
the law when they sentence ; for this
dioemion‘-erg power exists only if the accused
is convicted and confesses himself guilty;
otherwise the charges brought against him by
the witnesses, whose declarations have not

* This form is very prejudicial to the prisoner,
when the conversation takes place with one per-
son, bocause the manner of relating the fact sup-
poses three, the , the interlocutor, and
the individual who has lle;n or heard.

been mentioned to him, cannot be of any
value, particolarly in a trial of this kind, when
the aocused is not present at the oath of the
witnesses.
35th. When the accused has replied to the
publication of the depositions, he shall be
permitted to consult with his advoeate, in the
presence of an inquisitor and the recorder,
that he may prepare his defence. The record-
er shall write down the particulars of the
conference which he considers worthy of at-
tention. Neither the inquisitor nor recorder,
still less the advocate, shall remain alone
w:ﬂ:’:}l‘le accused. It shall‘li‘o the llame w{th
al er persons, exoept the gaoler or his
deputy. ﬁ‘il sometimes eligible that learned
and pious persons should visit the accused,
to exhort them to confess what they obsti-
nately deny, though they have been convicted.
These interviews can only take place in the
E’euneo of the recorder or an inquisitor,
rocurators shall not be permitted to be ap-
pointed for the prisoner, though the old in-
structions have established this measure,
because experience has shown that great
inconvenience arises from it ;* besides which,
the accused derives little advantage from it.{
If any unforeseen circumstance renders' this
measure necessary, the advocate may be
appointed to fill the office.
36th. If the accused wishes 1o write, to fix
the points of his defence, he shall be furnished
with paper: but the sheets shall be counted
and numbered by the recorder, that the
accused may give them back again either
written upon or blank. When hie work is
finished, he shall be allowed to converse with
his advocate, to whom he may communicate
what he has written,-on condition that his
defender restores the original without taking
a copy when he presents his address to the
tribunal. When there is an examination in
the defence of the prisoner, he shall be re-
uired to name on the margin of each article,
the witnesses he wishes to call, that those
who are the most worthy of credit may be
examined. He must also be requi to
name as witnesses none but Christians of an
ancient race, who are neither his servants nor
relations, unless it is a case when the
uestions can only be answered by them.i
%efon the address ie presented by the advo-
cates, if the accused requires it, it shall be
communicated to him, and the inquisitors
shall desire the advocate to confine himself
to the defence of the accused in what he has
to say, and to observe a strict silence on

* This inconvenience was the danger to which
the secrecy of the holy office was exposed from
tbe activity of these procurators.

t This is falee : the advant on the contrary
were very important, because the procurators who
knew the persons capable of proving the challenge
of presumed witnesses, informed them of it, in or-
der to favour the accused. .

t The New Christians, the relstions, the ser- -
vants, malefactors, infamous persons, in
every man, & wife, a child, are admitted to depose
against the accused, and he cannot call as & wit-
numypmnwhohlrgehﬁonotl servant!

"
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everything said in the world, as experience
has shown the inoonvenience of this sort of
revelations, even in respect to the accused
persons ; they shall cause him to vestore all

the papers, without taking copies of them, or
even of the address, of which he must give up
the notes, if there are any.

37th. Whenever the prisoner is admitted
to an audience, the shall examine the
state of the trial, to asoertain if he has de-
clared anything new of himself or others ; he
shall receive his declaration judicially, and
mark the names of the ns of whom he
has said nnytl;inﬁ. end all the other points
which mightelucidate the affair, in the margin.

38th. e inquisitors shall receive the
informations relative to the defence of the ac-
cused, the depositions in his favour, the in-
direct proofs and challenges of the witnesses,
with as much care and attention as they
receive those of the fiscal ; that the detention
of the prisoner, which prevents him from act-
ing for himself, may not be an obstacle to the
discovery of the truth.

39th. When the inquisitors receive impor-
tant informations in defence of the prisoner, he
shall be brought before the tribunal accom-

nied by his advocate; they shall -inform

im that the proofs of all the circumstances
which might mitigate his crime have been
received, and that they can conclude the
trial, unless any other demand occurs on their
part, in which case they will do overylhinf
which may be permitted for the prisoner. 1
he declares that he has nothing inore to say,
the fiscal may give in bis conclusions. It
will be proper, however, that he should not do
it immediately, that he may take advantage
of every circumstance that may take place.
If the accused demands the publication of the
depositions in his defence, it must be refused,
as it may tend to discover the persons who
have deposed against him.*

40th. When the trial is so far advanced
that the sentence may be passed, the inquisi-
tors shall convoke the ordinary and the con-
sultors. As there is no reporter, the dean of
the inquisitors shall report the trial, without
giving any opinion, and the recorder ghall
read it in the presence of the inquisitors and
the fiscal, who shall sit by the consultors,
and retire when he has heard the re'F:n, be-
fore the ludgeo give their votes. e con-
sultors shall give their votes first, and then
the ordinary, the inquisitors after him, and the
dean the last. Each voter shall be at liberty
to make any observations which he thinks
proper in giving his vote, withoot being in-
terrupted or prevented. If the inquisitors
gave different votes, they shall explain their
motives, to prove that there is nothing arbitra.
7y in their conduct. The recorder shall write
each opinion in a register prepared for the pur-

* This is an injustice. If an azcused person
had seen the proved articles of the examination in
his defence, or if they had been communicated to
his lawyer, he would have often derived concla-
sive arguments from them against the depositions
for the prosecution.
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pose, and shall afierwards join it to the trial,
to give testimony of it.

41st. When the sccused confesses himself
guilty, and his confessions have the required
conditions, if he is not rela , he shall be
admitted to reconciliation ; .his property shall
be seized ; he shall be clothed in the habit of
a penitent, or a san-benito (which is a scapu-
larg of linen or yellow cloth, with two crosses
of St. Andrew of another eolour,) and he shall
be confined in the prison for those who are
condemned to perpetual imprisonment, name-
ly, that of Mercy. As to the colours of the
habit he is to wear, and the confiscation of
his property, there are Fueros and privileges
existing in some provinces of Aragon, and
other rules and customs which muat be con-
formed to, in acquitting the criminal, and re-
storing his ordinary garments to him, accord-
ing to the ‘sentence. . If it is proper that he
should remain in prison for an unlimited
time, it shall be said in his sentence, that his
punishment shall last as long as the inquisi-
tors think proper. If the accused has really
relapsed, after abjuring a formal heresy, or is
a false penitent when he has abjured as violent-
ly suspected, and is convicted in the present
trial of the same heresy, he shall be given u
to the common judge according to the civi
law, and his punishment shall not be remit-
ted, although he may groten that his repent-
ance is sincere, and his confession true in
this case.

42nd. The abjuration must be written after
the eentence, and signed by the accused: if
he is incapable of signing it, this ceremony
must be performed by an inquisitor and the
recorder: if the condemned abjures in a pub-
lic auto-da-fé, the abjuration must be signed
the next day, in the chamber of audience.

43rd. If the accused is convicted of heresy,
bad faith, and obstinacy, he shall be relaxed,
but the inquisitors must not neglect to endea-
vour to convert him, that he may die in the
faith of the church.

44th, If an accused who has been con-
demned, and informed of his sentence on the
day before the aulo-da-fé, repents during the
night and confesses his sins, or part of them,
in a manner that shows true repentance, he
shall not be conducted to the auto-da-fé, but
his execation shall be suspended, because it
might be improper to allow him to hear the
names of the persons condemned to death,
and those condemned to other punishments,
for this knowledge and the report of the
offence might assist him in preparing his
judicial confessi If the d is con-
verted on the seaffold of the uulo-da-fé, before
he has heard his sentence, the inquisitors
must suppose that the fear of death has more
influence in this conversion than true repent-
ance; but if, from different circumstances and
the pature of the confession, they wish to
suspend the execution, they are permited to
do 8o, considering at the saine time that con-
fessions mude in such circumstances are not
worthy of belief, and more particularly those

which accuse other individuals,
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45th. The inquisitors must matarely con-
sider motives and circumstances before they
decree the tortare; and when they have re-
solved to have recourse to it, they must state
;.ho nlx’:live :Ith:g mast declare i theb::tnro
s to be employed ¢n caput proprium, use
the aceo.ex la’ subjected (o it as persisting in
his denials, and incompletely convicted in
his own trial; or if he suffers it in eopul
alienum, as a witness who denies, in the trial
of anuther accused, the facts of which he has
heen a joint witness. If he is convicted of
bad faith in his own cause, and is conse-
quently liable to be relaxed, orif he is eqn::'y
.80 in any other affair, he may be tortured,
though he must be given up to the secular
gud for what concerns him personally. If
e does not reveal anything in being tortured
a8 a witness, he shall nevertheless be con-
demned as an accused; butif the question
forces him to confess his crime, and that of
another person, and he solicits the indulgence
of his judges, the inquisitors shall conform to
the rules of right.
46th. If only a semi-proof of the crime
existe, or if appearances will not admit of the
acquittal of the prisoner, he shall make an
lg?untion as being either violently or slightly
suspected. As this measure is not a punish-
ment for the past, but a precaution for the
future, pecuniary penalties shall be imposed ;
but he shall be informed that if he again
commits the crime for which he was de-
nounced, he will be considered as having re-
lapsed, and be delivered over to the secular
judge: for this purpose he shall sign his
act of abjuration.
47th, In cases where only the semi-proof,
or some indications of a crime exist, the ac-
cused has been sometimes permitted to clear
himself canonically before the number of
persons appointed in the ancient instruc-
tions ; the Inquisitors, the ordinnry. and the
consultors, may therefore allow it if they
think proper, but they must observe that this
proceeding is very dangerous, not often used,
and can only be employed with great cau-

tion.

48th. The third manner of proceeding in
this case is to employ the question. This
measure is thought to be dangerous apd not
certain, because its effects depend upon the
rhy-ical strength of the subject ;

y no rule can be prescribed ‘on this poi;t. but
it ig left to the prudence and equity of the

* It was not often wsed, because the inquisitors
were unwilling 1o reveal the eecret of their irre-
lar pro ; they considered it dangerous,
use it was favourable to the accused, in the
fow cases where it had been employed; they
wished it to be used with great caution, because
they felt that those who are. not inquisitors sct
like judges. The canonical proof takes place in
the presence of twelve persons, who declare upon
oath whether 1hey believe the accused 10 be inno-
cent or ﬁ:ihy. hey were a kind of jury. to
whom the inquisitors were obliged to show the
original process, and thus the accused depended
more upan the jary than on the inquisitors.

jadges. Nevertheless the question shall
only be decreed by the ordinary, the con-
sultors, and the inquisitors, or applied with-
out their conocurrence, as circamstances may
oocur‘when their presence would be neces-

“?9:!:. When it is necessary to decree the
torture, the aocused shall be informed of the
motives for emph?lnf it, and the offencee for
which he is to suffer it ; but after it has been
decided he shall not be examined on any par-
ticular fact, he shall be allowed to say what
he pleases. Experience has shown that if
he is questioned on any subject when pain
has reduced him to the last extremity, he will
say anything that is required of him, which
may be injurious to other persons, in making
them parties concerned, and producing other
inconveniences.

50th. The question shall not be decreed
antil the process is terminated, and the de-
fence of the accnsed has been heard. As
the sentence of recourse to the question ad-
mits of an appeal, the inquisitors shall con-
sult the council, if the case is doubtful; if
the accused can maintain his appeal, it shall
be admitted. Bat if the point of Jaw is clear,
the inquisitors are not required to consult the
council, or to admit the application of the ac-
cused ; they are at liberty to proceed imme-
di:;ely to execution, as if it had not been
made.

51st. If the inquisitors think that the ap-
peal ought to be admitted, thay shall send
the writings of the process to the Supreme
Council, withoat informing the parties, or
any individual not belonging to the tribunal,
becanse the council will send an order to the
inquisitors, if it is considered proper that
they should be made acquainted with it.

53nd. If an inquisitor is challenged, and
there is another in the tribunal, the first
shall abstain from performing his office, and
the second shall take his place, after the
council has been informed of the circum-
stance. If there is only one inquisitor in the
tribunal, the proceedings shall be suspended
until a decision of the Supreme Council has
been received ; the same course shall be pur-
sued if there are several inquisitors, and they
are all challenged.

53rd. ‘I'wenty-four hours after the accused
has been put to the question, he shall be
asked if he persists in his declarations, and
if he will ratify them. ‘The notary of the tri-
bunal shall appoint the time for this formality,
and likewise that for the application of the

nestion. If at this moment the accused con-
esses his crimes, and afierwards ratifies his
declarations in such a manner that the inqui-
sitors may believe him to be converted, re-
pentant, and sincere in his confessions, he

* I have not read any process which proves
that more than one inquisitor has assisted at this
exccution ; I have never seen either the ordinary,
or the consultors present at it; the quesation was
only applied in the presence of tho inquisitor, the
notary, aad the executioners.



may be admitted to reconciliation, notwith-
standing the article in the ordinance of Se-
ville, in 1484. If the accused retracts his
declaration, the inquisitors shall proceed ao-
cording to rale.

54th. When the inquisitors, the ordinary,
and the consultors decree the question, the
shall not decide on what is to be done after it
has been administered, as the result is unoer-
tain, nothing being regulated on this point.
If the accused resists the torture, t‘h:dludgn
shall deliberate on the nature, form, and quali-
ty of the torture which he has saffered; on

e degree of intensity with which it was in-
flicted ; on the age, strength, health, and
vigour of the patient: they shall compare all
these circomstances, with the number, the
seriousness of the indications which lead to
the supposition of his Fuih, and they shall
decide if he is already cleared by what he has
suffered ; in the affirmative they shall declare
him free from prosecution, in the other case
he shall abjure according to the natare of the
suspicion. <o

55th. The judges, notary, and the execu-
tioners shall be present at the torture ; when
it is over, the inquisitors shall cause an in-
dividual who has been wounded to be pro-
perly attended, without allowing any suspect-

to approach him, until he has rati-
fied his declarations.

56th. The inquisitors shall take every pre-
caution that the gaoler shall not insinuate
anything to the accused relating to his de-
fence, that he may only follow his inclination
in all that he says. is measure does not
allow the gaoler to fill the office of guardian
or defender to the prisoner, or even repre-
sentative of the fiscal ; he may however serve
as a writer for the accused, if he does not
koow how to write: in this cgse he shall be
prohibited from substituting his own ideas
for thoee of the accused.

57th. The affair being for the second time in
a state for passing sentence, there shall be a
new audience of the inquisitors, the ordinary,
the consultors, the fiscal and the notary. The
fiscal shall hear the report of the last inci-
dents, to ascertain if it contains anything im-
portant relating to his office ; after it has been
read he shall retire, that the judges may re-
main alone when they proceed to vote.

-58th. When the inquisitors release an ac-
cused person from secret prisons, he
shall be conducted to the chamber of au-
dience ; they shall there ask him if the gaoler
treated him and the other prisoners well, or
ill; if he has communicated with him or
other persons on subjects foreign to the trial ;
if he has seen or known that other prisoners
conversed with persons not confined in the
R'rih:on, or if the gaolergave them any advice.

shall command him to keep secret these
detaile, and all that has passed since his de-
tention, and shall make him sign a promise
to this effect, if he knows how to write, that
he may fear to break it.
59th. I€a prisoner dies before his trial is
terminated, and his declarations have not ex-

'mitted, althoug
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tenvated the charges of the witnestes, so as
to give a sufficient cause for reconciliation,
the inquisitors shall give notice of his death
to his children, his heirs, or other persons
who have the right of defending his memory
and pmlpmy; and, if there is cause to pursne
the trial of the deceased, a c:ipy of the depo-
sitions and the act of accusation shall be re-
mitted to them, and all that they advance in
defence of the accused shall be received.

60th. If the mind of an accused person be-
comes deranged before the conclusion of the
trial, a guardian or defender shall be appoint-
ed for him; if the children or relations of
the accused present any means of defence in
his favour to the tribunal, when he is in
session of his senses, the inquisitors shall
not permit them to be joi to the other
writings of the process, use neither the
children nor relations of the accused are law-
ful parties; yet in a distinct and separate
writing they may decree what they think fit,
and uﬁa measures to discover the troth with-
out communicating with the prisoner, or the
persons who represent him.

61st. When sufficient proof exists to au-
thorize proceedings against the memory and
property of a deceased person, according to
the ancient instruelion, the accusation of the
fiscal shall be signified to the children, the
heirs, or other interested persons, each of
whom shall receive a copy of the notification.
If no person presents himself to defend the
memory of the accused, or to appeal against
the seizure of his goods, the inquisitors shall
appoint a defender, and pursue the trial, con-
sidering him as a party. If any one interested
in the affair appears, his rights shall be ad-

r‘ho should be a prisoner in

the holy office at the time; but he shall be
obliged to choose a free person to act for him.
Untl the affair is terminated, the uzl;:tn-
tion of the property cannot take place, use
it has passed into other hands: yet the pos-
sessors shall be deprived of it, if the deceased
is found guilty.

62nd. If aperson is found not liable to pro-
secution, this resolution of the tribunal shall
be annoanced in the aufo-da-fé by a public
act, in any manner most suitable to the in-
terested party ; the errors with which he was
charged shall not be designated, if the accu-

sation is not proved. Ifad reon ie
pronounced free from prosecution, the judg-
ment shall be forma!l'? published, because the
action was public and notorious.

63rd. When a defender is appointed for
the memory of a person accused after his
death, in defanlt of interested persons to take
his defence, the choice must only fall ona
Kemn not belonq:f to the lm‘uhit.ion; but
e must be required to keep all the proceed-
ings secret, and not to communicate the
sitions and the accusations to any but the law-
ers of the prisoners, unless a decision of the
inquisitors authorize him to make them
known to other persons.
64th. When absent individuals are to be
tried, they shall be summoned to appear, by
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thrr::l public lﬁ; of g:atian at different in-
tervals, acoording to known or sapposed
i 5, ot ki, T Bonl
enounce them con! at the [
each citation,
65th. The inquisitors may take cognizance
of several crimes which occasion - suspicion
of heresy, although they do not consider the
accused an heretic, on acoount of certsin cir-
cumstances ; such as bigamy, blasphemy, and
suspicious propositions. In these cases the
application of the punishment depends upon
the prudence of the judges, who ought to
follow the rules of right, and consider the
gravity of the offence. However, if they
condemn the accused to punish-
ment, such as whipping, or the galleys, they
shall not say that it may be commuted for pe-
cuniary penalties ; for this measure would be
an extortion, and an infringement of the
respect due to the tribunal.
6th. If the inquisitors and the ordinary
differ in opinion when they assemble to give
their votes on the definitive sentence, the trial
shall be referred to the Supreme Council ;
bat if the division is produced by the manner
in which thie consultors have voted, the in-
quisitors may pass them over, (although they
n:z“bo more numerous,) and establish the
definitive sentence on own votes, and
that of the ordinary, unless the importance of
the case compels them to apply to the coun-
cil, even if the inquisitors, consultors,
and ordinary are unanimous.*
- 67th. The secret nolaries shall draw up as
many literal and certified copies of the decla-
rations of the witnesses, the confessions
of the accused, as there are persons designa-
ted as guilty, or suspected of the crime of
heresy, that there may be a separate proceed-
ing against esch; for the writings which
contain the original charges are not sufficient,
since experience has shown that it always
causes confusion, and the prescribed method
has been emplogood several times, although it
increases the labour of the notaries.
68th. When the inquisitors are informed
that any of the prisoners have communicated
with other detained persons, they shall ascer-
tain the truth of the fact, inform themselves
of the name and quality of the denounced
persons, and if they are acoused of the same
species of crime. These details shall be
mentioned in the prooess of esch prisoner. In
these cases little credit can be given to any
subsequent declarations made by these per-
sons, either in their own cause, or in the trial
of another. .
69th. Where a trial has been suspended
by the inquisitors, if another commences,
though for a different crime, the charges of
the first shall be added to thoee of the second,
and the fiscal shall maintain them in his act
of aocusation, because they 3 vate the
new crime of which the prisoner is accused.
70th. When two or more prisoners have

* It was afterwards regulated that this should
be done in all definitive sentences.

I
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been placed in the nm‘:!riaon,thoy shall not
be afterwards separated, or introduced to

other companions; if extraordinary circum-
stances make it‘grl:rouiblo to tomply with
this order, they be stated in the process
of each person, and this incident ought to di-
minish the weight of their declarations after
the change; for it is certain that each pri-
soner will tell his companions all that he
knows and has seen, and that these reports
will influence the other prisoners in the re-
cantations which they sometimes oppose to
their first confessions.
71st. Ifa rri.ow falls sick, the inquisitors
must carefully provide him with every assist-
ance, and more particularly attend to all that
relates to his sovul. If he asks for a confessor,
the inquisitors shall summon a learned man,
worthy of possessing their confidence; they
shall recommend that he shall not undertake
any commission for any person, during the
sacramental confession; and if the accused
ves him one out of the tribunal of penance,
t he shall communicate to the Inquisition
everything relating to his trial. con-
fessor shall be required to inform the accused
that he cannot be absolved in the sacrament
of penitence, unless he confesses the crime
of which he is accused. 1If the sick person
is in danger of dying, or is 8 woman about
to be delivered, the rules appointed for such
cases shall be followed. If the accused does
not ask for a confessor, and the physician de-
clares that he is in danger, he shall be in-
duced to make the request, and to confess
himself. If the accused makes a judicial
confession of his crime, ing with the
charges, he shall be reconciled, and when he
has been aoquitted by the tribunal, the confes-
sor shall give him absolution. In case of death
ecclesiastical sepulture shall be granted, but
secretly, unless it is inconvenient. If the
accused demanda a confessor when he is in
health, it may be useful to refuse it, as
e cannot be_ absolved until after his recon-
ciliation; unless he has already judicially
confessed enough to justify the charges: in
that case the confessor may encourage him 10
be patient.
79nd. The witnesses in a trial shall not be
confronted, because experience has shown
that this measure is useless and inconvenient,

independemlz of the infringement of the law
of secrecy which is the result.
73rd. When an inquisitor visits the towns

of the district of his tribunal, he shall not un-
dertake any trial for heresy, or arrest any de-
nounced person, but he shall receive the de-
clarations and send them to the tribunal.
Yet if it is the case of a person whose flight
may be apprehended, he may bé arrested and
sent to tﬁo prisons of the holy office; the
inquisitor may also decide upon affairs of
small consequence, such as heretical blas-
phemies, which may be judged without ar-
resting the parties. The inquisitor shall not
exercise this authority without being empow-
ered by the erdinary.

74th. In the definitive sentence pronounced
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sgrinst an individual declared guilty of
heresy, and condemned to be de dszd toyfhil

roperty, the od when he first fell into
Kem shall indicated, because this
knowledge may be usefal to the steward of

confiscations ; it shall likewise be men-
tioned if this declaration is founded on the
confession of the accused, on the depositions
of the witnesses, or on both. If this formalit
is omitted, and the steward demands that ﬁ
shall be fulfilled, the inquisitors shall com-
Ply; if it cannot be done by all together, it
shall at least be executed by one of them, or
the consultors. .
75th. An acoount shall be given by the
gaoler of the common and daily nourishment
of each prisoner, according to the price of
the nubleg; if there is in the prison a per-
son of quality, or who is rich and has several

domestics, he shall be sapplied with the|pe

quantity of food which he requires, but only
on condition that the remnants be distributed
to the poor, and not given to the gaoler.

76¢h. If the prisoner has a wife or children,
and they require 10 bs maintained from his
sequestrated property, a certain sum for each
day shall be allowed them, proportioned to
their number, sge, quality, and the state of
their health, as well as to the extent and
value of these possessions. If any of the
children exercise any profession, and can
thus provide for themselves, they shall not
receive arvna part of the sllowance.

77th. When any trials are terminated and
sentences , the inquisitors shall fix the
day for the celebration of an aulo-dafé.
They give notice of it to the ecclesiastical
chapter and the manicipality of the town,
and likewise to the president and the judges
of the roysl court, if there is one, that they
may assemble with the tribanal, and accom-
my it to the ceremony according to custom.
[hey shall use proper means that tbe execu-
tion of those who are to be relaxed shall
take place before night, in order to prevent
accidents,

78th. The inquisitors shall not permit any

1son to enter the prisons on the day be-
ore the aulo-da-fé, except the confessors and
the familiars of the holy office when their
employments make it necessary. The fams-
Kars shall receive the prisoner and be re-
sponsible for him, after the notary has taken
evidence of it in writing, and shall be required
to take him back to the prisons after the cere-
mony of the aulo-da.fs, if he is not given over
to the secular judge; they shall not allow
"“ty person to speak to him on the rosd, or
intorm him of anything that is passing.

79th. On the day after the auto-da-f¢, the
inquisitors shall eause all the reconciled per-
sone to be brought into their presence. ey
shall explain to each the sentence which had
been read the day before, and shall tell him
to what punishment he would have been con-
demned if he had not confessed his crime;
they shall examine them all, particularly on
what passes in the prisons, and they shall

HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

afterwards give them into the custody of the

or of the risons, who shall be
gzmiuimz that they sccomplish -
their penances, and to inform them when
they fail. He shall also be required to sup-
ply the prisoners with everything they want,
and to procare work for those who can occup
themselves, that they may contribute to theg
subsistence, and be able to alleviate their

misery.
9‘3&. The inquisitors shall visit the per-
prisons from time to time, to observe
the conduct of the prisoners, and if they are
well treated. In those places where there is
no perpetual prison, a house shall be provided
instead ; for without this precaution it is im-
possible to inflict the punishment of imprison-
ment on those who are condemned to it, or to
ascertain if they faithfully accomplish their

nanoes.

81st. The San-benitos of all those persons
who have been condemned to relaxation,
shall be ox in their respective parishes,
sfler they have been burnt in person or in
effigy ; the same shall be done with the San-
benstos of the reconciled persons, after they
have left them off: no benitos shall be
suspended in the churches for those indi-
vidaals who have been reconciled before the
term of grace, as they have not been con-
demned to wear them. The Inscription for
the San-denito shall consist of the names of
the condemned persons, a notice of the here-
sies for which they were punished, and of the
time when they suffe their penance in
order to perpetuate the disgrace of the heretics
and their descendants.

As this formulary is still in force in the tri-
bunals of the holy office, it appeared to me
useless to follow minutely the details of the
events of the reign of each inquisitor-general,
since the nature of the institution ma{ be
known by the picture 1 havegiven of its laws
and ordinances, and by the observations
which I shall have occasion to make in the
remainder of the history.

1 shall only add, that Don Ferdinand
Valdés was, in 1566, succeeded by Don
Diego Espinosa, Bishop of Siguenza and
President of the Council of Castile. Espi-
nosa died on the 5th of Segtembor, 1578.
Don Pedro Ponce de Leon, Bishop of Pla-
centia and Estremadura, waa the next inquisi-
loonmnl, but he died before he had entered
on his office.

The king appointed the Cardinal Gaspard
de Quirogs, Archbishop of Toledo, to be the
eleventh inquisitor-general : he died on the
20th November, 1594.

Don Jerome Manrique de Lara succeeded
Quiroga; he was Bishop of Avila, and the
son of Cardinal Manrique, who had filled the
same office under Charles V.

Don Jerome died in September, 1595, and
after him Don Pedro Portocarrero, Bishop of
Cordova, was at the head of the Inqui-
sition.

The fourtesnth inquisitor-general was the
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Cardinal Don Ferdinand Nifio de Guevara,
Archbishop of Serille, who took

in Doem:ior

Philip IIL

possession | tion committed
, 1599, during the reign of ;ﬁnof this

It was under Philip 11. that the Inquisi-
the grestest cruelties ; and the
prince is the most remarkable

od of the history of the holy office.

CHAPTER XXIIIL
Ofsome Autos-da-fé celebrated in Murcia.

Tae opinions of Luther, Calvin, and the
other Protestant reformers, were not dissemi-
nated in the other cities in Spain with the
same rapidity as at Seville and Valladolid:
but there is yeason to believe that all Spain
would soon have been infected with the here-
:l, but for the extreme severity shown towards

e Lotherans. From 1560 to 1570 at least
one aulo-da-fé was celebrated every Jm in
every Inquisition of the ki.nqdoin. and some
heretics of the new sect always ap
among the condemned persons. Yet ro-
gress of Lutheranism connot be com to
that of Judaism and Mahometanism, because
these religions had been long established,
and the ancestors of a great number of Span-
ish families had professed them. An o&i-
nion may be formed of what passed in the
other tribunals from some notices of the pro-
ceedings of that of Murcia.

On the 7th of June, 1557, a solemn aufo-da-
Jé was celebrated at Murcia, where eleven
individuals wers burnt, and forty-three were
reconciled. On the 19th of February, 1559,
thirty victime were burnt with five effigies,
and forty-three were reconciled. On the 14th
February, in the same year, 1560, fourteen
persons were burnt, and twenty effigies:
twenty-nine persons were subjected to pen-

ances.

On the 8th of September, in the rame year,
sixteen individuals perished in the lames, and
forty-eight were condemned to penances.

n the 16th of March, 1563, another aufo-
da-fé took place, composed of twenty-three
persons who were burnt, and of sixty-three
who were condemned to penances. They
were all punished as Judaic heretics : among
the first may be remarked, Fray Lous de
Valdecanas, a Franciscan, descended from the
ancient Jows ; he was condemned for having
preached the law of Moses: Juan de Santa-
Fé, Alvares Xaurez, and Paul d’Aylion, al-
dermen or sheriffs ; Pedro Gutierres, a mem-
ber of the municipality; and Juan de Leon,
syndic of the city.

An auto-do-fé was celebrated in the same
town on the 20th of May, 1563; seventeen
persons were barnt in person, and four in
effigy ; forty-seven others were subjected to
penances. I shall mention thoee distisguish-
od l;y their rank or some particularity in their
trials.

Don Philip of Aragon, son of the Emperor

of Fez and Morooco, came to Spain while he
was very young, and became a Christian; he
had for his sﬁfnhor Ferdinand of Aragon,
Viceroy of Valencia, Duke of Calabria, and
eldest son of the King of Naples, Frede-
ric II1. Neither his rank, as the son of an
em , nor the advantsge of having a prince
:'or hii:igodf:ther. were uﬁciienuo rom
nquisitors from exposing him to the
of ap ng in loolems aulo-da-fé; he was
introduced in the ceremony with the paper
mitre on his head, terminated by long horns,
and covered with figures of devils. In this
state he was admitted to public reconciliation,
after which he was to be imprisoned for three
years in a convent, then banished forever from
the town of Elche, where he had settled, and
from the kingdoms of Valencia, Aragon,
Murcia, and Grenada. The inquisitors boast-
ed much of the lenity of this sentence, and in-
formed the public that it was occasioned by
Don Philip’s h:vlnghgivon himself up, instead
of taking flight as he might have done. It
appears that, after his baptism, he had shown
some interest and inclination to the sect of
Mahomet; he had also given assistance to
some apostates, and had shown himself a
fovourer and concesaler of heretics. He was
also accused of baving made a compact with
the devil, and having practised sorcery.
‘The licentiate Antonio de Villena, a native
extoomed af coatt ppesred n the. wuto-doge
at court, a in the ¢
in his shirt, with higpl?ud uncovered and a
flambeau in his hand; he abjured heresy as
slightly suspected. He was reconciled, and
condemned to one {ur’: imprisonment, with-
out the privilege of celebrating the holy mys-
teries; deprived forever of the power of
preaching, hanished from Madrid for two
years, and obliged to pay five hundred ducats
toward the expenses of the holy office. His
crime was having spoken ill of the Inquisition,
and of the inquisitor-general Valdés, sayin,
that he persecuted him, and that he would fin
an opportunity of complaining to the king.
He had also been unfortunate enough to be-
tray the oxlnem of the prisons of the holy of-
fice, after having been detained there twice for
suspicious propositions.
uan ne Sotomayor, of Jewish origin, and a
native of the town of Murcia, appeared in the
aulo-da-fé as a penitent, with the gag and the
cord round his neck. He was condemned to



teceive two hundred stripes, to wear the
san-benito, and to be imprisoned in the House

Mercy for life, with a threat that he should

treated with still greater severity if he
presumed to converse with any one on the
affairs of the Inquisition. Juan de Sotomayor
had already been arrested aud condemned to
a penance, as suspected of Jndeism. When
he was set at liberty, he conversed with seve-
ral persons on the subject, repeated the con-
fession he had made, and some other circum-
stances. This was the crime for which he
was condemned to receive two handred
stripes, and to be imprisoned for life !

rancis Guillen, a merchant, of Jewish
origin, appeared in the auto-da-fé, with seve-
ral persons condemned to be relazed, in virtue
of a definitive sentence confirmed by the
Supreme Council, which was to be read
during the ceremony, with the charges against
him. In the midst of the aufo-da-f¢ Francis
announced that he had new declarations to
make. lmmediat:l{ Don Jerome Manrique
(son of the Cardinal of that name, who was
afterwards inquisitor-general) descended from
the tribunal, took off the insignia of relaxation,
and gsve Francis those belonging to a person
intended to be reconciled.

The history of this trial proves the arbitrary
conduct, and the disorder with which the
inquisitors pursued snd judged the causes,

executed their sentences.

More than twenty witnesses deposed that
Francis Guillen had attended assemblies of
the Jews in 1661, and the following years.
He was sent to the secret prisons, and his sen-
tence of relaxation was pronounced in De-
cember, 1561. The process having been sent
to the Supreme Council, the Council remark-
ed that two new witnesses having been heard
before the end of the trial, their depositions
had not been commaunicated to the condemned;
in consequence they commanded that this
formality should be fulfilled, and that the
votes should he afterwards given, according to
law. The inquisitors obeyed, but they did
not agree on the sentence; some voted for
relaxation, the others that the trial should be
suspended, and that the accused should be
induced to acknowledge that which was ad-
mitted to be true, from the state of the deposi-
tions. Francis had three audiences, in which
he confessed several other facts which re-
Jated to himself, or concerned other persons;
the inquisitors then voted a second. time for
the definitive sentence. Franeis was unani-
mously declared to be a false rnitem, for
having confessed only a part of his crimes,
and he wae condemned to be relazed; but it
was agreed that as he bad concealed facts
eomr:.i’:s persons of consideration, he should
be ind to make a more extended declara-
tion. :

On the 87th of April, Guillen named twelve
accomplices in his heresy, and vatified his
declaration. On the 9th of May it was

" decreed that he should be told to prepare to
die the next day. Francis inquired if his

life would be spared, supposing that he
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revealed all he knew : they replied that he
mf,ght depend upon the clemenoy of his
judges. He demanded another audience,
named a t many ons as his accom-
plices, and designated Fray Louis de Valdeca-
nas as the principal preacher of the party.
Some time after he accused other persons.
On the night of the 19th the inquisitors
assembled, with the ordinary and consultors,
and decided that Francis should sppear in
the auto-da-fé with the habit of the relaxed
persons, in order to make him suppose that he
was condemned to die; but that he should be
reconciled, with the punishment of the san-
benito, perpetual imprisonment, and confisca-
tion.

When he was lgheed among those destined
to the flames, Francis demanded an audi-
ence. ‘Theinquisitor Manrique then informed
him of bie sentence; and when he was taken
back to the prison, he made a new declana-
tion against nine persons, alleging that he
had forgotten them in his other depositions :
he ratified these on the 23nd of the same
month.

Some days afier the inquisitor-genersl
caused the tribunal to be visited : the visitor
declared that the judges had acted contrary to
the laws in conducting Francis to the auto-da-
| fé in the habit of a relaxed person, when they
had decided on his reconciliation. The
inquisitors endeavoured to justify themselves
by saying that they thought it would frighten
the accused into making new declarations.
The visitor commanded that Francis should
be reconciled and taken to the prison of the
Penitents, likewise called that of Mercy.

Francis, who was rrobnb!y a litle de-
ranged, declared several times that be had de-
ceived the inquisitors by accusing some per-
sons as heretics who were innocent, because
he hoped that he should escaps death by this
proceeding. These words were reported to
the inquisitors, and Francis was taken to the
secret prisons. There was an act of accusa-
tion agsinst him ; heacknowledged all the arti-
cles of the fiscal, and affirmed upon oath that
all his declarations were true; he ratified them,
and boigod that he might be pardoned. On
the 19th of January, 1564, he was condemned
to appear in the aulo-da-fé with the gag, to
receive two hundred stripes, and to pass three
years in the house of Penitence. Francis suf-
fered the stripes, but they did not render him
more prudent, for he declared, even in the
prison, that he was onjustly treated, for all
that he had said was false, and dictated by fear.

In 1565, the Inquisition of Murcia received
the visit of a new commissary, who obliged
Francis to ap| before him as a witness, to
ratify a declaration which he had made
against Catharine Peres, his wife, for Juda-
ism. The following dialogue took place
between the visitor and the witness :—

Do you remember making a declaration
against Catharine Perez, your wife }—Yes.

‘What was that declaration 1—It will he
found in- the writings of the trial. (The

declaration was here read to Francis.)
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Is what you have just heard true 7—No.

Why then did you affirm that it was so 1—
Because I heard an inquisitor say it.

Are the declarations against other persons
trae 7—No.

sl oo sl dcfd k which T sesieod,
peroeived in the ¢ at whicl y
that the contents were read in the publication
of the depositions, and 1 thoaght that if I
declared it to be true, I should avoid death as

bei :sood tent.

:‘fhy id yp::i make your ratification after
the aulo-da-fé, when the fiscal presented you
28 3 witness inst your wife, and other
persons 7—For the same reason.

After this conversation, Francis was sent
back to the prison, where he wrote a kind of
memorial, in which he said that none of the
witnesses were admissible against him, be-

cause they differed and contradicted each {ch

other in their declarations.

When the visitor was gone, the inquisitors
recommenced their ' prosecution; the fiscal
socused Francis Guillen of the crime of
revocation, saying that he had imposed on
them from fear, ignorance, or some other
motive. When Francis again found himself
in dai , he, as might have heen expected,
decl: that his first depositions were true,
and that the cause of his retracting was a
meatal indisposition, with which he had
been affected. On the 10th November, 1565,
Francis was condemned to sppear in the
aulo-da-f&, to receive three hundred stripes,
and to pass the rest of his life in a prison.
The punishment of imprisonment was com-
mnhsfor that of serving in.the galleys, as
long as the strength and health of Francis
allowed of it. The judges reserved the right of
deciding this point themselves. The prisoner
was conducted to the aulo-da-fé on the 9th of
December, and suffered the punishment of
whipping; he was then transferred to the
common royal prison.

After he arrived there, he wrote to his
judges, declaring himself incapable of serving
in the galleys. The tribunal revised the

udgment, and sent him to the house of
. This procesding displeased the fiscal,
who protested against it, saying, that the
. office of the judges did not extend beyond the
sentence, and that they had not the right of
eomntin&‘tho punishment, without the con-
sent of inquisitor-general ; the affair
stopped bere, and Francis had been sufficient-
ly punished for his indiscretion to render him

. move cautious for the future.

The i larity and disorder of the pro-
ceedings of this tribunal may be seen still
more clearly in another trial before the Inqui-
sition of Murcia, about the same time, and
which was ondertaken in consequence of the
depositions of Guillen. Tt was instituted
’lgnim Melchior Hernandez, a merchant of

'oledo;. which place he afierwards left to
estublish himeelf at Murcia. As he was
descended from the Jews, he was suspected
of Imnx attached to the religion of his ances-
tors. After being uk;; to the secret prisons

7

from the informations of seven witnesses,
he had his first andience of admonition on the
zt’hqoﬂa?. lm; he was accused ioth“in‘

uented a clandestine synagogue in Murcia,
from 1551 to 1557, when the assembly was
discovered ; and of having acted and dis-
coursed in 8 manner that proved his apoetasy.
Two witnesses afterwards appeared, and the
accused having denied all the charges, the
publication of the nine deponents was given
to him: he isted in hisdenial, and by the
advice of his defender, alleged that the evi-
dence of the witneeses could not be admitted,
as they contradicted each other, and several
of them were known to be his enemies.

To prove this, and to challenge some other
persons, he presented a memorial which was
admitted, although it was afterwards con-
sidered to have failed in disproving the

A new witness was heard, when Melchior
fell dangerously ill. On the 25th of January,
1565, he made the sacramental confession,
and on the 29th demanded an audience, when
he said that his memory was bad, but he re-
membered being in a house in 1553, where a
number of persons, whom he named, were
assembled ; he denied having ottered any-
thing conoerning the law of Moses and that
the only thing he could reproach himself with,
was not having declared that the others had
made it the subject of conversation.

Four days after, he declared’ that all that
had been said in the assembly was spoken in
m Several days after this he said that he

not heard what these persons said ; and
that he had affirmed the contrary, because the
witnesses had deposed to that effect.

Another witnees, who was in tha prison,
was produced, who deposed, that after Mel-
chior had written his memorial, he formed a

lan of escaping, and endeavoured to induce

is companions to accompany him. The pro}
enulor—g:cal read to him the act of accusa-
tion, and he deniad all that it contained.

At this period, the visitor Don Martin de
Coscojales arrived, and examined the prisoner,
who affirmed that if be had said anything, he
was induced to do it from the fear of death.
The advocate made his defence; Melchior
wrote a memorial, which he read to his
judges, in which he challenged several per-
sons as if they had deposed againat him.

On the 24th September, 1565, Melchior
suffered the ion in alienum with the
view of making him confess what he knew of

sowme suspected persons, but he bore it with-
outspeaking. On the 18th of October he was
declared to be a Jewish heretic, guilty of con-

cealment in his judicial confession, and con-
demned to relaxation,as a false penitent and
obstinate heretic.

Although the sentence was pronounced, it
was resolved to preas Melchior once more to
reveal the truth, The aulo-da-fé was to be
onlebrated on the 9th of December, 1565 ; he
was exhorted on the 7th; he replied that he
had confessed all he knew ; yet when he was
told on the 8th to prerue or death, he de-



manded an audience, and declared that he
had seen and heard the suspected ns and
several others, and that they spoke of the law
of Moees, but that he considered these con-
versations to be of no coneequence, and a
mere pastime.

On the 9th, before daylight, Melchior was
dressed in the garb of the relaxed persons,
when perceiving that his confessions were
not sufficient to save him, he demanded an
audience, and mentioned the persons de-
li‘gnabd in the information, as forming part
of the -assembly, besides twelve other indi-
viduals who bad not been named to him ; but
be added that be did not approve of their
doetrine.

Some minutes after, finding that the marks
of condemnation were not taken from him, he
added the names of two or three accomplices,
declared the name of the person who bad
¥mched on the Law of Moses, and even con-
essed that he approved of some of the things
which he had heard.

Lastly, when his confessions did not pro-
duce the effect he wished, he said, that he
really believed in what was preached in the
synagogue, and persisted in this belief for a

ear; but that he had not confessed, because

e thought there was no proof of his heresy
in the depositions of the witnesses, The in-
quisitors decreed that Melchior should not
appear in the aulo-da-fé of this day, and that
they would consult on the proper measures to
be taken.

On the 14th of December, Melchior rati-
fied his propositions of the 9th, but on the
condition that all that had passed should not
separate him from the Catholic communion,
or cause him to be considered as a Judaic
heretic. On the 18th he desired another
audience, and again confessed that he be-
lieved in the Law of Motes. Yet on the 99th
of June, 1566, he declared that the Holy
Scriptures were read in the assembly, that he
believed part of what he heard, and had con-
sulted a priest on the subject ; that the priest
told him it ought to be held in contempt, and
that this decision bad regulated his subsequent
conduct.

On the 6th of May, 1566, the tribunal as-
sembled to decide whether the definitive sen-
tenoce pronounced against Melchior should be
executed. Two of. the consultors voted in
the affirmative; the inquisitors, the ordinary,
and the other consultors agreed that Melchior
had confessed enough to entitle him to recon-
ciliation. In an audinece on the 38th of May,
the accused again asked pardon, alleging that
he had only believed what he heard, unitil he
was undeceived by the priest. On the 30th
he declared that he thoaght all he had heard
necessary to salvation.

In the October following, he was again ad-
mitted toan audience, where he spoke against
the inquisitor, who had received his confes-
sion on the day of the aufo-da-fé, (this was
Don Jerome Manrique;) he complained of
the ill treatment he had subjected to, in
order to obtain new declarations. He ac-
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knowledged that his confessions an that da
were true, but added that the presence of
two inquisitors was necessary to prevent the
abuse of authority which took plsce in his

case,
The fiscal protested sgainst the act of re-
conciliation granted to Melchior on the 6th

of May, 1566, and demanded that the sen-
tence of relazation pronounced on the 8th of
Qctober, 1565, should be executed, because
the accused had shown no signs of true re-
pentanoce, and would not fail to seduoe others
into heresy if he was pardoned. The inqui-
sitors consulted the Supreme Council, which
decided that the prisoner should be examined
again hefore the ordinary and consultors, and
the affair submitted to the Council. The
sentence was pronounced on the 9th of May,
1567; three of the judges voted for the re-
laxation, and two for the reconciliation of the
accused.

The Supreme Council decreed on the 6th
of May, that Melchior should be relazed,
and the tribunal of Murcia pronounced a
second definitive sentence according to the
orders which they received. The execution
was to take place on the 8th of the following
month.

In contempt of the rules of common law,
Melchior was called up on the 5th, 6th, and
7th of June, and exhorted to discover his ac-
complices; as he did not know that he was
already sentenced, he referred them to what
he had confessed before. But when he found
that he was 1o be arrayed in the habit of a re-
lazed person, he declared that he could name
other accomplices. The inquisitor went to
the prison, and Melchior designated another
house where the Jews assembled, and named
seven persons, whom he said he had seen
there; he also wrote a list of seven syna-
gogues, and of fourteen persons who frequent-
ed them. He afterwards named another house
of Judaie heretics.

He was conducted to the autn-da-fé with
the other persons condemned to be burnt.
When he arrived at the place of execution,
he demanded another audience, in which he
named two other houses, and twelve heretics;
on being told that this declaration was not
sufficient to confirm the result of the trial, he
said he would endeavour to recollect others,
and a few minutes after he denounced seven
persons. Before the conclusion of the auto-

¢, ho desired to make a third confession,
and named two houses and six individuals;
the inquisitors then lfmd 10 suspend the
execution, and to send Melchior back to the
prison. This was what he wished, and on
the 12th of June he signed his ratification;
but when told that he was suspected of having
other accomplices, he replied that he did not
remember any other.

On the 13th, Melchior declared that he
was mistaken in naming a certsin person
among his sccomplices, but pretended to re-
member another house, and two persons whom
be named.

‘The procurator-fiscal again spoke in favour
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of the relazation of the accused, alleging that
he had been guilty of concealment; Melchior,
'npposi:g that his death was resolved upon,
demanded an audience on the 23rd of June,
and endeavoured to excite the compassion
of his Judges. ¢ What more could I do,”
he exclaimed, “ than accuse myself falsely ?
Koow that I have never been summoned to
any assembly, that I never attended them for
ani'pnrpo-u but thoee of commerces.”
elchior was summoned to fifteen audi-
ences during the months of July, August,
and September; his replies were always the
same. On the 16th of October another wit-
ness appeared, but Melchior denied his state-
ment, as well as that of a witness who was
examined on the 30th of December. Mel-
chior wrote his defence, and demanded that
his own witnesses should be heard, in order
to orrovo that he was not at Murcia, but at
Toledo, at the time specified by his ac-
casers; but the inquisitors did not think the
evidence offered by the accused was suffi-
cient to invalidate that of the wi
ageinst him. .

Melchior was at last sentenced to relaxa-
tion for the third time, on the 20th of March;
he, however, had not forgotten the means he
had formerly used to save himself, and re-
torned from the aufo-dafé. In five subse-
quent audiences, he made a long declaration
against himself and denounced a t nom-
ber of He was then told that he was
still guilty of concealment in not mentionin,
several persons not less distinguished a
well known than those he had already de-
nounced, and that he Id not be d
to have forgotten them.

This &roeeodin doltro&od the tranquillity
which Melchior had hitherto shown; and
after a long invective against the inquisitors
and all who had appeared on the trial, he
said, * What can you do to me? barn me?
well, then, be it so: I cannot confess what 1
do not know. Nevertheless know that all 1
have said of myself is true, but what I have
declared of others is entirely false. I bhave
only invented it becaunse I perceived that you
wished me to denounce
and being unacquainted with the names and
quality of these unfortunate people, I named
all whom I could think of, in the hope of find-
ing an end of my misery. 1 now peroeive
that my situation admits of no relief, and I
therefore retract all my depositions ; and now
I have fulfilled this duty, burn me as soon as
you please.”

The trial was sent to the Supreme Council,
which confirmed the sentence of relaxation
for the third time, and wrote to reprimand the
tribunal for having summoned the accused be-
fore them after ing the sentence, since an
audience should only take place at the request
of the accused.

Instead of submitting to this opinion, the
inquisitors called Melchior before them on
the 31st of May, and asked bim if he had
nothing else to commaunicate ; he replied in
the negative: they then represented to him

Ty

nnocent persons ; | de

that his declarations contained many contra-
dictions, and that it was necessary for the
good of his soul, that he should finally make
a confession of the truth, respecting himself
tn_du‘all the guilty persons he was acquainted
with.

These words show the cunning of the in-
quisitors ; their object was to induce the ac-
cused to retract his last declaration: but
Melchior, knowing the character of the in-
x)ilitou, n‘ﬁlied, at if they wished to know

e truth, they would find it in the declara-
tion which he made before the Sefior Zyora,
when be visited the tribunal. This writin
was examined, and it was found that Mel-
chior had #aid, that Ae knew nolln‘nﬁq‘ the
subject on which he was examined. e fol-
lowing conversation then took place :—

¢ How can this declaration be true, when
KN have several times declared that you

ave attended the Jewish assemblies, be-

lieved in their doctrines, and persevered in
the beliof for the space of one year, until you
were undeceived by a priest’”—1 spoke
falsely when I made a declaration againet
myself.”

“ Bat how is it that what you have con-
fessed of yourself and many other lhil:ﬁ’
which you now deny, are the resuit of the
depositions of a t many witneeses }”’—
‘1 do not know il that is true or false, for I
have not seen the writings of the trial ; but if
the witnesses have said that which is im-
puted to them, it is because they were placed
in the same situation as 1 am. They do not
love me better than I love myself; and I have
certainly declared against myself both truth
and falsehood.”

‘* What motive had you for declaring
things injurious to yourself, if they were
false}”—*] did not think it would be inja-
rious to me; on the contrary, | expected to
derive great advantages from it, because I
saw that if 1 did mot corifess anything, I
should be considered as impenitent, and the
trath would lead me to the scaffold. I
thought that falsehood would be most use-
ful to me, and I found it so in two aulos-
¢
n the 6th of June Melchior Hernandez
was informed that he must prepare for death
on the following day. He was clothed in
the habit of the persons condemned to be
burnt, and a confessor was arpoinwd for him.
At two o'clock in the morning he demanded
an andience, saying that he wished to acquit
his conscience. = An inquisitor, attended by a
secretary, went to his cell. Melchior then
decla ¢ that, at the point of appearin
before the tribunal of the Almighty, 2
without any hope of escaping from death by
new delays, he thought himself bound to
declare that he had never conversed with any
person on the Mosaical Law; that all he had
said on this subject was founded on the wish
to preserve life, and the belief that his con-
fersions were pleasing to the inquisitors;
that he asked pardon of the persons implica-
ted, that God might pardon him, and that no
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injury mi;ht be done to their honour and re-
putation.’

The inquisitor represented that he ought
not to s falsely, even from a motive of
compassion for the denounced s; that
the declarations of the witnesses had every
appearance of truth, and he therefore en-
treated him, in the name of God, not to in-
crease his sins at the hour of death. Melchior
merely repeated that all his former declara-
tions were false. The royal jodge condemn-
ed him to be strangled, and his body was
afterwards burnt.

Some doubts may be entertained of the
sincerity of the last declarations of Melchior
Hernandez, but the extreme irregularity of
the proceedings of the tribunal must be evi-
dent to every one. The intervention of the
Supreme Council proves that the same sys-
tem was pursued in the other tribunals, since
it approved of their proceedings, and exer-
cised the rights of revocation and censure.

In 1564 another auto-da-fé took place at

Murcia, one person and eleven effigies were
burnt; there were also forty-eight penitents, '
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but the following circumstance was the cause
of this ceremony being more particularly re-
membered. Pedro Hernandez had been reo-
conciled in 1561, as suspected of Judaiem.
In 1564 he fell sick, and through the media-
tion of his confessor demanded an audience
of the inquisitors. One of them went to his
house, and Pedro told him that he had denied
the crime of which he was accused, and had
afterwards made a confession, alleging as an
excuse for this conduct, that a French priest
bad given him absolation. He now confessed
that this was not true, and that he wished to
relieve his conscience by acknowledging it
before he died. The inquisitors presented
this declaration to the tribunal, which imme-
diately caused Pedro to he taken from his bed
and conveyed to their prisons, where he died
three days after. .

Three other aulos-da-fé took place at
Mourcia in the years 1565, 1567, and 1568,
in which thirty-five persons were barnt, and
a considerable number condemned to pe-
nances.

CHAPTER XXIV.

Of the Autos-da-fé celebrated by

the Inquisitions of Toledo, , Valencia, Logrono, Gre-
nads, Cuenca, and Sardinia, during the reign of Philip T A ’

Inquisition of Toledo.

Ox the 25th of February, 1560, the inqui-
sitors of Toledo celebrated an aufo-daf¢, in
which several persons were burnt, with some
effigies, and a great number subjected to
penances. ‘This auto-da-fé was performed to
entertain the new queen, Elizabeth de Valois,
the daughter of Henry II., King of France.
It is rather surprising that this melancholy
ceremony was chosen to amuse a royal

rincess of thirteen years of age, and who in
Kor native country had been accustomed to
brilliant festivals, suitable to her rank and
age. The Cortes 1 of the kingdoms
was also aseembled at Toledo at the same
time, to swear allegiance to the heir-pre-
sumptive, Don Carlos, so that this auto-da.fé,
with the exception of the number of victims,
was as solemp as any of those in Valladolid.

In 1561, another auto-da-fé took place in
the same town; four impenitent Lutherans
were burnt, and eighteen reconciled. Among
those condemned to penances was one of the
king’s pa a native of Brussels, named
Don Charles Esirect, but the young queen
Elizabeth obtained his pardon.

On the 17th of June, 1565, (which was
Trinity Sunday,) an oufo-da-fé of forty-five
persons was celebrated ; eleven were burnt,

of these were Lutherans, but the ter
number were Jews. Among those designated
as Protestants, some were called Lutierans,
;;hcn the i‘a:_lly‘c;ll + there was a third called
uguenaos, after Huguenols.

Althongh the Inquisition of Toledo cele-
brated as many aufos-da-fé as the other tribu-
nals, I do not find any renom of distinction
among the victims, until the aulo-da-fé of the
4th of June, 1571, when two men were burnt
in person, and three in s for Lutheran-
ism, and thirty-one individuals were con-
demned to penances. One of the men who
were burnt ought to be particalarly mention-
ed. He was called the Doclor Sigi.

Archel, of Cagliari, in Sardinia. e had
been arrested at Madrid, in 1563, as a dog-
matizing Lutheran, and after remaining for a
long time in the prisons at Toledo, he con-
trived to make his escape. He had not time
to get out of the kingdom ; descriptions of his
person were sent to all parta of the frontier,
anddbo :u again nrre;!wd. and ':}I into the
hands of his jud e persisted in deny-
ing the facts jlmpg::e.d to him, until the pui-
lication of the wilnesses, when he confessed,
and maintained not only that he was nota
heretic, but that he was a better Catholic
than the Papists. He was condemned to he
burnt, but persevered in his system, and de-

and thirty-four condemned to penances. Some

clared that he was a martyr; he insulted the
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priests when they exhorted him, and was
lhonp“:l until he was fastened to the
stake. archers, peroeiving that he Kn-
tended to the glory of martyrdom, pierced him
with their Jances, while the executioners
were lighting the faggots. . '

Inquisition of Saragossa.

The Inquisition of Saragossa aleo-celebra-
ted an aulo-da-fé every year, when several
people were barnt, and ¢t twenty recon-
ciled. Most of these were Huguenols who
had quitted Bearn, to establish themselves as
merchants in qum. Huesca, Barbastro,
and other cities. rogress which the
Calvinistic doctrines had made in Spain, is

roved by an ordinance of the Supreme

ouncil, in which we read, that ¢ Don is
de Be the smbassador of Spain at
Vienna, informed the inqniliwr-ﬁnonl. on
the 14th of April, 1568, that he had learnt
from particular reports, that the Calvinists
congratulated each other on the peace signed
between France and Spain, and that thel
hoped that their religion would make as muc
P s in Spain as in England, Flanders,
and other countries, because the great num-
ber of Spaniards who had secretly adopted it
might easily hold communioation with the
Protestants of Bearn, through Aragon.”
These, and other reports, induced the council
to recommend additional vigilance to the in-
quisitors,

The following circumstance shows the in-
justice and cruelty of the Inquisition in a
strong light. In 1578, a man was condemn-
ed, on suspicion of heresy, to receive two
hundred stripes, to be sent for five years to
the galleys, and to pay an hundred ducats.
His crime was sending Spanish horses into
France. Since the reign of Alphonso XI.,in
the fourteenth century, the introduction of
Spanish horses into France was prohibited,
on ?ain of death and confiscation; the par-
ticular circumstances which caused so dispro-
portionate a punishment to the crime to be
established are not known; it was however
renewed in 1499, by Ferdinand the Catholic.
No ene will deny that the officers of the cus-
toms were the p: rsons to arrest these
smugglers; but when the civil wars broke
aut between the Catholics and Protestants in
France, Philip thought proper to employ the
Inquisition in npreuin‘gethe practice, pre-
tending, according to Papal ball, that
those who furni the Protestants with
arms, ammunition, &c., were favourers of
heretics, and liable to tnmicion of heresy.
Philip II. commissioned the Inquisition of
Logroiio, Saragossa, and Barcelona, to take
cognizance of all the crimes relating to the
introduction of Spanish horses into France.

The Council of the Inquisition added a
clause to the annual edict of denunciations,
which obliged every Spanish Catholic Chris-
tian to denounce persons known to bave
bought horses to scnd to France, for the use
of &o Protestants. Besides these motives
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of religion, the zeal of the inhabitants was
excited by the promise of a reward.

In 1575, the punishment of whi;mi.nf was
decreed for this crime; bat thou aw is
expressed in 1 terms, following
event shows that it was only inflicted on
those whose power and credit were small.
In 1576, a Commiseary of the Inquisition
met a servant of the viceroy of Aragon going
into France with two horses; he seized the
horses bat allowed the servant to go away.
He gave an account of his proceedings to
the inquisitors, who approved of his conduct
in not arresting the servant; their opinion
was confirmed by the Supreme Council. The
inquisitors were on the point of writing to the
viceroy, to demand an explanation of the
conduct of his servant, and the destination of
the horses, when the council ordered them to
desist, if they thought it would be disagree-
able to the viceroy.

This law was afterwards applied to those
who were suspected of smuggling, and to
those who favoured the practice. In 1607,
Philip IL ordered the inquisitors to offer re-
wards to those who interce, this trade,
and the people were at last inspired with so

t & horror of it, and those who practised
it became 8o odious, that the government was
obliged to doclare that the misfortune of
:93"‘ oonvic&?ddand punished :_‘or this crime,

id not exclude a person from en
honours and offices. loying

The inquisitors, always eager to extend
their jurisdiction, wished to have the right of -
undertaking the trials for lmug‘ﬁling salt-
petre, sulphur, and gunpowder; this attempt
did not succeed, and was, in fact, the cause
of their being deprived of the powers bestow-
ed on them by Philip, respecting the intro-
duction of horses into France.

Ingquisition of Grenada.

In the yearly autos-da-fé of the Inquisition
of Grenada, there generally appeared about
twenty condemned persons ; for although the
Morescoes who denounced themselves were
treated with great clemency, yet there wers
many who refused to accuse themselves,
either from the fear which the severity of the
Inquisition inspired, or because they were

rsuaded that those who declared they had
B:en treated with great gentleness, did not
dare to assert the contrary; and others, after
having emigrated to Africe, had returned to
Spain without considering the danger they
were in of being arrested by the Inquisition.

On the 27th of May, 1693,a d auto-
da-fé took place at Grenada ; five individuals
were burnt in person, and five in effigy;
’cgghty-leven were condemned to penances.

e only considerable person among these,
was Donna Ines Alvares, the wife of Thomas
Martines, alguazil to the royal chancery.
She was condemned to be burnt, but making

'a confession on the scaffold, she was recon-

ciled.
The proceedings mzthe same in the In-
1
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quisition of Valencia. The number of Mo-
rescoes who relapsed into Mahometanism,
and refased to accused themselves, was so
considerable, that many appeared in every
aulo-dafé, either to be burnt as impenitent, or
to suffer different penances. .

Inguisition of Logroiio.

The Inquisition of Logroiio was not less
active in prosecuting heretics. An auto-da.fé
was celebrsted every year, corposed of about
twenty ons condemned for Judaism, and
some others for different heresies, particularly
Lutheranism; for after the time of Don
Carlos de Seso, corregidor of Toro (who was
arrested at ono, in 1558, and burnt in
the following year at Valladolid,) there were
always some individuals to be found who
professed his opinions, and succeeded in ob-
taining Lutheran books. The council which
was informed of this circumstance, wrote to
the inquisitors in 1568, enjoining them to re-
double their vigilance in preventing the in-
troduction of heretical books, and informed
them, that Don Diego de Guzman, ambassa-
dor to Enlglmd, had written that the Pro-
testants of that country boasted that their
doctrine was well received in Spain, particu-
Jarly in Navarre, and that it was even preach-
W f Logron

ile the inquisitors, o o were
preparing for th:qmdo-da;ﬂ of 1570, they had
the mortification of being blamed for their
conduct in two instances by the Supreme
Council. One was in the case of Lope de
Arguinaraz, and the other in that of Juan
Floristan Maestuz, who were accused of Ju-
daism. Arﬁuimnz denied the fact, was tor-
tured, and then confessed having committed
the actions, but asserted that he did not do
them with the sentiments and belief that he
was accused of. He ratified his confesasion
some days after, and demanded reconciliation.
The Judges when they assembled to vote for
the definitive sentence, resolved to refer the
case to the Supreme Council, which pro-
nounced that they had not sufficiently ex-
amined the accused on the sentiments and
intentions which he entertained in commit-
ting the actions he had confessed, and com-
manded them to retorn to that stage of the
trial, and vote according to the result. The
inquisitors sent an account of the motives of
their conduct, and gave notice that they
shoald wait until the council had considered
their observations, before they proceeded fur-
ther. The reply to this message enjoined
the inquisitora to execute the orders they had
received immediately, and harshly reproach-
ed them for not having obeyed them in
lileqoe. and for having failed in their duty, in
the interrogation, when they ought to have
examined the accused on his doctrine.

In the other affair of Juan Floristan Maes-
tuz, the council expressed its surprise, that
the inquisitors did not examine the accused
on some heretical propositions which were
proved against him, though he refused to
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confess even during the tortare; and above
all, that the inquisitor, who had qualified the
accused a8 negatively perjured, had voted for
his reconciliation, since the constitutions of
the holy office prohibited the reconciliation
of those who persisted in denying the charges
proved against him. The reconciliation of
the two prisoners took place in the aulo-

An auto-da.fé took place at Logrono, on the
14th of November, 1593, where forty-nine
persons appeared ; fiva were burnt in person,
seven in effigy; the others were subjected to
penances.

The custom of celebrating one qenmd
outo-da-fé every year was so well established,
that when the inquisitors of Cuenga, in 1558,

ve up 8 man to secular justice in a teu-
g aulo-da-fé, it was doubted if the rules of
the holy office permitted it; and though the
council decided in the affirmative, the custom
of reserving all the condemned persons for
the general auto-da.fé prevailed, unless any
very particular circumstance made it neces-
sary to deviate from it.

Inguisition of Sardinia.

T have already stated that Philip II. intro-
duced the Spanish constitution into Sardinia,
in 1563. Don Diego Calvo first began to put
it into execution, but the novelty made so
great an impression on the inhabitants, that
they demanded that the tribunal should be
visited. This commission was confided by
the inquisitor-general to the licentiate, Mar-
tinez del Villar, who fulfilled it in 1567. He
received so many complaints against the in-

uisitor Calvo, that he was recalled, and Mar-
tinez took his place; he, however, did not
remain there long, but was succeeded by Don
Alphonso de Lorca.

n 1575, an appeal was made to Rome
against the tribunal of Sardinia, and Philip
1). interposed in its defence. Don Francis
Minuta, a Sardinian gentleman, had been
subjected to a penance for bigamy, and con-
demned to serve for three years as a common
soldier in the galleys of Spain, and without
the liberty of going out of the Goletta, in
Malta. e h-ﬁ not been there a month, be-
fore he contrived to escape, and returned to
Sardinia ; the inquisitor-general then ordered
him to be again srrested, and doubled his
punishment ; Minuta was taken back to the
Goletta, whence he escaped a second time,
and fled to Rome. He represented to the
Pope that he was not guilty of bigamy, and
that the manner in which the inquisitor-
general had treated him was unjust, since he
had left the fort with the permission of the
governor. Don Francis demanded, and ob-
taincd of the Pope, two briefs of commission ;
the first for the examination of the principal
question, that of bigamy; the other to ju
of the reasons which he advanced against the
sentence, which prolonged his detention. In
the interim, the inquisitor of Sardinia de-
clared bim a contumacious fugitive, and oon-
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demped him to eight years® laboar in the gal-
leys. The apostolical judge required the
inquisitor to sus; the proceedings; he in-
formed the inquisitor- ral, who applied to
the king, whose interference they had never
requesated in vain. Philip II. wrote to Don
Juan de Zofiiga, his ambassador at Rome, to
demand a revocation of the briefs of commis-
sion, and to obtain permission for the inqui-
sitor of the island to continue the prosecation,
or that it might at least be referred to the in-
rinwr-gonenl, to whom the right of judging

e cause belonged. The Pope revoked his
bulls to please the King of Spain, and the
unfortunate Don Francis Minuta experienced
the fate which he might have expected ; for,
in’cases of this nature, the inquisitor-general
always delegates one of the members of the
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sccused tribunal to be the examining judge,
on pretence that they are in possession of the
writings of the trial.

Don Andrea Minuta, brother to Don
Francis, was also condemned to the same
punishment for three years. He fled to Rome,
ond appealing to the Pope, obtained a brief
of commission for a bishop of Sardinia.
Philip 11. made the same request to the Pope,
and Andrea was treated in the same way as
his brother.

Don Pedro Guisa, Casteli, in
Sardinis, was p demned for
the same crime of bigamy; but having learnt
what had happened to the two brothers Mi-
nuta, he had recourse to entreaties and humi-
liations, to appease the inquisilor-general and
obtain a commutation of bis punishment.

Baron de
2ad ‘

CHAPTER XXV.

Of the learned men who have been persecuted by the Inquisition.

Anowne the many evils which the Inquisi-
titlt'n ‘:I?. inflicted on‘hSp:in. the 'c_vtnuclu
which it opposes to the ess of the arts
and ocienez., and limalnl?e,mf:e not the least
deplorable. The partisans of the holy office
have never allowed this, yetit is a certain
trath. The apologists, of whom I speak,
maintain; that the Inquisition only opposes
the invasion of heretical opinions, and leaves
those who do not attack the doctrines of the
faith in perfect liberty,—consequently, that
it does not influence the arts and sciences.
If this pretension was just, there sre many
excellent works which might be read, and
which are only prohibited use they con-
tain doctrines opposed to the opinions of the
scholastic theologians.

St. Augustine was certainly a very sealous
an of religion in its greatest purity, yet

made a great distinotion between a dog-
matic proposition and one not defined. He
acknowledged that in the second case a
Catholic was free to maintain the argument
for, or against, socording to the dictates of
his reason. St. Augustine did not suppose
that the freedom of opinion would be Oprmed
b{ such theological censures as the qualifiers
of the holy office have established in modern
times. They have had great influence on
the prohibition of books, and even on the con-
demnation of their authors. They are em-
ployed against the first, on pretence that they
contain propositions favourable to Aeresy, ill
g+ savouring of Aeresy. fomenting here-

sy, or lending to Reresy ; againat the authors,

In the present time the qualifiers have ex-
tended the prohibitions, by saying that the
books contained p.r:xooitions offensive to per-
pw“nbsho{ldgh nz‘lk, itious, tm:f:g to disturd

tc tranquillity, cont {o end

the siate, amily nzylhc ence tohich

s been taught by Jesus Christ and his apos-
tles.

These censures are generally passed by
scholastic theologiane, e work of Filan-
gieri, entitled The Science of Legislation, was
censured by Fray Joseph de Cardenas, a Ca-
puchin, who thooght himself competent to
do it, though he had only read the first
volume of the Spanish translation, which
oontained only half of that of the original.

The prohibition applies most to those books
which treat of theology, and the canonical
laws, particularly if they are well written, and
contain the doctrines taught by the fathers,
the councils, and even by the popes who
reigned in the seven first centuries, but which
have been forgotten or opposed by tha theolo-
gians of the barbarous times, who wished to
establish the system of the union of the two
powers in the person of the sovereign pontiff.

The theological censures likewise attack
works on philosophy, on civil and natoral
law, and on the people. Those hooks which
have been published on mathematics, astrono-
my, physic, and other subjects which depend
upon these, have not been more highly fa-
voured. The Spaniards have, consequently,
been deprived of the advantages which other
nations have derived from all the recent die-
coveries.

in declaring them suspected of having adopt-
od heresy in their hearts.

Since the establishment of the holy office,
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there has scarcely been any man celebrated
for his learning, who has not been prosecuted
as a heretic. In the list which follows, 1
shall not (unless particular circumstances ren-
der it necessary) include any learned man
who has been prosecuted for having ambraced
Judaism, Mahometanism, or any sect equally
prohibited by the Catholic religion. 080
only will be mentioned who suflered in their
liberty, honour and fortunes, from not having
adopted erroneous scholastic opinions.

e names are disposed in an alphabetical
order, that the reader may be enabled to find
the article he wishes to consult more quickly.

“Abady-la-Sierra (D. Avgustin), bishop of
Barbastro, See Chapter 29.

Abady-la-Sierra (D. Manuel), archbishop
of Selimbris. Ibid.

Aimodobar (Duke of). See following Chap-
ter.

JAranda (Count 8). Ibid.

dArellano (D. Joseph Xavier Rodrigues d),
archbishop of Burgoe. See Chapter $9.

JAvila (the venersble Juan d’), secular
priest, born at Almodovar del Campo, sur-
named the Apostle of Andalusia. See Chap-
ters 13 and 14.

Azara &Doctor Nicholas d’). See the fol-
lom apter.

(Doctor Juan de), doctoral canon
of the cathedral of Salamanca and law pro-
fessor in the university of that city. He was
one of the most distinguished literati of his

Nicolas Antonio only mentions one of
his works, entitled Sabnantine Lessons. He
composed several others, one of which would
have caused him to be arrested by the Inqui-
sition, if he had not been protected by the
inquisitor- , Cardinal Don Antonio Za-
pata, and by some of the councillors of the
tribunal. It was a memoir which he had
drawn up and presented in 1627, to Philip
IV., in the name of the universities of Sala-
mancs, Valladolid and Alcala. Theobject of
this memoir was to indace the king to refuse
the permission which the Jesuits had request-
ed, to change the Jmperial College of';?ndrid
into a university.

The Jesuits denounced the work, and qua-
lified some of the propositions as erroncous,
offensive to pious ears, scandalous and injurious
1o the , and to the regular ecclesias-
tics of the Sociely of Jesus.

The council caused the memoir to be ex-
amined by gualifiers, who declared that it did
not merit theological censure, and the council
abandoned the affair. The Jesuits then em-
ployed the influence of the Count Duke d’Oli-
varez with the King, but the attempt was un-
successful. The other work which is attri-
duted to Balvoo, is perhaps that which was
printed at Rome in 163G, in the printing-
office of the apostolic chamber. It is written
in Latin, in quarto, and bears the name of
Alphonso de Vargas de Toledo, with this
title: 4n Exposilion made by A, de
Vargus to the Christian Kings and Princes, x
the Stratagems and political Artifices which
Members of the Sociely of Jesus employ to
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establish a wniversa!
a Work which the Deceit of the Jesuils
towards the Kings and Nations who Aave ro-
recesived them favourably ; their Perfidy and
Disobedience, even to the Pope, and the imode-m
ahoays shown in Mallers of Religion. It bas
been said that this work was printed at Frank-
fort, with the exception of the justificatory
ieces. h'l'he author ::V}neu and proves
eavy chal inst the Jesuits.

B?-‘ls (l;?“ Be.giatlo). professor of mathema-
tics at Madrid, and aathor of a work on that
science, used in the schools. The Inquisition
institated his trial towards the of the
reign of Charles 111., as saspected of atheism
and materialism. Bails was deprived of the
uee of his limbs, and incapable of attending to
his affairs; yet he was arrested and taken to
the prisons of the holy office, with one of his
nieces, who obtained permission to share his
captivity, that she might continue to render
him the assistance which his situation render-
ed necessmy. He prepared his defence in
the best manner he was able ; and before the

ublication of the depositions, he acknow-
[ leged enough to show that he was sincere in
his confession and repentance. When he was
examined on his internal belief, he declared
that he had had some doubts on the exiatence
of a God, and the immortality of the soul, but
that he had never actually been an atheist, or
a materislist; that during Lis solitude in the
prison, he had reflected on the subject, and
was ready to ahjure all heresies, and particu-
Jarly those of which he was suspected. He
demanded reconciliation, and a penance,which
he promised to acoomplish as well as his
health would allow him. His situstion was
considered ;- and instead of sending him to a
convent, whither his niece could not have fol-
lowed him, he was kept for some time in the
secret prisons of the holy office: he was af-
terwards removed to his own house, which
served for h‘i;‘rri.on, and he was obliged to
pay for his food during his imprisonment, and
subjected to several other penances, one of
which was being obliged to confess to a
priest, who was appointed three times in the
year,—at Christmas, Easter, and Pentecost.

Balza (Frantis), a Franciscan, and a cele-
brated preacher in the reign of Charles 111.
When the Jesuits were driven from Spain, he
:rnly preached against the relaxed morals

the age ; be inveighed against the authors
who had introduced and proragatod them, and
endeavoured to inspire people with a horror of
reading their works. As some of these au-
thors were Jesuits, he declaimed violently
against those persons who blamed the king
for the measures he had taken, to drive them
out of the kingdom. Balza was denounced at
Logrono, and the ingnisitors gave him to un-
derstand, that he would be treated with seve-
rity if he did not change his tone.

Barriovero (Doctor Ferdinand de), theolo-

ist of the church of Toledo, and a professor
in the university. He wab tried in ‘.558. for

n their favour,

approving the doctrine of the Catechism of



HISTORY OF THE INQUISITION.

Don Bartholomew Carranza. Heallayed the
storm by retracting, when he received the
king’s order to do 80, and by sending his re-
cantation to the Pope, when the Archbishops
of Granada and Santiago, and the Bishop of
Jaen adopted that measure.

B (Fray Nicolas de Jesus), Francis-
can : he was prosecuted on account of his Civi/
History of Spain. In this work he gives an
account of all the events from the accession
of Philip IV. t0 1733, The inquisitors pro-
hibited this book entirely from political mo-
tives, and not from anything relating to doc-
trine; their jndﬁment against Balando was
given on the 6th of December, 1774. The
Inquisitors had no respect either for the license
at the b‘e'ginning of the book, the dedication to
Philip V., or for the favourable opinion of an
enlightened member of the Council of Castile,
who was commissioned by his maju? to
examine it, before he allowed it to be dedi-
cated to him. The author appealed against
the sentence, and demanded to be heard; he
offered to reply to all the ohservations, and to
make an{ alterations or suppressious in his
work which the tribunal should ouggoot.
This atterapt of Belando to defend his book
was considered as a crime, and he was con-
fined in the dungeons of the holy office, where
he suffered the harahest treatment. He only
left them to be imprisoned for life in a con-
vent, and he was prohibited from ever com-
Eming another work. He was stripped of the

onours which distingnished him in his
order, and more severe penances were inflict-
ed on him than if he had been an heretic.

Bercial (Clement Sanchez del), priest,
archdeacon of Valderas, and dignitary of the
church of Leon. He was c?roucnted and

anished in the time of Charles V. for

utheranism. He was condemned for some
l»ropoaltiom in a work called Sacramental.

n 1559, the inquisitor-general Valdez placed
this book in the Index.

Berrognsa (Fray Manuel Santos), author of
a work called Essays on the Thealre of Rome.
He was imprisoned by the Inquisition of To-
ledo, because he spoke of the ourt of Rome,
in his Essays, in a manner displeasing to ths
Jesuits and inquisitors. The proceedings in
this trial were so arbitrary, that the work in
question was not examined until the affair
was nearly finished. The writings of this
trial were taken from the archives of the
Inquisition, for some unknown reason. In
1768 they were laid, by the kini’o order, be-
fore the council extraordinary of bishops, who
were assembled to consider the affairs of the
Jesuits.

Blanco (Don Francis), archbishop of San-

. See Chapter 29.
rozas (Francis Sanchez de Las), general-
ly called ¢! Brocense ; he was born in the vil-
lage of Las Brozas, from whence he took his
name. He was one of the greatest Aumanists
of his age, and the most distinguished Span-
iard of that party in the time of Philip 1L
During this reign he published several works,
which are mentioned by Nicolas Antonio in
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his catalogue. The severe Jusius Lipee calls
hit:’ the and Apollo of Spain, and Gas-
pa

Scioppius, the divine man. He was
proucnlo(r Ky the Inquisition of Valladolid
several times for some propositions con-
tained in his works, but principally in a book
in octavo, entitled, Escolias d las quatro Sylvas
escrilas en verso heroico por Angelo Pokiciano;
intituladas Nutricia, Rustico, Manto y Ambra,
viz. “ Commentaries on the four Sylvas, writ-
in heroic verse by Angelo Politiano, called
Nulricia, Ruslico, Manlo, and Ambra.”” E!
Brocense completely satisfied the qualifiers,
and his work was not inscribed on the
Index.

Baruaga (Don Thomas Saenz), archbishop
of Saragossa. See Chapter 29.

Cadena (Louis de 1a), second chancellor of
the university of Alcala de Henares, and ne-
phew of Doctor Pedro de Lerma, who was the
first who that dignity. Cadena
was one of the most learned men of his time ;
he understood Hebrew, Greek, Arabic, and
other eastern langnages ; he wrote Latin with
the greatest elegance, and enjoyed a high re-
putation among the literati. The learned
Alvaro Gomez ge Castro says, in his History
of Cardinal Ximenez de Cisneros, that he had

ormed the design of destroying the bad scho-
lastio taste which reigned in the universities.
This enterprise cost Cadena dear: those who
wers attached to the opinions of the schools
denounced him to the Inquisition of Toledo,
as suspected of Latheranism ; the archbishops
Ximenea de Cisneros and Fonseca, who pro-
tected the persecuted members of the universi-
t{ of Aleala, were no more ; and Cadena was
obliged to follow the example of his uncle,
and fly to Paris to escape the dungeons of the
holy office. He was received as a doctor in
the Sorbonne, and died a professor in that
celebrated house. Ses following ch

Cempomanes. ollowing chapter.

Cano (Melchior), bishop ofgCanary. See
Chapter 29.

Canuelo (Don Louis), advocate of the
king’s council during the reign of Charles
111, He was subjected toa p y and ab-
jured, de levi, for having inserted certain propo-
sitions in some numbers of a periodical work
called T'he Censor, which appeared without the
name of the author. Cailuelo often published
declamations against superstitionin the Censor
in which he proved the evil which might be
produced by a blind and vain confidence in
the indulgences and pardons obtained b;
those who wore the scapulary of our Lady o
Mount Carmel, in reciting neuvaines, and in
the other outward exercises of devotion,
which he said were detrimental to the purity
of religion. He also presumed to ridicule the
pompous titles given by the monks to the
saints of their orders: thus St. Augustine was
called the Fagle of Doctors; St. Bernard,
Honied ; St. Thomas, Angelic; St. Buonaven-
tare, Scraphic; St. John de la Cruix, Mystic ;
St. Francis, Cherubim; and St. Dominic,
Burning. He one day offered a recompense:
to any one who would apply the name of
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Cardinalto St. Jerome, and that of Doclor to
St. Theresa de Jesus. The monks whom he
ridiculed could not forgive his boldness, and
they persecuted him with virulence. The
numbers of his work were prohibited, although
they were already published; and he was
forbidden to write on any subject which had
the least relation to doctrine, .morsls, or the
received opinions on piety and devotion.
iedra (Martin Martinez de), pro-
fessor of theology, and very learned in the
Oriental tongues. He was prosecuted dnring
the reign of Philip 11. for publishing a boo
called Hippotiposeon, &c. ; it was prohibited,
and inserted in the Jndex of Cardinal Quiroga
in 1583. This author wassuspected of Luther-
anism, from having too much enforced the
necessity of consulting the original books of
the Holy Scriptures, in preference to the in-
terpretations : he abjured de levi, submitted to
a penance, and was forbidden to write again.
This example gives us an idea of the judg-
ment and discrimination of the judges and

qualifiers.
Carranza ge):n Bartholomew), archbishop
of Toledo. Chspters 32, 33, and 34.
Casas (Don Fray Bartholomew de Las), a
Dominican, bishop of Chiapa and afierwards
of Cuzco, migneqr his see to live in Spain ; he
was the defender of the right and liberty of
the native Indians. He wrote several excel-
lent works which are mentioned by Nicolas
Antonio. In one of these, he endeavours to
prove that the kings have not the power of
disposing of the property and liberty of their
American subjects, and of giving them to
other masters, either under a gelodn tenure, or
from a right of conquest. This work was
denou! to the Inquisition as opposed to the
declarations of St. Paul and St. Peter, con-
cerning the submission of serfs and vassals to
their lords. The anthor was much grieved
when he heard that it was intended to prose-
cate him ; but the council only required of
him, in an official manner, the remittance of
the work and the manuscript. It was after-
wards printed ceveral times in other countries,
which is mentioned b

M. Peignot in his
Dictionnaire Critique,

4 naire O 'lIérm';ect Bibliagr;;-
phi iores remarquables qui ont élé
bmzﬁ supprimées ou censurés. c;'.“:. died at
Madrid in 1566 at the age of ninety-two. He
had the pleasure of seaing another of his
works in favour of the Americans approved by
the censors, although it had been criticised by
Juan Gines de Sepulveda. Charles V. or-
dered this writing to be suppressed, allhou{h
it was favourable to the royal authority : he
likewise made several ordinances in favour of
the Americans, and if they had been executed,
fewer reproaches would have been bestowed
on the Spaniards who governed the new
world.

Castillo (Fray Ferdinand del), a Domini-
can, and one of the most illustrious men of his
order. He was implicated in the proceedin
against the Lutherans st Valladolid in the
yesr 1569. Fray Dominic de Roxas, Pedro
Cazalla, and Don Carlos de Seso, wishing to
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prove that their r:ginlom on justificalion were
orthodox, declared that they were the same as

those of Fray Ferdinand del Castillo, who
was universally acknowledged to be eminent
for virtue and wisdom; he had been a mem-
ber of the College of St. Gregory at Vallado-
lid; afterwards professor of philosophy and
theology at Grenada; he was at this time a
preacher of great eminence at Madrid. ‘The -
three witnesses ratified their declarations on
the 3rd, 4th, and 5th of October, 1559 ; they
were to be burnt on the 8th of the same month.
Fortunately for Fray Ferdinand, the three
witnesses had not positively asserted that he
had maintained the doctrine of justification in
the manner that they did, or in the same
sense, but that he had expreued himself in
such a manner that it might be supposed.
Fray Ferdinand was ordered to repair to Val-
ladolid, where he was confined in the College
of St. Gregory, and was smmonogl to a”)ur
before the tribunal. He cleared himself from
the charges brought against him, and even
ohtained a certificate of his acquittal, that his
honour and reputation might not be affected.
He retorned to Madrid, where he was made a
prior, and was afterwards sent to Medina with
the same dignity; lutly he was appointed
preacher to Philip II. This prince oflen con-
sulted him on difficult affairs, and appointed
him to accompany the Duke of Ossuna in his
embassy to Lisbon. Castillo was one of
those who took the greatest part in inducing
the Cardinal King, ﬁou Henry, to call Phili
1I. to succeed him on the throne of Portugal,
and he was subsrequently made preceptor to
the infant Don Ferdinand. He wrote the
history of the order of St. Dominic, a work
which is much esteemed by the learned of
the present day. Castillo died on the 29th
of March, 1593 : hislife had been a model of
austerity, and he fasted on bread and water
three times a week.

Centeno (Fray Pedro), an Augustine monk.
He was one of the most learned men of his
order, and one of the most distinguished lite-
rati in Spain, during the reigns of Charles 111.
and Charles IV. Centeno incurred the ha-
tred of all the monks, priests and seculars, by
his periodical work, entitled, TAe Universal
JApologist of all unfortunale Authors. Cen-
teno attacked the bad taste which predomi-
nated in literature, with the most delicate
irony, so that the scholastic theologians, who
knew nothing of good taste, dreaded o come
under his examination. The ironical praise
which he lavished on them, was more to be
feared than his sharpest satire: his papers
were universally read with pleasure, and his
decisions generally adopted by his readers.
The prejudices which prevailed in Spain did
not fuil to create him many enemies. He
velied on the purity of his re i‘gious opinions,
and the extent of his knowledge; but he
was denounced at the holy office, and the de-
nunciations were as different as the stations
and characters of those who attacked him.
He was accused of impiely (a crime then
considered in Spain as equal to ism, or
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malorialism,) at the sare time that others ao-
cused him of being a Lutheran and a Jansa-
nist. The great reputation enjoyed by the
accused, the protection which the Count de
Florida Blanca, first secretary of state, afford-

ed him, the fear that hatred, envy and resent-
‘ment had induced the accusers to invent |

calomnies, and the impossibility that Centeno
could be at the same time an atheist and a
Lutheran, preveated the tribunal from sending
him to their dungeons; they therefore con-
fined him in the Convent of 8t. Philip; where
he dwelt,commanding him to :lppearbefm the
tribunal when summoned. His great know-
ledge of doctrine enabled him to defend him-
self with advan! s if his discourse had
been printed, his fame must have much in-
creased by it; yet he was condemned as
10 sus of heresy, and was com-
pelled to abjure and perform different pen-
ances. This treatment plunged Centeno into
a profound melsncholy, which alienated his
reason ; he died in this state in the convent
of Arenas, where he was confined.

The principal accusations against him
were, 1st. That he had disapproved of the
Novenas, the rosaries, processions, stations,
and other pious exercises. This ch was
sup, by a quotation from the funeral
oration of a nobleman, in which he had said
that beneficence . was the favourite virtue of
the deceased; that it was in the constant
practice of it that true devotion consisted, and
not in the mere exterior exercises of religion,
which required neither care nor trouble, or any
sacrifices of money, or other thi 2d. That
he denied the existence of imboes, places des-
tined to receive the souls of those who die
before the age of reason, without receiving
baptism ; the argument brought to support
this charge was the suppression of the ques-
tion and answer on the article Lémbo, which
he had obliged the author of the Catechism to
make. This work had heen printed for the
use of the charity-schools at Madrid, of which
he had been appointed censor; the accused
replied to the first accusation, by dgiving clear
and perfect explanations, founded on the
texts of Scripture and the Holy Fathers, and
on the principles of true devotion : he proved
the perfect connection of his defence with the
expressions he had used in the sermon, of
which he produced the original copy, as a

roof of his innocence. On the second charge,
said that the existence of Limdus was not
defined as an article of faith; that it ought
not to be mentioned in a catechism, where,
acoording to his opinion, nothing ought to
be considered but doctrine; and that he had
suppressed the question, that the Christiane
mlﬁht not confound this subject which was
still an object of discussion among the Catho-
lics, with those already decided by the church.

He was formally summ to declare
whether he believed in the existence of Lim-
dus; he replied that he was not obliged to
answer, because it did not relate to an article
of faith;-but that as he had no motives to
oonoeal his opinions, he would confess that he
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did not believe in the existence. He de-
manded permission to compose a theological
treatise, in which he offered to demonstrate

the truth of what he advanced, humbly sub-
mitting to the decisions of the Church: this
permission being granted, he wrote an hun-
dred and twenty pages in folio, in close lines,
so that it would form an octavo volume. I
bad the curiosity to read it, and was astonish-
ed at his immense and profound erudition :
this writing contains all that the Fathers and
the great theologi have said since the
time of Jesus Christ, particularly since St.
Augustine, on the fatare lot of those who die
without receiving baptism, and before they
have committed any mortal sin. His defence
could not save him. A barefooted Carmelite
and a Minime were the principal qualifiers,
who censured Centeno as vsi

(Doctor Paul de), bornat Cordova,
prebendary of the Cathedral of that cil‘. and
residing at Rome. The Inquisition of Valle-
dolid tried him in 1560, for some letters which
he had written to Don Bartholomew Carran-
2s, archbishop of Toledo, and which were
found among the paran of that prelate, with
the copies of his replies. In one of these let-
ters dated from Rome, on the 17th of Februa-
1y, 1559, he gives him an account of his pro-
ceedings in his favour, and allowed himself to
speak ill of the inquisitor-general and the In-

uisition of Spain. Cespedes was a great
literati, a great pninter, and poet, and a very
clever modeller in wax : he composed a poem,
in stanzas of eight verses, on Repenlance,
Juan de Verzoso and Francis Pacheco (both
mentioned with approbation by Nicolas An-
tonio) have highly praised this poem. Ces-
pedes continued to reside at Rome, and thus
the inquisitors of Valladolid could not execute

their projects of ven .
Chumacero Juan de). See the fol-

(Don
lowing Chapter.

Clavijo y Furardo (Don Joseph de), prin-
cipal director of the museum of natural his-
tory at Madrid, and a learned man, who had
a great taste for science. The Inquisition of
the Court tried him on the suspicion that he
had adopted the amtichristian principles of
modern philosophy. He was confined to the
city of Madrid, which was fortunate for him,
as he thus preserved his honour and his office;
he appeared privately before the tribunal, and
was only condemned to private nces ; he
also made his abjuration, de levs, with closed
doors, in the hall of the tribunal. It is true
that the proofs against him were weak, and he

ve to his propositions an air of Oatholiciam.

e had lived for some time in Paris, where he
had been intimate with Buffon and Voltaire.
He edited a journal, called The Thsnker. M.
Langle, in his Travels in Spain, says, that
thi: ‘:’ort lil without merit; if thi:h anlh;)r
jo truly, it would, perhaps, be the only
truth in his book. Clavijo was appointed
editor of the Mercury, by the government, he
also published a translation of ¢ Buffon’s
Natural History,” with notes. As this book
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is written with great purity of style, and
without gallicisms, it is an important acqui-
sition to thoee who seek a work rich in the
beouties of the Spanish language. The
Count d’Aranda also gave him the direction

. of a company of tragic actors : Clavijo endea-
voured to fiulfil the intention of the minister,
but religious fanaticism arrested the progress
of the design.

Clement (Don Joseph), bishop of Barcelona.
See the following Chapter.

(}:Tua Christi (Fray Mancio de), Domini-
oan, doctor and rtofesoor of theology, in the
university of Alcala de Henares. He was
tried by the Inquisition of Valladolid for
having given a favourable opinion of the Ca-
techism of Carranza. On the 21st of Februa-
7y, 1659, he remitted those of the doctors of
his university, who had carefully examined
some propositions of a doubtful nature, and of
which they acknowledged the orthodoxy.
He escaped the dungeons, by retracting, at
the request of Philip I1. A brief of Gregory
X111. obli him to restore the definitive
sentence which he had passed on the Cate-
chism and other works of Carranza, and in
which he had condemned an hundred and
thirty-one propositions of that prelate. On
the 17th of October, 16569, be addressed a
letter o the inquisitor-general, in which he
asked pardon, and submitted to any penances
which might be imposed on him.

Cruz (Father Louis de la), Dominican,
disciple of Don Bartholomew Carranza de
Miranda, a member of the college of St. Gre-
go?. at Valladolid, and extremely well versed
in doctrine and theology. He was imprisoned
in the dungeons of the {nquilition at Vallado-
lid, for being implicated in the affair of Cazal-
la and his companions. The quotations made
by the friends of Cazalla from his works,
oreated a suspicion that he was a Lutheran:
it is true that he had held a regular corres-

ondence with Carranza, and had given him
is opinion of his Catechism. He was ac-
cused of having bribed the minister of the
holy office to obtain information of his old
master: but he vindicated himself by proving
that he had acquired some knowledge of the
affair in his conversations with Melchior Cano,
and with one of the condemned Lutherans
whom He had exhorted. Fray Louis was
arrested in the month of June, 1559, and on
the 7th of August he drew up a writing of six
ﬁg«, in which he made many confessions.
e soon became subject to fits of insanity,
owing to his anxious thoughts during his
trial.  In June, 1560, he was removed to the
ecclesiastical prison of the bishop, that he
might be taken care of. It was impossible to
rrove any of the cha against him, yet the
nquisition kept him in prison until Carranza
wae released. At last, after five years of cap-
tivity, he abjured, de levi, and was sentenced
to a seclusion of a few years as a penance.
Cuesta (Don Andres de la). Chapter

Cuesta’(Don Antonio de 1a), archdeacon of
the cathedral of Avila. The Inquisition of
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Valladolid ordered him to be arrested in 1801,
as su ted of Jansenism and heresy; but
he fled to Paris, where he lived during the
five years of his trial; it would have been
much longer if Government had not inter-
posed, as will be seen in the following
article. L

Cucsta (Don Jerome de la), penitentiary
canon of the cathedral of Avila. He was ar-
rested for Jansenism, and heresy, while his
brother Antonio was pursued, to whom he
furnisbed the means of flight, at the expense
of his own safety. He passed five years in
the prisons of the Inquisition, and he would
have been detained for a much longer time,
but for the solicitations addressed to Charles
1V., by persons of the highest rank, who ob-
tained permission to cause the original
writings of the trial ‘to be laid before his
majesty. Don Jerome proved that the prose-
cation of himself and his brother originated in
the intrigues of Don Raphuel de Muzquiz,
bishop of Avila, and formerly confessor 10 the

ueen, and archbishop of Santiago, and of

on Vincent Soto de Valcarce, bishop of
Valladolid. When the depositions of the
witnesses were read to Don Jerome, l}lo
great penetration enabled him to recognise
them, and he clearly proved their injustice.
The archbishop of Santiagn made many re-
presentations to the king against the two
brothers, the inquisitors of Valladolid and
some members ;} the Supreme Council; he
did not even spare Don Ramon Joseph de
Arce, archbishop of Saragossa, patriarch of
the Indies and inquisitor-general : he accused
them all of partiality in favour of the two bro-
thers, who were, besides, countrymen of the
chief of the holy office. The tribunal of
Valladolid pronounced Don Jerome innocent :
the votes were divided in the council: the
king then examined the writings, and de-
clared, that, from the reports he had received,
the two brothers were innocent of the crimes of
which they were accused. He authorized
Don Antonio to return to Spain, created him
and his brother knights of the order of
Charles 111, and commanded the inquisitor-

neral to appoint them honorary inquisitors.
Beon Francisco de Salazar, bishop of Avila,
(who in quality of inquisitor of Valladolid,
and member of the council, had taken a great

art in this intrigue,) received an order from

Kis majesty to reinstate the brothers in their
stalle.” This is one of the very rare instances,
where the king of Spain took an active part
in the affairs of the Inquisition, and one of
the still more rare occurrences where inno-
cence has triumphed.

Delgado (Don Francis), archbishop of
Santiago. See Chapier 29.

Feyjoo (Benedict), Benedictine, born in the
Asturias, and a distinguished literati. He
was one of the fimt who restored good taste
in Spain: the works which he has composed,

have been enumerated :’ Don Juan Sempere
y Guarinos in the Catalo of the Authors
Ao 1 during Reign of Charles

Wi
I “This learned man was denounced at the
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different tribunals of the Inquisition, as beinf
suspected of the different heresies of the fif-
teenth ocentary, and of that of the ancient
Ioonoclasts ; most of his accusers were i?o-
rant and prejudicial monks, of whom he had
made enemies by the arguments in his Criti-
cal Theatre against false devotion, false mira-
cles, and some superstitious customs. It was
fortunate for the anthor that the council of the
Inquisition was well acquainted with the pu-
vity of bis principles and Catholicism. Al-
though the p! of knowledge has been
extremely slow in Spain, it must be confessed
that it bas even penetrated into the interior of
the Holy House during the last part of the
eighteenth centary.
Fernandes (Juan), doctor of theology,
prior of the cathedral of Palencia. He was
rosecuted from the declarations of some
utherans who were executed ia 1559, par-
ticalarly that of Fray Dominic de Roxas,
who quoted several propositions of Fernan-
dez, in which he pretended to find, especially
on the subject of justification, the same
opinions as his own. The fiscal presented
y Dominio as a witness in the trial of
Fernandez : he persisted in his declaration
(he was already condemned to -relazation,
but did not know it), and expected to be re-
conciled as a penitent. Fernandez, how-
ever, only received a reprimand for not
having observed, in his discourse, the pru-
dence which became a doctor of theology, at
a period when heresy was so common in the

kil;{\lom.

ago (Don Pedro), bishop of Jaca. See

O brols (D L hop of
onzalo (Don Vitorian Lo , bishop o

Murcia. Igc'd. : Pet) P

Gorrionereo (Don Antonio), bishop of Al-
meria. Ibid.

Guerrero (Don Pedro), archbishop of Gre-
nada. Jbid.

Grenada (Fray Louis de). Ibid.

Gracian (Fray Jerome), Carmelite, born at
Valladolid, and the son of Diego Gracian,
secretary to Charles V., and Jane Dantisqui,
daughter of the ambassador of Poland, at the
court of the emperor. He was a dootor of
theology, and professor of philosophy at the
university of Alcala. He wrote saveral works
of 8 mystical nature, and some others on
literary subjects, which are mentioned by
Nicolas Antonio. He was prior of a convent
of barefooted Carmolites at Seville, which
he-founded when St. Theresa and her com-
munity, of whom he was the director, were
attacked by the Inquisition. The tribunal
of Seville prosecuted him as a heretio, of the
sect of the Jlluminals ; bat his trial failed for
want of proof. Father Jerome experienced
many vicissitudes; but as they have been
related by historians it is unnecessary to
mention them here.

iel de Peralla. See the following
Chapter.

Gonzalez (Gil), Jesuit, born at Toledo, in
1532. He was prosecated by the Inquisition
of Valladolid, in 1559, for having begun a
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Latin translation of the Catechism of Car-
ranza. When this prelate wss-informed that
his work was to be translated into the lan-
guage of theolo{ians, he made some correc-
tions inm it, thinking it not sufficiently clear,
and in July requested Gil Gonzalez to under-
take the task. St. Francis de Borgia, having
heard of the trial of the arch-bishop, com-
manded Gonzalez to communicate to the In-
ﬂli’iﬁon all that he had been requested to do.

e obeyed ; and in August informed the in-
quisitor-genaral of the order he had received,
and his promptitude in submitting to it. In
September he renewed his declarations, gave
up the Castilian copy of the Catechism, with
the corrections of Carranza, and all that he
had written of the translation. He thus es-
caped persecution, and died in peace at Ma-
dnd, in 1596.

Iilescas (gonulvo de). See Chapter 13.

JFriarte (Don Thomas), borm in the island
of Camr{, master of the archives of the
minister for foreign affairs, and of the first
secretary of state, author of a poem on Music,
a volume of Fables, and other poetical works
He was prosecuted by the Inquisition of Ma-
drid, during the last years of the reign of
Charles I11., as suspected of professing the
anti-christian philosophy. He was confined
to the city, and received an order to appear
when he was summoned : the proceedings
were private, and he replied in a satisfactory
manner to the accusations, but the inquisitors
did not think fit to acquit him; they declared
him to be skghtly + he abjured and
obtained absolution in private, the penance
impoeed was likewise private, and few per-
sons knew that he had been tried. Don
‘Thomas Iriarte had two brothers, one called
Don Dominie, who concluded a treaty of
peace with the French Republic at Basle;
and the other, Don Bernard, counsellor of
tﬂ; Indies, and knight of the order of Charles

Ila (Francis de), Jesuit. He was the
author of several works, during the reign of
Charles Il1I.; and also published, under a
feigned name, the Hislory of the famous
Preacher Fray Gerund de Campazas, of (se
called Zotes, written at Madrid in 1750 and
1770, by the Licentiate Don Francis Lobon de
Salazar. This work is a fine satire, in two
volumes, sgainst the preachers who made a
bad use of texts by quoting them in the wrong
place, and distorting their meaning to snp-
port an extravagant proposition. This work
produced very beneficial effects in Spain ; all
the preachers dreaded the epithet of
Gerund. This fictitious hero might be called
the Don Quixote of the pulpit, since the
effects of this romance wers the same as
those of Don Quixote de la Mancha, which
was intended to cure the Spaniards of their
ridiculous mania for books of chivalry. The
monks united against this work; they de-
clared it to be impious, injurious to the eccle-
siastical state, and the author suspected of
all the heresies of those who speak with con-
tempt of mendicant ﬁ}'ml. e holy office
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received an infinite number of denunciations
againet this work. The qualifiers were o
opinion that it ought to be prohibited, be-
cause the author, in ridiculing those who
made a bad use of the sacred text, had fallen
into the same error in composing the sermons
preached by his hero. These volumes were
consequently forbidden, but a publisher at
Bayonne reprinted them with a third volome
composed of the different essays which had
appeared in Spain, either for or against the
history of Fray Gerund. The true author did
not put his name to the work, but he was
known, and the Inquisition hiaving arrested
him, reproached him for what he had done.
Isla alleged his laudable intention of correct-
ing the defects which had been introduced
into the pulpit by bad preachers, and the
affair finished there. ’l'l‘:e Jesuits at that
time had still some power at Madrid, and
mény of their society were judges of the holy
office.

Jesus (St. Theresa de). See Chapter 37.

Jovellanos. See Chapter 43.

Joven de Salas (Don Joseph lgmci?. bomn
in one of the towns of the Pyrenees, advocate
to the king’s councils, and a very learned
man, He was chosen by several grandees
of Spain to defend the right of their families
to the succession of the elder brancles, and
for other interesting trials. He was de-
noonced to the ln&uuition for having read
prohibited books : the inquest did not g)mis_h
sufficient proof to authorize imprisonment.
His aversion for popular commotions, his
love for social order, the absence of all the
royal family, and the impoasibility of resist-
ing the invasion, induced him in 1808 to sub-
mit to the conqueror. The t merit of
Joven obtained him the office of a counsellor
of state under King Joseph : for this reason
the political inquisitors who surround the
throne of Ferdinand VII. indaced him to
banish this respectable old man, who lives at
Bordeaux full of years and virtues.

Lainez (Diego). See Chapter 29.

Laplana (Don Joseph), bishop of Tarra.
sona. Ibid. .

Lara (Don Juan Perez de). See the fol-
lowing Chapter.

Lebrija (Antonio de). See Chapter 10.

Ledesma (Fray Juan de), Dominican, pro-
fessor of theology in the college of St. Peter
Martyr, at Toledo. He was tried by the In-
gquisition of Valladolid in 1559, for having
expressed a favourable opinion of the Cate-
ohism of Carranza; the proceedings were
transferred to the tribunal of Toledo, which
continued the trial without imprisoning Fray
Juan, who was only confined to his college.
Fray Juan declared that he had not perceived
the heresies in Carranza’s work, for that re-
lying on the learning, virtue, and zeal of the
author, he had read it without examining it
particularly ; he added, that as he had not
fallen into any error knowingly, which he
acknowledged as sach, he abided by the cen-
sures of the qualifiers. - He abjured de levi;
a small private canonical penance was im-
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on him to be performed in secret, and

f K: received the absolution ad caulelam.

Leon (Fray Louis de), an Augustine. He
was born in 1587, of Lope de Belmonte, a
judge and member of the chancery of Gre-
nada, and of Donna Inez de Valera, his
wife. He distinguished himself by the pu-
rity of his language and the beauty of his
verses, which are looked upon as models of
elegance. He took the monastic habit at
Salamanca indlshu. kl-lisl :'imn}m&m |wu
very great, and his knowledge of theology
was so profound, that he wngnot surpassed
by any of his contemporaries, and had very
few rivals. He understood the Greek and
Hebrew languages sufficiently to read them,
and wrote Latin with peculiar elegance. He
composed several works in verse and prose,
which are mentioned by Nicolas Antonio.
Experience has shown that it is impossible
to possess superior talents without exciting
envy; it is not therefore surprising that he
was denounced to the holy office of Vallado-
lid as being suspected of Lutheranism, at the
time that he was professor of theology at
Salamanca. Although he was innocent, he
was kept in Erison for five years. The soli-
tude in which he Jived during this period was
8o painful to him, that he could not help
commemorating it in one of his works, taking
for hie text the 86th Psalm. Having been
acquitted, he resumed his professorship ; bat
his long captivity, the inaction in which he
bhad lived, and his grief at being dishonoured,
had considerably injored his health. He
however had oliI{ sufficient strength to com-

o0se, in 15658, rules for the use of his order.
Rle died at Madrid on the 83rd of August,
1691, during the chapter of which he was
named vicar-general.

Lerma (Pedro de), doctor, professor of
theology and first chancellor of the university
of Alcala. He was very learmned in the
oriental languages, which he had studied at
Paris, where he had obtained the degree of
Doctor in Theology : he was also one of the
Junta convoked at Valladolid in 1527, by the

inquisi eral Manrique, to examine the
works of Erasmus. He endeavoured to re-
vive good taste in ecclesiastical literatare in

the university of Alcala, exhorting every one
to take their opinions from the ancient
sources. The scholastic theologians who did
not understand the oriental languages, and
who were accustomed to read the councils
and the Holy Fathers only in the quotations
of other authors, adopted the usual resource
of the envious ; they denounced him to the
Inquisition of Toledo as suspected of Luther-
anism. Pedro, being informed that he would
be arrested, fled to Paris, where he died dean
of the doctors of the Sorbonne, and professor
of theology in that school.

Ludena (Fray Juan). .See Chapter 99.

Lénacero (Don Michael Ralmond). canon
of Toledo, preceptor of the bishop of that
city, the Cardinal de Bourbon. In 1768 he
received an admonition from the holy office,
while he was only curé of Ugena, because he
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had in his possession the Ecclesiastical Histo-
ry written by Racine. This work had not
;ot becn prohibited ; but an order of the kin

orbade any person to read it, and the inquisi-
tors eomPelled Linacero to give it up. After
the king’s death the tribunal prohibited this
work as infected with Jansenism.

Melendez Valdéz (Don Juan), a native of
Estremadura ; after having been a professor
at Salamnanca, he was l‘rpomlod judge of the
ro{al courtof a sul at Valladolid, by Charles
III. Charles 1V. promoted him to the office
of the king's attorney in the royal Council of
Castile, tge chamber of the alcades of the
royal house of the Court of Madrid. He was
the Spanish Anacreon of the nineteenth cen-
tary, and the fame of his odes will last while
good poetry is made. One of these gave rise
to several denunciationsin 1796, and Melen-
dez was accused of conversing like a man
who had read prohibited books, such es
Filangieri, Puffendorf, Grotius, Rousseau,
Montesquieu, and others. This attack failed
from want of proof. In 1808 Melendez was
barbarously treated by assassins of the same
description as those who massacred the Mar-

uis de Perales and the intendant Truxillo at

adrid; the Marquis del Socorro, at Cadiz;.

the Count del Aguila, at Seville; the Count
de Torre del Fresno, at Badsjoz, and many

distinguished Spaniards in other places. Me-
lendez survived almost by a miracle, and
sought safety in the French army. King

Joseph appointed him a counsellor of State.
Melendez accepted the place for the same
reasons as Joven de Salas; he afterwards
incurred the same fate, and died at Montpelier
in 1817. The of France and the
other Parisian journals have published his
Vnegjric. I shall therefore only add thatat

alladolid in 1788 he gave me a small poem
of his own composition to read ; it was called
The Magistrate. When the second edition of
his poems appeared, this poem was inserted,
and on my Inquiring the reason, he gave me
:'be followitlu‘g aeog::t_ of it. ¢ As I was

ways much occupied in composin s
even after I was a;l:pointod judro of %hm?l
court of appeal, some of my colleagues harshly
censured my conduct, saying that the compo-
sition of lyric and amatory verses was very
unbecoming the dignity of the magliutmy:
one of them said maliciously, that 1 might
perhaps know what a troubadour was, bat
not what a magistrate should be. [ then
com this poem, and intended to publish
it, but afterwards changed my mind, that it
might not occasion a suspicion that I wished

ta revenge myself.” This , in my opi-
nion, has much merit, and | hope it will be
included in the first edition of the poems of

Melendez. )

Macanaz (Don Melchior de). See the fol-
lowing Chapter.

Mariana Juan de), Jesuit. - He was a nata-
ral son of Juan Martinex de Mariana, after-
wards canon and dean of the college of Tala-
vera de la Reyna, where Mariana was born in
1636. When he had finished his studies at
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Aleals, and had become well akilled in the
oriental tongues and in theology, he quitted
Spain to travel in foreign countries : he pro-
fessed theology in Rome, Sicily, and at Paris.
When he retarned he wrote his history of
Spain, and was often consulted by thesoum-
ment io affairs of a difficult and delicate
natare. He was chosen as an arbitrator in the
t ‘question concerning the royal Polyglott
ible of Antwerp, and, contrary to the wishes
and intrigues of his brethren, he decided in
favour of Benedict Arias Montanus. In 1583
he was commissioned to form an Index, in
which he left out the work of St. Francis
Borgia. The Jesuits, who are not accustom-
ed to forgive such conduct, did not afterwards
treat him with the consideration to which he
was entitled. He proved the vices of the
vernment of their society in & work called,
5}0& Maladies of the Sociely of Jesus. This
work was not published till after the death of
the author; but his brethren were acquainted
with some parts of it, which increased their
hatred towards him. In 1599 he published
and dedicated to Philip I1L his treatise de
Rege et Regis instilutione, which was burntat
Paris by the common execationer. He also
published in 1609, seven treatises in one folio
volume, one of them is on the Exchange of
Money, and another on Death and Immoriakty.
These works exposed him to persecutions
from the government and the holy office. I
have read his defence, and the doctrine he pro-
feased is so pure and solid, that I am per
suaded it would be favourably received if it
was printed. The sentence of the king was
more lenient than he could have expected,
after having in his dedication to that monarch,
shown himself the advocate of the regicide,
disguised under the name of the {yrannicide.
He did not escape so well from the inqui-
sitors : they made some retrenchments in his
work on the Exchange of Money, and it was
prohibited until he had been punished. A
penance was imposed on the author, and he
was confined a long time in his college. He
died at Toledo in 1633, at the age of eighty-
seven. Nicolas Antonio mentions other works
by the same author. In the Diclionnasre of
Peignot there are some details which might be
interesting to a liumrg erson.
Medina (Fray Michel de). See Chapter
99.

Meneses (Fray Philip de), Dominican. and
rofessor of theol at Alcala de Henares;
e gave.a favourable opinion of the Catechism

of Carranza. The lmlnioition of Toledo re-
ceived from that of Vulladolid the writings of
his trial, summoned Fray Philip, and con-
demned him to the same punishment as Fray
Juan de Ludeiia. ’

Merida (Pedro de), canon of Palencia: he
was commissioned by Carranza to take poe-
session of the see of Toledo in his name, and
administer to the archbishopric. He was
mentioned by Pedro Cazalla and others, as
partaking their sentiments on the subject
of judtification. He corresponded with Car-
ranaa, and in his trial the Inquisitioh took ad-
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vantage of several letters in which he spoke
ill of the holy office. He was arrested at
Valhdolid.dabjured de levi, vnln subjected toa
penance and a pecuniary penalty.

Monsno (Don Jonph).peSee’tho following
Chapter. .

Molina (Don Michel de), bishop of Alba-
racin. See Chapter 29.

Montanus (Benedict Arias). Jbid. ’

Montemayor (Prudencio de), Jesuit, born at
Ceniecros, in Rioja, and professor of theology
at Salamanca. He composed several works,
which are mentioned by Nicolas Antenio.
The Inquisition of Valladolid tried him on
suspicion of Palagianism, arising from some
theological conclusions which he maintained
and printed in 1600. He defended himself,
and explained what he had advanced like a
trae Catholic. The inquisitors ceased to pro-
secute him personally, but they prohibited his
conclusions. ‘The Jesuits have always been
reproached with their adherence to the system
of the heresiarch Palagius, on the subject of
grace and free will. Montemayor afterwards
endeavoured to vindicate his honour and
that of his order, in a discourse, entitled
4 %‘y 1o the Five Calumnies invented against
the Sociely of Jesus, and promulgated in the
Gity of Salamanca. He died in that city in
1641, at a very advanced age.

Montijo (Donna Maria-Frances Portocarre-
10, Countess of), a grandee of Spain: she de-
serves a distinguished rank among the literati
of Spain. Her claims to celebrity are not
only snp;oned by her translation of the
Christian Instructions on the Sacrament of Mar-
riage, by M. Le Tourneux, bat by her great
love for literature, and by her efforts to
render the taste for it more common. Her
amiable and benevolent character made her
house a favourite resort for many virtuous and
enlishtened ecclesiastics ; among these ma
be distinguished Don Antonio Palafox, bi-
shop of Cuenga, and brother-in-law to the
Coontess; Don Antonio de Tabira, bishop of
Salamanca ; Don Joseph de Jeregui, precep-
tor to the Infants of Spain; Don Juan Anto-
nio Rodrigalvarez, archdeacon of Cuenga;
Don Juaquin Ivarra, and Don Antonio de
Posada, canon of St. Isidore at Madrid. All
these ecclesiastics, and the Countoss herself,
were the victims of the calumnies of fanatical
priests and monks, who were the partisans of
the Jesuits and of their maxims on discipline
and morals ; they were accused of Jansenism.
The hatred of their enemies was so great, that
Don Balthazar Calvo, canon of St. Isidore,
and Fray Antonio de Guerrero,a Dominican,de-
clared in the pulpit,that there existed in one of
the first houses in the capital a conventicle of
Jansenists, protected by a lady of distinction :
they took care to speak of herin such a manner
that the person could not bd mistaken. The
nuncio of the Court of Rome informed the
Pope of all these circumstances, and his Holi-
ness immediately addressed letters of thanks
to these two preachers and some other indivi-
duals, for the zeal they had shown in defend-
ing the faith. These letters were, in a man-
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ner, the signal for a denunciation against all
raons suspected of Jansenism, and did not
ail to produce that effect. Besides the sus-
picion of Jansenism, the Countess of Montijo
was accused of holding a religious and litera-
correspondence with Monsignor Henri
regoire, then bishop of Blois, and one of the
most Catholic and learned men in France, a
Member of the Institute, and author of seve-
;1al works, one of which was a Letler to the
Ingquisitor-general of Spain, in which he in-
vites him to rropou e mptnrenion of the
Inquisition o whi&h be is Go head. Tho
accusers supposed Monsignor Gregoire to be
the head of ':ho Jamniltsgi';oi‘nne%; but they
concealed the fact that this bishop had several
times exposed himself to death to give the
victims of the revolution the last spinitual aid,
and to maintain the Catholic religion when
Robespierre endeavoured to destroy it. The
accusers, who dwelt upon the mention which
had been made of the Countess in the national
.council of France, held by the bishops who
had taken the oaths, and of which Monsignor
Gregoire was a member. The inquisitors re-
ceived secret information of this affair; but no
facts or heretical propositions were proved,
and they had not courage to issue the orders
for an arrest. The rank and birth of the
accused gave them the means of putting an
end to the persecution: a sort of court in-
trigue, however, caused the Countess to be
sent from Madrid. She retired to Logrona,
where she died in 1808, with the reputation
of being virtuous, and charitable to the poor.

Mur (Don Joseph de). See following
Chapter.

Olavide (Don Paul). Ibid.

Palafox y Mendoza (Don Juan de). See
Chapter 30.

Palafex (Don Antonio de), bishop of
Cuenga. He was prosecuted by the Inqui-
sition of Madrid on suspicion of Jansenism,
but his trial did not proceed further than the

rafory instruction, as nothing but conjec-
tares could be brought against him. He
was tried atthe same time with his sister-in-
law, the Countess de Montijo. This prelate
made a learned and energetic representation
to the king, in which he proved that the ex-
jesuits who had returned to Spain were the
authors of the prosecutions agninat himself
and his friends; and they left nothing undone
to ruin those who were not of their party.

Podroche (Fray Thomas de), Dominican,
and a professor at Toledo; he gave afavoura-
ble. opinion of the Catechism of Cairanza,
and received the same treatment as Fray Joaa
de Ledesma. .

Pena (Fray Juan de la), Dominican,
director of the studies of the college of St.
Gregory at Valladolid, and a professor of
Salamanca. In 1558 he gave a favourable
opinion of the Catechism of Carranza. He
was summoned by the inquisitors on the 15th
of March, 1559, to qualify twenty proposi-
tions of an author whose name they concealed
from him ; on the 5th of April following, he
gave his reply, containing nineteen pages of
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writing. He declared that the propositions
were Catholic; that some of them were am-
bi}noul, which might cause them to be con-
sidered as tending to Latheranism, but that it
did not appear that the author had advanced
them with any bad intention. The Arch-
bishop Carranza, being thrown into prison on
the 22nd of Augustin the same year, De la
Pena became alarmed, and wrote to the
Inquisition, saying, that he had been intimate
with that prelate, use he believed him to
be a good Catholic; that this reason had also
prevented him from denouncing a favourable
opinion which he had expressed of one Don

arlos de Seso, one of the Lutherans who
were trisd in this year; that Carranza had
not condemned him, because he did not think
him an heretio, although he had advanced
propositions which were tinctared with Lu-
theranism. De la Pefia added, that, seein,
the archbishop arrested, he had confe
this, lest his silence might be construed into
a crime. His precaution was unavailing. De
la Pena appeared guilty, from the opinion he
had given of the Catechism, and two other
accusations were brought against him: the
first was, that he had said that there was no
foundation for denouncing the proposition of
Carranza, which states, hat il is not yel de-
cided if failh was lost in commitling a mortal
sin; the second, that he had asserted when
the archbishop was arrested, tha! even if he
was an Aerelic, the Roly office ought to overlook
st, lest the Lutherans in Holland should
acknowledge kim as a martyr, which they had
already done to several individuals who had
been punished. De la Pena's reply dis-
pleased the inquisitors; they sharply re-
proved him, condemned him to several pen-
ances, and commanded him to be more cau-
tious for the future.

Perez gAnumio), secretary of state. See
Chapter 35.

Quiros (Don Joseph), priest, advocate to
the king’s council at Madrid. Being inform-
ed of the persecution of Belando by the In-

uisition, on account of his Civil History of
gpdn. he drew up a writing, in which he en-
deavoured to prove that the inquisitors ought
to have examined the author before they con-
demned his work. This liberty cost him
dear; although he was seventy years old,
and his legs swelled continually, he was sent
to the secret prisons, and as if this was not
sufficient, he was kept during the months of
February and March in a cold, damp cham-
ber, where he was obliged to endure all the
rigour of the season, and nearly sunk under
it. Philip V. was at last informed of the
state to which Qpiros was reduced, and he
obtained his liberty after forty-four days of
suffering, on the condition of never again
writing on the affairs of the Inquisition, un-
iess he wished to experience greater severity.

Ramos del Manzano (Don Frauncis). See
following Chapter.

Regla (Frag Juan de). See Chapter 29.

Ricardos (Don Antonio), Count de Trullas
in his own right, and of Torrepalma in that
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of his wife and cousin: captain-general of the
m‘yal armies, and commander-in-chief of that
of Roussillon against the French repoblic in
the years 1793 and 1794. He was suspected
of being an esprit fort, or an incredulous phi-
losopher, and the dean of the inquisitors in-
vited him to attend the aufo- of Don
Paul de Olavide; they thought that he might
consider some of_the declarations as relating
to himself, thonqh his name was not men-
tioned, particularly as he had heen very inti-
mate with Olavide, and their religious sen-
ments were very similar on some points,
This was the only mortification which the
Inquisition could inflict upon Ricardos, as
they had not sufficient proof to authorize a
prosecution.

Ripalda (Jerome de), Jesuit, born at Teruel
in Aragon, towards the end of the sixteenth
century and the beginning of the seventeenth.
He was one of the most learned theologians
of his order; he professed theology, and
wrote two Treatises, one mystic and the
other on Christian Docirine, which has been
used by the schools for near a century, with
the exception of some alterations which have
been made in the new editions of his Cate-
chism. Nicholas Antonio says that he died,
with the repatation of being a saint, in 1618,
aged eighty-four. He had been for some
time director to St. Theresa de Jesus. Itis
possible that the forty-four last years of Ri-
palda’s life may have heen exomphr{, but .
the impartiality of an historian compels me
to say, that Jerome Ripalda was tried by the
Inqnisition of Valladolid as an tlluminali, or

tetist, and tinctured with the heresy of
galim; that he confessed some of the
charges, asked pardon, and implored his
judges to be merciful; and that a penance
was imposed on him in 1574, as being sus-

pecied de vehementi. 'The sincere repentance

which he showed induced the inquisitor-

neral, Quiroga, to shorten the duration of
Eiell penance ; I must add that the purity of
Ripalda’s faith and morals afer this event
were such as to render him worthy of the
esteem and respect of mankind.

Ribera (Don Juan de). See Chapter 30.

Roda (Don Manuel de). See following
Chapter.

Rodri, ez (Don Juan Antonio), priest,
canon of St. Isidore at Madrid, afierwards
archdeacon of Cuenga, and provisor and vicar-

neral of that diocese; he wrote several
ﬁswﬁul works. Rodrigalvarez was impli-
cated in the denunciation of Don Balthazar
Calvo, his colleague, who, giving way to per-
sonal considerations, and instigated by the
ex-jesuits lately arrived from Italy, inflicted
such cruel mortifications on rigalvares
and Posada, his colleague, that they were
obliged to complain to the Prince of Peace,
and to implore his assistance. The trial be-
gnn by the Inquisition did not furnish suffi-
cient proof of their guilt, and it was not con-
tinueI The trials of Don Antonio Posada,
and Don Juaquin Ibarra, mentioned in the.ar-
ticle Montijo, finished in the same manner.

32
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Roman (Fn{{lerome), an Augustine, born
st Logrono. He was very leaned in. the
oriental Janguages, and directed his attention
towards the study of sacred and profane his-
tory. In prosecuting this design, he travelled
over a great part of Enror, examining the
different archives, and making extracts of all
that appeared likely to increase the success
of the great works which he had projected.
Being appointed hlstorian to his order, he
published the history of it from the year
1569 ; in it he gives an account of the lives
of the saints and illustrions men who had be-
longed to it, with many interesting details.
His wish to publish the historical facts which
he had collected during hie travels, induced
him to write a book called the Republics of
the World; in this work he treats very
learnedly of the ancient and modern repub-
lics: it was printed at Medina del Campo, in
1575, and again in 1595, at Salamanca. Un-
fortunately for the author, it contained several
truths which displeased some persons power-
ful enough to injure him; he experienced

some persecution, and the Inquisition of Val-
ladolid reprimanded him, and ordered his
work to corrected. He died in 1597,

leaving some MSS. which are mentioned by
Nicholas Antonio. .

Salazar (Fta‘y Ambrose de), Dominican,
and professor of theology at Salamanca. The
Inquisition of Valladolid tried him in 1559,

. on two accusations : the first was founded on
the declarations of Fray Dominic de Roxas
and Fray Louis de la Crus, during their im-
prisonment : they imputed to Fray Ambrose
some propositions which tended to Lutheran-
ism; the second ch was founded on the
favourable opinion which he had given of the
Catechism of Carranza. The trial was not
continued, on acconnt of the death of Fra
Ambrose in 1560, in the thirtg-ei hth year of
his age: it was supposed that fear, and his
imprisonment in the holy office, where Car-
ranza was detained, hastened his death. He
left, in order to be printed, some Commen-
taries on the first part of the Sum of 8.

Sales (Don Ramon de), born at Belchite in
Aragon, was a professor of Salamanca, and
one of its greatest literati: he was prosecuted
in 1796, by the Inquisition of Madrid, on
suspicion of having adopted the principles of
the modern philosophers, Voltaire, Roussean,
and others, whose works he had read. He
acknowledged that he was acquainted with
their works, but added that he had only read
them in order to refate them, which he had
done in several public theses, maintained at
Salamanca by some of his pupils, under his
direction. All these theses were introduced
in the trial. He replied in a satisfactory
manner to all the allegations, and the quali-
fiers did not find anything in his writin
which deserved theological ocensare. o
{udgu not only acquitted him, but on being

nformed that Father Poveda, a Dominican,
had intri against him, thought that he
had aright to a public reparation. On the
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23nd of October, in the same year, they sent
their sentence and the writings of the trial,
together with the considerations and the
points of doctrine on which they were found-
ed, to the Supreme Council, at the same time
expressing their opinion on the right of Salas
1o a reparation. : .

Father Poveds, by his intrigues, caused
the trial to be sent back to the inquisitors,
with an order to make fresh inquiries, which
was done, but the qualifiers and judges per-
sisted in their first sentence. The intrigues
again began in the council, which returned
the trial to the Inquisition a second time,
with an order to make another inquest extra-
ordinary: u third goalification, and a third
sentence were the result, confirming the in-
nocence of Salas. This was not what was
intended ; the accased had a powerful enemy
in the council : this was Don Philip Vallejo,
archbishop of Santiago, and governor of the
Council of Castile; he had been inimical to
Salas, from having had certain literary dis-
cussions with him at the aniversity of Sala-
manca, when he was bishop of that see. The
trial was sospended, to atford time for the
archbishop to procare new denunciations, to
add to'those he had already obtained. Salas
requested that his imprisoment might be
ameliorated, and that he might only be con-
fined to the city of Madrid. The council re-
fused this favour; he then demanded permis-
sion to apply to the king, but this was also
refosed. He was at Jast condemned to abjure
de levi; received the absolution and
ad cautelom ; and was bdanished from the
capital. He retired to Guadalaxars, and
there complained to his sovereign of the in-

ustice of the Council of the Inquisition.
harles IV. ordered the writings of the trial
to be sent to his minister of justice. Cardi-
nal de Lorenzana, inquisitor-general endes-
voured to prevent it, but his efforts were in-
effectual. When the affair was examined by
the minister, the intrigue was discovered, and
a resolution was formed to expedite a royal
ordinance, forbidding the inquisitors to arrest
any individoal for the future, without first in-
forming the king of their intention. The de-
cree was drawn up by Don Engene Llaguno,
minister of justice, and he presented it to his
msjesty for signature; the king told him that
it mustfirst be shown to the Prince of Peace,
as he had taken part in the deliberation, and
would see if it wn.plr:’perliy drawn up. Un-
fortunately for mankind, this delay of one day
ve Vallejo time to renew his intrigues, so
Eat the Prinoce of Peace changed his mind,
and the royal decree was so different from
what was expected, that the affair was order-
ed to he left in the same state,

San Ambrosio (Fray Ferdinand de), Domi-
nican; he was a Jearnad man, and well skill-
ed in the conduct of affairs. The Inquisition
of Valladolid tried him in 1559: he was ac-
cused of having taken measures in favour of
Carranza; of having profited by his sojourn
at Rome in the same year, to prejudice his
Holiness against the tribunal, to engage him
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to cause the trial to be transferred to Rome,
and not to allow the archbishop to be arrest-
od. 'l‘h:‘smocutlom soon ceased, becanse
the accused remained at Rome.

Salcedo. See following Chapter.

Salgado. Ibid.

Samaniego (Don Felix-Maria de), lord of
the town of Arraya, and an inhabitant of Le-
guardia in the province of Alava. He ocom-
posed some fables and lyric posms of great
merit, and was one of the greatest Spanish
literati, durin, the reign of Charles IV. The
Inquisition of Logrono prosecuted him, on
suspicion of having embraced the errors of the
modern philosophers, and of having read pro-
hibited books. He was on the point of being
arrested, when, discovering it by chance, he
immediately set off for Madrid, where Don
Eugene Llaguno, the minister of justice, and
his friend and coantryman, privately arranged
his affairs with the inquisitor-general.

Samaniego (Don Philip). See following

Chapter.
Santo Domsn g‘ ray Antonio de), Domini-
can, rector of the College of St. Gregory at
Valladolid, was prosecuted by the Inquisition
of that city in 1569 and 1560. The proceed-
ing was founded on several acnusations; in
1558, he had approved of some reprehensible
t:oyooiﬁons in the Catechism of Carranza:
was also accused of having ssid in 1559,
that the arrest of this was as unjusl as
that of Jesus Christ; that the prosecutions of
the tribunal were of the same character; that
Fray Melchior Cano ought to die first, because

he was the most guilty; and that his death | ened

would be as agreeable to God as the sacrifice
of mass. The socused was imprisoned, and
a penance was imposed on him.

Santa Maria {Fny Juan de), barefooted
Franciscan, and confessor to the Infanta
Maria-Anne of Austria, Empress of Gemnn{.

and daughter to Philip 1V." In 1616 he pu
lished a work called Christian bkics and
Politics, which he dedicated to Philip TII.

Htving;ecnion to say in this work that the
Pope Zacharish had deposed Childeric, King
of France, and crowned Pepin in his place,
he added; “ R is from this time that we date
the right which the Popes Aave arrogated to

of deposing and establishing kings.”
The Innizidon ving information of it, re-
primanded the author, and altered the sentence
as follows: “ I is from this time that the
Popes Aave made use of their right of deposing

establisking kings.”
Sese (Don ooqﬂ' de). See following
Chapter.
86 a (Fr. Joseph de), Jeronimite of the

Convent of the Escurial; he was born in the
town of that name. He was one of the most
learned men of the reigns of Philip II. and
Philip IIL, and well versed in history and the
oriental la In 1595 he published the
life of 8t. Jerome, and in 1600, a history of
hisorder. He experienced much persecation,
because he was one of the best preachers of
his time, and the most esteemed by the king.
The other monks (whose sermons were not so

115

well received ) denounced him to the Inquisition
of Toledo, as suspected of Lutheranism. He
remained in saclusion for nearly a year, in the
m of La Sisla, belonging to his order,
and he was obliged to appear before the tribu-
nal whenever he was summoned. He justi-
fied himself, was aoquitted, and died the
superior of the convent of the Escurial.

Sobancs. See Chapter 36.

Solorzano. See following Chapter.

Soto (Fray Dominic). ngoo Chapter 29.

Soto (Fray Pedro). Ibid. .

Sotomayor (Fray Pedro), Dominican; he
was one of those who, in 1558, approved the
Catechism of Carranza. The lInquisition of
Valladolid tried him in 1569, on the suspi-
cion that he was tinctured with some heretical
sentiments attributed to the archbishop ; he
was confined in the Convent of St. Paul, and
afterwards severely reprimanded. He did not
suffer any other punishment, because he de-
alared (like all the others,) that his confidence
in the virtne and great learning of the author
of the Catechism had induced him to act
without any bad intention.

Tubira (Don Antonio), bishop of Salaman-
ca, knight of the order of St. James, almoner
and preacher to the king, and the author of
several unpublished works; his great virtue,
his literary talent and exquisite judgment,
made him the ornament of church durin
the reigns of Charles IIl. and Charles 1V.
The government consuited him several times

on affairs of the test im noe, and his
opinions deserved the approbation of enlight-
men: his sermons in Spain for

the best which the age had produced. In
1809, 1 published the reply of this prelate to a
consultation addressed to him in 1799, oon-
ocerning the validity of marriages contracted
before the civil anthority, as in France. The
piety and erudition of Tabira are displayed in
this writing. It was irapossible that the ex-
jesuits should not employ the influence of
their party to persecute a prelate who gave
the preference to a decision given by the
charch legally assembled ina ral oouncil,
to a bull expedited by its chief. Calvo, Guer-
rero, and other Jesuils of the short robe, attacke
ed Tabira as a Jassenist; they denounced
him to. the holy office, but did not succeed in
their ‘attempt, since thez could not impute to
him any fact tending to heresy. .

Tulavera (Don Ferdinand de), first archbi--
shop of Greneda. See Chapter 10.

(Bernardine de). See Chapter

14 .

Tordesillas (Fray Francis de), Dominican,
member of the college of St. Gregory of
Valladolid, and pupil of Carranza: he was a
learned theologian. Tordesillas was impri-
soned a short time after his master, on the
suspicion that he entertained the same opi-
nions. He appears to have justified this sus-
Kicion. by the care which he took to copy all

is treatises on theology and other works.
He abjured ds levi, submitted to a penance,
and was obliged to relinquish giving lessons
on theology.
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Tormo (Don Gabriel de), bishop of Orihae-
la. See Chapter 26,
Urquijo (Don Marisnno Louis de), secreta-
z of state under Charles 1V. See Chapter
Valdés (Juan de), author of some works
which are mentioned by Nicolas Antonio; one
of them, the Comment, on the First Epistle
St. Paul to the Corinthianas, is prohibited in
e Index. He was tried on account of this
treatise and another, which was found among
the papers of Carranza, and which was at
first supposed to be his composition; this
work is called Thoughts on the Interpretations
of the Holy Scriptures. Valdés also composed
another called Acharo; all these works were
noted as being Lutheran, and the author was
declared to be a formal heretic. Valdés left
Spain, and thus escaped imprisonment. In
1559, Fray Louis de la Cruz, a prisoner in the
Inquisition of Valladolid, declared that Valdés
was living at Naples ; that his Thoughts, &c.
had been sent twenty years before to Carran-
23, in the form of a letter, but that it had its
origin in the Christian Institutions of Thaule-
ro. Fray Dominic de Roxas (another prison-
er in the Inquisition) spoke of this Valdés as
if he was the secretary of Charles V. ; if that
was the case, he must be called Juan Alonzo
de Valdés. Nicolas Antonio mentions him as
a different personage in his Bibliotkeque.
Vergara guan de). See Chapter 14.
Vicente (Doctor Don Gregory de), priest
and professor of philosophy at Valladolid. The
tribunal of this city tried and imprisoned him in
1801,for some theses which had been maintain-
ed and printed in Spanish, on the manner of
studying, examining, and defending trne
religion. He abjured naturalism publicly in
a lesser aulo-da:fé, and several penances were
im on him. His theses appear to be
orthodox, if they are understood literally.
The masters of scholastic theology declared
against Vicente, because he had attacked the
manner of teaching and studying religion
Kractioed in hie time ; he was also accused of
aving preached against the pious exercises
of devotion. The sermon which was the ori-
gin of thisaccusation was severely examined,
and it was found that he had said that true
devotion consists in the actual practice of
virtne, and not in exterior ceremonies ; his
theses were publicly condemned, and he was
detained in prison for eight-years. He was
nephew to an inquisitor of Santiago, which in-
duced those of Valladolid to pronounce him
insane, in order to save him; but when he re-
tarned home he gave such unequivocal proofs
of being in his senses, that the inquisitors
thought the honour of the tribunal would not
allow the affair to be lef in this state, and
again arrested him. He had been in the pri-
son more than a year when the auio-da-fé was
celebrated.
Villagarcia (Fray Juan), Dominican, a
Knpil of Carranza, and his companion during
is travels in Germany, England, and Flan-
ders. He was one of the test theologians
of his age. His arrest took place at Medem-
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blick, in Flanders, at the same time as that of
the Archbishop of Torrelaguna, in Spain. He
was imtriloned at Valladolid, on the 19th of

September, 1569. Several letters were found
among his papers, and those of the archbishop,
from Fray Louis de la Cruz, and Fray Fran-

cis de Tordesillas, in which they gave an
account of all that they could learn concerning
the trial of the archbishop. The same errors
were imputed to Villagarcia as to Carranza;
principa lxibeeauu he had copied part of the
prelate’s MS. works. Some person having
told him that Carranza’s Catechism would be
better in Latin than in the vulgar tongue, he
ocenpied himself in translating it, during his
stay in England. This was the source of
another accusation, and a consultation tock
place to decide if he ought not to receive the
question tn 7 , in order to make
him confess certain facts brought against the
archbishop, but without any proof concerning
his having read the works of Eco. (us
and other prohibited books. The opinions
were different, and the council decreed, that
Villagarcia should first be formally examined
on some other propositions. His replies were
8o favourable to the archbishop, that he could
not have answered more conclusively for him-
self. Villagarcia remained four years in pri-
son; he abjured, and was subjected to several
penances, one of which was, never again to
teach or write on theology.

Villalba (Fray Francis de). See Chapter
29

Villegas (Alphonso de). See Chapter 13.
Virues (Don Alphonso de). See Chapter
4.

Yeregut (Don Joseph de), secular priest,
doctor of thenlogy and canon law, born at
Vergara de Guiquzcoa: he was preceptor to
the Infants Don Gabriel and Don Antonio de
Bourbon, and knight of the royal order of
Charles 11I. He published a good catechism,
and was denounced three times to the Inqui-
sition of Madrid, on suspicion of being a Jan-
senist. In 1792 he was commmanded not to go
out of the city of Madrid. He lived in this
kind of captivity for six months, and was then
acquitted by the inquisitors of the court. Un-
fortunately he had enemies in the Supreme
Council, who wished to order the trial to be
suspended, and they would have succeeded if
the im;uisiw neral, Rubin de Cevallos, had
not died at that time. His successor Don
Manuel Abady-la-Sierra, archbishop of Selim-
bria, professed the same opinions as Yeregui,
who at last received a certificate of absolation,
and regained his liberty ; the king then ap.

ointed him to be an hounorary inquisitor.
eregui in his new office incurred other incon-
veniences, because he had spoken to his
friends of the circomstances of his trial, which
was interpreted as a sign of contempt for the
holy office, which always enjoins secrecy to
those who appear before it. &eregui however
apologized, and refuted all that had been
ublished concerning his opinions of the
nquisition.
Zeballos (Jerome de), native of Escalona;
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he was a professor in the university of Sala-
mancs, and a member of the municipality of
Toledo. In 1609, he yubl'uhod at Rome a
volame in folio, containing several treatises
::;jnﬁowmo l‘il‘r:t is & Discourse on

princi; Kin, in and
his Council 'for laking%o zmge‘f %:c‘laiu--
tical Tyials, or Trials Q:nm iastics,
when a writ of Error is brought in. Amony
the questions which he discusses, is the fol- |
Jowing: ¢ Is an ecclesiastical judge permitted !
to arrest and imprison laymen in a trial on
oanonical affairs, without the intervention of
the royal jndge?’ The sameauthor published
at Salamanca, in 1613, another volume in
folio, entitled, Of the (b£~m'zanoe of Ecclesias-
tical Tvrials, between Ecclesiastics, when an
v s made b%imq'llul’am’atothe

al Authority. He wrote some other works
recorded by Nicolas Antonio. Some priests,
who thought it heresy to defend the ‘Erivilegu

of the king against the power of the clergy,
denounced Zeballos to the Inquisition of
Toledo. The members of this tribunal did

not arrest him, but sent him the heads of the
accusations against the two works already
mentioned, he justified himself completely,
and they were permitted to be in circulation.
Some time after, the Inquisition of Rome
placed them on its Index, and that of Spain
suppressed some passages, which are not
found in the modern editions.

This list might have been augmented by
the names of many less distinguished men,
and I did not think it necessary to include
thoso Spaniards whose works have heen pro-
hibited, but who were not personally attacked
by the holy office. Those already mentioned
are sufficient to show the danger of attempting
tso introduce the taste for good literature in

ain.

PCharloo II1., wishing to be made acquaint-
ed with the affairs of the Jesuits, and some
other circumstances relating to them, assem-
bled a council in 1768, composed of five
archbishops and bishops ; they were occupied
in consulting upon the tribunal of the Inquisi-
tion,and particalarly of the prohibition of books.
Don Joseph Moilino, Countde Florida-Blanca,
and Don Pedro Rodriguez de Campomanes,
Count de Campomanes, the king's procurators
in the Council of Castile, madea report to the
assembly. Some extracts from it will be in-
torat.in{ in this part of the history.

Speaking of the clandestine introduction of
a brief relating to the Jesuits on the 16th of
AJril, 1767, and of another conoerning the
affairs of the Duke of Parma, on the 30th of
Jaonuary, 1768, these ministers thus express
themselves : * The council is not ignorant of
the intrigues employed by the nancios with
the Inquisition, to gain their ends by clandes-
tine means. During the first fifteen centu-
ries there were no tribunals of the Inquisition
in Spain. Thebishops alone were acquainted
with points of doctrine, and heretics and blas-
phemers were punished by civil law. The
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rance which prevails over the greatest part of
this nation . . . . . According to the balls
which created the holy office, the bishops are
joint judges with the inquisitors, and some-
times the principal judges in the affairs which
depend on the tribunal. ‘This power of the
bishops was acquired by their rank and their
respectable office of pastors. Why then have
these natural judges of all discussions which
may srise on matiers of faith and the morals
of the faithful, no part or influence in the
rohibitions of books, and the choice of qua-
ifiers? 1t is from this circomstance that the
suhject has been treated with a megligence
which excites and perpetuates the complaints
of learned men . . . . . Supposing that the
regulations of Benedict XIV. were not suffi-
ciently clear, the same cannot be said of the
brief of Innocent V1II., which commands the
Inquisition to follow the rules of justice in
their proceedings: Can there be anything
more just, than that the parties should be
heard? Ts it not contrary to the public inter-
est, that books which might be useful in
instructing subjects should be prohibited, from
passion, or to gain some particular end? The
fiscal would say too much if he dwelt upon
this snbject, to prove how mach the tribunal
has always abused its authority, in command-
ing the prohibition of doctrines which even
Rome has not dared to conderan, such as the
four propositions of the clergy of France, in
supporting the indirect power of the Court of
Rome against that of kinge; and lastly, in
sanctioning opinions equally reprehensible.
It might be proved that the tribunal has con-
stantly favoured and encouraged the wicked-
ness committed by certain ecclesiastics who
remain unmolested, contrary to the respect
due to the kihg and his magistrates. The re-
galarpn‘nls the Society of Jesus have had
e greatest influence in the holy office, since
the minority of Charles 11., when the Jesuit
Juan Everard Nitardo, confessor to the queen-
mother, was inquisitor-general . . . . . The
last general expurgatory index, published in
1747, is still remembered. Casani and Car-
rasco (both Jesuits) so falsified and confused
it, that it was a disgrace to the tribunal : the
fact is 80 well known, and had such impor-
tant consequences, that that circumstance
alone fur:mned sufficient motives to suppress
the Inquisition entirely, or at least to reform
it, since it only uses its authority to injure the
state, and the purity of morals and the Chris-
tian religion . . . . . It may be said that the
expurgatory index drawn up in Spain is more
injurious to the rights of the sovereign and the
instruction of his subjects, than that of Rome.
In that court the qualifiers are well chosen,
the prohibitions moderate, and the interests of
individuals are never considered .....
We cannot forhear to mention the memoir
resented by Monsignor Bossuet to Louis
&IV., against the inquisitor-general Rocaber-
ti, on the subject of a decree of the Inquisition
of Toledo, in which the doctrine, refusing to

abuse of the prohibitions of books commanded ;
by the Inquisition, is one cause of the igno-°

the Pope the direct or indirect power of de-
priving sovereigns of their kingdoms, is
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declared to be erroneous and schismatio . . . .
‘The procurators cannot conceal from them-
selves that the tribunals of the Inquisition
compose the most fanatical body in the state,
and the most attached to the Jesuits, who
have been banished from the kingdom; that
the inquisitors profess the same doctrines and
the same maxims; lntl’, that it is necessary
to accomplish a reform In the Inquisition.”

In their conclusion, the procurators pro-
posed, that in consideration of the edict of
1762, and to ensure its execution, the holy
office should be compelled to hear the defence
of the authors of the works before they are
Etohibil.ed, according to the provision of the

ull Sollicita et Provida, of Benedict X1V.;
that the tribunal should only condemn those
books which contain errors in doctrine, su-
perstition, or relaxed moral opinions; that it
should particularly avoid prohibiting works
written in the defence of ;K. prerogatives of
the crown ; that it should not be allowed to
seize or retain any unprohibited book, on
pretence of correcting or gnalifying it, bat
should leave it to the proprietor; that it
should be obliged to present to the king the
minutes of the decrees of prohibition before
publication, and to the Council of Castile
all the briefs sent to it, in order that they
may be submitted to his majesty for his ap-
probation.

The Council of Castile, with the extraor-
dinary Council of Archbishops and Bishops,
approved of the opinion of the king’s procu-
rators. They presented it to Charles IlI.,
who wished to know the opinion of Don
Manuel de Roda, Marquis de Roda, minister
of justice. This nobleman (one of the most
distinguished scholars in Spain, during the
last century) remitted his opinion to his ma-
jesty on the 16th of March, in the same year:
t entirely accorded with those of the fiscals ;
he addeg, s on the 5th of September, 1761,
the King of Naples, being informed of what
was passing at Rome concerning the con
demnation of Mazengui’s work, commanded
that the Inquisition of Sicily and the eccle-
siastical superiors throughout his states
should not print or publish, in any way what-
ever, an{ kind of proclamation without per-
mission from his majesty . . . . 1 was &:n
at Rome, and I demanded in your majesty’s
pame some reparation from his Holiness, for
the offence committed by his nuncio at
Madrid, in inducinf the inquisitor-general to
publish the brief, for the prohibition of Ma-
zengui’s work, without his knowledge . ...
His Holiness approved of the nuncio’s pro-
ceedings; but was convinced of the justice
of our complai